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GRIFFIN V TRUMBULL INS CO 1

GRIFFIN v TRUMBULL INSURANCE COMPANY

Docket No. 344272. Submitted February 5, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
September 24, 2020, at 9:00 a.m. Reversed in part and remanded
509 Mich __ (2022).

Willie Griffin filed a complaint in the Wayne Circuit Court against
Trumbull Insurance Company seeking, inter alia, personal protec-
tion insurance (PIP) benefits and asking the court to order the
Michigan Assigned Claims Plan (MACP) to assign his claim to an
insurer. In May 2016, Griffin was injured in a motorcycle crash
while avoiding a truck that had merged into his lane. The truck
driver’s name, telephone number, and residential address were
recorded by the police in the incident report. Five days after the
crash, Griffin’s counsel sent a letter to the truck driver informing
him that Griffin intended to take legal action and asking the truck
driver to forward the letter to his insurance company. Griffin also
informed his insurer, Trumbull, about the crash, but Trumbull
refused to pay him any PIP benefits. Trumbull attempted to locate
the truck driver, but closed its investigation of the incident after its
attempts were unsuccessful. In April 2017, Griffin retained a
company to identify the truck driver’s insurance provider, but the
company was not able to identify the insurer. Griffin took no
further steps to attempt to communicate with the truck driver or to
identify the driver’s insurer or the truck’s insurer before filing his
complaint. In September or October 2017, Trumbull hired an
investigator to serve the truck driver with a subpoena. The
investigator was able to locate the truck driver and to serve him
with the subpoena, and the truck driver later appeared at a
deposition. The truck driver testified that he was driving a truck
for his former employer at the time of the crash, and on the basis
of his testimony, it was determined that Harleysville Insurance
Company was the insurer of the truck at the time of the crash.
Trumbull moved for summary disposition, arguing that it was not
liable for PIP benefits because Harleysville was the highest-
priority insurer. The MACP also moved for summary disposition on
the basis that Griffin was insured by Trumbull at the time of the
crash. The trial court, Susan L. Hubbard, J., granted summary
disposition for both Trumbull and the MACP. The court concluded
that Harleysville could have been identified within one year of the
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crash if Griffin had acted with reasonable diligence and that
summary disposition for the MACP was appropriate because there
was no dispute between two or more insurers and Harleysville was
identifiable as the highest-priority insurer. Griffin’s motion for
reconsideration was denied by the trial court, and he appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The no-fault act, MCL 500.3101 et seq., establishes the order
in which potential insurers are responsible for paying PIP benefits,
MCL 500.3114, and also limits the liability of insurers by limiting
the amount of benefits recoverable under the act to losses occurring
no more than one year before an action is brought, MCL
500.3145(1). As a practical matter, then, a plaintiff has one year
from the date of the injury to identify the highest-priority insurer
as established by MCL 500.3114. If the highest-priority insurer is
identifiable within that time, then only that insurer is liable for the
plaintiff's PIP benefits. But if the highest-priority insurer cannot
be identified, the general rule under Frierson v West American Ins
Co, 261 Mich App 732 (2004), is that the injured party must seek
PIP benefits from his or her own insurer. Frierson did not hold that
the general rule applies only if a higher-priority insurer could not
be identified within a reasonable time or through reasonable
efforts and did not take into consideration the effort required to
identify a higher-priority insurer. Therefore, in this case, the
general rule does not apply because Harleysville was identifiable,
so Griffin cannot collect PIP benefits from Trumbull. Although the
trial court erred to the extent that it considered whether Griffin
could have identified Harleysville with reasonable diligence, its
ultimate conclusion was correct.

2. The Legislature provided that when there does not appear
to be any applicable PIP coverage, an injured person may obtain
benefits through the MACP. Under MCL 500.3172(3), a claim
will be assigned to the MACP if the obligation to provide PIP
benefits cannot be ascertained because of a dispute between two
or more insurers. Griffin argued that MCL 500.3172(3) was
applicable in this case because of a purported dispute between
Harleysville and Trumbull. However, Harleysville was not in-
volved in this case, and no evidence was presented to show that
Harleysville refused to pay PIP benefits to Griffin. Conse-
quently, even though Harleysville was the highest-priority in-
surer in this case and Trumbull argued for that reason that it
was not liable to pay Griffin PIP benefits, there was no dispute
between two or more insurers because Harleysville was not a
party to or involved in this case.



2020] GRIFFIN V TRUMBULL INS CO 3

3. Griffin asked the trial court to sanction Trumbull pursuant
to MCR 1.109(E)(5) for failing to affirmatively disclose its failure
to locate the truck driver. He argued that Trumbull’s failure to
inform the court, coupled with its argument that Griffin could
have identified the truck driver’s insurer with reasonable dili-
gence, was dishonest. However, Griffin’s argument was not sup-
ported by the record. In arguing that it was entitled to summary
disposition, Trumbull did not claim that it had not tried to
identify the insurer of the truck or that it would be easy to do so.
Rather, Trumbull asserted that the insurer could be identified
with reasonable diligence, relying on the facts that Griffin had
failed to learn the insurer’s identity and that it had secured the
truck driver’s presence at a deposition with just one subpoena.
There was no indication in the record that Trumbull misled
Griffin by being dishonest, or that Trumbull misled the trial court
regarding its efforts to locate the truck driver or identify his
insurer. Moreover, Trumbull’s efforts to contact the truck driver
were irrelevant: under Frierson, Trumbull would only be liable for
Griffin’s PIP benefits if the truck driver’s insurer could not be
identified. Because Harleysville was identified, prior efforts to
identify Harleysville or contact the truck driver were irrelevant.
Therefore, Trumbull should not have been sanctioned.

Affirmed.

RoNAYNE KRAUSE, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part,
agreed with the analysis and disposition of the majority regarding
Griffin’s claims against the MACP, but did not agree that Trumbull
was entitled to summary disposition. Judge RONAYNE KRAUSE
agreed that Frierson set forth a conditional test, i.e., if the
highest-priority insurer cannot be identified, then the general rule
that an injured party must look to his or her own insurer is
applicable. However, Frierson did not provide any authority as to
how a court should determine whether an insurer is identifiable
and opined that the majority opinion created an “absolute impos-
sibility” standard in interpreting Frierson. Such a standard would
contravene the purpose of the no-fault act by requiring no-fault
claimants to prove that a higher-priority insurer is unavailable.
Judge RONAYNE KRAUSE would have left it to the Legislature or the
Supreme Court to create a standard for determining when a
highest-priority insurer cannot be identified, but stated that a
standard that required claimants to act with due diligence in
looking for the highest-priority insurer would be consistent with
the purposes of the no-fault act. Judge RONAYNE KRAUSE would have
held that to the extent that Griffin was obligated to search for a
higher-priority insurer as a precondition to receiving no-fault
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benefits from his default-priority insurer, the record established
that Griffin had exercised the requisite amount of diligence in
carrying out that search.

INSURANCE — NO-FAULT ACT — PERSONAL PROTECTION INSURANCE BENEFITS —
IDENTIFICATION OF HIGHER-PRIORITY INSURERS.

Under the no-fault act, MCL 500.3101 et seq., a plaintiff seeking
personal protection insurance (PIP) benefits has one year to
identify the highest-priority insurer as established by MCL
500.3114; under Frierson v West American Ins Co, 261 Mich App
732 (2004), if the highest-priority insurer is identified within one
year, it is solely responsible for the plaintiff’s PIP benefits, but if
it is not identified, the general rule that the injured person must
seek PIP benefits from their own insurer applies; Frierson does
not require that a higher-priority insurer must be identified
within a reasonable time or through reasonable efforts.

Steven A. Hicks for Willie Griffin.

Secrest Wardle (by Sidney A. Klinger) for Trumbull
Insurance Company.

Anselmi Mierzejewski Ruth & Sowle PC (by Mark L.
Nawrocki) for the Michigan Assigned Claims Plan.

Before: RONAYNE KRAUSE, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and
TUKEL, JJ.

TUKEL, J. Plaintiff appeals as of right the trial court’s
order granting summary disposition to defendants
Trumbull Insurance Company and the Michigan As-
signed Claims Plan (MACP). The trial court held that
Trumbull was not the highest-priority no-fault insurer
for purposes of plaintiff’s claim for personal protection
insurance (PIP) benefits under the no-fault act, MCL
500.3101 et seq., and that the MACP was not required to
assign an insurer to pay PIP benefits to plaintiff because
another insurer, Harleysville Insurance Company, was
the highest-priority insurer. We affirm.



2020] GRIFFIN V TRUMBULL INS CO 5
OPINION OF THE COURT

I. UNDERLYING FACTS

In May 2016, plaintiff was driving his motorcycle
when a truck merged into plaintiff’s lane. Plaintiff
crashed while attempting to avoid the truck, but the
truck did not actually make physical contact with
plaintiff. The truck driver’s name, telephone number,
and residential address were recorded in the police
report of the incident. Five days after the crash,
plaintiff’s attorney sent a letter to the truck driver
informing him that plaintiff intended to take legal
action. The letter asked the truck driver to forward the
letter to his insurance company, but did not ask the
truck driver to contact plaintiff or his attorney in any
way. Plaintiff additionally informed Trumbull, the in-
surer of his motor vehicles, of his accident, but Trum-
bull refused to pay plaintiff any PIP benefits. Rather,
Trumbull attempted to locate the truck driver, but
despite multiple telephone calls and visits to the truck
driver’s residence, Trumbull’s attempts to contact the
truck driver were unsuccessful. Trumbull then closed
its investigation without having made contact with the
truck driver.

In April 2017, 11 months after the accident, plaintiff
retained MEA Research Services, Inc., Ltd., a Dallas,
Texas company, to attempt to identify the truck driv-
er’s insurance provider. MEA Research Services was
unsuccessful and informed plaintiff that it could not
identify any insurance provider for the truck driver.
Plaintiff failed to take any additional actions to com-
municate with the truck driver or to identify his
insurance provider or the insurance provider of the
truck that the truck driver was operating on the day of
the accident. Plaintiff then filed a complaint in
April 2017 seeking, in relevant part, PIP benefits from
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Trumbull and asking the court to order the MACP to
assign his claim to an insurer.

In September or October of 2017, Trumbull hired an
investigator to serve the truck driver with a subpoena.
The investigator found the truck driver and gave him
the subpoena. The truck driver appeared for a deposi-
tion within one month and, in his deposition, stated
that he was driving a work truck for his former
employer on the day of the accident. On the basis of
this information, it was determined that the insurer of
the truck at the time of the accident was Harleysville.!

After identifying Harleysville as the highest-priority
insurer under MCL 500.3114(5),2 Trumbull moved for
summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10) and
argued that it was not required to pay any PIP benefits
to plaintiff because Harleysville was the highest-
priority insurer. The MACP also filed a motion for
summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10) and

! The parties agree that Harleysville is the highest-priority insurer.

2 At the time of plaintiff’s injury, MCL 500.3114(5), as amended by
2002 PA 38, stated:

A person suffering accidental bodily injury arising from a
motor vehicle accident which shows evidence of the involvement
of a motor vehicle while an operator or passenger of a motorcycle
shall claim personal protection insurance benefits from insurers
in the following order of priority:

(a) The insurer of the owner or registrant of the motor vehicle
involved in the accident.

(b) The insurer of the operator of the motor vehicle involved in
the accident.

(c) The motor vehicle insurer of the operator of the motorcycle
involved in the accident.

(d) The motor vehicle insurer of the owner or registrant of the
motorcycle involved in the accident.

The 2002 amendment worked no change regarding the priorities.
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argued that plaintiff's claim against it should be dis-
missed because plaintiff was insured by Trumbull at
the time of the accident. Plaintiff opposed both mo-
tions, but following a hearing and supplemental brief-
ing the trial court granted summary disposition to
Trumbull and the MACP.

In granting Trumbull’s motion, the trial court deter-
mined that Harleysville could have been identified
within one year of the accident if plaintiff had acted
with “reasonable diligence.” The trial court empha-
sized that plaintiff had sent only one letter to the truck
driver, a letter that did not even ask him for any
information, but instead suggested that he contact his
own insurance company. The trial court also stated
that MEA Research Services’ search was limited to any
personal automobile insurer the truck driver may have
had. Finally, the trial court highlighted that Trumbull
ultimately was able, with a subpoena, to secure the
truck driver’s participation in a deposition, something
plaintiff had never even tried. Therefore, the trial
court ruled, Trumbull was not the highest-priority
insurer. The trial court additionally granted summary
disposition to the MACP because there was no dispute
between two or more insurers and Harleysville was
identifiable as the highest-priority insurer.

Plaintiff then moved for reconsideration, and the
trial court denied plaintiff's motion. This appeal fol-
lowed.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for summary disposition under MCR
2.116(C)(10) tests the factual sufficiency of the com-
plaint. Joseph v Auto Club Ins Ass’n, 491 Mich 200,
206; 815 NW2d 412 (2012). This Court reviews a
motion brought under MCR 2.116(C)(10) “by consider-
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ing the pleadings, admissions, and other evidence
submitted by the parties in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party.” Patrick v Turkelson, 322 Mich
App 595, 605; 913 NW2d 369 (2018) (quotation marks
and citation omitted). Summary disposition is appro-
priate “if there is no genuine issue regarding any
material fact and the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” Id. (quotation marks and
citation omitted). “There is a genuine issue of material
fact when reasonable minds could differ on an issue
after viewing the record in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party.” Allison v AEW Capital Mgt,
LLP, 481 Mich 419, 425; 751 NW2d 8 (2008). “Only the
substantively admissible evidence actually proffered
may be considered.” 1300 LaFayette East Coop, Inc v
Savoy, 284 Mich App 522, 525; 773 NW2d 57 (2009)
(quotation marks and citation omitted). “Circumstan-
tial evidence can be sufficient to establish a genuine
issue of material fact, but mere conjecture or specula-
tion is insufficient.” McNeill-Marks v MidMichigan
Med Ctr-Gratiot, 316 Mich App 1, 16; 891 NW2d 528
(2016).

The moving party has the initial burden to support
its claim with documentary evidence, but once the
moving party has met this burden, the burden then
shifts to the nonmoving party to establish that a
genuine issue of material fact exists. American Federa-
tion of State, Co, & Muni Employees v Detroit, 267
Mich App 255, 261; 704 NW2d 712 (2005). Additionally,
if the moving party asserts that the nonmovant lacks
evidence to support an essential element of one of his
or her claims, the burden shifts to the nonmovant to
present such evidence. Lowrey v LMPS & LMPdJ, Inc,
500 Mich 1, 7; 890 NW2d 344 (2016). Finally, “[i]ssues
of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo.”
Riverview v Sibley Limestone, 270 Mich App 627, 630;
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716 NW2d 615 (2006). “Statutory provisions must be
read in the context of the entire act, giving every word
its plain and ordinary meaning. When the language is
clear and unambiguous, we will apply the statute as
written and judicial construction is not permitted.”
Driver v Naini, 490 Mich 239, 247; 802 NW2d 311
(2011) (citations omitted).

III. ANALYSIS

A. IDENTIFICATION OF HARLEYSVILLE

Plaintiff argues that the trial court’s ruling that
Harleysville was identifiable as the highest-priority
insurer had plaintiff acted with reasonable diligence,
and therefore that plaintiff’s claim against Trumbull
must be dismissed, was erroneous. We disagree.

When interpreting the no-fault act, “[t]lerms con-
tained in the no-fault act are read in the light of its
legislative history and in the context of the no-fault act
as a whole.” Frierson v West American Ins Co, 261 Mich
App 732, 734; 683 NW2d 695 (2004) (quotation marks
and citation omitted). Furthermore, “[gliven the reme-
dial nature of the no-fault act, courts must liberally
construe its provisions in favor of the persons who are
its intended beneficiaries.” Id. (quotation marks and
citation omitted). Therefore, while courts interpreting
the no-fault act must give every word in the statute its
plain and ordinary meaning in light of the larger
statutory scheme, Driver, 490 Mich at 247, courts also
must construe provisions of the no-fault act in favor of
its insured beneficiaries, Frierson, 261 Mich App at
734.

The no-fault act establishes the order in which
potential insurers are responsible for paying PIP ben-
efits. See MCL 500.3114. The no-fault act also limits
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the liability of insurers through MCL 500.3145(1),
commonly referred to as the one-year-back rule. “The
one-year-back rule is designed to limit the amount of
benefits recoverable under the no-fault act to those
losses occurring no more than one year before an action
is brought.” Joseph, 491 Mich at 203. Thus, as a
practical matter, a plaintiff has one year from the date
of his or her injury to identify the highest-priority
insurer as established by MCL 500.3114, because only
the highest-priority insurer is liable for a plaintiff’s
PIP benefits. If the highest-priority insurer is identifi-
able within that time, then only that insurer is liable
for a plaintiff's PIP benefits. See MCL 500.3114;
500.3145(1). But “when an insurer that would be liable
under one of the exceptions in MCL 500.3114(1) cannot
be identified, the general rule applies and the injured
party must look to her own insurer for personal pro-
tection insurance benefits.” Frierson, 261 Mich App at
738.

Plaintiff relies heavily on Borgess Med Ctr v Resto,
273 Mich App 558, 585; 730 NW2d 738 (2007),* and
Frierson to argue that lower-priority insurers are re-
sponsible for the payment of benefits when higher-
priority insurers cannot be identified. In Borgess Med
Ctr, 273 Mich App at 585 (WHITE, J., concurring), the
“[d]efendant indisputably insured the owner of the
occupied vehicle, and no insurer in a higher priority
was identified,” so the defendant was liable for the
plaintiff’s PIP benefits. Borgess does not include any
discussion of whether a higher-priority insurer could
have been identified.

3 The Michigan Supreme Court vacated the majority opinion of this
Court in Borgess Med Ctr, 273 Mich App 558, but affirmed this Court’s
judgment “for the reasons stated in the concurring opinion.” Borgess
Med Ctr v Resto, 482 Mich 946 (2008). Plaintiff asks this Court to rely on
the majority decision; for the reasons stated later, we decline to do so.
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In Frierson, the highest-priority insurer could not be
identified because the plaintiff was a passenger on a
motorcycle when an unidentified motor vehicle turned
into the plaintiff's lane, causing the operator of the
motorcycle the plaintiff was riding on to crash while
attempting to avoid hitting the oncoming motor ve-
hicle. Frierson, 261 Mich App at 733. “The police were
unable to locate the motor vehicle and there [was] no
information regarding the vehicle, its driver, or its
insurance.” Id. Consequently, the identity of the driver
of the motor vehicle that caused the motorcycle crash
was not identifiable and “the parties agree[d] that the
insurers listed in subsections a to d of MCL 500.3114(5)
either [did] not exist or [could not] be identified.” Id.
at 737. In light of the impossibility of identifying an
insurer under MCL 500.3114(5), the Frierson Court
held that “when an insurer that would be liable under
one of the exceptions in MCL 500.3114(1) cannot be
identified, the general rule applies and the injured
party must look to her own insurer for personal pro-
tection insurance benefits.” Id. at 738 (emphasis
added). Thus, under Frierson, the general rule that an
injured party’s own insurer is liable for PIP benefits
only applies if a higher-priority insurer under MCL
500.3114 cannot be identified.*

Frierson did not hold that the general rule applies if
a higher-priority insurer could not be identified within
a reasonable time or through reasonable efforts.
Rather, Frierson simply holds that the general rule
applies if a higher-priority insurer cannot be identified.
Therefore, Frierson calls for a binary analysis that

4 The exceptions to MCL 500.3114(1) referred to in Frierson, 261 Mich
App at 738, create rules of priority for specific circumstances, such as
MCL 500.3114(5), which establishes priority for accidents involving
motorcycles. See MCL 500.3114(1), (2), (3), and (5).
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asks only whether a higher-priority insurer is identifi-
able. In this case, Harleysville was a higher-priority
insurer than Trumbull, and the undisputed facts es-
tablish that Harleysville could have been, and in fact
actually was, identified. Frierson does not take into
consideration the effort required to identify a higher-
priority insurer such as Harleysville. In light of the
simple fact that Harleysville was identifiable, the
general rule does not apply and plaintiff cannot collect
PIP benefits from Trumbull, because Harleysville was
a higher-priority insurer. See Frierson, 261 Mich App
at 738. Consequently, while the trial court erred to the
extent it considered whether Harleysville could have
been identified with “reasonable diligence,” the trial
court still reached the right result for the wrong
reason. Accordingly, the trial court’s decision to grant
summary disposition to Trumbull is affirmed. See Lane
v KinderCare Learning Ctrs, Inc, 231 Mich App 689,
697; 588 NW2d 715 (1998) (“[TThis Court will not
reverse where the trial court reached the right result
for the wrong reason.”).

B. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS AGAINST THE MACP

Plaintiff argues that because this case involved a
priority dispute between two insurers, the MACP
should have assigned an insurer to pay plaintiff's PIP
benefits. We disagree.

When plaintiff sued the MACP, he alleged that, in
the event Trumbull was not responsible for paying his
claim for PIP benefits, there was a priority dispute that
required the MACP to assign his claim. As discussed
earlier, a plaintiff seeking PIP benefits ordinarily must
turn to the plaintiff’'s own insurer or an insurer of one
of the vehicles or drivers involved in the accident.
However, “[e]ven when there does not appear to be any
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applicable PIP coverage, the Legislature provided that
an injured person could obtain PIP benefits through
the MACP.” Spectrum Health Hosps v Mich Assigned
Claims Plan, 330 Mich App 21, 32; 944 NW2d 412
(2019), citing MCL 500.3172(1). Thus, “[a]ll self-
insurers or insurers writing insurance as provided by
the no-fault insurance act are required to participate
in the MACP, with the associated costs being ‘allocated
fairly among insurers and self-insurers.’” Id., quoting
MCL 500.3171(2). With this comprehensive scheme,

the Legislature ensured that every person injured in a
motor vehicle accident would have access to PIP benefits
unless one of the limited exclusions in the no-fault act
applies, and the losses suffered by uninsured persons
injured in motor vehicle accidents could be indirectly
passed on to the owners and registrants of motor vehicles
through insurance premiums. [Spectrum Health, 330
Mich App at 32.]

Specifically, MCL 500.3172(3), as amended by 2012 PA
204,5 provides, in relevant part, that a claim will be
assigned to the MACP “[ilf the obligation to provide
personal protection insurance benefits cannot be ascer-
tained because of a dispute between 2 or more automo-
bile insurers concerning their obligation to provide
coverage or the equitable distribution of the loss . ...”

Plaintiff argues that Subsection (3) applies in light
of the purported dispute between Trumbull and Har-
leysville regarding PIP coverage for plaintiff. The no-
fault act does not define “dispute.” “All words and
phrases shall be construed and understood according
to the common and approved usage of the language;

5 MCL 500.3172 has since been amended by 2019 PA 21. The current
version of MCL 500.3172 did not become effective until June 11, 2019,
after the events at issue in this case. Consequently, the former version
of MCL 500.3172 applies in this case.



14 334 MICH APP 1 [Sept
OPINION OF THE COURT

but technical words and phrases, and such as may
have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in
the law, shall be construed and understood according
to such peculiar and appropriate meaning.” MCL 8.3a.
“We may consult dictionary definitions to give words
their common and ordinary meaning.” Krohn v Home-
Owners Ins Co, 490 Mich 145, 156; 802 NW2d 281
(2011) (citation omitted).

The word “dispute” may be defined as “to engage in
argument: DEBATE,” “to struggle against: OPPOSE,” and “to
contend over.” Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary
(11th ed). Harleysville has not taken any part in this
case and no evidence has been presented showing that
Harleysville refused to provide plaintiff with PIP ben-
efits. Consequently, even though Harleysville is un-
doubtedly the highest-priority insurer in this case and
Trumbull argues that Harleysville, not Trumbull,
should provide plaintiff with PIP benefits, there is no
“dispute” in this case “between 2 or more automobile
insurers concerning their obligation to provide coverage
or the equitable distribution of the loss.” MCL
500.3172(3), as amended by 2012 PA 204. As applicable
here, any disagreement between Harleysville and
Trumbull is purely academic and theoretical, as no
claim ever was made against Harleysville. Harleysville
has not actually disagreed—and given its status as a
nonparty, it could not disagree—with Trumbull’s argu-
ment in this case that Harleysville is the highest-
priority insurer and that it should provide PIP benefits
to plaintiff. Accordingly, because there is not an actual
dispute between two or more insurers, applying the
clear and unambiguous language of MCL 500.3172(3) as
written, we conclude that Subsection (3) simply does not
apply to the facts and circumstances of this case. Ac-
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cordingly, the trial court correctly dismissed plaintiff’s
claim against the MACP.

C. SANCTIONS

Plaintiff argues that the trial court should have
sanctioned Trumbull for failing to affirmatively dis-
close its failure to locate the truck driver. We disagree.

An issue raised in the trial court and pursued on
appeal is preserved even if the trial court failed to
address or decide the issue. See Peterman v Dep’t of
Natural Resources, 446 Mich 177, 182-183; 521 NW2d
499 (1994). Plaintiff raised this issue at the trial court
level, but the trial court failed to address or decide
this issue. Nevertheless, “[t]his Court may address
the issue because it concerns a legal question and all
of the facts necessary for its resolution are present.”
Dell v Citizens Ins Co of America, 312 Mich App 734,
751 n 40; 880 NW2d 280 (2015). We choose to do so
here.

Plaintiff requested sanctions pursuant to what is
now MCR 1.109(E)(5),6 which states:

The signature of a person filing a document, whether or
not represented by an attorney, constitutes a certification
by the signer that:

(a) he or she has read the document;

(b) to the best of his or her knowledge, information, and
belief formed after reasonable inquiry, the document is
well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law or
a good-faith argument for the extension, modification, or
reversal of existing law; and

§ MCR 2.114, the court rule relied on by plaintiff below, was
repealed, effective as of September 1, 2018. 501 Mich cliii-cliv (2018).
The subrule previously found at MCR 2.114(D) is currently located at
MCR 1.109(E).
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(c) the document is not interposed for any improper
purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay
or needless increase in the cost of litigation.

The following subrule, MCR 1.109(E)(6), states:

If a document is signed in violation of this rule, the
court, on the motion of a party or on its own initiative,
shall impose upon the person who signed it, a represented
party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include
an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of
the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of
the document, including reasonable attorney fees. The
court may not assess punitive damages.

Finally, MCR 1.109(E)(7) also provides for sanctions if
“a party plead[s] a frivolous claim or defense.”

Plaintiff points to the failure of Trumbull’s counsel
to affirmatively inform the trial court that it had
unsuccessfully attempted to contact the truck driver
before plaintiff filed this lawsuit. According to plaintiff,
the failure of Trumbull’s counsel to inform the court,
coupled with its argument that plaintiff could have
identified the truck driver’s insurer with reasonable
diligence, “clearly violate[d] the duty to be candid” and
was, in fact, “dishonest.” Plaintiff’s argument fails for
two reasons: (1) plaintiff's argument is not supported
by the record, and (2) under Frierson, Trumbull’s
previous failed attempts to contact the truck driver
and identify Harleysville are not relevant because
Harleysville was eventually identified.

First, plaintiff’s argument is not supported by the
record. Trumbull’s summary-disposition argument
was that it was not the highest-priority insurer. To
support that argument, Trumbull asserted that plain-
tiff could have discovered the truck’s insurer with
reasonable diligence. Trumbull never argued, however,
that it did not try to identify the insurer or that
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identifying the insurer would be easy. Instead, Trum-
bull simply asserted that plaintiff could have done it
with reasonable diligence. In doing so, Trumbull relied
on plaintiff’s lack of effort in attempting to learn the
insurer’s identity and its own ability to obtain the
truck driver’s presence at a deposition with just one
subpoena. While Trumbull’s earlier efforts to contact
the truck driver, including sending several letters,
making a few phone calls, and visiting his home
multiple times, may well have been relevant (more so
to plaintiff’s responsive arguments than defendant’s
position), plaintiff’'s assertion that the trial court was
misled by Trumbull’s “dishonesty” does not reflect the
briefing below. Moreover, contrary to plaintiff's asser-
tion that “defense counsel still declined to inform the
trial court that its investigation was also unsuccessful”
even when pressed by the trial court, the record
reflects that Trumbull’s counsel intentionally declined
to comment on Trumbull’s efforts to identify the truck’s
insurer, stating that he “worried that if [he] glolt too
far into that, [he was] going down a path that subjects
[his] client to basically looking like they didn’t do
enough, when they didn’t have to” undertake any
efforts to identify the truck driver’s insurer, an asser-
tion plaintiff has not opposed with any legal authority.
Therefore, Trumbull did not mislead the trial court.

Second, Trumbull’s failed efforts to contact the truck
driver were irrelevant. As discussed earlier, under
Frierson, 261 Mich App at 738, Trumbull would only be
liable for plaintiff's PIP benefits if Harleysville could
not be identified. But Harleysville was identified.
Given this fact, prior efforts to identify Harleysville or
to contact the truck driver were frankly irrelevant to
this binary analysis. Consequently, Trumbull should
not have been sanctioned.
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IV. CONCLUSION

We affirm. Trumbull and MACP, as the prevailing
parties, may tax costs pursuant to MCR 7.219.

K. F. KELLY, J., concurred with TUKEL, J.

RONAYNE KRAUSE, P.d. (concurring in part and dis-
senting in part). The majority accurately and fairly
recites the factual background in this matter and the
general legal principles applicable to this matter, so I
will not repeat them. Furthermore, I concur entirely
with the majority’s analysis and disposition of plain-
tiff's claims against the Michigan Assigned Claims
Plan (MACP). I respectfully disagree with some of the
majority’s analysis of Frierson v West American Ins Co,
261 Mich App 732; 683 NW2d 695 (2004), and I
respectfully draw a different conclusion regarding
plaintiff’s diligence and whether Harleysville was
“identifiable” within the meaning of the no-fault act,
MCL 500.3101 et seq. I would reverse the trial court’s
dismissal as to Trumbull, and under the circum-
stances, I would decline to address the issue of sanc-
tions without prejudice with the possibility of plaintiff
raising the issue again on remand.

Initially, I agree with the majority that Frierson sets
forth a conditional test: if a higher-priority insurer
“cannot be identified,” then the “general rule” regard-
ing insurer priority applies. See Frierson, 261 Mich
App at 738. However, I disagree that Frierson provides
any authority, guidance, or insight into what it means
to be “identifiable.” In Frierson, the parties simply
agreed that no higher-priority insurer could be identi-
fied. Id. at 737. No actual analysis was undertaken.
Indeed, if the Court had addressed whether any party
made adequate efforts to locate a higher-priority in-
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surer, that analysis would have been dicta. Addition-
ally, the Court in Frierson was faced with a question of
whether the injured plaintiff's own insurer or the
MACP! was liable for payment of benefits, not whether
the plaintiff should receive benefits or receive nothing.
The holding in Frierson was based on the purpose of
the no-fault act as described by our Supreme Court: to
ensure that persons injured in motor vehicle accidents
receive benefits and to impose primary responsibility
for paying those benefits on the person’s own insurer
by default. Id. at 737-738, citing Parks v Detroit Auto
Inter-Ins Exch, 426 Mich 191, 204; 393 NW2d 833
(1986). Frierson did not create or identify an “absolute
impossibility” standard, it merely applied longstand-
ing legal principles to a situation in which identifying
another insurer happened to be absolutely impossible.

“When interpreting the meaning of a statute, our
primary goal is to discern the intent of the Legislature
by first examining the plain language of the statute.”
Driver v Naini, 490 Mich 239, 246-247; 802 NW2d 311
(2011). However, the no-fault act does not expressly
specify how to address situations in which a higher-
priority insurer is presumed to exist but has not been
identified. To the extent construction of a statute is
necessary, we must strive “to prevent absurd results,
injustice, or prejudice to the public interest.” Rafferty v
Markovitz, 461 Mich 265, 270; 602 NW2d 367 (1999).
Any such construction must be consistent with the
underlying legislative purpose of the no-fault act and
must liberally favor “the persons who are its intended
beneficiaries.” Frierson, 261 Mich App at 734 (quota-
tion marks and citation omitted).

1 Strictly speaking, the MACP’s predecessor, the Michigan Assigned
Claims Facility.
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Our Supreme Court has explained that “[t]he no-
fault act was intended to minimize uncertainties and
to provide a relatively simple means of compensating
those injured in automobile accidents.” Parks, 426
Mich at 207. Furthermore, the no-fault act

was offered as an innovative social and legal response to
the long payment delays, inequitable payment structure,
and high legal costs inherent in the tort (or “fault”)
liability system. The goal of the no-fault insurance system
was to provide victims of motor vehicle accidents assured,
adequate, and prompt reparation for certain economic
losses. [Shavers v Attorney General, 402 Mich 554, 578-
579; 267 NW2d 72 (1978).]

The no-fault system was, in part, specifically designed
to ensure prompt reimbursement to injured persons,
especially those lacking in substantial financial means,
and to avoid the need for litigation. Id. at 621-623.

Here, the majority crafts an “absolute impossibility”
standard out of whole cloth. No such standard was
created or applied in Frierson, and such a standard
contravenes the purposes of the no-fault act. No-fault
claimants are not required to prove that a higher-
priority insurer is unavailable, and insurers of default
priority may not delay or refuse to pay a claim. Borgess
Med Ctr v Resto, 273 Mich App 558, 568-576; 730 NW2d
738 (2007), vacated on other grounds and judgment and
concurring opinion affirmed 482 Mich 946 (2008).2 If

2 Our Supreme Court vacated the majority opinion in Borgess but
nevertheless affirmed this Court “for the reasons stated in the concur-
ring opinion.” Borgess Med Ctr, 482 Mich at 946. The concurring opinion
disagreed with the majority as to a single issue: whether there was a
legal distinction between a “claimant” and a “person suffering accidental
bodily injury” under MCL 500.3114(4). Borgess, 273 Mich App at 585
(WHITE, J., concurring). That distinction had been cited by the majority
as only one alternative basis for its holding. Id. at 571-572. Peremptory
orders from our Supreme Court constitute binding precedent to the
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any standard for determining when or how a higher-
priority insurer “cannot be identified” is to be crafted,
it would ideally come from the Legislature or from our
Supreme Court. However, were this Court to create a
standard nonetheless, it would be most consistent with
the purposes of the no-fault act to require a claimant to
exercise due diligence to look for a higher-priority
insurer. The due-diligence standard is a familiar one,
and it “means undertaking reasonable, good-faith mea-
sures under the circumstances, not necessarily under-
taking everything possible.” Ickes v Korte, 331 Mich
App 436, 443; 951 NW2d 699 (2020). Such a standard
would at least not undermine the purposes of the
no-fault act.

That being said, Trumbull argues that plaintiff
could have done more to identify the insurer of the
truck driver, Gilbert Gonzalez. That is true. However,
it would also be true of almost every plaintiff who tries
unsuccessfully to identify an insurer. Thus, diligence is
not evaluated on the basis of whether a person could
have done more, but rather whether that person did
enough. Id. at 443 n 3. Plaintiff points out that any
costs invested into discovering Gonzalez’s insurer

extent they can be understood, even if only by reference to other
opinions. Woodring v Phoenix Ins Co, 325 Mich App 108, 115; 923 NW2d
607 (2018). By necessary implication, our Supreme Court left intact the
Borgess majority’s holding, with which the concurrence clearly agreed,
that it would contravene the purpose of the no-fault act and settled
caselaw for an injured person’s own insurer, i.e., the insurer of default
priority, to refuse to pay benefits because the claimant had not disproved
the availability of a higher-priority insurer. Borgess, 273 Mich App at
572-573. I would agree with the Borgess majority in any event, but even
if I did not, I conclude that we are bound to follow it by MCR 7.215(C)(2)
and MCR 7.215(J)(1). The majority accurately observes that there was
no discussion in Borgess of whether a higher-priority insurer could have
been identified, but based on its conclusion that the claimant was not
obligated to do so, no such discussion would have been warranted and
has no relevance.
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would be costs not recoupable from any benefits ulti-
mately paid. I agree with plaintiff that the goals of the
no-fault act would be thwarted by requiring claimants
to expend a significant portion of their benefits simply
seeking to obtain those benefits in the first place.

Furthermore, Trumbull conducted its own search for
a higher-priority insurer. I do not wish to suggest that
Trumbull either was or was not obligated to undertake
that search. Nevertheless, presuming Trumbull had no
such obligation, a party that acts gratuitously must
still act non-negligently. Hart v Ludwig, 347 Mich 559,
563-565; 79 NW2d 895 (1956). Under the circum-
stances, the relationship between an insured and his
own insurer imposed upon Trumbull a requirement to
carry out that investigation competently and thor-
oughly. See Hill v Sears, Roebuck & Co, 492 Mich 651,
660-661; 822 NW2d 190 (2012); see also Baker v Arbor
Drugs, Inc, 215 Mich App 198, 205-206; 544 NW2d 727
(1996). Trumbull’s assumed obligation means its in-
ability to identify Harleysville should be conclusive as
to whether Harleysville was able to be identified
within one year of the accident. It is not clear whether
Trumbull specifically informed plaintiff that it was
searching for a higher-priority insurer, but it did
promptly advise plaintiff that it was investigating his
claim for coverage, and it apparently told plaintiff at
some point before the suit was commenced that it had
not been able to find a higher-priority insurer. Any
reasonable person would be expected to place some
reliance on that investigation, and that reliance does
not display a lack of diligence.

Trumbull accurately notes that if plaintiff had com-
menced the instant lawsuit earlier, he would have
gained the power of subpoena. Indeed, when Gonzalez
was eventually subpoenaed, Harleysville was rapidly
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identified. It is somewhat speculative whether Gonzalez
would have responded to an earlier subpoena, given his
apparent refusal to discuss the matter with anyone
while he was still employed by the owner of the truck
that he was driving at the time of the accident. More
importantly, however, Trumbull’s argument contra-
venes the purpose of the no-fault act. Creating a duty for
injured persons to commence suit against their own
insurer immediately after an accident as a matter of
course will drastically increase litigation and costs to
injured persons and insurers, obliterate any hope of
fulfilling the no-fault act’s purpose of making benefit
payments simple and straightforward, usurp the Legis-
lature’s power to create limitations periods, clog court
dockets, and otherwise recreate problems the no-fault
act was intended to solve. It is blatantly against public
policy to punish a party for failing to seek litigation as a
first resort or failing to file a suit earlier when the suit
was actually timely filed.

I would hold that to the extent plaintiff was obli-
gated to search for a higher-priority insurer as a
precondition to receiving no-fault benefits from his
insurer of default priority, plaintiff exercised the req-
uisite due diligence in carrying out that search. I would
therefore reverse the dismissal of plaintiff’s claims
against Trumbull.
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NEW COVERT GENERATING COMPANY, LLC v TOWNSHIP

OF COVERT

Docket Nos. 348720 and 348721. Submitted August 6, 2020, at Lansing.

Decided September 24, 2020, at 9:05 a.m. Leave to appeal denied
507 Mich 932 (2021).

Petitioner, New Covert Generating Company, LLC (New Covert

Generating), challenged the tax assessments of respondent, Covert
Township (the Township), regarding New Covert Generating’s real
and personal property for the years 2010 through 2016 in the Tax
Tribunal. In December 2012, the State Tax Commission (the Com-
mission) granted New Covert Generating’s classification appeal for
the years 2010 and 2011, ordering the Township to create a
separate personal-property parcel for its turbines and generators
and to classify that parcel as industrial personal property. The
classification change entitled New Covert Generating to receive
the state education tax and school operating millage exemptions to
its personal property other than its turbine property. New Covert
Generating challenged the 2011 and 2012 assessments on the
ground that the taxing authorities failed to take into consideration
the state education tax and school operating millage exemptions
for nonturbine personal property. The Tax Tribunal issued an
opinion setting the true cash value of the parcels for 2010 and 2011.
In an unpublished per curiam opinion issued on August 4, 2015
(Docket No. 320877), the Court of Appeals, O’CONNELL, P.J., and
OweNs and M. J. KELLy, JJ., affirmed the Tax Tribunal’s decision
regarding the assessments for 2010 and 2011 and concluded that,
under MCL 205.735a, New Covert Generating properly invoked
the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction without filing statements of assess-
able property, explaining that the statutory requirement that the
petitioner file a statement of assessable property applied only to
appeals in which the petitioner appealed directly to the Tax
Tribunal without first protesting the assessment before the board
of review. In May 2016, New Covert Generating filed a petition
challenging the assessments of its property for 2016. The Tax
Tribunal consolidated all the appeals involving tax claims for years
2012 through 2015 into one appeal. Van Buren County (the
County) moved to intervene, and the Tax Tribunal granted the
motion. In February 2017, New Covert Generating moved for
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partial summary disposition in the consolidated appeals and the
appeal involving the 2016 tax year, asking the Tax Tribunal to
interpret the meaning of the term “turbine” as used in MCL
211.903(3)(b) and MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(ii), which excluded “tur-
bines” from the industrial personal property that was otherwise
exempt from the state education tax and the school operating
millage. The Tax Tribunal held that the term “turbine,” as used in
MCL 211.903 and MCL 380.1211, referred to a single piece of
equipment: a rotary engine activated by the reaction or impulse or
both of a current of fluid such as water, steam, or air. Thus, the trial
court granted partial summary disposition to New Covert Gener-
ating. Assertedly on the basis of several discovery disputes, the
Township and the County moved for summary disposition on
October 25, 2017. They argued that New Covert Generating did
not have standing to challenge the assessments because it was not
a “party in interest” as that phrase is used in MCL 205.735a(6).
The Township and the County filed a second motion for summary
disposition in November 2017, asserting that New Covert Gener-
ating was uncollectible and had no standing. The Tax Tribunal
denied that motion for summary disposition, stating that it was
undisputed that New Covert Generating owned the property at
issue. The Tax Tribunal also concluded that the Township and the
County violated MCR 2.114—now MCR 1.109(E)—by submitting a
motion that was not grounded in fact or law because the Township
and the County ignored the holding in Spartan Stores, Inc v Grand
Rapids, 307 Mich App 565 (2014), and improperly attempted to
distinguish it. Accordingly, the Tax Tribunal awarded New Covert
Generating costs and fees. In June 2018, the Township and the
County again moved for summary disposition on the ground that
the Tax Tribunal lacked jurisdiction. In July 2018, the Tax Tribu-
nal denied the outstanding motions for summary disposition by the
Township and the County. In that same month, the Tax Tribunal
held a contested hearing to determine the true cash value and
taxable values of the parcels at issue in the appeal for the 2016 tax
year. In January 2019, the parties entered a stipulated judgment
establishing the true cash values, assessed values, and taxable
values for all the parcels involved in the tax appeals for tax years
2012 through 2015. The Tax Tribunal subsequently issued its
February 8, 2019 final opinion and judgment establishing the true
cash value and taxable values for the parcels at issue in the appeal
for the 2016 tax year. At the same time, the Tax Tribunal entered
its order awarding costs and fees as a sanction for the Township
and the County’s motions for summary disposition in the appeals
involving the 2012 through 2015 tax years. In Docket No. 348720,
the Township and the County appealed the Tax Tribunal’s opinion
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and judgment setting the true cash value of the personal property
at issue for tax year 2016 and the Tax Tribunal’s order imposing
sanctions for the filing of frivolous motions. On cross-appeal in
Docket No. 348720, New Covert Generating appealed the Tax
Tribunal’s opinion and judgment setting the true cash value of the
personal property for tax year 2016. In Docket No. 348721, the
Township and the County appealed the Tax Tribunal’s orders
imposing sanctions arising from motions filed in the dispute over
tax years 2012 through 2015.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
concluded that it had jurisdiction over the appeals. The Legislature
provided for the Tax Tribunal’s subject-matter jurisdiction under
MCL 205.731, and MCL 205.731 does not limit the Tax Tribunal’s
jurisdiction on the basis of prerequisites to the assertion of juris-
diction. Rather, the prerequisites to the assertion of jurisdiction
appear under MCL 205.735 for appeals commenced before
January 1, 2007, and under MCL 205.735a for appeals commenced
after December 31, 2006. MCL 205.735a(4)(b) addresses the pre-
requisites applicable to the Tax Tribunal’s acquisition of jurisdic-
tion under an exception to the rule stated in MCL 205.735a(3).
MCL 205.735a(3) provides that the Tax Tribunal acquires jurisdic-
tion to hear appeals that have first been protested to the board of
review without imposing any such requirement. That is, if a
petitioner first protested to the board of review, the Tax Tribunal
would subsequently acquire jurisdiction under MCL 205.735a(3)
without any need to resort to any of the permissive exceptions
provided under MCL 205.735a(4). Therefore, given the statutory
scheme as a whole and interpreting the statute in context, MCL
205.735a(4)(b) plainly authorizes, but does not require, a taxpayer
to appeal directly to the Tax Tribunal if the taxpayer filed a
statement of assessable property. In this case, it was undisputed
that New Covert Generating protested the assessments and ex-
emptions before the board of review for each petition. Conse-
quently, the Tax Tribunal acquired jurisdiction of the appeals
consistently with MCL 205.735a(3) after a timely petition under
MCL 205.735a(6). For these reasons, the Tax Tribunal did not
commit an error of law when it determined that it had acquired
jurisdiction over the appeals.

2. The Tax Tribunal also did not commit an error of law or
adopt wrong principles when it concluded that New Covert Gen-
erating was a party in interest capable of invoking its jurisdiction.
In this case, it was undisputed that New Covert Generating was
the actual owner of the real and personal property that had been
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assessed. Therefore, it was plainly a party in interest under both
the original understanding of that phrase and the broadened
construction of that phrase outlined in Spartan Stores, 307 Mich
App 565, which held that the phrase “party in interest” referred
more broadly to any person who held any property interest in the
assessed property. New Covert Generating was the record owner of
the assessed property and therefore was necessarily a party in
interest within the meaning of MCL 205.735a(6). The Township
and the County’s argument that it would be absurd to allow a
so-called “shell” corporation to invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdic-
tion was rejected. Although the undisputed evidence showed that
New Covert Generating outsourced its operations and manage-
ment to related entities, it was also undisputed that New Covert
Generating actually owned the real and personal property at issue,
which was worth hundreds of millions of dollars. Given the value of
these properties, New Covert Generating had a powerful incentive
to comply with the tax laws and to adhere to the Tax Tribunal’s
orders and judgments in order to protect its property from liens,
foreclosure, or seizure. The Tax Tribunal additionally had the
authority under MCL 205.732(c) to penalize New Covert Generat-
ing for discovery violations occasioned by its failure or refusal to
authorize or to cause the entities with whom it contracts to provide
relevant discovery, should the taxing authorities be unable to get
the discovery directly from those contracting entities. Accordingly,
there was no basis for concluding that New Covert Generating
committed discovery violations that prevented a fair hearing.

3. The Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
gave the term “turbine” its ordinary meaning. The Legislature
chose to exclude turbines from the definition of industrial personal
property, which, in effect, excluded turbines from the exemption
from taxation for industrial personal property. Under both MCL
211.903(3)(b) and MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(@i), industrial personal
property as defined under MCL 211.34c¢ does not include a turbine
powered by gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil the primary
purpose of which is the generation of electricity for sale. The
Legislature did not define the term “turbine”; therefore, the Tax
Tribunal properly looked to a dictionary for the ordinary meaning
of the term, which it defined as a machine or engine that is rotated
by moving fluids. The Legislature provided that only those tur-
bines that were “powered by gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil
the primary purpose of which is the generation of electricity for
sale” were excluded from the exemption. Contrary to the conten-
tion of the Township and the County before the Tax Tribunal and
on appeal, this qualifying language did not expand the ordinary
meaning of the term “turbine.” Although the limiting language
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refers to the generation of electricity, the qualifying language
cannot be understood to expand the ordinary understanding of the
term “turbine” to encompass property that would be needed to
enable the turbine to generate electricity. Applying the only rea-
sonable construction, it was evident that the limiting language was
intended only to limit the type of turbine that was excluded from
the definition of industrial personal property—it was not intended
to expand the types of property excluded from the definition of
industrial personal property. Further, those statutes only establish
which industrial personal property was excluded from the exemp-
tion; they do not establish the manner for calculating the taxable
value of the property excluded from the exemption. MCL 211.903
and MCL 380.1211, when read in harmony, necessarily require the
valuation of the turbine in relation to the value of a functioning
whole—that is, the value of the turbine must be ascertained as
part of the value of the plant that “powered” the turbine by “gas” or
“steam” for the primary purpose of generating electricity for sale on
the market because only turbines powered in this way are excluded
from the definition of industrial personal property. When proper
valuation techniques are applied, the value of the turbine as a
component of a functioning power plant will comply with the
requirement of uniformity in taxation because similarly situated
taxpayers will be assessed according to the value of the turbine as
a component of a functioning whole. The Tax Tribunal did not
commit an error of law when it interpreted the statutes to apply to
a machine or engine rotated by fluid that was powered by—in
relevant part—gas or steam and with a primary purpose of
generating electricity. Accordingly, it did not commit an error of law
when it concluded that the term did not apply to ancillary equip-
ment necessary to enable the turbine to generate electricity.
Finally, the Tax Tribunal also did not commit an error of law when
it determined that the value of the turbines at issue had to be
ascertained by reference to their value as a component part of a
functioning power plant.

4. There was competent, material, and substantial evidence
to support the Tax Tribunal’s resolution of the amount of any
adjustment to the baseline estimated replacement cost for a new
plant to reflect the fact that the existing plant did not include a
switchyard. Therefore, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error
of law by resolving that dispute in New Covert Generating’s favor.
Additionally, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law or
adopt a wrong principle by deducting the value of nontaxable
assets. Expert testimony confirmed that power plants like New
Covert Generating frequently have valuable intangible assets in
the form of contractual rights and that 3% of total value was a
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commonly used estimate for the value of the intangible property.
The Tax Tribunal further did not commit an error of law when it
accepted Duff & Phelps’s handling of the disputed calculation
regarding working capital; there was competent evidence to
support either position, and therefore it was for the Tax Tribunal
to resolve. The Tax Tribunal’s decision to accept Duff & Phelps’s
estimate for the cost to finance a new construction project was
also supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence
on the whole record; the Tax Tribunal found that Duff & Phelps’s
approach better conformed to the uniformity requirement and
resulted in a more reasonable approximation of the base cost for
a new plant. Finally, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of
law when it determined that the data from a 2016 Annual Energy
Outlook report was relevant to the findings of fact necessary to
calculate the replacement cost of New Covert Generating’s plant
on December 31, 2015, as opposed to the data from a 2013 report.

5. There was record support for the Tax Tribunal’s decision to
include entrepreneurial profit in the base cost of the cost to develop
a new power plant. The Tax Tribunal accepted Concentric’s assess-
ment of the cost of equity that an investor would expect to receive
for developing a merchant electric generator. In doing so, it
impliedly adopted Concentric’s underlying rationale and data,
which it could do to satisfy its duty to state the facts consistent
with MCL 205.751(1). Although Duff & Phelps presented testi-
mony to undermine Concentric’s position regarding the inclusion of
owner’s profit, expert testimony and Concentric’s appraisal were
sufficient—notwithstanding the contrary evidence—to permit a
reasonable mind to find that the base cost of a new plant should
include the costs associated with the equity investors’ expected
return and that a reasonably approximate proxy group would
expect a return of about 5%. Therefore, because there was compe-
tent, material, and substantial evidence to support its findings and
conclusions, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when
it included owner’s profit in the cost of a new plant.

6. There was competent, material, and substantial evidence to
support the Tax Tribunal’s decision to exclude any deductions for
costs associated with the Segreto switchyard. The testimony and
evidence supported a finding that the costs associated with the
PJM Interconnection, which included the Segreto switchyard, had
already been paid by the valuation date. Accordingly, there was
evidence that a purchaser would not have to account for those costs
when purchasing the plant. Rather, the purchaser would value the
plant on the basis of the completed interconnection project. Con-
sequently, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
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chose not to deduct any amount from the value of New Covert
Generating on the basis of the interconnection project.

7. The Township and the County filed two motions that the Tax
Tribunal determined warranted sanctions: the October 2017 mo-
tion concerning New Covert Generating’s status as a party in
interest and the June 2018 motion arguing that the Tax Tribunal
lacked jurisdiction because New Covert Generating had not filed
statements of assessable property. The Township and the County
ignored the actual holdings in Spartan Stores and did not examine
the actual language of the statute; examining those arguments,
there was no basis in fact or law for the motion. Because it is well
settled that courts respect the separate existence of an artificial
entity except in certain exceptional cases, the Tax Tribunal had no
choice but to respect New Covert Generating’s separate existence.
And because the Township and the County’s motion premised on
New Covert Generating’s status as a party in interest was not well
grounded in fact or law, the Tax Tribunal had to apply an
appropriate sanction for the filing of the October 2017 motion. In
the June 2018 motion, the Township and the County argued that a
taxpayer could not invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction without
first filing statements of assessable property and that New Covert
Generating’s filings were inadequate to meet what they believed
was required under MCL 205.735a(4)(b) to invoke the Tax Tribu-
nal’s jurisdiction. The Township and the County’s preferred
construction—although implausible—was not so implausible that
counsel could not advocate for that position without running afoul
of the applicable court rule. Therefore, the Tax Tribunal erred to
the extent that it determined that the motion was not well
grounded in fact or law. The Tax Tribunal also erred to the extent
that it relied on counsel’s purportedly inconsistent positions in
different cases involving different parties. Counsel had every right
to advance the lawful objectives of his clients by every reasonably
available means permitted by law, even if that position was
inconsistent with the position that counsel advanced on behalf of a
different client. Therefore, the trial court clearly erred when it
determined that the filing of the June 2018 motion for summary
disposition was not well grounded in fact or law. Nevertheless, that
was not the only basis for the Tax Tribunal’s decision to impose
sanctions. Counsel had used motions for immediate consideration
in a way that compelled New Covert Generating to respond within
seven days. The Tax Tribunal also cited counsel’s conduct in other
litigation—which suggested that counsel was familiar with the
holding in Spartan Stores—and stated that counsel used allega-
tions of fact and innuendo to cast New Covert Generating in a bad
light. The Tax Tribunal determined that the June 2018 motion was
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frivolous and that it was imposed for an improper purpose. Based
on the entire record, the Tax Tribunal’s findings for both motions
were not clearly erroneous. Although the Tax Tribunal clearly
erred in determining that the June 2018 motion for summary
disposition was not well grounded in fact and law, it could still
properly impose sanctions based on its finding that the motion was
filed for an improper purpose.

Affirmed.

1. TAXATION — TAX TRIBUNAL — ACQUISITION OF JURISDICTION.

MCL 205.735a(4)(b) addresses the prerequisites applicable to the
Tax Tribunal’s acquisition of jurisdiction under an exception to the
rule stated in MCL 205.735a(3); MCL 205.735a(4)(b) plainly au-
thorizes, but does not require, a taxpayer to appeal directly to the
Tax Tribunal if the taxpayer filed a statement of assessable
property.

2. TAXATION — INDUSTRIAL PERSONAL PROPERTY EXCLUSIONS — WORDS AND
PHRASES — “T'URBINE” — VALUATION OF A TURBINE.

Under both MCL 211.903(3)(b) and MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(i7), indus-
trial personal property as defined under MCL 211.34c does not
include a turbine powered by gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil
the primary purpose of which is the generation of electricity for
sale; a “turbine” is defined as a machine or engine that is rotated by
moving fluids; MCL 211.903 and MCL 380.1211, when read in
harmony, necessarily require the valuation of the turbine in
relation to the value of a functioning whole—that is, the value of
the turbine must be ascertained as part of the value of the plant
that powered the turbine by gas or steam for the primary purpose
of generating electricity for sale on the market because only
turbines powered in this way are excluded from the definition of
industrial personal property.

Howard & Howard Attorneys PLLC (by Patrick M.
McCarthy, Rodger A. Kershner, Mary C. Dirkes, and
Michael O. Fawaz) for New Covert Generating Com-
pany, LLC.

Foster, Swift, Collins & Smith, PC (by Jack L. Van
Coevering and Thomas K. Dillon) and Knotek Law
Office, PLC (by M. Brian Knotek) for Covert Township
and Van Buren County.
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Amicus Curiae:

Bauckham, Sparks, Thall, Seeber & Kaufman, PC
(by Robert E. Thall) for the Michigan Townships Asso-
ciation and the Michigan Municipal League.

Before: MURRAY, C.J., and CAVANAGH and SWARTZLE, JJ.

PER CURIAM. This dispute involves the tax assessed
on an electric power plant owned by petitioner, New
Covert Generating Company, LLC (New Covert Gen-
erating). In Docket No. 348720, respondents, Covert
Township (the Township) and Van Buren County (the
County), appeal by right the Tax Tribunal’s opinion
and judgment setting the true cash value of the per-
sonal property at issue for tax year 2016 and the Tax
Tribunal’s order imposing sanctions for the filing of
frivolous motions. On cross-appeal in Docket No.
348720, New Covert Generating appeals by right the
Tax Tribunal’s opinion and judgment setting the true
cash value of the personal property for tax year 2016.
In Docket No. 348721, the Township and the County
appeal by right the Tax Tribunal’s orders imposing
sanctions arising from motions filed in the dispute over
tax years 2012 through 2015. We affirm.

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The present appeal involves a long-running dispute
between New Covert Generating and the local taxing
authorities regarding the proper assessed value of New
Covert Generating’s industrial personal property and
the proper application of any tax exemptions applicable
to the property. New Covert Generating owns real
property in Covert Township, which is in Van Buren
County. The property has been improved with a natural-
gas-fired combined-cycle facility and related equipment.
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Such power plants have two kinds of turbines: combus-
tion turbines and steam turbines. A generator converts
the rotational energy of the turbines into electricity.
New Covert Generating is not a utility—it is a merchant
generator of electricity that sells electricity on the open
market. New Covert Generating transitioned from sell-
ing in the Midcontinent Independent System Operator
(MISO) market to the PJM Interconnection (PJM) by
June 2016 to increase profits and work at a higher
capacity. New Covert Generating had to build a new
switchyard, the Segreto switchyard, to make this tran-
sition.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. CHALLENGES TO PROPERTY ASSESSMENTS

New Covert Generating has challenged the assess-
ments of its real and personal property for the years
2010 through 2016. In December 2012, the State Tax
Commission (the Commission) granted New Covert
Generating’s classification appeal for the years 2010
and 2011, ordering the Township to create a separate
personal-property parcel for the turbines and genera-
tors and to classify that parcel as industrial personal
property. The classification change entitled New Covert
Generating to receive the state education tax and school
operating millage exemptions to its personal property
other than its turbine property. But in January 2013,
New Covert Generating challenged the 2011 and 2012
assessments on the ground that the taxing authorities
failed to take into consideration the state education tax
and school operating millage exemptions for nonturbine
personal property.

In May 2013, the Tax Tribunal issued its opinion
setting the true cash value of the parcels for 2010 and
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2011, and New Covert Generating petitioned the Tax
Tribunal to require the taxing authorities to modify the
assessed values for 2013 using the values established by
the Tax Tribunal for 2011 with appropriate adjust-
ments.

In February 2014, New Covert Generating filed a
new petition with the Tax Tribunal regarding its 2011
tax assessments by the Township and the County. New
Covert Generating stated that the Township had as-
sessed its real property at $193,970,800 and its personal
property at $6,552,240 for 2011. It noted that it had
appealed to the Commission the Township’s decision to
classify its turbines, generators, and other machinery as
real property. The Commission, it wrote, had since
granted the appeal and ordered the Township to create
a separate personal-property parcel for the turbines and
generators. It also ordered the Township to classify the
property as industrial personal property. New Covert
Generating alleged that the County thereafter issued a
new tax bill for 2011 that reallocated most of the value
previously classified as real property to the new
personal-property parcel created for the turbine per-
sonal property, which was not entitled to tax exemp-
tions. The new assessments provided:

Parcel Number Tax | Actual Taxable
Year | Value/State Value
Equalized
Value

80-07-004-003-03 2011 | $8,016,600 $8,016,600
Real Property

80-07-900-084-00 2011 | $6,663,600 $6,663,600
Personal Property

80-07-900-084-01 2011 | $185,842,800 | $185,842,800
Turbine Property
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New Covert Generating alleged that the County
lacked the authority to make the changes and stated
that, after the changes, the Commission modified its
order and required the Township to assess the “tur-
bines” alone under the new parcel-—parcel 80-07-900-
084-01—and to move the other personal property from
the real-property parcel to the original personal-
property parcel number, which was parcel 80-07-900-
084-00. New Covert Generating alleged that the actions
by the Township and the County did not constitute a
final decision, ruling, or determination not already
subject to the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction, but it never-
theless stated that it was appealing the reclassification
in its petition as a precautionary measure.

This Court issued an opinion affirming the Tax Tri-
bunal’s decision regarding the assessments for 2010 and
2011. See New Covert Generating Co v Covert Twp,
unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals,
issued August 4, 2015 (Docket No. 320877). In that
decision we recognized that the Township had initially
taxed two separate parcels owned by New Covert Gen-
erating: one tax parcel for its industrial personal prop-
erty and another for its real property. Id. at 1. However,
we recognized that the Commission ordered the Town-
ship to establish a separate tax parcel for New Covert
Generating’s industrial personal property that consti-
tuted turbines beginning with the 2011 tax year. Id. at 1
n 1. The Court stated that the Commission ordered the
Township to create the separate parcel because turbines
were not exempt property. Id. at 12-13. The case pro-
ceeded to trial before the Tax Tribunal, and the Tax
Tribunal ultimately set the true cash value of the
property at $179,100,000 for 2010 and at $228,400,000
for 2011. Id. at 2.

The Township also argued, in part, that the Tax
Tribunal did not have jurisdiction to consider New
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Covert Generating’s petition because New Covert Gen-
erating did not file statements of assessable property in
2010 and 2011. Id. This Court concluded that, under
MCL 205.735a, New Covert Generating properly in-
voked the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction without filing the
statements, explaining that the statutory requirement
that the petitioner file a statement of assessable prop-
erty applied only to appeals in which the petitioner
appealed directly to the Tax Tribunal without first
protesting the assessment before the board of review. Id.
at 4. Because New Covert Generating had filed a protest
before the board for the 2011 assessment, it could
properly appeal that assessment to the Tax Tribunal
without filing a statement of assessable property. Id. at
5. Although New Covert Generating did not protest the
2010 assessment to the board, this Court concluded that
New Covert Generating complied with the requirement
that it file a statement of assessable property by filing
the Commission’s Form 4175. Id. For these reasons, the
Court concluded that the Tax Tribunal had jurisdiction
to consider the dispute. Id. at 6.

This Court also reviewed the Township’s challenges
to the Tax Tribunal’s findings and determined that the
Tax Tribunal did not make any errors that warranted
relief. Id. at 6-8. Finally, this Court declined to inter-
pret the meaning of the term “turbine” because the tax
exemption at issue did not become effective until
December 31, 2011. Id. at 13. Accordingly, it did not
apply to the tax years at issue. Id.

In May 2016, New Covert Generating filed a petition
challenging the assessments of its property for 2016.
The Tax Tribunal thereafter consolidated all the appeals
involving tax claims for years 2012 through 2015 into
one appeal and ultimately granted the County’s motion
to intervene.
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B. MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION

In February 2017, New Covert Generating moved for
partial summary disposition in the consolidated appeals
and the appeal involving the 2016 tax year, asking the
Tax Tribunal to interpret the meaning of the term
“turbine” as used in MCL 211.903(3)(b) and MCL
380.1211(10)(e)(ii), which excluded “turbines” from the
industrial personal property that was otherwise exempt
from the state education tax and the school operating
millage. New Covert Generating stated that the Town-
ship had taken the position that the term applied to
turbines and all the machinery attached to the turbine
that was needed to generate electricity. New Covert
Generating argued that the term properly applied to a
single machine—a rotor with vines or blades—and it
asked the Tax Tribunal to declare that that was the
proper understanding of the term.

To determine the proper interpretation of the term
“turbine,” the Tax Tribunal found it noteworthy that the
Legislature had demonstrated its ability to identify
energy systems involving turbines in other statutes but
chose not to define the term to include an energy system
in the statutes at issue. Thus, the Tax Tribunal rejected
the Township’s contention that the term applied broadly
“to include all parts necessary to generate electricity.”
Relying on a dictionary definition, the Tax Tribunal held
that the term “turbine,” as used in MCL 211.903 and
MCL 380.1211, referred to a single piece of equipment:
a rotary engine activated by the reaction or impulse or
both of a current of fluid such as water, steam, or air.
Thus, the trial court granted partial summary disposi-
tion to New Covert Generating.

Assertedly on the basis of several discovery disputes,

the Township and the County moved for summary
disposition on October 25, 2017. They argued that New
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Covert Generating did not have standing to challenge
the assessments because it was not a “party in interest”
as that phrase is used in MCL 205.735a(6); rather, the
evidence showed that New Covert Generating was al-
legedly a “shell entity,” given that it had no employees,
did not possess any records, and did not operate any
businesses. New Covert Generating had claimed that it
had no ability to respond to discovery, but the entities
that actually operated the plant claimed that they did
not have to respond to discovery requests because the
Tax Tribunal had no jurisdiction over them. The Town-
ship and the County filed a second motion for summary
disposition in November 2017, asserting that New Co-
vert Generating was uncollectible and had no standing.

The Tax Tribunal denied that motion for summary
disposition, stating that it was undisputed that New
Covert Generating owned the property at issue. Accord-
ingly, it was a party in interest as defined in Spartan
Stores, Inc v Grand Rapids, 307 Mich App 565; 861
NW2d 347 (2014). The Tax Tribunal also concluded that
the Township and the County violated MCR 2.114—now
MCR 1.109(E)—by submitting a motion that was not
grounded in fact or law because the Township and the
County ignored the holding in Spartan Stores and
improperly attempted to distinguish it. Accordingly, the
Tax Tribunal awarded New Covert Generating costs
and fees.

New Covert Generating submitted a bill of costs and
fees in the amount of approximately $26,000. After the
Township and the County objected, the Tax Tribunal
held an evidentiary hearing on the reasonableness of
New Covert Generating’s bill of costs but withheld its
decision until entry of its final order and judgment
resolving the appeals.

In June 2018, the Township and the County again
moved for summary disposition on the ground that the
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Tax Tribunal lacked jurisdiction. They argued that the
Commission requires electric-generating facilities to file
three different statements of assessable property and,
although New Covert Generating filed the three forms,
the filings were improper because two of the forms were
filed under protest and inserted $0 as the value of the
property, which was inaccurate. Additionally, under
MCL 205.735a(4)(b), they argued that New Covert Gen-
erating could not invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction
without filing accurate statements of assessable prop-
erty, which it did not do.

New Covert Generating responded that the motion
was patently frivolous because the Township and the
County had asserted the same argument in the 2010
and 2011 proceedings, and both the Tax Tribunal and
this Court rejected that argument. It was undisputed
that New Covert Generating had filed the required
forms for each of the years at issue and that it had
protested to the board for each of the years except
2013. New Covert Generating asserted that the Town-
ship and the County knew that their motion was
meritless; accordingly, New Covert Generating re-
quested sanctions.

In July 2018, the Tax Tribunal denied the outstand-
ing motions for summary disposition by the Township
and the County. The Tax Tribunal rejected the Township
and the County’s argument that it had to order New
Covert Generating to pay its taxes before it could
consider New Covert Generating’s appeals. It also rec-
ognized that this Court had already rejected the conten-
tion that the Tax Tribunal lacked jurisdiction because
New Covert Generating failed to file the properly filled-
out forms. The Tax Tribunal further opined that the
timing and nature of the motion raised concerns that
the Township and the County made it for an improper
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purpose or knew that it was frivolous. However, the Tax
Tribunal held that issue in abeyance pending resolution
of the underlying tax disputes.

C. THE CONTESTED HEARING

In July 2018, the Tax Tribunal held a contested
hearing to determine the true cash value and taxable
values of the parcels at issue in the appeal for the 2016
tax year.! Edward VanderVries and Laureen Birdsall
testified regarding the 2016 assessment of New Covert
Generating’s property—$660 million—but they allo-
cated 3% of that total to real property, which left a
value of $638 million for the personal property.

The managing director of Duff & Phelps, hired by
New Covert Generating to appraise the plant, testified
that there was enough data to support the use of all
three valuation approaches for New Covert Generat-
ing’s plant: income, cost, and sales. On the basis of
these three approaches, New Covert Generating’s
property was worth $408 million. The Township and
the County presented their rebuttal case before pre-
senting testimony and evidence concerning their valu-
ation of New Covert Generating’s plant. Their experts
reviewed the Duff & Phelps appraisal and felt that
there were several errors and inaccuracies in each of
the three valuation approaches.

D. POSTHEARING JUDGMENTS

In January 2019, the parties entered a stipulated
judgment establishing the true cash values, assessed

1 New Covert Generating’s parent company sold New Covert Gener-
ating along with other holding companies to another entity in 2015. The
transfer constituted an uncapping event, which led to the revaluation of
the property as of December 31, 2015. See MCL 211.27a(3).
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values, and taxable values for all the parcels involved in
the tax appeals for tax years 2012 through 2015. They
also stipulated the amount of refund owing to New
Covert Generating for those tax years. The Tax Tribunal
entered the stipulated judgment as a partial consent
judgment. The Tax Tribunal left the appeal open to
consider the costs and fees to be awarded as a sanction.

The Tax Tribunal subsequently issued its February 8,
2019 final opinion and judgment establishing the true
cash value and taxable values for the parcels at issue in
the appeal for the 2016 tax year. The Tax Tribunal found
that the parties’ experts agreed that the assessor’s value
($1,342,800) for the land was accurate, as was the value
of the exempt pollution-control assets ($46,320,249).
The Tax Tribunal found that the assessment presented
by the Township and the County was not supported by
substantial, competent, or material evidence and that
while New Covert Generating’s appraisal was not with-
out its flaws, it did constitute substantial, competent,
and material evidence sufficient to clear the low hurdle
of the burden going forward with the evidence. For that
reason, the Tax Tribunal rejected the Township and the
County’s request for a directed verdict.

Turning to the parties’ appraisals, the Tax Tribunal
generally found that the appraisal by Duff & Phelps
(New Covert Generating’s expert) was more reliable
than the appraisal by Concentric (the appraiser for the
Township and the County). The Tax Tribunal agreed
that the sales approach employed by Duff & Phelps was
flawed but accepted the cost approach as a reliable
approach in valuing the property. The Tax Tribunal
explained that the only alternative to purchasing an
existing plant would be to purchase a new plant. In
looking at the cost approach, the Tax Tribunal found
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that Duff & Phelps’s use of the 2016 Annual Energy
Outlook report was relevant to determining the cost of a
new plant on December 31, 2015. The Tax Tribunal
found that the costs associated with the construction of
a new plant stated in the 2016 Annual Energy Outlook
report included the cost of a switchyard; accordingly, the
Tax Tribunal agreed with Duff & Phelps’s conclusion
that the cost of a switchyard had to be deducted when
determining the replacement cost.

The Tax Tribunal did agree with two criticisms of
Duff & Phelps’s cost approach. It determined that it
was reasonable to include owner’s profit in the cost to
build a new plant. The Tax Tribunal also did not agree
with Duff & Phelps’s decision to deduct the cost of the
Segreto switchyard with regard to each of its valuation
approaches. On the basis of these changes, the Tax
Tribunal revised the cost value calculated by Duff &
Phelps from $423,000,000 to $510,000,000.

The Tax Tribunal next discussed Duff & Phelps’s
income approach. It found that Duff & Phelps’s capacity
factor of 65% was more accurate than Concentric’s
capacity factor of 87%. The Tax Tribunal accepted Duff
& Phelps’s use of the capital-asset pricing model when
calculating the discount rate but did not agree that it
was inappropriate for Duff & Phelps to subtract the
value of New Covert Generating’s intangibles at an
estimated 3%. According to the Tax Tribunal, Duff &
Phelps should not have deducted the costs associated
with the Segreto switchyard when determining value
using the income approach. For that reason, the Tax
Tribunal added $59 million back to the value to reach a
modified value of $509,000,000 for the income approach.

In the end, the Tax Tribunal concluded by weighing
the two approaches equally and finding that the true
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cash value of all the property was $509,500,000. The
Tax Tribunal then turned to the proper allocation of the
value.

The Tax Tribunal employed Duff & Phelps’s method
for determining the value of the real property, which
was to subtract the agreed value of the land, multiply
the remainder by 3% to calculate the value of the
improved land, and then add the land value back to
that total to get a real estate value of $16,587,516. The
total value of the personal property would then be
$492,912,484. After determining the value of the per-
sonal property, the Tax Tribunal subtracted the agreed
value of the tax-exempt pollution-control property,
which was $31,960,972. The remaining value of the
personal property was $460,951,512.

The Tax Tribunal did not agree with Duff & Phelps’s
allocation of the remaining value between the turbine
personal-property parcel and the nonturbine personal-
property parcel. The Tax Tribunal determined that the
law required it to value the turbine property as in-
stalled. It determined that 46% of the value ought to be
assigned to the turbine parcel, which resulted in a
value of $212,037,696 for that parcel.

At the same time it entered its final opinion and
judgment for the 2016 tax year, the Tax Tribunal en-
tered its order awarding costs and fees as a sanction for
the Township and the County’s motions for summary
disposition in the appeals involving the 2012 through
2015 tax years. The Tax Tribunal found that the litiga-
tion conduct of the County’s counsel called into question
whether the motions were interposed for an improper
purpose. Specifically, the Township and the County filed
six motions for summary disposition and a request for
immediate consideration, and despite counsel being
familiar with Spartan Stores, he argued in direct con-
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travention of its holding. The Tax Tribunal concluded
that the Township and the County had attempted to
cast New Covert Generating in a bad light.

The Tax Tribunal similarly found that the June 2018
motion was frivolous, reasoning that that motion was
completely unfounded and made for an improper pur-
pose because it was identical to motions previously filed
and resolved, and those parties failed to acknowledge
that the issue had been decided previously by the Tax
Tribunal and this Court. Their failure to cite the previ-
ous opinion led the Tax Tribunal to conclude that the
motion was frivolous and imposed for an improper
purpose.

The Tax Tribunal found that $17,955 of the fees that
New Covert Generating requested for responding to the
motion of October 2017 was reasonable. It ordered the
signatory of that motion to pay half the fees. The Tax
Tribunal ordered a hearing to determine what fees
would be reasonable for the filing of the June 2018
motion. After the hearings, the Tax Tribunal entered an
order for sanctions arising from the June 2018 motion,
rejected the Township and the County’s request for a
hearing, and instead granted relief on its earlier find-
ings after a hearing to set the hourly rate. It then
considered the bill of costs and dramatically reduced it
because it felt that the hours billed were unreasonable
given that the basis for the motion had been previously
rejected. The Tax Tribunal found that $5,580 of the fees
was reasonable. It ordered that 50% be attributed to
each docket and ordered the signatories to the motion to
jointly pay the sanction.?

2 The Tax Tribunal also entered an order granting New Covert
Generating’s motion to correct errata. It corrected the values attributed
to the personal-property parcels and corrected a misstatement in the
opinion. This order resolved the last pending claim and closed the
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III. INVOKING THE TAX TRIBUNAL’S JURISDICTION

The Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law
when it concluded that it had jurisdiction over the
appeals.

This Court’s review of agency decisions involving
property-tax valuations is quite limited: “In the ab-
sence of fraud, error of law or the adoption of wrong
principles, no appeal may be taken to any court from
any final agency provided for the administration of
property tax laws from any decision relating to valua-
tion or allocation.” Const 1963, art 6, § 28. Because
these claims of error involve whether the Tax Tribunal
properly interpreted and applied the statutes govern-
ing its jurisdiction, this Court’s review is limited to
determining whether the Tax Tribunal committed an
error of law in its interpretation and application of the
statutes. Mich Props, LLC v Meridian Twp, 491 Mich
518, 527-528; 817 NW2d 548 (2012). This Court re-
views de novo whether the Tax Tribunal erred as a
matter of law when interpreting and applying statutes.
Makowski v Governor, 317 Mich App 434, 441; 894
NW2d 753 (2016). Agency interpretations of a statute
are entitled to “respectful consideration, but they are
not binding on courts and cannot conflict with the plain
meaning of the statute.” In re Complaint of Rovas
Against SBC Mich, 482 Mich 90, 117-118; 754 NW2d
259 (2008).

Whether a tribunal had subject-matter jurisdiction
may be raised at any time, even for the first time on
appeal. See Midwest Energy Coop v Mich Pub Serv
Comm, 268 Mich App 521, 523; 708 NW2d 147 (2005).
This Court also reviews de novo as a question of law

appeal for the 2016 tax year, but the order noted that the Tax Tribunal
still had to resolve the outstanding motions for reconsideration.
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whether this Court has subject-matter jurisdiction. Id.;
Chen v Wayne State Univ, 284 Mich App 172, 191; 771
NW2d 820 (2009).

A. APPELLATE JURISDICTION

As a preliminary matter, we note that part of the
appeal in Docket No. 348721 was previously dismissed
with regard to the claims involving the March 11, 2019
order. This Court ordered that the appeal involving the
February 8, 2019 order remain pending. See New Covert
Generating Co, LLC v Covert Twp, unpublished order of
the Court of Appeals, entered May 14, 2019 (Docket No.
348721). What has not been decided is whether this
Court lacked jurisdiction to consider whether state-
ments of assessable property must be filed to invoke
jurisdiction or whether New Covert Generating was a
party in interest because the Township and the County
did not timely appeal the consent judgment. We do so
Now.

This Court’s jurisdiction to hear an appeal of right
is determined by application of the court rules. See
Chen, 284 Mich App at 192. This Court generally has
jurisdiction over an appeal of right from a final
judgment or order of the circuit court or of the Court
of Claims, as defined under MCR 7.202(6). See MCR
7.203(A)(1). This Court also has jurisdiction to hear
appeals of right from a “judgment or order of a court
or tribunal from which appeal of right to the Court of
Appeals has been established by law or court rule.”
MCR 7.203(A)(2). The Legislature provided that the
Tax Tribunal is “the final agency for the administra-
tion of property tax laws.” MCL 205.753(1). And the
Legislature further provided that a party has an
appeal by right in this Court from a “final order or
decision of the tribunal,” which “may be taken by
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filing an appeal in accordance with the Michigan
court rules after the entry of the order or decision
appealed from or after denial of a motion for rehear-
ing timely filed.” MCL 205.753(2). Accordingly, an
aggrieved party must file a claim of appeal within 21
days of the entry of a final judgment or order. See
MCR 7.203(A)(2); MCR 7.204(A)(1)(a).

Because the consent judgment disposed of all the
claims and adjudicated all the rights and liabilities of
all the parties for the disputes involving tax years 2012
through 2015, it was a final judgment as to those
petitions. See MCR 7.202(6)(a)(i). We have jurisdiction
to consider the first two issues raised in Docket No.
348721 to the extent that those claims involve the Tax
Tribunal’s authority to enter the order compelling the
payment of attorney fees because the Township and
the County timely appealed that order. To the extent
that the Township and the County have impliedly
challenged the consent judgment by arguing that the
Tax Tribunal should not have denied their motions for
summary disposition, this Court treats the case as if
leave to appeal had been granted. See, e.g., Schultz v
Auto-Owners Ins Co, 212 Mich App 199, 200 n 1; 536
NW2d 784 (1995).

New Covert Generating also argues that this Court
cannot consider any challenge to the consent judg-
ment because a party may not assert an error with
regard to a judgment to which that party consented.
See Dora v Lesinski, 351 Mich 579, 582; 88 NW2d 592
(1958). However, a party may raise a challenge to
subject-matter jurisdiction at any time, and the par-
ties cannot confer subject-matter jurisdiction on the
Tax Tribunal by their conduct or through waiver. See,
e.g., Paulson v Secretary of State, 154 Mich App 626,
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630-631; 398 NW2d 477 (1986).2 Accordingly, the
Township and the County may challenge the Tax
Tribunal’s exercise of subject-matter jurisdiction even
though they did not reserve the right to appeal on that
ground in the consent judgment. Id.

B. INVOKING THE TAX TRIBUNAL’S JURISDICTION

The Township and the County argue that under MCL
205.735a(4)(b), which applies to disputes involving
industrial personal property, the filing of a properly
completed statement of assessable property is always
a prerequisite to invoking the Tax Tribunal’s juris-
diction—whether as a direct appeal or as an appeal
after protest to the board. They assert that MCL
205.735a(4)(b) requires this result because the condi-
tional clause at the end of the first sentence in Subsec-
tion (4)(b) applies equally to a protest before the board
and a direct appeal to the Tax Tribunal. Moreover, they
argue that the failure to comply with that condition
deprives the Tax Tribunal of subject-matter jurisdiction
and, for that reason, the prerequisites cannot be waived
or forfeited.

1. SUBJECT-MATTER JURISDICTION OR PROCEDURAL
PREREQUISITE

Subject-matter jurisdiction involves a court or tribu-
nal’s abstract power to try a case of the kind or charac-
ter of the one pending. Petersen Fin, LLC v Kentwood,
326 Mich App 433, 441; 928 NW2d 245 (2018). The
Legislature provided for the Tax Tribunal’s subject-
matter jurisdiction under MCL 205.731. Hillsdale Co

3 This Court is not required to follow the rule of law established by an
opinion of this Court published before November 1, 1990. See MCR
7.215(J)(1). However, under traditional principles of stare decisis, pre-
1990 decisions continue to have precedential effect. MCR 7.215(C)(2).
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Senior Seruvs, Inc v Hillsdale Co, 494 Mich 46, 52-53; 832
NW2d 728 (2013). That statute provides:

The [Tax Tribunal] has exclusive and original jurisdic-
tion over all of the following:

(a) A proceeding for direct review of a final decision,
finding, ruling, determination, or order of an agency
relating to assessment, valuation, rates, special assess-
ments, allocation, or equalization, under the property tax
laws of this state.

(b) A proceeding for a refund or redetermination of a tax
levied under the property tax laws of this state.

(c) Mediation of a proceeding described in subdivision
(a) or (b) before the tribunal.

(d) Certification of a mediator in a tax dispute described
in subdivision (c).

(e) Any other proceeding provided by law. [MCL
205.731.]

MCL 205.731 does not limit the Tax Tribunal’s
jurisdiction on the basis of prerequisites to the asser-
tion of jurisdiction. The prerequisites to the assertion
of jurisdiction appear under MCL 205.735 for appeals
commenced before January 1, 2007, and under MCL
205.735a for appeals commenced after December 31,
2006. Courts have long recognized that not all prereq-
uisites to the assertion of jurisdiction reduce the
subject-matter jurisdiction of a tribunal-—some are
merely claim-processing rules that do not implicate
subject-matter jurisdiction. See Union Pacific R Co v
Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers & Trainmen Gen
Comm of Adjustment, 558 US 67, 81-82; 130 S Ct 584;
175 L Ed 2d 428 (2009).

Although it did not directly consider whether the
Legislature intended to make the prerequisites stated
under MCL 205.735 jurisdictional, the Supreme Court
has characterized them as jurisdictional. Szymanski v
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Westland, 420 Mich 301, 303-305; 362 NW2d 224
(1984). This Court has been inconsistent when inter-
preting whether the prerequisites to the Tax Tribunal’s
acquisition of jurisdiction stated under MCL 205.735
implicated subject-matter jurisdiction—and therefore
could not be waived or forfeited—or were merely pro-
cedural and could be waived or forfeited. Compare
Parkview Mem Ass’n v Livonia, 183 Mich App 116, 121;
454 NW2d 169 (1990) (holding that a failure to comply
with a prerequisite under MCL 205.735, although
stated in terms of the acquisition of jurisdiction, was
merely procedural and did not constitute a limitation
on subject-matter jurisdiction), with Leahy v Orion
Twp, 269 Mich App 527, 532; 711 NW2d 438 (2006)
(holding that a failure to comply with a prerequisite
under MCL 205.735 deprived the Tax Tribunal of
jurisdiction). The inconsistency has, in part, been the
result of the Supreme Court’s handling of these pre-
requisites. The Parkview Court relied in part on the
Supreme Court’s decision in W & E Burnside, Inc v
Bangor Twp, 314 NW2d 196 (1978), in which the Court
reversed this Court’s decision to affirm the Tax Tribu-
nal’s dismissal of the case for lack of jurisdiction on the
ground that the taxpayer did not protest before the
board as required under MCL 205.735(1). See id.; W &
E Burnside, Inc v Bangor Twp, 77 Mich App 618, 624;
259 NW2d 160 (1977), rev’d 314 NW2d 196 (1978). If
the requirements stated under MCL 205.735 limited
the Tax Tribunal’s subject-matter jurisdiction, then the
failure to comply with those requirements could not be
waived. Accordingly, the decision in W & E Burnside
suggested that the Supreme Court viewed the prereq-
uisites as jurisdictional only in the looser sense.

In any event, and as discussed later in this opinion,
the Tax Tribunal did not err when it concluded that
New Covert Generating had met the requirements of
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MCL 205.735a(4)(b). Therefore, the Tax Tribunal had
the authority to consider the appeal.

2. ACQUIRING JURISDICTION

The resolution of this issue involves the proper
interpretation of MCL 205.735a(4)(b). The goal of
statutory interpretation is to discern and give effect to
the Legislature’s intent. See Sun Valley Foods Co v
Ward, 460 Mich 230, 236; 596 NW2d 119 (1999). The
best indicator of the Legislature’s intent is the lan-
guage of the statute itself. Id. If the statute is unam-
biguous, this Court must assume that the Legislature
intended the meaning clearly expressed and must
enforce the statute as written. Id. Notably, a statute is
not interpreted in a vacuum; rather, it must be inter-
preted in context and with a view to the statute’s
placement within the overall statutory scheme.
Manuel v Gill, 481 Mich 637, 650; 753 NW2d 48 (2008).

As part of the General Property Tax Act, see MCL
211.1 et seq., the Legislature created boards of review
for townships and other municipalities, the primary
function of which is to examine and review the accu-
racy of tax assessment rolls. MCL 211.29(1). The
Legislature also required boards of review to meet for
limited periods to hear taxpayer protests of an assess-
ment. MCL 211.30(4). Normally, a board must afford
an opportunity to be heard to any person who has
appeared before the board to protest an assessment.
MCL 211.30(3). But a township may require a taxpayer
to first properly raise his or her claim to the assessor or
another agency as a prerequisite to filing a protest
before the board. MCL 211.107(1); AERC of Mich, LLC
v Grand Rapids, 266 Mich App 717, 722-723; 702
NW2d 692 (2005). The statutory provisions most di-
rectly addressing a board’s authority do not otherwise
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impose any prerequisites that must be met before a
person may file a protest with the board.

The Legislature also created the Tax Tribunal
through the Tax Tribunal Act, MCL 205.701 et seq. See
MCL 205.721. The Tax Tribunal is a quasi-judicial
agency, MCL 205.721(1), that has exclusive jurisdic-
tion “for direct review of a final decision, finding,
ruling, determination, or order of an agency relating to
assessment, valuation, rates, special assessments, al-
location, or equalization, under the property tax laws
of this state,” MCL 205.731(a). An agency is defined to
include boards of review. See MCL 205.703(a). Accord-
ingly, the Legislature provided the Tax Tribunal with
the general authority to hear appeals from final deci-
sions of boards of review.

Before January 1, 2007, the Tax Tribunal could only
acquire jurisdiction over a tax dispute involving an
assessment or exemption if the aggrieved party first
protested the assessment or claimed the exemption
before the appropriate board of review, see MCL
205.735(2), which was consistent with the Legisla-
ture’s conferral of jurisdiction to hear appeals from
final decisions and orders. Although the Legislature
generally continued to require petitioners to first pro-
test to the appropriate board of review for disputes
arising after December 31, 2006, see MCL 205.735a(3),
the Legislature provided taxpayers with the option to
appeal directly to the Tax Tribunal without protesting
to the board under certain circumstances:

(4) In the 2007 tax year and each tax year after 2007,
all of the following apply:

(a) For an assessment dispute as to the valuation or
exemption of property classified...as commercial real
property, industrial real property, or developmental real
property, the assessment may be protested before the
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board of review or appealed directly to the tribunal with-
out protest before the board of review as provided in [MCL
205.735a(6)].

(b) For an assessment dispute as to the valuation or
exemption of property classified . ..as commercial per-
sonal property, industrial personal property, or utility
personal property, the assessment may be protested before
the board of review or appealed directly to the tribunal
without protest before the board of review as provided in
[MCL 205.735a(6)], if a statement of assessable property
is filed under [MCL 211.19] prior to the commencement of
the board of review for the tax year involved.

(c) For an assessment dispute as to the valuation of
property that is subject to taxation under . . . the commer-
cial redevelopment act, . . . the enterprise zone act, . . . the
technology park development act, .. .the obsolete prop-
erty rehabilitation act, . . . [or] the commercial rehabilita-
tion act, . . . the assessment may be protested before the
board of review or appealed directly to the tribunal with-
out protest before the board of review as provided in [MCL
205.735a(6)]. This subdivision does not apply to property
that is subject to the neighborhood enterprise zone
act. ... [MCL 205.735a(4).]

Notably, the provisions of MCL 205.735a(4) are not
framed as limitations on the acquisition of jurisdic-
tion. Rather, they are framed as exceptions to the
general prerequisite to the Tax Tribunal’s acquisition
of jurisdiction over a tax dispute as provided under
MCL 205.735a(3). For tax disputes commenced after
December 31, 2006, the Legislature reaffirmed that,
except as otherwise provided under MCL 205.735a or
other law, “for an assessment dispute as to the valu-
ation or exemption of property, the assessment must
be protested before the board of review” before the
Tax Tribunal could acquire jurisdiction of the dispute
as provided under MCL 205.735a(6). See MCL
205.735a(3).
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Under MCL 205.735a(4), the permissive verb “may”
was used to establish exceptions to the mandatory
prerequisite to the acquisition of jurisdiction under
MCL 205.735a(3). Walters v Nadell, 481 Mich 377, 383;
751 NW 2d 431 (2008) (stating that the term “may”
ordinarily is permissive, not mandatory). The Legisla-
ture provided that, for certain qualifying assessment
and exemption disputes, the assessment or exemption
“may be protested before the board of review or ap-
pealed directly to the tribunal without protest before
the board of review . . ..” See MCL 205.735a(4)(a) and
(c). The disjunctive “or” established that a taxpayer
“may” do either of two things: the taxpayer “may”
protest the assessment “before the board of review,” or
the taxpayer “may” appeal directly to the Tax Tribunal
without protest before the board of review. In the
former case, the Tax Tribunal would not acquire juris-
diction until after the taxpayer completed the protest
and filed a petition in compliance with MCL
205.735a(6). In the latter case, the taxpayer could
appeal directly to the Tax Tribunal by filing a petition
in compliance with MCL 205.735a(6), notwithstanding
the requirement stated under MCL 205.735a(3). Noth-
ing within the statutory scheme suggests that the
taxpayer who elects the first option might not subse-
quently appeal to the Tax Tribunal. The Legislature’s
statement that the assessment may be protested to the
board or appealed directly to the Tax Tribunal without
protest to the board demonstrates that the direct ap-
peal is an exception to, not a replacement of, the
requirement stated under MCL 205.735a(3). See MCL
205.735a(4)(a) and (c).

The only distinction between Subdivisions (a) and (c)
and the exception stated in Subdivision (b) is that, for
the exception stated under Subdivision (b), the Legis-
lature added a limitation to the permissive language:
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For an assessment dispute as to the valuation or
exemption of . . . commercial personal property, industrial
personal property, or utility personal property, the assess-
ment may be protested before the board of review or
appealed directly to the tribunal without protest before
the board of review as provided in [MCL 205.735a(6)], if a
statement of assessable property is filed.... [MCL
205.735a(4)(b).]

If the Township and the County’s preferred interpre-
tation were correct, the exception stated under MCL
205.735a(4)(b) would necessarily apply to both options;
that is, it would have to be understood to read that “the
assessment may be protested before the board of re-
view ... if a statement of assessable property is filed”
before the commencement of the board of review, or the
assessment may be “appealed directly to the tribunal
without protest before the board of review...if a
statement of assessable property is filed” before the
commencement of the board of review. Under that
interpretation, the statute would, in effect, impose a
prerequisite on the taxpayer’s ability to protest to the
board of review.

But Subdivision (b) does not address the authority of
boards of review to hear a protest; it addresses the
prerequisites applicable to the Tax Tribunal’s acquisi-
tion of jurisdiction under an exception to the rule
stated in MCL 205.735a(3). Tellingly, MCL 205.735a(3)
already provides that the Tax Tribunal acquires juris-
diction to hear appeals that have first been protested to
the board of review without imposing any such require-
ment. That is, if a petitioner first protested to the board
of review, the Tax Tribunal would subsequently ac-
quire jurisdiction under MCL 205.735a(3) without any
need to resort to any of the permissive exceptions
provided under MCL 205.735a(4). Therefore, given the
statutory scheme as a whole and interpreting the



56 334 MICH AppP 24 [Sept

statute in context, the condition applies to the last
antecedent of the two antecedents separated by the
disjunctive “or’—namely, it applies only in those ap-
peals in which the taxpayer has directly appealed
without making a protest to the board of review. See
Kales v Oak Park, 315 Mich 266, 271; 23 NW2d 658
(1946) (stating that a modifying clause is confined to
the last antecedent unless there is something in the
subject matter or dominant purpose that requires a
different construction).

In the previous appeal, this Court rejected the
Township’s construction of MCL 205.735a(4) because
that construction, in effect, read a limitation into MCL
205.735a(3) that did not exist:

MCL 205.735a provides a general jurisdictional rule in
§ (3) that provides that an assessment dispute must be
protested before the board of review prior to the Tax
Tribunal acquiring jurisdiction in accordance with the
petition filing requirements of subsection (6). MCL
205.735a provides exceptions to the general rule, however,
in subsection (4). Each subsection restates the general
jurisdictional rule, but makes the general rule permissive
rather than mandatory. Thus, while protest before [the]
board of review is not required for property covered in each
of the three subsections prior to an appeal before the Tax
Tribunal, protest before the board of review remains an
available course. Respondent’s proposed reading of the
exception in subsection (4)(b) would add a requirement to
the exception that does not exist in the general rule in
section (3); that is, section (3) requires only that a petitioner
protest an assessment before the board of review and does
not require the filing of a statement of assessable personal
property in order to allow the tribunal to acquire jurisdic-
tion of the dispute under MCR 205.735a(6) upon the timely
filing of a petition. Subsection (4)(b) similarly permits a
petitioner to protest an assessment before the board of
review, but also offers a petitioner the option of appealing to
the tribunal without protest if an additional condition is
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satisfied: a statement of assessable property must be filed
under § 19 of the general property tax act before commence-
ment of the board of review for the particular tax year. [New
Covert Generating Co, unpub op at 4.]

When read in context and with a view to the role of
the exceptions in the statutory scheme as a whole, see
Manuel, 481 Mich at 650, MCL 205.735a(4)(b) is not
equally susceptible to more than a single meaning,
Alvan Motor Freight, Inc v Dep’t of Treasury, 281 Mich
App 35, 39-40; 761 NW2d 269 (2008).¢ Rather, the plain
language shows that the Legislature intended the
requirement that the taxpayer file a statement of
assessable property to apply only in cases of a direct
appeal. MCL 205.735a(4)(b) plainly authorizes, but
does not require, a taxpayer to appeal directly to the
Tax Tribunal if the taxpayer filed a statement of
assessable property. In the alternative, the taxpayer
may protest to the board and, if he or she does so, the
taxpayer has satisfied the prerequisite to the Tax
Tribunal’s acquisition of jurisdiction stated under MCL
205.735a(3).

Here, it is undisputed that New Covert Generating
protested the assessments and exemptions before the
board of review for each petition. Consequently, the

4 The Township, the County, and amici suggest adoption of their
alternate construction of the statute because that construction would
encourage disclosures and support the laudable goals of uniformity of
practice in the assessment of taxes. Whether those policies might be
better served by precluding a taxpayer from asserting an appeal before
the Tax Tribunal for those years when the taxpayer did not file a
statement of assessable property, or filed a noncompliant statement, is
a policy argument that has no relevance when determining the proper
construction of a statute. Stabley v Huron-Clinton Metro Park Auth, 228
Mich App 363, 370; 579 NW2d 374 (1998) (stating that “[t]his Court will
not impose a policy-driven interpretation ... of a statute when the
Legislature has [already] chosen among competing policy consider-
ations”).
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Tax Tribunal acquired jurisdiction of the appeals con-
sistently with MCL 205.735a(3) after a timely petition
under MCL 205.735a(6). For these reasons, the Tax
Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
determined that it had acquired jurisdiction over the
appeals. See Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.5

IV. “PARTY IN INTEREST”

The Tax Tribunal also did not commit an error of law
or adopt wrong principles when it concluded that New
Covert Generating was a party in interest capable of
invoking its jurisdiction.®

This Court reviews the Tax Tribunal’s judgment and
orders for fraud, error of law, or the adoption of wrong
principles, Mich Props, LLC, 491 Mich at 527-528,
while we review de novo whether the Tax Tribunal
erred as a matter of law when it interpreted or applied
the relevant statutes, Makowski, 317 Mich App at 441.
This Court also reviews de novo as a question of law
whether the Tax Tribunal had subject-matter jurisdic-
tion. Midwest Energy, 268 Mich App at 523.

The Legislature provided, in relevant part, that the
jurisdiction of the Tax Tribunal “is invoked by a party in
interest, as petitioner, filing a written petition....”
MCL 205.735a(6). In Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at
566-567, the Court had to determine whether Spartan
Stores, Inc., which indirectly owned Family Fare, LLC,

5 This resolves this issue on appeal, and therefore we need not address
New Covert Generating’s argument regarding collateral estoppel or the
Township and the County’s argument that the statements of assessable
property filed by New Covert Generating did not satisfy the require-
ments of MCL 205.735a(4)(b).

5 As noted earlier, to the extent that the Township and the County’s
appeal in Docket No. 348721 was untimely, we treat the appeal as if
leave to appeal had been granted. Schultz, 212 Mich App at 200 n 1.
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was a party in interest sufficient to invoke the Tax
Tribunal’s jurisdiction over the assessment of property
in which Family Fare held a leasehold interest. It also
had to determine whether Family Fare was a party in
interest even though it did not own the underlying
property. Id.

The Spartan Stores Court examined the methods by
which an appeal typically proceeded to the Tax Tribu-
nal and noted that taxpayers previously had to protest
an assessment at the local board of review before the
taxpayer could proceed to the Tax Tribunal. Id. at 571,
citing MCL 205.735(2). The Court recognized that
MCL 211.30(4) authorized only those persons (or their
agents) whose property had been assessed to protest
before boards of review; that is, only the actual owner
of the assessed property could protest to the board. Id.
at 570. The interplay between these statutes, the
Court related, generally made it unnecessary to define
the scope of the phrase “party in interest”:

[Hlistorically it was unnecessary for courts to define the
use of “party in interest” in MCL 205.735(3) with any more
specificity, because the term necessarily encompassed only
those parties that had protested before the board of
review—i.e., the property owner or its agent. MCL
211.30(4). In other words, the board of review’s strict limit
on which parties could contest property-tax assessments
served as a screen on which parties could appeal those
assessments to the Tax Tribunal, and necessarily limited
the scope of the phrase “party in interest” in MCL
205.735(3) to property owners or their agents. [Id. at
571-572.]"

" The Court recognized that it had discussed the phrase “party in
interest,” as used under MCL 205.735, in Jefferson Sch v Detroit Edison
Co, 154 Mich App 390; 397 NW2d 320 (1986), but it concluded that that
decision did not provide any clarity regarding the proper understanding
of the phrase because the Jefferson Sch Court discussed the phrase before
there was a direct appeal to the Tax Tribunal without protest before the
board. See Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at 574 n 7.
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The Court held that the phrase “party in interest”
should not be limited to the actual owner of the
assessed property, explaining that the phrase referred
more broadly to any person who held any property
interest in the assessed property. Id. at 575-576. The
Court held that a leasehold interest was such a prop-
erty interest: “Michigan courts have long held that
leaseholds manifestly are ‘interests,” in that they are
‘part of a legal . . . claim to or right in property.’ Most
importantly, for the purposes of our case, ‘the word
“interest” as applied to land embraces and includes
leasehold interests and rights derived there-
from....” Id. at 575 (citations omitted; ellipses in
original). Because Family Fare held a leasehold inter-
est in the assessed property, the Court held that
Family Fare was a party in interest within the mean-
ing of MCL 205.735a(6), even though it did not own the
underlying real property being assessed. Id. at 577.
The Court, however, rejected the contention that Spar-
tan was a party in interest as the indirect owner of
Family Fare, given that Michigan courts respect the
separate existence of artificial entities; because Spar-
tan was not the actual owner of the real property and
did not enter into the lease agreement, it did not have
a property interest in the assessed property. Id. at
577-578. For that reason, the Court concluded, Spar-
tan was not a party in interest within the meaning of
MCL 205.735a(6). Id. at 578.

Returning to our case, it is undisputed that New
Covert Generating was the actual owner of the real and
personal property that had been assessed. Therefore, it
was plainly a party in interest under both the original
understanding of that phrase and the broadened con-
struction of that phrase given by the Spartan Stores
Court. Contrary to the Township and the County’s
assessment, the Court’s discussion of the law applicable
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to disregarding the separate existence of entities did not
indicate that such an ownership interest may be insuf-
ficient when there has been an abuse of the corporate
form. See Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at 577 n 13.

Instead, the Spartan Stores Court stated that it
could not conclude that Spartan had an interest in the
property because it had to respect Spartan’s separate
existence from Family Fare. Id. It did not suggest that
Family Fare’s status as a party in interest would be
lost if Family Fare’s separate existence were disre-
garded. Id. Similarly, here there had been no underly-
ing action involving a request to disregard the separate
existence of New Covert Generating from the entities
that directly or indirectly own and control it. Gallagher
v Persha, 315 Mich App 647, 654, 664-666; 891 NW2d
505 (2016) (stating that the equitable doctrine of
piercing the corporate veil is a remedy that may be
invoked in a separate action to redress an underlying
wrong). Accordingly, the Tax Tribunal did not commit
an error of law when it respected New Covert Gener-
ating’s separate existence, as it was required to do, see
Green v Ziegelman, 310 Mich App 436, 450-451; 873
NW2d 794 (2015), and determined that New Covert
Generating was a party in interest that had the right
to invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction consistent
with Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at 575-577, and
MCL 205.735a(6). New Covert Generating was the
record owner of the assessed property and, therefore,
was necessarily a party in interest within the meaning
of MCL 205.735a(6).

We reject the Township and the County’s argument
that it would be absurd to allow a so-called “shell”
corporation to invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdiction.
Although the undisputed evidence showed that New
Covert Generating outsourced its operations and man-
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agement to related entities, it was also undisputed
that New Covert Generating actually owned the real
and personal property at issue, which was worth
hundreds of millions of dollars. Given the value of
these properties, New Covert Generating had a pow-
erful incentive to comply with the tax laws and to
adhere to the Tax Tribunal’s orders and judgments in
order to protect its property from liens, foreclosure, or
seizure. See MCL 211.40 (providing that the failure to
pay taxes assessed on real and personal property
creates a lien on the real and personal property by
operation of law, and the liens take precedence over all
other claims to the property); MCL 211.47 (authorizing
taxing authorities to seize and sell personal property
for unpaid taxes and providing a cause of action
against the assessed entity for unpaid taxes). And if
New Covert Generating’s owners abused New Covert
Generating’s separate existence and recognition of its
separate existence would be inequitable, the Township
and the County could seek to have a circuit court
disregard New Covert Generating’s separate existence
and enforce a judgment for unpaid taxes against the
owners. See Gallagher, 315 Mich App at 664-666;
Green, 310 Mich App at 450-451.

The Tax Tribunal additionally had the authority to
penalize New Covert Generating for discovery viola-
tions occasioned by its failure or refusal to authorize or
cause the entities with whom it contracts to provide
relevant discovery, should the taxing authorities be
unable to get the discovery directly from those con-
tracting entities. See MCL 205.732(c) (providing that
the Tax Tribunal’s powers include “[g]lranting other
relief or issuing writs, orders, or directives that it
deems necessary or appropriate in the process of dis-
position of a matter over which it may acquire juris-
diction”). Although the Township and the County make
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much of New Covert Generating’s purported discovery
violations, which they argue prevented a fair hearing
in the Tax Tribunal, they have not appealed any of the
Tax Tribunal’s discovery orders. Accordingly, there is
no basis for concluding that New Covert Generating
committed discovery violations that prevented a fair
hearing.

V. PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF THE TERM “TURBINE”

We next turn to whether the Tax Tribunal commit-
ted an error of law when it gave the term “turbine” its
ordinary meaning.

Before 2007, the Legislature imposed a state educa-
tion tax on property classified as industrial personal
property, see MCL 211.903(1), and allowed local taxing
authorities to impose a school operating tax on indus-
trial personal property of up to 18 mills, see MCL
380.1211(1). As part of a tax reform, the Legislature
amended those statutes to exempt personal property
classified as industrial property from both taxes. See
2007 PA 37 (amending MCL 380.1211(1), in relevant
part, to include an exemption for industrial personal
property); 2007 PA 38 (adding Subsection (3) to MCL
211.903, which exempted industrial personal property
from the state education tax). The Legislature
amended the statutes to exclude turbine personal
property from the exemptions otherwise applicable to
industrial personal property. After the amendment,
MCL 211.903 provided:

(3) For taxes levied after December 31, 2007, the fol-
lowing property is exempt from the tax levied under this
act:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subdivision (b),
personal property classified under ... MCL 211.34c, as
industrial personal property.
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(b) Beginning December 31, 2011, a turbine powered by
gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil the primary pur-
pose of which is the generation of electricity for sale is not
eligible for the exemption under this subsection.

After its amendment, MCL 380.1211 provided, in rel-
evant part:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this section and
[under MCL 380.1211(c)], the board of a school district
shall levy not more than 18 mills for school operating
purposes or the number of mills levied in 1993 for school
operating purposes, whichever is less. A principal resi-
dence, qualified agricultural property, qualified forest
property, supportive housing property, property occupied
by a public school academy, and industrial personal prop-
erty are exempt from the mills levied under this subsec-
tion except for the number of mills by which that exemp-
tion is reduced under this subsection. . . .

(10) As used in this section:

*ow ok

(e) “Industrial personal property” means the following:

(i) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (i7),
property classified as industrial personal property un-
der ... MCL 211.34c.

(i1) Beginning December 31, 2011, industrial personal
property does not include a turbine powered by gas,
steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil the primary purpose of
which is the generation of electricity for sale.

The definition of industrial personal property is
quite broad; it includes “[a]ll machinery and equip-
ment, furniture and fixtures, and dies on industrial
parcels, and inventories not exempt by law.” See MCL
211.34¢(3)(c)(@). However, the Legislature chose to ex-
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clude turbines from the definition of industrial per-
sonal property, which, in effect, excluded turbines from
the exemption from taxation for industrial personal
property. Both of the exclusions to the exemption state
that “industrial personal property,” as defined under
MCL 211.34c, does not include “a turbine powered by
gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil the primary
purpose of which is the generation of electricity for
sale.” See MCL 211.903(3)(b); MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(i7).
The dispute on appeal involves the proper interpreta-
tion of the term “turbine” as used in these two statutes.

When interpreting a statute, this Court’s goal is to
determine the Legislature’s intent. Sun Valley Foods,
460 Mich at 236. The best indicator of the Legislature’s
intent is the language of the statute itself. Id. If the
statute is not ambiguous, this Court must assume that
the Legislature intended the meaning clearly ex-
pressed and must enforce the statute as written. Id. A
statute is ambiguous only when it irreconcilably con-
flicts with another provision or is equally susceptible to
more than a single meaning. Alvan Motor Freight, 281
Mich App at 39-40. Notably, when construing a statute,
this Court does not interpret the statute in a vacuum;
rather, it must interpret the statute in context and
with a view to the statute’s placement within the
overall statutory scheme. Manuel, 481 Mich at 650.

The Legislature did not define the word “turbine”
under MCL 211.34¢, MCL 211.903, MCL 380.1211, or
any related statute. And there is no basis for conclud-
ing that the term has acquired a technical meaning.
Therefore, this Court must construe the term accord-
ing to the common and approved usage of the lan-
guage. MCL 8.3a; see also Krohn v Home-Owners Ins
Co, 490 Mich 145, 156; 802 NW2d 281 (2011). The Tax
Tribunal looked to a dictionary for evidence of the
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common usage for the term “turbine,” which was
proper. Krohn, 490 Mich at 156. A turbine is defined as
“a rotary engine actuated by the reaction or impulse or
both of a current of fluid (such as water, steam, or air)
subject to pressure and [usually] made with a series of
curved vanes on a central rotating spindle,” Merriam-
Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (11th ed), or “[alny of
various machines in which the kinetic energy of a
moving fluid is converted to rotary mechanical power,”
The American Heritage College Dictionary (3d ed).
Accordingly, reduced to its simplest terms, the ordi-
nary meaning of the term “turbine” is a machine or
engine that is rotated by moving fluids.

The Legislature further provided that only those
turbines that were “powered by gas, steam, nuclear
energy, coal, or oil the primary purpose of which is the
generation of electricity for sale” were excluded from the
exemption. MCL 211.903(3)(b); MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(i7).
Contrary to the contention of the Township and the
County before the Tax Tribunal and on appeal, this
qualifying language did not expand the ordinary mean-
ing of the term “turbine.” A turbine remained an engine
or machine that was rotated by fluids. Read in context,
it is beyond reasonable dispute that the Legislature
added the qualifying clause to limit the exclusion to a
particular class of turbines. Given its common meaning,
the term “turbine” applies to a wide variety of engines or
machines that are rotated by moving fluids—everything
from a waterwheel to a wind turbine. But the Legisla-
ture chose not to exclude waterwheels and wind tur-
bines from classification as industrial personal property.
Rather, it chose to limit the exclusion to those turbines
that met two criteria: turbines that were (1) “powered”
by “gas, steam, nuclear energy, coal, or oil” and (2) that
have the primary purpose of “the generation of electric-
ity for sale.” Although the limiting language refers to
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the generation of electricity, the qualifying language
cannot be understood to expand the ordinary under-
standing of the term “turbine” to encompass property
that would be needed to enable the turbine to generate
electricity. Applying the only reasonable construction, it
is evident that the limiting language was intended only
to limit the type of turbine that was excluded from the
definition of industrial personal property—it was not
intended to expand the types of property excluded from
the definition of industrial personal property.

New Covert Generating urges a construction of the
statute that goes beyond the plain meaning of the
statute. New Covert Generating argues that the statu-
tory language requires the Tax Tribunal to determine
the value of the turbine as an isolated piece of equip-
ment and then subtract that value from the value of
the industrial personal property as a whole.

As the Township and the County correctly note,
MCL 211.903 and MCL 380.1211 do not prescribe
valuation methods. Rather, those statutes establish
two things: that industrial personal property is exempt
from the education taxes, and that a certain class of
turbines is not industrial personal property. Those
statutes, accordingly, only establish which industrial
personal property was excluded from the exemption
provided for industrial personal property. They do not
establish the manner for calculating the taxable value
of the property excluded from the exemption.

Additionally, New Covert Generating’s construction
ignores the fact that the statutes do provide that a
turbine will not be excluded from the definition of
industrial personal property unless “powered” by, in
relevant part, gas or steam. The use of the past
participle indicates that the turbines will only be
excluded from the definition of industrial personal
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property when actually used in the manner described
(i.e., when powered by gas or steam for the primary
purpose of generating electricity for sale on the mar-
ket). See MCL 211.903(3)(b); MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(Z2).
Therefore, the limiting language provides that only
installed turbines of the class described are excluded
from the exemption.

The conclusion that the turbines must be valued in
relation to a functioning power plant also follows from
the statutes governing the proper valuation of personal
property. True cash value is defined as the “usual
selling price at the place where the property to which
the term is applied is at the time of assessment, being
the price that could be obtained for the property at
private sale, and not at auction sale except as other-
wise provided in this section, or at forced sale.” MCL
211.27(1). And the testimony and evidence at trial
established that the value of the plant as a whole was
inherently linked to the value of the turbines within
the plant’s system for generating electricity.

Extensive testimony was put before the Tribunal
establishing that the value of the plant depended
almost entirely on the attributes and condition of the
plant’s turbines. The experts agreed that the expected
lifespan and depreciation applicable to the turbines
affected the value of the plant as a whole and that the
plant’s capacity, efficiency (its heat rate), and its eco-
nomic obsolescence were related to its turbines and
significantly affected the plant’s value. There was also
testimony that the long-term service plan for the
turbines affected the value of the plant. Therefore, the
testimony and evidence established that persons who
value and purchase power plants value the plant and
its equipment as a whole and do so, in significant part,
on the basis of installed and functioning turbines.
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Consequently, the “usual selling price at the place
where the property to which the term is applied,” MCL
211.27(1), for a turbine that is “powered by gas, steam,
nuclear energy, coal, or oil the primary purpose of
which is the generation of electricity for sale,” MCL
211.903(3)(b); MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(i7), is the price that
a buyer would pay for the turbine as a functioning
component part of a power plant.

New Covert Generating’s argument that such a
valuation indirectly causes the value of the turbine to
include the value of ancillary equipment in violation of
the exclusions stated under MCL 211.903 and MCL
380.1211 is not well-taken. The statutes, when read in
harmony, necessarily require the valuation of the tur-
bine in relation to the value of a functioning whole—
that is, the value of the turbine must be ascertained as
part of the value of the plant that “powered” the
turbine by “gas” or “steam” for the primary purpose of
generating electricity for sale on the market because
only turbines powered in this way are excluded from
the definition of industrial personal property. See MCL
211.903(3)(b); MCL 380.1211(10)(e)(iz). With New Co-
vert Generating’s preferred construction, the value of
the turbines would have to be determined without
reference to their value as a component of a function-
ing plant. That construction results in an overstate-
ment of the value of the other industrial personal
property of the plant, the value of which was valued as
part of a functioning whole. Indeed, without a function-
ing turbine, the other property might have no value at
all—the plant might, as one witness opined, be “shot.”
Likewise, that construction dramatically undervalues
the turbines themselves because they are not valued as
a functioning component part of a power plant but as
an isolated piece of equipment that had been used and
was subject to depreciation and obsolescence. As the
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Township and the County correctly observe, that con-
struction essentially results in valuing the turbines as
scrap and not according to the price that a seller would
be willing to pay for the turbines as part of a function-
ing unit.

New Covert Generating also suggests that valuing
the turbines as a component of a functioning plant
runs afoul of the doctrine of uniformity in taxation, see
Const 1963, art 9, § 3, because the value includes the
costs of installation, which can vary from developer to
developer. New Covert Generating’s contention relies
on a false premise. All other variables being the same,
two turbines in two different plants would have the
same value without regard to how much was paid to
install them by the original developer. The value of the
turbine as part of a functioning unit simply does not
vary on the basis of the amount paid to install it.
Rather, when proper valuation techniques are applied,
the value of the turbine as a component of a function-
ing power plant will comply with the requirement of
uniformity in taxation because similarly situated tax-
payers will be assessed according to the value of the
turbine as a component of a functioning whole. See
Armco Steel Corp v Dep’t of Treasury, 419 Mich 582,
592; 358 NW2d 839 (1984) (stating that “the control-
ling principle is one of equal treatment of similarly
situated taxpayers”).

The Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law
when it interpreted the statutes to apply to a machine
or engine rotated by fluid that was powered by—in
relevant part—gas or steam and with a primary pur-
pose of generating electricity. Accordingly, it did not
commit an error of law when it concluded that the term
did not apply to ancillary equipment necessary to
enable the turbine to generate electricity. The Tax
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Tribunal also did not commit an error of law when it
determined that the value of the turbines at issue had
to be ascertained by reference to their value as a
component part of a functioning power plant. See Mich
Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

VI. TAX TRIBUNAL’S FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS OF VALUE

As already noted, Michigan’s Constitution limits
this Court’s ability to review “any [agency] decision
relating to valuation or allocation” of taxes to review
for “fraud, error of law or the adoption of wrong
principles ....” Const 1963, art 6, § 28. An agency
commits an error of law or adopts wrong principles
when the agency’s findings are not supported by com-
petent, material, and substantial evidence on the
whole record. See Fisher-New Ctr Co v Mich State Tax
Comm (On Rehearing), 381 Mich 713, 715; 167 NW2d
263 (1969); Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

The nature of the review required under the
substantial-evidence test was articulated in Mich Em-
ployment Relations Comm v Detroit Symphony Orches-
tra, Inc, 393 Mich 116; 223 NW2d 283 (1974), in which
the Court explained that, although review was not de
novo, it nevertheless must be thorough and required
assessment of the evidence as a whole:

What the drafters of the Constitution intended was a
thorough judicial review of administrative decision, a
review which considers the whole record—that is, both
sides of the record—not just those portions of the record
supporting the findings of the administrative agency.
Although such a review does not attain the status of de
novo review, it necessarily entails a degree of qualitative
and quantitative evaluation of evidence considered by an
agency. Such review must be undertaken with consider-
able sensitivity in order that the courts accord due defer-
ence to administrative expertise and not invade the prov-
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ince of exclusive administrative fact-finding by displacing
an agency’s choice between two reasonably differing
views. Cognizant of these concerns, the courts must walk
the tightrope of duty which requires judges to provide the
prescribed meaningful review. [Id. at 124.]

This Court has characterized the substantial-
evidence test as requiring evidence that a “ ‘reasoning
mind would accept as sufficient to support a conclu-
sion.”” See Black v Dep’t of Social Servs, 195 Mich App
217, 30; 489 NW2d 493 (1992), quoting Soto v Mich Dep’t
of Social Servs Dir, 73 Mich App 263, 271; 251 NW2d
292 (1977). Evidence that a reasoning mind would
accept as sufficient is more than a scintilla but less than
a preponderance. See Black, 195 Mich App at 30. Fur-
ther, it is not this Court’s place to resolve conflicts in the
evidence or pass on the credibility of witnesses—that is,
if there is adequate evidence to support the agency’s
decision, then this Court cannot substitute its judgment
for the agency’s judgment. Id.

A. REPLACEMENT COST: SWITCHYARD

The Township and the County first argue that the
Tax Tribunal should not have deducted the costs asso-
ciated with the construction of a new switchyard from
the base cost estimate for a new plant stated in the
Energy Information Administration’s 2016 Annual En-
ergy Outlook report because there was insufficient evi-
dence to support a $41 million deduction from the base
cost.

It was undisputed that New Covert Generating’s tax
parcels did not include the switchyard for operation in
the PJM market on the valuation date. In calculating
the value of New Covert Generating using the
replacement-cost method for valuation, the experts ex-
amined the estimated cost to build a state-of-the-art
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plant and then adjusted the value of that plant to reflect
the actual condition of the New Covert Generating
plant. Both appraisers used the Energy Information
Administration’s Annual Energy Outlook reports to
obtain a baseline estimated cost for a new plant. How-
ever, Duff & Phelps chose to use the 2016 report,
whereas Concentric chose to use the 2013 report.

New Covert Generating’s expert testified that the
estimated cost for a new plant stated in the reports
included the costs associated with the construction of a
switchyard. Because New Covert Generating did not
own a switchyard for its market and the existing switch-
yard had no value to New Covert Generating, the expert
opined that the cost included in the reports for a
switchyard had to be deducted to reflect New Covert
Generating’s actual situation on the valuation date.

The record evidence reveals that the Tax Tribunal
had to decide between two diametrically opposed posi-
tions: one stating that the Tax Tribunal should deduct
$41 million to subtract out the costs associated with a
new switchyard, and the other stating that the Tax
Tribunal should make no adjustments to the baseline
cost of a new plant to reflect the inclusion of equipment
for a switchyard. Given the testimony supporting the
conclusion that the Energy Information Administra-
tion’s report included some costs associated with a
switchyard or switchyard equipment, the Tax Tribunal
cannot be faulted for concluding that the baseline cost
stated in those reports had to be adjusted to subtract
those costs. Similarly, one of New Covenant Generat-
ing’s experts clarified how Duff & Phelps concluded that
more than $41 million should be deducted from the
baseline cost. His testimony, when considered with the
exhibits underlying his opinion, was evidence that a
reasonable mind would consider sufficient to justify the
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deduction of 3.74% from the base replacement cost
provided in the report, notwithstanding the contrary
testimony and evidence. See Black, 195 Mich App at 30.

The Township and the County further argue that
there was no evidence that the MISO switchyard
actually cost $41 million and that there was evidence
that suggested that it had a much lower original cost.
That argument is inapposite. Testimony made it clear
that the 3.74% was applied to the baseline replacement
cost of a new plant as a way to calculate the amount
included within the total cost that reflected the costs of
a new switchyard. That is, the deduction did not reflect
the value of the actual MISO switchyard.

The Township and the County similarly complain
that New Covert Generating never disclosed how much
it cost to build the MISO switchyard. The cost to build a
specific switchyard at some point long before the valu-
ation date was, however, not relevant to determining
the amount of costs relating to a switchyard that was
included in the Energy Information Administration’s
cost estimate in the 2016 Annual Energy Outlook re-
port. Because the cost of the original switchyard was
irrelevant to determining how much of the cost estimate
for a new plant reflected the cost of a new switchyard,
the Tax Tribunal had no obligation to discuss the MISO
switchyard’s value or justify the apparent difference
between that value and the calculated value of a new
switchyard that was included in the cost estimate for a
new plant. See MCL 205.751(1); Oldenburg v Dryden
Twp, 198 Mich App 696, 699-700; 499 NW2d 416 (1993)
(stating that the Tax Tribunal’s concise statement of
facts and determinations of law need only be sufficient
to facilitate meaningful appellate review).

The Township and the County presented testimony
and evidence to undermine the view that the cost of a
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new plant estimated in the 2016 report included ap-
proximately $41 million in costs associated with the
construction of a new switchyard. That being said, the
expert adequately explained the basis of his opinion,
and there was underlying evidence from the reports to
support his testimony. Accordingly, the dispute was a
matter of the weight and credibility of the evidence,
which was for the Tax Tribunal to resolve. Black, 195
Mich App at 30.

There was competent, material, and substantial
evidence to support the Tax Tribunal’s resolution of the
amount of any adjustment to the baseline estimated
replacement cost for a new plant to reflect the fact that
the existing plant did not include a switchyard. There-
fore, it did not commit an error of law by resolving that
dispute in New Covert Generating’s favor. See Mich
Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

B. INTANGIBLES

Michigan’s Constitution provides that the Legisla-
ture must provide for the taxation of only real property
and tangible personal property. See Const 1963, art 9,
§ 3. Therefore, to the extent the valuations at issue
included value for intangible assets that were not a
value-influencing factor that had to be accounted for in
calculating the value of tangible property, see Mead-
owlanes Ltd Dividend Housing Ass’n v Holland, 437
Mich 473, 495-496; 473 NW2d 636 (1991), it was proper
to reduce those values by the amount attributable to the
intangible assets. Here, the Tax Tribunal accepted Duff
& Phelps’s contention that it was reasonable to reduce
New Covert Generating’s value by 3% for the approxi-
mate value of its intangibles. The Tax Tribunal ex-
plained that there was evidence of substantial intan-
gible assets, such as the service contract and Mitsubishi
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warranty, customized software, emission permits, fuel
supply contracts, and the interconnection agreement.

The Township and the County argue that there was
no evidentiary support for a 3% reduction for intan-
gibles. More specifically, they state that there was no
evidence for specific intangibles that were applicable to
New Covert Generating and no study to support the
use of a generic 3% estimate. They also contend that
the Tax Tribunal accepted New Covert Generating’s
deductions for expenses related to the intangibles
when calculating the value using the income approach
and then deducted 3% for the value of the intangibles,
which resulted in a double deduction.

As the Township and the County correctly note, two
experts testified that New Covert Generating did not
have intangibles that warranted a deduction. However,
one of those experts also agreed that power plants
typically have intangibles, that the most important
intangibles for power plants involved contracts, and
that 3% was a standard figure (though commonly
applicable to a business that owned multiple plants).

Although there was testimony admitting that New
Covert Generating had a trained workforce in place,
the undisputed evidence showed that New Covert
Generating outsourced its management and opera-
tions to other entities and had no employees of its own.
Similarly, while there was testimony that it did not
matter that the workforce belonged to another entity,
there was no basis for valuing that workforce’s training
and experience as an intangible asset of New Covert
Generating because New Covert Generating had no
ability to control the workforce beyond the terms of the
agreement with the employees’ employer. That is, any
value arising from the workforce was derived from the
agreement that New Covert Generating had with the
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employees’ employer. The same is true for the other
intangible assets that might be owned by the entities
with which New Covert Generating contracted to op-
erate its plant. Nevertheless, there was evidence that
New Covert Generating had intangible assets in the
form of such contracts. There was also evidence that
those contracts would have some value. Indeed, one
expert used the long-term service agreement with
Mitsubishi to estimate New Covert Generating’s fu-
ture maintenance expenses and rejected a sales-
comparison approach to valuing New Covert Generat-
ing on the grounds that power plants were unique and
the value of a power plant could be affected by undis-
closed data, such as the value of undisclosed contracts.
Similarly, another expert agreed that New Covert
Generating had a long-term service agreement with
warranties that had some value. Additionally, there
was evidence that New Covert Generating had other
valuable contracts and permits of which the value
should be excluded.

The Township and the County claim that the Tax
Tribunal erred by accepting Duff & Phelps’s deduction
of the expenses associated with maintaining the intan-
gible assets while at the same time deducting the value
of those assets. The two concepts are distinct, as New
Covert Generating explains on appeal. The expenses
associated with maintaining an asset are expenses
that reduce net income, which necessarily affects a
valuation premised on income. But those expenses are
distinct from the value of the asset itself, and the
expenses do not implicate whether the value of the
asset is subject to taxation. Therefore, it did not
amount to an error of law or the adoption of a wrong
principle to deduct the value of nontaxable assets even
though the expenses associated with the maintenance
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of those assets were deducted under the income ap-
proach to valuation. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

In sum, expert testimony confirmed that power
plants like New Covert Generating frequently have
valuable intangible assets in the form of contractual
rights and that 3% of total value was a commonly used
estimate for the value of the intangible property. Given
the testimony and evidence that New Covert Generat-
ing owned valuable contract rights, a reasonable per-
son could conclude that some value should be deducted
to reflect the value of the intangible property that was
not subject to taxation. See Black, 195 Mich App at 30.
And whether the general figure should be modified on
the specific facts applicable to New Covert Generating
was a matter of the evidence’s weight and credibility to
be resolved by the Tax Tribunal, which this Court will
not second guess on appeal. See id. That testimony,
when considered in light of the evidence concerning
Duff & Phelps’s experience and the other testimony
and evidence, constituted competent, material, and
substantial evidence to support a finding that 3% of
New Covert Generating’s value could be attributed to
its intangible assets. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

C. WORKING CAPITAL

The Township and the County also argue that the
Tax Tribunal erred when it accepted Duff & Phelps’s
deduction for working capital, asserting that the evi-
dence showed that New Covert Generating did not
need significant working capital because PJM paid
New Covert Generating on a weekly or bimonthly
basis, which was adequate to cover New Covert Gen-
erating’s monthly operating expenses.

The expert testimony offered by the Township and
the County suggested that New Covert Generating
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might not need substantial working capital because its
revenue stream was adequate to finance its needs. But
they did not relate their opinions to all the expenses
that New Covert Generating might have had—such as
its labor costs, management costs, or costs arising from
contractual agreements. Moreover, the testimony of a
New Covert Generating expert was adequate to estab-
lish that the generally applicable estimate of working
capital accurately modeled New Covert Generating’s
actual working capital needs. Because there was com-
petent evidence to support either position, it was for
the Tax Tribunal to resolve the conflicting evidence,
and this Court cannot substitute its judgment for that
of the Tax Tribunal. Black, 195 Mich App at 30. The
Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
accepted Duff & Phelps’s handling of this disputed
calculation. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

D. COST TO FINANCE

The Tax Tribunal’s decision to accept Duff &
Phelps’s estimate for the cost to finance a new con-
struction project was also supported by competent,
material, and substantial evidence on the whole re-
cord. In accepting an incredibly low rate of 1.02%, the
Township and the County maintain, the Tax Tribunal
also mischaracterized the rate that Concentric actually
applied as 12%.

As discussed, the parties relied on Annual Energy
Outlook reports by the Energy Information Adminis-
tration when calculating the base cost for a new plant.
Those reports state the “overnight cost” of a plant,
which is the estimate of all the costs for everything
that one would need to build a plant on the day of
valuation. The overnight cost, according to one expert,
did not include the expenses associated with the actual
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construction, such as the expenses related to financing
the project. Accordingly, the parties agreed that the
base cost for a new plant should be adjusted to reflect
the costs associated with the financing for the project.

Duff & Phelps viewed the cost a bit differently for
purposes of the valuation; it chose to determine the
cost by looking at the owner’s lost opportunity to invest
the amount needed to develop the new plant in a
long-term interest-rate vehicle. It calculated the lost
interest over the development period to be $16 million
on an investment of a “billion 92 million.”

By contrast, an expert for the Township and the
County assumed that a typical developer would finance
38% of the project with equity and the remaining
percentage with construction loans; that expert calcu-
lated the total cost to finance the approximately $690
million expense over a construction term of three years
using interest rates that began at 7.23% and gradually
rose to 7.86%. The total cost under that approach
amounted to more than $62 million. Because the hypo-
thetical owner of the new plant developed the plant, in
part, using equity, the cost was increased by the owner’s
expected profit.

The Tax Tribunal accepted Duff & Phelps’s treatment
of the cost to finance as the more reasonable approach.
In explaining its reasoning, the Tax Tribunal stated that
Concentric placed the interest rate at 12%, which was
not the actual rate assigned in Concentric’s appraisal.
The Tax Tribunal rejected that rate not only because it
felt that the rate was unreasonable but also because a
market-based interest rate was highly variable and
depended in significant measure on who the developer
was, rather than the nature of the property itself.
Accordingly, the Tax Tribunal determined, application
of a market rate would run afoul of the doctrine of
uniformity in taxation.
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Additionally, the Tax Tribunal indicated in its opin-
ion denying reconsideration that the reference to 12%
interest did not warrant any relief because it had
properly rejected the application of a market rate as
violative of the doctrine that taxation should be uni-
form.

The Tax Tribunal did not err when it rejected the
market-rate approach to calculating the costs associ-
ated with financing the development of a new plant. As
the evidence showed, there were many different debt
instruments available to finance a new project. Yet, in
assessing the value of property, the Tax Tribunal had
to ensure that the valuation method ensured unifor-
mity in taxation, but a valuation that varied signifi-
cantly on the basis of an interest-rate calculation
would violate that requirement. See Meadowlanes, 437
Mich at 493. The approach taken by Duff & Phelps
avoided the problem of varying interest rates by as-
suming that the developer could finance the entire
project with equity and then measuring the expense by
calculating the lost revenue from investment in a
treasury bond. The Tax Tribunal found that Duff &
Phelps’s approach better conformed to the uniformity
requirement and resulted in a more reasonable ap-
proximation of the base cost for a new plant. Because
there was testimony supporting that proposition that
was adequate to permit a reasonable mind to find that
the $16 million cost adjustment accurately represented
the cost to finance, the Tax Tribunal did not commit an
error of law when it adopted that approach. Black, 195
Mich App at 30.

E. PLANT EFFICIENCY AND FUEL COSTS

The Township and the County finally argue that the
Tax Tribunal adopted a wrong principle when it ac-
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cepted Duff & Phelps’s heat rate for a new plant that
used a turbine that did not exist on the valuation date
and that did not reflect real working conditions.

The Tax Tribunal determined that, of the two An-
nual Energy Outlook reports that the parties used to
calculate the base cost of a new plant, Duff & Phelps’s
use of the 2016 report reflected a more accurate assess-
ment of the cost of a new plant on the valuation date of
December 31, 2015. The Tax Tribunal reasoned that
the information contained in the 2016 report was
relevant, even though issued some months after the
valuation date, and that it better reflected the technol-
ogy available in 2015.

The Tax Tribunal’s rationale was adequate to justify
its decision to accept Duff & Phelps’s use of the 2016
report. The 2013 report reflected data for a new plant
that was available in 2012—it did not reflect the
advancements that occurred in the years since. Fur-
ther, there was testimony that the data reflected in the
2016 report was collected in 2015. Therefore, even
though the report itself did not get released until 2016,
the underlying data could have been collected by a
hypothetical developer and used to calculate the cost of
a new plant for purposes of valuing an existing plant
on December 31, 2015. Moreover, even though the
report was not released until some months after the
valuation date, as the Tax Tribunal properly recog-
nized, that fact did not make the report irrelevant.
Rather, it was a factor to consider in assigning the
weight afforded to the information contained in the
report. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp v Warren, 193
Mich App 348, 354; 483 NW2d 416 (1992).

The Township and the County attempt to distin-
guish Jones & Laughlin on the basis that the data at
issue there involved an actual sale, not a report that
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discussed a technology that was not in existence. The
attempt is unavailing; the Jones & Laughlin Court
held that evidence is not automatically rendered irrel-
evant because the evidence involved events occurring
after the valuation date. Id. Under that holding, the
Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when it
determined that the data from that report was rel-
evant to the findings of fact necessary to calculate the
replacement cost of New Covert Generating’s plant on
December 31, 2015. MRE 401; MRE 402. Indeed, the
Tax Tribunal determined that the data from the 2016
report better reflected the costs and heat rate for a
plant on December 31, 2015, than did the 2013 report,
which necessarily reflected technology that was sev-
eral years out of date by the valuation date. Therefore,
the Tax Tribunal’s finding that the 2016 report was
more credible and worthier of greater weight was
supported by competent, material, and substantial
evidence. Black, 195 Mich App at 30. Similarly,
whether there should be additional modifications to
the data reflected in the report to better reflect real-
world operating conditions was a matter of the weight
and credibility of the data related in the report, which
was within the province of the Tax Tribunal to resolve.
Id. The Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law or
adopt a wrong principle in its handling of the 2016
report. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

F. OWNER’S PROFIT

On cross-appeal, New Covert Generating argues that
the Tax Tribunal erred by including in the cost of a new
plant an amount attributable to the owner’s profit. It
maintains that, in Meijer, Inc v Midland, 240 Mich App
1; 610 NW2d 242 (2000), this Court held that owner’s
profit would be applicable only under circumstances
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when the property was developed to make a profit from
sale and there was evidence that the market price
would bear inclusion of the owner’s profit. New Covert
Generating argues that the Tax Tribunal erred by
failing to consider these factors and erred because there
was no evidentiary support for them. Finally, it argues
that there was no evidentiary support for the 5% figure
actually selected for owner’s profit.

In Meijer, we analyzed whether the Tax Tribunal
erred when it accepted a valuation that added “five
percent for entrepreneurial profit” to the cost approach
for valuing a property, id. at 8, agreeing with foreign
authorities that the “true cash value of developed real
estate may not always be reflected by the cost of the
project without the inclusion of entrepreneurial profit,”
id. at 10. The Court stated that the Tax Tribunal,
however, could not mechanically include an entrepre-
neurial or owner’s profit, and it warned that determin-
ing when it was proper to include owner’s profit in the
cost calculation might be difficult. Id. Thus, we held
that an owner’s profit may be included when a devel-
oper might develop the property in order to profit from
its sale, id. at 11, but there must be “some evidence
upon which one can support the conclusion that the
market would bear the inclusion of entrepreneurial
profit,” or the inclusion of such profit would amount to
pure speculation, id. at 12. Because there was no
evidence that a developer would develop a 180,000
square-foot retail building for profit, the Tax Tribunal
had erred by including a 5% owner’s profit. Id. at 13.

Here, although the Tax Tribunal adopted Duff &
Phelps’s approach to valuation using the cost approach,
it determined that that approach was flawed to the
extent that it did not include “owner’s profit” because
“no one would build a plant for free.” The Tax Tribunal
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accepted Concentric’s included owner’s profit of
$53,853,870. When New Covert Generating challenged
this decision in its motion for reconsideration, the Tax
Tribunal clarified that entrepreneurial incentives were
appropriate because the property was specifically devel-
oped as a merchant generator operating in the private
market. For that reason, it concluded that the plant was
intended to earn a return on its owner’s investment.

Although it might be true generally that regulated
utilities do not develop property for profit from sale,
that is not necessarily the case for the development of
a merchant generator. Rather, as the parties’ experts
related, a merchant generator competes in the market
and hopes to profit from the sale of electricity. And a
developer might develop a merchant generator with
the expectation to sell it for a profit to an entity that
specializes in the energy market or to transfer it to a
related company to serve as part of its energy portfolio.
Indeed, there was evidence in the record that sup-
ported an inference that New Covert Generating was
acquired, marketed, and transferred for profit, which
included an effort to profit from the sale of the plant.

Duff & Phelps calculated the replacement cost by first
determining the cost to develop a new state-of-the art
plant with a similar nameplate capacity and chose not
to increase the cost of development by the cost to finance
some or all of the project, which impliedly meant that its
appraisal involved a hypothetical developer who fi-
nanced the project with its own resources. Duff &
Phelps assumed that the developer’s only cost beyond
the investment of more than $1 billion in the project
itself would be the lost opportunity to invest the $1
billion in treasury bonds. However, it is reasonable to
assume that a developer with more than $1 billion to
invest would likely not choose to invest in the develop-
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ment of a for-profit merchant generator if it could not
realize a profit greater than the interest that it might
receive from investing its $1 billion in treasury bonds.
Accordingly, under the development model advanced by
Duff & Phelps, an accurate baseline cost should include
some profit beyond the lost opportunity to invest.

Both the Tax Tribunal and the New Jersey Tax Court
have recognized that entrepreneurial profit must be
included when calculating the cost of a new develop-
ment under like conditions: “‘When the direct and
indirect costs of developing a property are used to
provide an indication of value, the appraiser must also
include an economic reward sufficient to induce an
entrepreneur to incur the risk associated with a build-
ing project.”” Metuchen I, LLC v Borough of Metuchen,
21 NJ Tax 283, 292 (2004),® quoting American Institute
of Real Estate Appraisers, The Appraisal of Real Estate
(Chicago: American Institute of Real Estate Apprais-
ers, 2001), p 360. The court in Metuchen I further
observed:

Entrepreneurial profit is compensation for risk and
expertise associated with development. Therefore, a real-
istic cost approach must recognize adequate compensation
to the entrepreneur to induce him to organize the project.
It is necessary to include a figure which reflects the time,
effort, and incidental expense of the owner in the devel-
opment of the property. [Metuchen I, 21 NJ Tax at 292
(citations omitted).]

Accordingly, there was record support for the Tax Tri-
bunal’s decision to include entrepreneurial profit in the

8 “Cases from other jurisdictions are not binding precedent, but we
may consider them to the extent this Court finds their legal reasoning
persuasive.” Auto-Owners Ins Co v Seils, 310 Mich App 132, 147 n 5; 871
NW2d 530 (2015).
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base cost of the cost to develop a new power plant. See
Meijer, 240 Mich App at 11.

The Tax Tribunal accepted Concentric’s assessment
of the cost of equity that an investor would expect to
receive for developing a merchant electric generator. In
doing so, it impliedly adopted Concentric’s underlying
rationale and data, which it could do to satisfy its duty
to state the facts consistent with MCL 205.751(1). See,
e.g., Consol Aluminum Corp v Dep’t of Treasury, 206
Mich App 222, 238; 521 NW2d 19 (1994) (stating that
the Tax Tribunal may adopt findings and conclusions of
law by reference, and, when it does, it need only make
separate findings and conclusions with regard to those
areas with which it disagrees with the adopted ratio-
nale). Although Duff & Phelps presented testimony to
undermine Concentric’s position regarding the inclu-
sion of owner’s profit, expert testimony and Concen-
tric’s appraisal were sufficient—notwithstanding the
contrary evidence—to permit a reasonable mind to find
that the base cost of a new plant should include the
costs associated with the equity investors’ expected
return and that a reasonably approximate proxy group
would expect a return of about 5%. See Black, 195 Mich
App at 30. Therefore, because there was competent,
material, and substantial evidence to support its find-
ings and conclusions, the Tax Tribunal did not commit
an error of law when it included owner’s profit in the
cost of a new plant. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

G. SEGRETO SWITCHYARD

Finally, New Covert Generating argues that the Tax
Tribunal erred in its treatment of the expenses associ-
ated with the construction of the Segreto switchyard. It
maintains that the Tax Tribunal itself recognized that
New Covert Generating had to spend at least an
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additional $12 million to complete the project but did
not reduce the cost to reflect that obligation, even
though a prospective buyer would take that expense
into consideration. New Covert Generating further
argues that the Tax Tribunal should have deducted the
full $58,915,530 because that expenditure was neces-
sary to ensure that the property was fit for its highest
and best use.

On appeal, New Covert Generating makes much of
the fact that a purchaser would normally account for
the costs that it would have to pay after purchasing the
plant in order to operate at its highest and best use.
But the testimony and evidence supported a finding
that the costs associated with the PJM Interconnec-
tion, which included the Segreto switchyard, had al-
ready been paid by the valuation date. Accordingly,
there was evidence that a purchaser would not have to
account for those costs when purchasing the plant.
Rather, the purchaser would value the plant on the
basis of the completed interconnection project. New
Covert Generating’s mere disagreement with the Tax
Tribunal’s findings does not establish that the Tax
Tribunal committed an error of law or adopted a wrong
principle. Black, 195 Mich App at 30.

New Covert Generating also concludes that the Tax
Tribunal must have erred in its findings because the
Tax Tribunal admitted as much on reconsideration. In
its opinion and judgment, the Tax Tribunal found that
the costs associated with the Segreto switchyard had
already been paid before the valuation date and, for
that reason, should not be deducted from the valuation
of New Covert Generating. A different judge reviewed
the motions for reconsideration and opined that the
first judge erred by making that finding because the
evidence showed that additional amounts would be due
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in 2016. However, that judge did not have the oppor-
tunity to hear the witnesses and assess their credibil-
ity. That judge also did not acknowledge that the report
that purportedly established the costs associated with
the interconnection project was a cost estimate pre-
pared some years earlier and did not involve actual
data. Given the lack of evidence that New Covert
Generating had actual obligations arising from the
construction of the Segreto switchyard after the valu-
ation date, the original judge could properly find that
the obligations had been paid before the valuation date
and, on that basis, could determine that it was inap-
propriate to value New Covert Generating by deduct-
ing expenses already paid or on the assumption that it
would have future expenses related to another entity’s
property. On this record, there was competent, mate-
rial, and substantial evidence to support the Tax
Tribunal’s decision to exclude any deductions for costs
associated with the Segreto switchyard. Consequently,
the Tax Tribunal did not commit an error of law when
it chose not to deduct any amount from the value of
New Covert Generating on the basis of the intercon-
nection project. Mich Props, 491 Mich at 527-528.

VII. SANCTIONS

The Township and the County have not shown that
the Tax Tribunal erred when it determined that the
filing of the motions at issue warranted sanctions.

Although this Court’s review of a Tax Tribunal’s
findings of fact and application of law is generally quite
limited, those limitations apply only to decisions relat-
ing to valuation or allocation of taxes, see Const 1963,
art 6, §28, which is not at issue for an order of
sanctions. This Court reviews de novo whether the Tax
Tribunal properly interpreted and applied the court



90 334 MICH AppP 24 [Sept

rules, and this Court reviews for clear error the Tax
Tribunal’s findings underlying its application of the
court rules. See Johnson Family Ltd Partnership v
White Pine Wireless, LLC, 281 Mich App 364, 387; 761
NW2d 353 (2008). A finding is clearly erroneous when,
on review of the whole record, this Court is left with
the definite and firm conviction that the Tax Tribunal
made a mistake. Id.

The Legislature has authorized the Tax Tribunal to
issue any order that it deems necessary or appropriate
in the process of disposition of a matter over which it
has jurisdiction. MCL 205.732(c). Additionally, the Tax
Tribunal has promulgated its own rules, and Rule 215
provides that the Michigan Court Rules apply in the
absence of an applicable tribunal rule. Rule 792.10215.
The Tax Tribunal has not promulgated specific rules
governing sanctions for filing frivolous documents, so
the court rules apply to the Tax Tribunal’s decision.

The Tax Tribunal sanctioned the Township, the
County, and counsel under what was then MCR
2.114(D), which has since been relocated to MCR
1.109(E).°* The court rules provide that, by signing a
document filed with the court, the signer certifies that
“to the best of his or her knowledge, information, and
belief formed after reasonable inquiry, the document is
well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law
or a good-faith argument for the extension, modifica-
tion, or reversal of existing law,” MCR 1.109(E)(5)(b),
and that he or she has not interposed the document
“for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to
cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the
cost of litigation,” MCR 1.109(E)(5)(c). If a signatory
signs a document in violation of the rule, the court

9 Because the substantive provisions are the same, we will cite the
current court rule.
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“shall impose upon the person who signed it, a repre-
sented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which
may include an order to pay to the other party or
parties the amount of the reasonable expenses in-
curred because of the filing of the document, including
reasonable attorney fees.” MCR 1.109(E)(6).

“An attorney has an affirmative duty to conduct a
reasonable inquiry into the factual and legal viability
of a pleading before it is signed.” LaRose Market, Inc v
Sylvan Ctr, Inc, 209 Mich App 201, 210; 530 NW2d 505
(1995). “The reasonableness of the attorney’s inquiry is
determined by an objective standard, not the attor-
ney’s subjective good faith.” Meisner Law Group, PC v
Weston Downs Condo Ass’n, 321 Mich App 702, 731,
909 NW2d 890 (2017). “A court must determine
whether a claim or defense is frivolous on the basis of
the circumstances at the time it was asserted.” Id. at
732. “[A] claim is devoid of arguable legal merit if it is
not sufficiently grounded in law or fact, such as when it
violates basic, longstanding, and unmistakably evident
precedent.” Adamo Demolition Co v Dep’t of Treasury,
303 Mich App 356, 369; 844 NW2d 143 (2013) (quota-
tion marks and citations omitted).

The Township and the County filed two motions that
the Tax Tribunal determined warranted sanctions. They
filed a motion for summary disposition in October 2017
concerning New Covert Generating’s status as a party
in interest, and they filed a motion for summary dispo-
sition in June 2018 arguing that the Tax Tribunal
lacked jurisdiction because New Covert Generating had
not filed statements of personal property.

In its brief in support of its motion for summary
disposition involving whether New Covert Generating
was a party in interest, the Township and the County
acknowledged the decision in Spartan Stores, 307 Mich
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App 565, but argued that that case had not involved a
shell corporation. They also noted that the Spartan
Stores Court had stated that the separate existence of
an entity could be disregarded. The Township and the
County indicated that all the elements necessary to
disregard New Covert Generating’s separate existence
were present and that the Legislature did not intend to
allow shell companies to invoke the Tax Tribunal’s
jurisdiction. Both parties asked the Tax Tribunal to
dismiss New Covert Generating’s petitions for lack of
jurisdiction.

Although the Township and the County mentioned
the decision in Spartan Stores, they did not discuss it
in any meaningful way. Moreover, they ignored the
actual holdings in Spartan Stores—this Court ex-
panded the concept of party in interest to include not
only the actual owner of the assessed property but also
any entity that held an interest in the property. See
Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at 575-576. The Town-
ship and the County also ignored the fact that the
Spartan Stores Court held that Spartan was not a
party in interest because it indirectly owned the entity
that owned the leasehold interest, Family Fare, which
was insufficient to establish an interest in the property
because courts must generally respect the separate
existence of artificial entities. Id. at 577 n 13.

The Township and the County also did not examine
the actual language of the statute and did not identify
the terms that demonstrated that the statute actually
barred so-called “shell” companies from being a party
in interest. Rather, they appeared to argue that the
Tax Tribunal should treat the record owner of the
assessed property as though it were not a party in
interest—even though caselaw clearly established that
it was a party in interest—because New Covert Gen-
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erating was an asset-holding entity that used other
entities to run its day-to-day operations, which made
discovery complicated. Notably, the Township and the
County did not sue to have New Covert Generating’s
separate existence disregarded. Indeed, they did not
even address whether the Tax Tribunal had the au-
thority to disregard New Covert Generating’s separate
existence. See Electronic Data Sys Corp v Flint Twp,
253 Mich App 538, 548; 656 NW2d 215 (2002) (stating
that the Tax Tribunal does not have equitable powers).

Examining the actual arguments made in their
motion for summary disposition premised on MCL
205.735a(6), there was no basis in fact or law for the
motion. Because it is well settled that courts respect
the separate existence of an artificial entity except in
certain exceptional cases, the Tax Tribunal had no
choice but to respect New Covert Generating’s sepa-
rate existence. See Green, 310 Mich App at 450-451.
Additionally, the Court in Spartan Stores held that an
entity—such as New Covert Generating—with an in-
terest in the assessed property was a party in interest.
See Spartan Stores, 307 Mich App at 575-576. Conse-
quently, the Township and the County’s motion for
summary disposition was not well grounded in fact or
law, and there was nothing in the motion to suggest
that the Township and the County were urging a
good-faith extension, modification, or reversal of the
existing law. See MCR 1.109(E)(5)(b). Indeed, the Tax
Tribunal aptly characterized the motion as arising
from discovery disputes that it had addressed and
would continue to address, if necessary. The Tax Tri-
bunal also did not err when it determined that the
Township and the County essentially ignored the hold-
ing in Spartan Stores. The Tax Tribunal recognized
that the Township and the County did not explain how
the title owner of the assessed property could ever be
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found not to be a party in interest. Because the
Township and the County’s motion premised on New
Covert Generating’s status as a party in interest was
not well grounded in fact or law, the Tax Tribunal had
to apply an appropriate sanction for the filing of the
October 2017 motion. See MCR 1.109(E)(6).

In their June 2018 motion for summary disposition
premised on jurisdiction, the Township and the County
argued—as they had in the previous litigation—that a
taxpayer could not invoke the Tax Tribunal’s jurisdic-
tion without first filing statements of assessable prop-
erty. They maintained that New Covert Generating
had to file Forms L4175, 3991, and 4094, as promul-
gated by the State Tax Commission. They acknowl-
edged that New Covert Generating had filed all three
forms, even if under protest, but maintained that the
filings did not comply with the instructions for com-
pleting the forms. They then argued that the filings
were inadequate to meet what they believed was
required under MCL 205.735a(4)(b) to invoke the Tax
Tribunal’s jurisdiction.

The Tax Tribunal relied on this Court’s decision in
the appeal involving the petitions from 2010 and 2011
and concluded that New Covert Generating did not
have to file statements of assessable property before
directly appealing to the Tax Tribunal because it was
undisputed that New Covert Generating had protested
the tax years at issue before the board. The Tax
Tribunal also noted that this Court had stated that the
only form that New Covert Generating had to file was
Form 4175, which it did. Accordingly, the Tax Tribunal
denied the motion.

The Township and the County’s preferred
construction—although implausible, as discussed
earlier—was not so implausible that counsel could not
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advocate for that position without running afoul of
MCR 1.109(D). Therefore, the Tax Tribunal erred to
the extent that it determined that the motion was not
well grounded in fact or law. To the extent that the Tax
Tribunal relied on counsel’s purportedly inconsistent
positions in different cases involving different parties,
that too was error. Counsel had every right to advance
the lawful objectives of his clients by every reasonably
available means permitted by law, even if that position
was inconsistent with the position that counsel ad-
vanced on behalf of a different client. See MRPC 1.2(a).
Therefore, the trial court clearly erred when it deter-
mined that the filing of the June 2018 motion for
summary disposition was not well grounded in fact or
law. Nevertheless, that was not the only basis for the
Tax Tribunal’s decision to impose sanctions.

In determining that sanctions were warranted, the
Tax Tribunal initially stated that the timing of the
June 2018 motion just before the July 2018 contested
hearing raised the issue as to whether it was filed for
an improper purpose, such as to delay or harass New
Covert Generating. It also indicated that the motion
might be frivolous given this Court’s previous decision
in the prior appeal. However, the Tax Tribunal with-
held resolution of those issues.

In its opinion applicable to tax year 2016, the Tax
Tribunal provided a further rationale for its decision to
sanction the Township and the County for the motions
for summary disposition filed in October 2017 and
June 2018. It first discussed the motion filed in
October 2017 and considered the manner by which
counsel for the County conducted the litigation, noting
that counsel had filed what was, in effect, six motions
for summary disposition in addition to requests for
leave to appeal. It further wrote that counsel had used
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motions for immediate consideration in a way that
compelled New Covert Generating to respond within
seven days. The Tax Tribunal also cited counsel’s
conduct in other litigation, which suggested that coun-
sel was familiar with the holding in Spartan Stores,
and stated that counsel used allegations of fact and
innuendo to cast New Covert Generating in a bad light.
The Tax Tribunal found that the purpose of the motion
was to “poison the well at [the] hearing, rather than to
win on the merits of the motion.”

With regard to the motion filed in June 2018, the
Tax Tribunal determined that that motion was also
frivolous and further found that it was “imposed for an
improper purpose.” The Tax Tribunal reiterated these
determinations and findings for the order applicable to
tax years 2012 through 2015. Finally, on reconsidera-
tion, the Tax Tribunal stated, in relevant part, that the
Township and the County could not reasonably cite the
discovery disputes as justification for the motions
because the Tax Tribunal had resolved the discovery
disputes. Additionally, the Tax Tribunal again cited
counsel’s positions in other litigation regarding the
holding in Spartan Stores as evidence that counsel’s
purpose for filing the motion was improper.

Based on the entire record, the Tax Tribunal’s find-
ings for both motions were not clearly erroneous. The
Township and the County had been involved in long,
ongoing, and contentious tax disputes with New Co-
vert Generating. As the Tax Tribunal noted, the Town-
ship and the County filed three motions for summary
disposition in each of the tax appeals, even though it
subsequently withdrew one. When the timing is con-
sidered in relation to the stage of the dispute, the
discovery battles, and the date scheduled for the con-
tested hearing, the Tax Tribunal could reasonably
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conclude that the motions were filed for ulterior mo-
tives: namely, to poison the well before the hearing,
harass New Covert Generating, and increase the cost
of litigating the valuation dispute. The Tax Tribunal
was familiar with the present litigation, the past
litigation, the parties, and their counsel. Accordingly, it
was in the best position to assess the credibility and
motivation of the parties and counsel. See MCR
2.613(C). MCR 1.109(E)(5) provides that the effect of a
signature on a document represents that the signer
read the document, the document was well grounded in
fact and law, “and” it was not filed for an improper
purpose. (Emphasis added.) Therefore, although the
Tax Tribunal clearly erred in determining that the
June 2018 motion for summary disposition was not
well grounded in fact and law, it could still properly
impose sanctions based on its finding that the motion
was filed for an improper purpose. On this record, the
Court is not left with the definite and firm conviction
that the Tax Tribunal clearly erred in its findings. See
Johnson Family Ltd Partnership, 281 Mich App at 387.

Once the Tax Tribunal found that counsel filed the
motions for an improper purpose, it had to impose an
appropriate sanction, even if the motion was otherwise
well grounded in fact and law. See MCR 1.109(E)(6).
Moreover, the Township and the County have not
challenged the propriety of the actual sanctions or the
amount of the sanction. Therefore, they have not
identified a basis for reversing the Tax Tribunal’s
orders imposing sanctions.

Affirmed.

MURRAY, C.J., and CAVANAGH and SWARTZLE, JJ., con-
curred.
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WHITE v DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Docket No. 349407. Submitted July 7, 2020, at Detroit. Decided

October 1, 2020, at 9:00 a.m.

Ellen White filed an action in the Wayne Circuit Court against her
employer, the Department of Transportation, alleging that she
was racially discriminated against in violation of MCL 37.2202(1)
of the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA), MCL 37.2101 et
seq., when she was denied a promotion; plaintiff amended her
complaint to add a count of retaliation in violation of MCL
37.2701(a) when defendant allegedly took retaliatory actions
after plaintiff filed the original complaint. Plaintiff, an African
American woman, worked for defendant in its real-estate-services
section, dealing with right-of-way acquisition and relocation. In
2008, she was hired in at Classification Level 10 (PA 10), one year
later was reclassified to PA 11, and in 2013, was reclassified to PA
12. Plaintiff lived in, and her assigned work office was located in,
Lansing. In 2015, plaintiff was assigned to the Gordie Howe
International Bridge project in Detroit; she worked four days a
week in Detroit, during which time defendant paid for her to stay
in a local hotel, and she reported to the Lansing office only for a
biweekly meeting. In 2016, plaintiff applied for a property-
specialist position, classified as Level 13. When she applied,
plaintiff had received “High Performing” ratings for each of the
four years before the job posting and “Meets Expectation” ratings
for the four years before that. The only other applicant for the
position was a white woman who had 30 years’ experience in the
real estate industry, was hired by defendant in 2015 as a PA 10,
and was reclassified as a PA 12 in 2016; the other applicant had
received high-performing ratings for each of the two years she
had worked for defendant. The interview panel unanimously
selected the other applicant as the best applicant for the position.
In December 2017, plaintiff filed this action. In January 2018,
plaintiff received from her supervisor a “Needs Improvement”
rating for her 2017 job performance; as a result, plaintiff was
placed on a performance improvement plan (PIP). Three weeks
later, defendant moved for a change of venue, arguing that
plaintiff was assigned to the Lansing office and that venue could
not be based on an employee’s temporary work station. Plaintiff



2020] WHITE v MDOT 929

opposed the motion, averring that the workstation in Detroit was
not temporary and that she only reported to Lansing for biweekly
meetings. The court, Martha M. Snow, J., ultimately denied the
motion. Two days after filing the change-of-venue motion, plain-
tiff's supervisor informed plaintiff that she would now report to
Lansing daily and go to Detroit for appointments only. A week
after the workplace location change, plaintiff’s supervisor issued
plaintiff a notice of formal counseling, alleging that plaintiff’s
performance was unacceptable and that plaintiff had failed to
comply with the PIP. In August 2018, plaintiff added the retalia-
tion claim on the basis of the negative performance rating and the
workplace location change. After discovery was completed, both
parties moved for summary disposition. The trial court granted
defendant’s motion for summary disposition with regard to plain-
tiff's racial discrimination claim, reasoning that plaintiff had
failed to establish an issue of material fact regarding whether
defendant’s asserted nondiscriminatory reason for the promotion
decision—that the other candidate was the best candidate for the
job—was a pretext for racial discrimination. The court also
granted defendant summary disposition of plaintiff's retaliation
claim on the basis that plaintiff had failed to identify an adverse
employment action. Plaintiff appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. MCL 37.2202(1)(a) prohibits an employer from failing or
refusing to hire or recruit, discharging, or otherwise discriminat-
ing against an individual with respect to employment, compen-
sation, or a term, condition, or privilege of employment, because
of religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or
marital status. Two types of claims may be brought for violations
of this provision: those alleging disparate treatment and those
alleging disparate impact. To establish a claim of intentional
discrimination when there is no direct evidence of the impermis-
sible discrimination, a plaintiff must set forth a prima facie case,
which includes evidence that (1) the plaintiff belongs to a pro-
tected class, (2) the plaintiff suffered an adverse employment
action, (3) the plaintiff was qualified for the position, and (4) the
job was given to another person under circumstances giving rise
to an inference of unlawful discrimination. After a plaintiff
establishes a prima facie case of discrimination, the employer has
the opportunity to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory
reason for its employment decision to rebut the presumption
created by the plaintiff’s prima facie case. If the employer gives a
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the employment deci-
sion, the presumption of discrimination is rebutted, and the
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burden shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the employer’s
reasons were not the true reasons, but a mere pretext for
discrimination. To avoid summary disposition, the plaintiff must
demonstrate that the evidence, construed in the plaintiff’s favor,
would permit a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that discrimi-
nation was a motivating factor for the employer’s adverse action.
In this case, plaintiff’s four grounds for asserting that defendant’s
explanation for choosing the other candidate was a pretext for
discrimination—that the person defendant hired was not quali-
fied for the position, that plaintiff was more qualified and had
more experience as a PA, that defendant’s employees gave con-
flicting testimony about whether the interview panel was the
actual decision-maker, and that statistics proved a pattern of
conduct—were not sufficient to establish a material question of
fact regarding whether defendant’s legitimate nondiscriminatory
reason for the decision was a pretext. Accordingly, the trial court
correctly granted summary disposition of plaintiff's racial-
discrimination claim.

2. MCL 37.2701(a) prohibits retaliation or discrimination
against a person because the person has opposed a violation of the
ELCRA or because the person has made a charge, filed a com-
plaint, testified, assisted, or participated in an investigation,
proceeding, or hearing under the ELCRA. The ELCRA’s antidis-
crimination and antiretaliation provisions mirror those provi-
sions in Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act, 42 USC 2000e et
seq., and relevant federal caselaw guides Michigan courts’ inter-
pretation of the ELCRA. The antiretaliation provisions of both
Title VII and the ELCRA bar retaliation or discrimination with no
limitation on the type of acts that would be considered unlawful,
while the acts’ respective substantive antidiscrimination provi-
sions specify that prohibited discriminatory acts must affect
specified aspects of an employee’s employment, such as compen-
sation or a condition of employment. In Burlington N & S F R Co
v White, 548 US 53 (2006), the United States Supreme Court
determined that Title VII’s substantive antidiscrimination provi-
sion and its antiretaliation provision are not coterminous, i.e.,
that the scope of the antiretaliation provision extends beyond
workplace-related or employment-related retaliatory acts. Thus,
the antiretaliation provision does not forbid the same conduct
prohibited by the antidiscrimination provision; actionable retali-
ation is not limited to discriminatory actions that affect the terms
and conditions of employment, as some earlier decisions by the
United States Courts of Appeals had declared. To be actionable
under Title VII, a retaliatory action must deter reasonable
employees from objecting to violations of the act, applying an
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objective test. Consequently, on a motion for summary disposition
of a retaliation claim, a court must determine if the plaintiff has
submitted sufficient proofs to establish a question of fact regard-
ing whether the action meets the Burlington standard. Whether
the alleged action would deter a reasonable employee from
objecting to discrimination is determined on a case-by-case basis,
taking into account the context, and is dependent on the particu-
lar circumstances of the case. In other words, each retaliation
claim is considered on its facts and not by application of a general
rule that certain actions are, by nature, not materially adverse.
Because the ELCRA’s antiretaliation provision, MCL 37.2701(a),
does not contain the limitation language used in the substantive
discrimination provision, MCL 37.2702(1), there is no basis to
limit retaliatory acts under the ELCRA to those only affecting the
terms and conditions of employment such as pay, hiring, and
firing. Accordingly, Burlington must be followed, and the Burling-
ton reasonable-employee standard for determining whether an
employer has committed a retaliatory adverse employment action
applies to retaliation claims under the ELCRA. Under the facts of
this case, the needs-improvement evaluation, the corresponding
PIP, and the workplace transfer from Detroit to Lansing, all of
which occurred during a venue dispute in the original failure-to-
promote discrimination claim, were neither trivial acts nor minor
annoyances. The needs-improvements job-performance rating
and corresponding PIP carried potential adverse results, and the
timing of the workplace location change was evidence that the
change was meant to affect the underlying litigation. These
actions could have dissuaded a reasonable employee from making
or supporting a claim of discrimination under the ELCRA. De-
fendant’s reliance on pre-Burlington federal precedent was mis-
placed because those cases applied a different standard for
Title VII retaliation claims that was expressly overruled by
Burlington. The dissent’s reliance on federal caselaw regarding
whether negative performance evaluations or PIPs constitute
adverse employment actions is similarly misplaced because many
of the cases were decided before Burlington and others misap-
plied Burlington by evaluating retaliation claims under the same
standard as substantive discrimination claims. The dissent’s
assertion that to be actionable, negative performance evaluations
and PIPs must have tangible job consequences is contrary to the
holding in Burlington. Under these facts, a reasonable jury could
reasonably have found that the alleged retaliatory actions taken
against plaintiff were materially adverse, and the trial court
erred by granting summary disposition on this issue.
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Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for further
proceedings consistent with the opinion.

RIORDAN, P.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part, agreed
with the majority’s conclusion that plaintiff failed to establish a
discrimination claim under MCL 37.2202(1)(a) but disagreed
with the majority’s analysis of plaintiff’s retaliation claim under
MCL 37.2701(a). It was unnecessary to determine whether the
majority’s adoption of the Burlington standard was correct be-
cause plaintiff failed to provide an objective basis for establishing
that the alleged retaliatory actions were materially adverse
under existing precedent or the newly adopted reasonable-
employee standard. In other words, plaintiff did not support her
general allegation that she was denied raises or promotions
because of her race or age, and there was no evidence that a
reasonable employee in the same circumstances would be dis-
suaded from making a discrimination claim. There was insuffi-
cient evidence to establish that plaintiff’'s negative performance
evaluations and PIP plan had materially adverse consequences, a
requirement under existing federal caselaw to qualify as an
adverse employment action. It is reasonable to conclude that
federal courts intentionally carried over this pre-Burlington legal
standard related to PIPs and performance evaluations into post-
Burlington jurisprudence. The majority’s attempt at distinguish-
ing cited federal caselaw on the facts is unconvincing, given the
similarities between the requirements imposed in plaintiff’s PIP
and those imposed in the federal cases. Judge RIORDAN would have
applied the Burlington test consistently with federal caselaw that
requires evidence of tangible job consequences to establish a
retaliation claim and would have affirmed the trial court’s grant
of summary disposition in favor of defendant on both claims.

CiviL AcCTIONS — ELLIOTT-LARSEN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT — ANTIRETALIATION
PROVISION — RETALIATORY ACTIONS — REASONABLE-EMPLOYEE STAN-
DARD.

MCL 37.2701(a) prohibits retaliation or discrimination against a
person because the person has opposed a violation of the Elliott-
Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA), or because the person has made
a charge, filed a complaint, testified, assisted, or participated in
an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under the ELCRA; the
reasonable-employee standard set forth in Burlington N & S F R
Co v White, 548 US 53 (2006), applies to retaliation claims
brought in Michigan under the ELCRA; the scope of the antire-
taliation provision extends beyond workplace-related or
employment-related retaliatory acts; to be actionable, a retalia-
tory action must deter reasonable employees from objecting to
discrimination, applying an objective test; whether the alleged
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action would deter a reasonable employee from objecting to
discrimination is determined on a case-by-case basis, taking the
context into account, and is dependent on the particular circum-
stances of the case (MCL 37.2101 et seq.).

The Mungo Law Firm, PLC (by Leonard Mungo) for
plaintiff.

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, and Michael <J. Dittenber,
Assistant Attorney General, for defendant.

Before: RIORDAN, P.J., and SHAPIRO and RONAYNE
KRAUSE, JJ.

SHAPIRO, J. Plaintiff, Ellen White, brought a claim of
employment discrimination against defendant, the De-
partment of Transportation, alleging that she had been
denied a promotion as a result of racial discrimination
in violation of the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act
(ELCRA), MCL 37.2101 et seq. After she filed suit,
defendant took certain actions that plaintiff concluded
were in retaliation for having sued the department.
Accordingly, she amended her complaint to add a count
alleging retaliation in violation of ELCRA, MCL
37.2701(a).

Sometime later, defendant moved for summary dis-
position as to each claim. The trial court granted the
motion in full and dismissed the case. Plaintiff then
appealed in this Court. For the reasons stated in this
opinion, we affirm the dismissal of plaintiff’s failure-
to-promote claim but reverse the dismissal of her
retaliation claim.

I. FACTS & PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff is African American. In 2008, she began
working as a property analyst (PA) for defendant’s
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real-estate-services section. Plaintiff’s job involved
right-of-way acquisition and relocation, meaning she
would help acquire property needed for defendant’s
projects and then find new housing for the former
property owners. Beginning in 2015, she was assigned
to the Gordie Howe International Bridge (GHIB) proj-
ect in Detroit. She lived in Lansing and was formally
assigned to defendant’s Lansing office, but she worked
in Detroit four days each week during which she was
housed in a local hotel.

Plaintiff was hired at Classification Level 10 (PA 10).
A year later she was reclassified to a PA 11. She stayed
at that level until 2013, when she became a PA 12. In
April 2016, defendant posted an opening for a property
specialist, Classification Level 13 (PS 13). This position
is responsible for managing defendant’s statewide re-
location program. There were two applicants for the
position: plaintiff and Lori Crysler, who is Caucasian.
Crysler was originally hired by defendant in
January 2015 as a PA 10 and in February 2016, she
was reclassified to a PA 12. Crysler had 30 years’
experience in the real estate industry before joining
defendant. At the time of application, plaintiff had
received a “High Performing” annual rating for the
previous four years. Her performance ratings in the
four years before that were “Meets Expectations.”
Crysler had received high-performing ratings in her
two evaluations. Both candidates interviewed for the
PS 13 position in May 2016. The three-person inter-
view panel unanimously selected Crysler for the posi-
tion.!

Plaintiff filed suit in the Wayne Circuit Court on
December 18, 2017, alleging racial discrimination in

! There was a fourth member of the panel who served as a “hiring
manager,” but she did not have a vote in the selection.
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violation of ELCRA.2 At the time, plaintiff was working
full-time in Detroit on the GHIB project and she only
went to defendant’s Lansing office for biweekly meet-
ings. On January 8, 2018, plaintiff’s supervisor rated
her 2017 job performance as “Needs Improvement.”
This was the first time that plaintiff received a nega-
tive annual performance rating. And as a result of the
needs-improvement rating, plaintiff was placed under
a “Performance Improvement Plan” (PIP) for a period
of up to six months, with a formal review to be
conducted within three months.

On January 29, 2018, defendant filed a motion for a
change of venue to Ingham County, which was later
denied. The motion was based, in part, on defendant’s
assertion that plaintiff's “assigned duty station is Lan-
sing” and that venue cannot be based on an “employ-
ee’s temporary work station[]....” On February 13,
2018, before the change-of-venue motion was denied on
February 21, 2018, plaintiff submitted an affidavit in
opposition to the motion in which she stated that her
“workstation in Detroit is not ‘temporary’ ” and that
she had been working there since about January 2015.
Two days later, on February 15, 2018, plaintiff’s super-
visor sent an e-mail to plaintiff, directing her to report
to Lansing daily beginning February 20 and informing
her that she would go to Detroit on an appointment
basis only. The following week, on February 21, 2018,
the supervisor issued plaintiff a notice of formal coun-
seling that outlined plaintiff’s alleged failure to comply
with the PIP and provided new dates for her to show
progress. The notice stated that plaintiff's “perfor-
mance is unacceptable.” Plaintiff went on medical

2 Plaintiff also alleged age discrimination, but she did not address
that claim at the summary-disposition stage, nor does she appeal the
dismissal of that claim. Accordingly, we will not address it.
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leave in March 2018 because of stressful work condi-
tions. She did not return to work before retiring in
November 2018.

In August 2018, plaintiff filed an amended com-
plaint, adding a retaliation claim on the basis of the
negative performance rating and the change in her
work location. After discovery was completed, the par-
ties filed competing motions for summary disposition
under MCR 2.116(C)(10). The trial court ruled that
plaintiff failed to establish a question of fact whether
defendant’s nondiscriminatory reason for the promo-
tion decision, i.e., that Crysler was the best candidate
for the position, was a pretext for racial discrimination.
The court granted summary disposition of plaintiff's
retaliation claim on the ground that she had failed to
identify an adverse employment action.

II. ANALYSIS

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court granted summary disposition in favor
of defendant under MCR 2.116(C)(10) on the basis that
plaintiff failed to establish a genuine issue of material
fact. A trial court’s decision on a motion for summary
disposition is reviewed de novo. Spiek v Dep’t of Transp,
456 Mich 331, 337; 572 NW2d 201 (1998). When review-
ing a motion brought under MCR 2.116(C)(10), we must
view that evidence in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party to determine if a genuine issue of
material fact exists. See Maiden v Rozwood, 461 Mich
109, 120; 597 NW2d 817 (1999). “A genuine issue of
material fact exists when the record, giving the benefit
of reasonable doubt to the opposing party, leaves open
an issue upon which reasonable minds might differ.”
West v Gen Motors Corp, 469 Mich 177, 183; 665 NW2d
468 (2003).



2020] WHITE v MDOT 107
OPINION OF THE COURT

B. PLAINTIFF’S FAILURE-TO-PROMOTE DISCRIMINATION CLAIM

Plaintiff first argues on appeal that the trial court
erred by dismissing her discrimination claim because
she established a question of fact whether defendant’s
stated reason for the promotion decision was a pretext
for discrimination. We disagree and affirm the order
granting summary disposition as to that count.

1. CONTROLLING LAW

ELCRA prohibits employers from discriminating on
the basis of race. MCL 37.2202 states:

(1) An employer shall not do any of the following:

(a) Fail or refuse to hire or recruit, discharge, or
otherwise discriminate against an individual with respect
to employment, compensation, or a term, condition, or
privilege of employment, because of religion, race, color,
national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital status.

“The courts have recognized two broad categories of
claims under this section: ‘disparate treatment’ and
‘disparate impact’ claims.” Wilcoxon v Minnesota Min-
ing & Mfg Co, 235 Mich App 347, 358; 597 NW2d 250
(1999). This case concerns disparate treatment be-
cause plaintiff alleges that defendant intentionally
discriminated against her on the basis of race. See
Duranceau v Alpena Power Co, 250 Mich App 179, 182;
646 NW2d 872 (2002).

Because there is “no direct evidence of impermis-
sible bias,” plaintiff’s claim of intentional discrimina-
tion must proceed under the McDonnell Douglas®
burden-shifting framework. Hazle v Ford Motor Co,
464 Mich 456, 462; 628 NW2d 515 (2001). First, the

3 McDonnell Douglas Corp v Green, 411 US 792; 93 S Ct 1817; 36 L Ed
2d 668 (1973).
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plaintiff must set forth a prima facie case. In Hazle, the
Supreme Court determined that the “plaintiff was
required to present evidence that (1) she belongs to a
protected class, (2) she suffered an adverse employ-
ment action, (3) she was qualified for the position, and
(4) the job was given to another person under circum-
stances giving rise to an inference of unlawful discrimi-
nation.” Id. at 463. “[Olnce a plaintiff establishes a
prima facie case of discrimination, the defendant has
the opportunity to articulate a legitimate, nondiscrimi-
natory reason for its employment decision in an effort
to rebut the presumption created by the plaintiff’s
prima facie case.” Id. at 464.

If the defendant gives a legitimate, nondiscrimina-
tory reason for the employment decision, the presump-
tion of discrimination is rebutted, “and the burden
shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the defendant’s
reasons were not the true reasons, but a mere pretext
for discrimination.” Sniecinski v Blue Cross & Blue
Shield of Mich, 469 Mich 124, 134; 666 NW2d 186

4 Hazle explained that “the elements of the McDonnell Douglas prima
facie case should be tailored to fit the factual situation at hand.” Hazle,
464 Mich at 463 n 6. In Hazle, the plaintiff lost a sought-after promotion
to an outside candidate. Id. at 459. The plaintiff alleged discrimination
on the basis of race and maintained that she was the more qualified
candidate. Id. at 460. As in Hazle, plaintiff is also challenging a
promotion decision on the basis of race, and she argues that she had
more internal experience and was better qualified than the selected
applicant. Given the factual similarity, we conclude that Hazle’s formu-
lation of the prima facie case is controlling here.

5 Defendant argues that plaintiff did not present evidence raising an
inference of discrimination. However, in its motion for summary dispo-
sition, defendant conflated the fourth element of the prima facie case
with plaintiff’s duty to show that the stated reason for the employment
decision was a pretext. Perhaps as a result, the trial court also conflated
the issues. In any event, because we conclude that plaintiff fails to
create a question of fact on pretext, we will assume for purposes of this
appeal that she established a prima facie case.
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(2003). “At that point, in order to survive a motion for
summary disposition, the plaintiff must demonstrate
that the evidence in the case, when construed in the
plaintiff’s favor, is ‘sufficient to permit a reasonable
trier of fact to conclude that discrimination was a
motivating factor for the adverse action taken by the
employer toward the plaintiff.’” Hazle, 464 Mich at
465, quoting Lytle v Malady (On Rehearing), 458 Mich
153, 176; 579 NW2d 906 (1998).

2. APPLICATION

Defendant’s nondiscriminatory reason for its em-
ployment decision is that Crysler was the best candi-
date for the position. Plaintiff offers four grounds for
concluding that this explanation is a pretext for dis-
crimination.

Plaintiff first argues that Crysler was not qualified
for the sought position. The Civil Service Commission
determined that Crysler was qualified to apply for the
position on the basis of equivalent experience. But in
discovery, plaintiff established that Crysler made a
misstatement in her application that could have af-
fected the Civil Service Commission’s eligibility deter-
mination.® Yet plaintiff has not presented evidence that
defendant knew of the misstatement in Crysler’s ap-

6 The PS 13 job posting issued in April 2016 required four years’
equivalent experience to a PA, including two years equivalent to a PA 11
or one year equivalent to a PA 12. In her application, Crysler indicated
that she had been employed as a PA 12 since January 2015, i.e., she had
one year of actual experience as a PA 12. In fact, Crysler was hired in
January 2015 as a PA 10 and was not reclassified to a PA 12 until
February 2016; thus, she did not have one year of actual experience as
a PA 12. While plaintiff assumes that Crysler was not qualified given the
misstatement, the record does not indicate what the Civil Service
Commission would have decided had Crysler accurately stated her
employment history with defendant.
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plication at the time of the promotion decision. A
similar issue arose in Hazle, where the plaintiff
claimed that the selected applicant “committed ‘ré-
sumé fraud’ in representing her educational and em-
ployment background.” Hazle, 464 Mich at 460. The
Supreme Court held that even if the plaintiff was
correct, this failed to establish that the employer’s
nondiscriminatory reason was pretextual because
“there is no record evidence that any of this was known
to defendants when they made their employment deci-
sion.”” Id. at 474. Although defendant might have
discovered the misstatement in Crysler’s application,
there is no evidence that it did, and it therefore
properly relied on the Civil Service Commission’s find-
ing that she was qualified. The discovery of a misrep-
resentation unknown to the employer until after the
promotion decision does not show that race was a
motivating factor in the decision.

Plaintiff also argues that she was more qualified and
had more experience as a PA than Crysler. Although
plaintiff had more internal experience, Crysler had a
substantial amount of real estate experience before
joining defendant. The interview panel clearly valued
that experience, and it is apparent from the panel’s
recommendation memo that Crysler gave an impres-
sive interview. In any event, plaintiff’s subjective claim
that she was more qualified does not create a question
of fact on whether the employer’s proffered reason for
the decision is pretextual. Hazle, 464 Mich at 476.

" The Hazle Court noted that under the after-acquired-evidence
doctrine, an employer may not rely on the employee’s subsequent
wrongdoing to justify the prior employment decision; the Court rea-
soned that “a logical corollary of this principle [is] that an employee
cannot establish discriminatory intent by offering evidence of facts that
were unavailable to the employer when it made its employment deci-
sion.” Hazle, 464 Mich at 475 n 15.
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Further, “the plaintiff cannot simply show that the
employer’s decision was wrong or mistaken, since the
factual dispute at issue is whether discriminatory
animus motivated the employer, not whether the em-
ployer is wise, shrewd, prudent, or competent.” Id.
(quotation marks, citation, and alteration omitted).
Plaintiff is essentially challenging defendant’s busi-
ness judgment, which is insufficient to raise a question
of fact of whether the nondiscriminatory explanation
for the hire was a pretext for racial discrimination. See
Town v Mich Bell Tel Co, 455 Mich 688, 704; 568 NW2d
64 (1997) (opinion by BRICKLEY, dJ.); Meagher v Wayne
State Univ, 222 Mich App 700, 712; 565 NW2d 401
(1997).

Plaintiff next argues that defendant’s employees
gave conflicting testimony about whether the inter-
view panel was the actual decision-maker in this case.
As defendant argues, however, plaintiff is not pursuing
a “cat’s paw” theory of liability under which a supervi-
sor’s discriminatory animus is imputed to the ultimate
decision-maker. See, e.g., Chattman v Toho Tenax
America, Inc, 686 F3d 339, 350 (CA 6, 2012). Indeed,
plaintiff has not provided evidence of discriminatory
animus by any of defendant’s employees regarding the
decision to promote Crysler rather than plaintiff. We
therefore do not see how a discrepancy regarding who
made the ultimate decision in this case shows discrimi-
natory intent. Moreover, we conclude that the alleged
inconsistencies in this case merely show the nuance of
defendant’s administrative bureaucracy and that they
do not create a triable issue of fact on whether the
promotion decision was motivated by racial bias.®

8 Plaintiff relies on testimony that defendant’s hiring decisions are
made by the sought position’s direct supervisor, who is a member of the
interview panel. Yet a member of the interview panel in this case
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Finally, plaintiff relies on statistics of defendant’s
work force to show pretext. There are few published
decisions in Michigan addressing the use of statistics
to show intentional discrimination. We have recog-
nized that “[t]he use of statistics may be relevant in
establishing a prima facie case of discrimination or in
showing that the proffered reasons for a defendant’s
conduct are pretextual.” Dixon v W W Grainger, Inc,
168 Mich App 107, 118; 423 NW2d 580 (1987). In
Featherly v Teledyne Indus, Inc, 194 Mich App 352,
360-361; 486 NW2d 361(1992), we characterized the
statistics indicating that older employees were most
affected by layoffs as “weak circumstantial evidence of
age discrimination” but determined that the statistics
supported the plaintiffs’ prima facie case “especially
when conjoined with the other facts evidencing age
discrimination.” By contrast, in this case, there is no
separate evidence that race was a factor in the promo-
tion decision, and statistics would be plaintiff’s only
circumstantial evidence of discrimination.

The use of statistics to prove intentional or disparate
discrimination is more settled in federal caselaw. We
are not bound by federal precedent interpreting analo-
gous questions under Title VII of the federal Civil
Rights Act, 42 USC 2000e et seq., but that caselaw is

explained that the direct supervisor’s decision is “fairly easy” when the
interview panel is unanimous, as was the case here. In other words, if
there is disagreement within the interview panel, the direct supervisor
has to make a unilateral decision, but that was not necessary in this
case. Plaintiff also relies on testimony that the head of defendant’s real
estate section reviewed the interview panel’s recommendation before
giving it to HR. But this does not change the fact that it was the
interview panel who selected Crysler. Finally, plaintiff notes that two
employees were listed as hiring managers on the panel’s recommenda-
tion memo. As explained by multiple witnesses, however, hiring man-
agers handled the administrative and compliance aspects of the inter-
view process but did not have a vote in the selection.
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generally considered persuasive. DeFlaviis v Lord &
Taylor, Inc, 223 Mich App 432, 437; 566 NW2d 661
(1997); McCalla v Ellis, 180 Mich App 372, 377-378;
446 NW2d 904 (1989). The United States Court of
Appeals for the Sixth Circuit has held that “[a]ppro-
priate statistical data showing an employer’s pattern
of conduct toward a protected class as a group can, if
unrebutted, create an inference that a defendant dis-
criminated against individual members of the class.”
Peeples v Detroit, 891 F3d 622, 635 (CA 6, 2018)
(quotation marks and citations omitted). But “the
statistics must show a significant disparity and elimi-
nate the most common nondiscriminatory explana-
tions for the disparity.” Id. (quotation marks and
citation omitted).

Plaintiff notes that African Americans make up
13.9% of Michigan’s population but only about 6% of
defendant’s workforce.” She also relies on statistics
regarding the percentage—over a one- or two-year
period—of defendant’s reclassifications (3%), promo-
tions (4%), and hires (4%) that have gone to African
Americans. However, without additional information
regarding the racial composition of the job applicants,
these statistics are not sufficient to establish a pattern
of discrimination. As to reclassifications, plaintiff fails
to show that there is a significant deviation relative to
the percentage of African Americans in defendant’s
workforce, and the fact that no African American had
been hired as a PS 13 in at least the last 15 years is
insufficient to establish a pattern of discrimination
given that we have not been provided with information
regarding the number of postings or the applicant pool

9 All statistics contained in this opinion are approximate and come
from undisputed data provided by plaintiff.
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for those postings.!® See Hague v Thompson Distrib Co,
436 F3d 816, 829 (CA 7, 2006) (“[IIf the plaintiffs rely
on the racial composition of a workforce as evidence of
discrimination it must subject all of the employer’s
decisions to statistical analysis to find out whether
[race] makes a difference.”) (quotation marks and
citation omitted; alteration in original).

In sum, plaintiff fails to establish a material ques-
tion of fact whether defendant’s legitimate, nondis-
criminatory reason for the promotion decision was a
pretext. Defendant properly relied on the Civil Service
Commission’s determination that Crysler was quali-
fied for the sought position. Plaintiff’s subjective opin-
ion that she was more qualified for the position does
not by itself create a triable question of fact. The
promotion decision was unanimously made by the
interview panel, and any alleged discrepancy regard-
ing the hiring process is immaterial. Plaintiff’s statis-
tical evidence is not sufficiently probative without
additional context and analysis.

C. PLAINTIFF’S RETALIATION CLAIM

Plaintiff next argues that the trial court erred by
granting defendant summary disposition of her retali-
ation claim. We agree.

1. BACKGROUND

Under ELCRA, an employer is liable if it retaliates
against an employee for having engaged in protected
activity, e.g., opposing a violation of the act’s antidis-
crimination provision. See DeFlaviis, 223 Mich App at
436. ELCRA'’s antiretaliation provision states:

10 Plaintiff does not claim that the information does not exist or that
defendant has withheld such information in discovery.
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Two or more persons shall not conspire to, or a person
shall not:

(a) Retaliate or discriminate against a person because
the person has opposed a violation of this act, or because
the person has made a charge, filed a complaint, testified,
assisted, or participated in an investigation, proceeding,
or hearing under this act. [MCL 37.2701.]

Here, plaintiff claims that defendant retaliated
against her for filing her failure-to-promote lawsuit. In
its motion for summary disposition, defendant argued
that plaintiff did not submit evidence sufficient to
allow a reasonable jury to conclude that defendant’s
actions were materially adverse. In reviewing the issue
under MCR 2.116(C)(10), we are obligated to consider
the evidence and inferences from that evidence in the
light most favorable to plaintiff. See Liparoto Constr,
Inc v Gen Shale Brick, Inc, 284 Mich App 25, 29; 772
NW2d 801 (2009).

The record is clear as to certain salient facts. First,
plaintiff had been working for defendant since 2008,
had twice been assigned a higher classification, and in
her annual performance reviews had received either a
“Meets Expectations” or “High Performance” rating
from her supervisor.!! She filed suit on December 18,
2017. Three weeks later, on January 8, 2018, she had
her annual performance review for 2017 and, for the
first time, received an unsatisfactory rating: “Needs
Improvement.”

Second, during this time, plaintiff’s failure-to-
promote case was progressing and defendant brought a

11 Plaintiff received a “Meets Expectations” rating for 2008, 2009,
2010 and 2011. She received a “High Performance” rating for 2012,
2013, 2014, and 2015. The 2016 review gave plaintiff a “High Perfor-
mance” rating, but the parties disputed whether that review was fully
completed.
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motion to change venue from Wayne County to Ingham
County. On February 13, 2018, plaintiff filed her re-
sponse, which included her affidavit that she worked
primarily in Detroit. Two days after she submitted that
affidavit, on February 15, 2018, defendant informed
plaintiff that she was to report to work in Lansing
rather than Detroit.

2. CONTROLLING LAW

As already noted, while we are not bound by Title
VII caselaw, Michigan courts regularly look to it for
guidance in interpreting ELCRA. This stems from the
fact that ELCRA is “clearly modeled after Title
VIIL....” Rasheed v Chrysler Corp, 445 Mich 109, 123
n 20; 517 NW2d 19 (1994). And in this case, we see no
reason to depart from the United States Supreme
Court’s interpretation of the comparable Title VII
provisions. ELCRA’s antidiscrimination and antire-
taliation provisions mirror Title VII's. Like Title VII,
ELCRA prohibits employers from discriminating
against an individual on the basis of race “with respect
to employment, compensation, or a term, condition, or
a privilege of employment,” MCL 37.2202(1)(a), and
also from limiting, segregating, or classifying “an em-
ployee or applicant for employment in a way that
deprives or tends to deprive the employee or applicant
of an employment opportunity, or otherwise adversely
affects the status of an employee or applicant” because
of race, MCL 37.2202(1)(b). See 42 USC 2000e-2(a).2
The antiretaliation provisions of both ELCRA and Title

12 42 USC 2000e-2(a) provides:
It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer—

(1) to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or
otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to
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VII differ from their respective antidiscrimination pro-
visions in that the antiretaliation provisions bar retali-
ation or discrimination with no limitation on the type
of acts that would be considered unlawful. See MCL
37.2701(a); 42 USC 2000e-3(a).'?

The controlling case regarding Title VII’s antiretali-
ation provision is Burlington N & S F' R Co v White, 548
US 53; 126 S Ct 2405; 165 L Ed 2d 345 (2006). Before
Burlington, courts had been applying the same stan-
dards to discrimination and retaliation cases. Specifi-
cally, some federal circuit courts concluded that to
establish a claim for retaliation, the alleged retaliatory
action needed to involve an “ultimate employment deci-
sion” such as hiring, firing, rate of pay, or promotion,
which is consistent with the standard for a discrimina-
tion case. In Burlington, however, the Supreme Court
concluded that

Title VII’'s substantive provision and its antiretaliation
provision are not coterminous. The scope of the antiretali-
ation provision extends beyond workplace-related or
employment-related retaliatory acts. We therefore reject

his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment,
because of such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national
origin; or

(2) to limit, segregate, or classify his employees or applicants
for employment in any way which would deprive or tend to
deprive any individual of employment opportunities or otherwise
adversely affect his status as an employee, because of such
individual’s race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.

1342 USC 2000e-3(a) provides, in pertinent part:

It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer
to discriminate against any of his employees or applicants for
employment . . . because he has opposed any practice made an
unlawful employment practice by this subchapter, or because he
has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any
manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this
subchapter.
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the standards applied in the Courts of Appeals that have
treated the antiretaliation provision as forbidding the
same conduct prohibited by the antidiscrimination provi-
sion and that have limited actionable retaliation to so-
called “ultimate employment decisions.” [Id. at 67 (cita-
tion omitted).]

Significantly, Burlington went on to define “materially
adverse” as an action that “well might have dissuaded
a reasonable worker from making or supporting a
charge of discrimination,” id. at 68 (quotation marks
and citation omitted), and stated that “the antiretali-
ation provision, unlike the substantive provision, is not
limited to discriminatory actions that affect the terms

and conditions of employment,”* id. at 64 (emphasis
added).

At the same time, the Court said that Title VII “does
not set forth a general civility code for the American
workplace”; that “petty slights, minor annoyances, and
simple lack of good manners” are not actionable even if
retaliatory; and that the actions must deter reasonable
employees, noting that the test is objective. Id. at 68
(quotation marks and citation omitted). An objective

1 In concluding that claims of retaliation are not restricted to actions
affecting the terms and conditions of employment, Burlington relied on
the provisions’ textual differences and on the presumption that Con-
gress intended for different words to have different meanings; i.e.,
Congress would have specified that retaliation was limited to employ-
ment decisions if it intended that result. Burlington, 548 US at 62-63.
The same presumption regarding textual differences in statutes exists
in Michigan. “If the Legislature had intended the same meaning in both
statutory provisions, it would have used the same word.” United States
Fidelity & Guaranty Co v Mich Catastrophic Claims Ass’n (On Rehear-
ing), 484 Mich 1, 14; 795 NW2d 101 (2009). Burlington also reasoned
that the objective of the antiretaliation provision, i.e., to prevent “an
employer from interfering (through retaliation) with an employee’s
efforts to secure or advance enforcement of the Act’s basic guarantees,”
could not be accomplished by prohibiting only actions “directly related”
to employment. Burlington, 548 US at 63-64.
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test does not mean that the ultimate question is for the
court; rather, the court must determine if the plaintiff
has submitted sufficient proofs to establish a question
of fact whether or not the action meets the Burlington
standard. Thus, the decision must be based in the facts
of the case, not bright-line or categorical rules as to
what actions would deter an employee from objecting
to discrimination. As stated in Burlington:

We phrase the standard in general terms because the
significance of any given act of retaliation will often
depend upon the particular circumstances. Context mat-
ters. “The real social impact of workplace behavior often
depends on a constellation of surrounding circumstances,
expectations, and relationships which are not fully cap-
tured by a simple recitation of the words used or the
physical acts performed.” A schedule change in an employ-
ee’s work schedule may make little difference to many
workers, but may matter enormously to a young mother
with school-age children. A supervisor’s refusal to invite
an employee to lunch is normally trivial, a nonactionable
petty slight. But to retaliate by excluding an employee
from a weekly training lunch that contributes signifi-
cantly to the employee’s professional advancement might
well deter a reasonable employee from complaining about
discrimination. Hence, a legal standard that speaks in
general terms rather than specific prohibited acts is pref-
erable, for an “act that would be immaterial in some
situations is material in others.” [Id. at 69 (citations
omitted; emphasis added).]

The examples given by the Supreme Court in this
passage are telling. It would be easy to hold that not
being invited to a training lunch, or having to accom-
modate a minor schedule change, does not constitute a
material adverse action regardless of their effect. How-
ever, Burlington rejects the idea that certain actions
are always or never materially adverse—each case is to
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be considered on its facts and not by application of a
general rule that certain actions are, by nature, not
materially adverse.

Notably, defendant does not refer to Burlington in
its brief. Instead it suggests that we rely on a pre-
Burlington case, Pefia v Ingham Co Rd Comm, 255
Mich App 299; 660 NW2d 351 (2003), which in turn
relied on pre-Burlington caselaw from the Sixth Cir-
cuit for the proposition that an adverse employment
action typically “takes the form of an ultimate employ-
ment decision, such as ‘a termination in employment, a
demotion evidenced by a decrease in wage or salary, a
less distinguished title, a material loss of benefits,
significantly diminished material responsibilities, or
other indices that might be unique to a particular
situation.’ ” Id. at 312, quoting White v Burlington N &
SFR Co, 310 F3d 443, 450 (CA 6, 2002), vacated for en
banc rehearing 321 F3d 1203 (CA 6, 2003). However,
as discussed, federal precedent applying that standard
to retaliation claims was expressly overruled by
Burlington, 548 US 53.%5 It would be a strange result,
to say the least, if we continued to follow Title VII
precedent overruled by a United States Supreme Court
decision based on the same statutory language found
in ELCRA.

We have not addressed in a published ELCRA case
whether to follow Burlington.’® We do so here and

5 The Sixth Circuit decision relied on by Pefia was the case that led to
the Supreme Court’s decision in Burlington. After Pefia was decided, the
Sixth Circuit vacated Burlington, 310 F3d 443, and decided the case en
banc, holding that the plaintiff was subjected to retaliatory adverse
employment actions, White v Burlington N & S F' R Co, 364 F3d 789 (CA
6, 2004). The Supreme Court affirmed, applying the reasonable-
employee standard already discussed.

16 We have applied Burlington in an unpublished decision. See Rott v
Madison Dist Pub Sch, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of
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adopt the reasonable-employee standard for determin-
ing whether an employer has committed a retaliatory
adverse employment action under ELCRA. Given that
the antiretaliation provision does not contain the lim-
iting language used in the substantive discrimination
provision, there is no basis in MCL 37.2701(a) to limit
retaliatory acts under ELCRA to those affecting the
terms and conditions of employment such as pay,
hiring, and firing. The adoption of Burlington is also
consistent with our long history of applying persuasive
Title VII precedent to analogous ELCRA issues absent
statutory differences.

3. APPLICATION

Plaintiff alleges that defendant retaliated against
her in two ways after she filed her lawsuit on
December 18, 2017. First, that on January 8, 2018,
she was given a negative performance evaluation that
required her to work under a PIP, which was ex-
panded in February with additional requirements set
forth in a “Notice Of Formal Counseling.” Second,
that the work-location change from Detroit to Lansing
affected her ability to perform her job, which involved
regularly meeting in Detroit with homeowners and
others parties affected by the eminent-domain pro-
cess necessary to the building of the GHIB.

For the reasons already discussed, we reject defen-
dant’s argument that the imposition of a needs-
improvement rating and PIP could never deter a rea-

Appeals, issued December 21, 2010 (Docket No. 294291), p 3. In other
cases, we have noted Burlington but held or indicated that the plaintiff's
claim failed under that standard without expressly deciding whether to
adopt it. See Aguilar v Saginaw, unpublished per curiam opinion of the
Court of Appeals, issued August 30, 2018 (Docket No. 339016), pp 15-17;
Haase v IAV Auto Engineering, Inc, unpublished per curiam opinion of
the Court of Appeals, issued December 1, 2011 (Docket No. 298348), p 5.
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sonable employee from opposing acts of discrimination.
Consistently with Burlington, we must consider these
actions in the context in which they occurred, not in
the abstract. Plaintiff had received only positive or
satisfactory evaluations during the nine years she
worked for defendant until the evaluation conducted
one month after she filed her lawsuit. And, a month
later, in the midst of a litigation venue dispute, plain-
tiff was effectively transferred from Detroit to Lansing,
which precluded her from performing her duties on-
site without regularly commuting to Detroit.

Per Burlington, “it is for a jury to decide whether
anything more than the most petty and trivial actions
against an employee should be considered ‘materially
adverse’ to [the employee] and thus constitute adverse
employment actions.” Crawford v Carroll, 529 F3d
961, 973 n 13 (CA 11, 2008). See also McArdle v Dell
Prod, LP, 293 F Appx 331, 337 (CA 5, 2008) (“Whether
a reasonable employee would view the challenged
action as materially adverse involves questions of fact
generally left for a jury to decide.”). We conclude that
the imposition of a PIP and plaintiff’s effective transfer
were neither “trivial” acts nor “minor annoyances,”
Burlington, 548 US at 68, and therefore, the question
of whether plaintiff was subject to an adverse employ-
ment action should be determined by a jury.

First, the negative evaluation and PIP, in and of
themselves, plainly carried a substantial deterrent ef-
fect. The PIP included increased monitoring and an
additional mandatory performance review. Civ Serv R
2-3.2(a)(2) (2020). It set dates and requirements for
improvement in areas for which plaintiff was rated as
needing improvement and required her to meet weekly
with her supervisor to review her compliance. The plan
also required plaintiff to take multiple courses, includ-
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ing both civil service and substantive real estate classes,
to cross-train in other areas within the real-estate-
services section.

Further, imposition of a PIP under the Civil Service
Commission Rules may have consequences beyond its
requirements. Failure to comply with the plan risks an
unsatisfactory “interim rating,” which constitutes dis-
cipline under the Civil Service Commission Rules “and
may be the basis for additional discipline, up to and
including dismissal.” Civ Serv R 2-3.3(d). A PIP can
also lead to formal counseling, as was the case here,
during which plaintiff was informed—a day after sub-
mitting an affidavit opposing defendant’s request for a
venue change—that her work performance was unac-
ceptable, the obvious implication being that her job
and livelihood were at risk.

While defendant argues that negative performance
evaluations, PIPs, and formal counsel do not constitute
discipline or preclude an employee from applying for a
different internal position, performance evaluations
“may be considered in making employment decisions,
including appointment, promotion, retention, assign-
ment, and training.” Civ Serv R 2-3.1(d). Thus, while a
needs-improvement rating does not formally preclude
an employee from pursuing a different position or pro-
motion, it is highly likely, if not certain, that such a
rating will reflect poorly on the employee and hinder
future advancement.'” Further, the Civil Service Com-

17 Defendant relies on caselaw stating that “the effect of a poor
evaluation is ordinarily too speculative to be actionable.” Douglas v
Donovan, 385 US App DC 120, 124; 559 F3d 549 (2009). However, the
cited case concerned discrimination, not retaliation. As discussed, Burl-
ington clarified that what constitutes an adverse action for purposes of
retaliation is broader than what constitutes an adverse employment
action under the substantive discrimination provision. Further, we reject
the suggestion that the potential consequences of an alleged adverse
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mission Rules provide that a needs-improvement rat-
ing renders the employee “ineligible for reclassifica-
tion,” Civ Serv R 2-3.2(b)(2)(B), and is neither
appealable nor grievable, Civ Serv R 2-3.2(b)(2)(A).

In addition to the negative performance evaluation
and PIP, plaintiff's retaliation claim is based on her
sudden workplace transfer from Detroit to Lansing in
the midst of a venue dispute. Again, plaintiff filed this
case in Wayne County, and defendant moved to change
venue. Plaintiff responded in opposition and attached
her affidavit in which she described her duties in
Detroit as grounds for venue in Wayne County. Two
days after plaintiff submitted her affidavit, her super-
visor informed her that her primary workplace would
thereafter be in Lansing, where she was to report daily,
and that she would have to drive to and from Detroit
for any appointments she had near the worksite. The
timing of this change is clearly more than fortuitous;
indeed, it is compelling. A reasonable jury could readily
conclude that plaintiff's work location was changed
precisely to affect the underlying litigation, i.e., be-
cause she filed suit, defendant transferred her in hopes
of making her suit more difficult. See Funk v Lansing,
821 F Appx 574, 584 (CA 6, 2020) (noting that “tempo-
ral proximity is relevant to causation” and that the fact
that the employer’s action came just two days after the
plaintiff made his complaint “is of particular concern”).

Generally, being reassigned closer to one’s home
would not be a considered an adverse employment

action should not be considered in applying the reasonable-employee
standard. Reasonable people consider possibilities and contingencies
when making decisions. Given that the needs-improvement rating and
PIP could lead to discipline (including dismissal) and the hindrance of
professional advancement, a reasonable employee would consider those
possibilities in deciding whether to make or support a charge of discrimi-
nation and could reasonably conclude that it would be better not to do so.
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action. However, as discussed, the particular circum-
stances of the job must be considered in evaluat-
ing whether an action is materially adverse. See
Burlington, 548 US at 68. Plaintiff explained at her
deposition that being at the project location was essen-
tial to relocation work because “[ylou have to be
accessible to those property owners. They may want to
come into the office. They may want you to come out to
the field ... but whatever their issue is that’s what
you're there for.” She further explained, “You don’t
know what’s going to come up on any given day on any
of your parcels. . . . So you have to be there every day to
be accessible to your property owners.” Plaintiff’s view
that the change in her work location represented a
fundamental change in her employment has an objec-
tive basis. It was explained to her when she was offered
a job as a PA that the position would require her
presence at the project location during the week, and
indeed, she was present there as required until the
reassignment. Because being at the project site was an
essential part of relocation work, we conclude that the
change in plaintiff's work location represented more
than a mere alteration of job responsibilities.

Applying Burlington, we conclude that the needs-
improvement evaluation, the corresponding PIP, and
the workplace transfer could dissuade a reasonable
employee from making or supporting a claim of dis-
crimination under ELCRA. Accordingly, whether
plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action in this
case is a question for the jury, and the trial court erred
by granting summary disposition.

The partial dissent does not dispute that we should
follow Burlington, but it attempts to avoid the effect of
that United States Supreme Court case by citing several
United States Court of Appeals cases addressing
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whether negative performance evaluations or PIPs con-
stitute adverse employment actions. The cited cases do
not lead us to change our view. First, many of the cases
rely in whole or in part on pre-Burlington precedent.
For instance, in Cole v Illinois, 562 F3d 812, 816-817
(CA7,2009)—which is an oft-cited case on this issuel®—
the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh
Circuit observed Burlington’s holding, but then con-
cluded that the PIP in that case was not an adverse
action based entirely on cases decided before Burling-
ton that did not apply the reasonable-employee stan-
dard but, instead, analyzed retaliation claims under
the same standards as substantive discrimination
claims.’ The dissent asserts that the reliance on

18 Three of the cases cited by the dissent rely directly on Cole. See Fields
v Bd of Ed of City of Chicago, 928 F3d 622, 626 (CA 7, 2019) (relying on
Boss v Castro, 816 F3d 910, 917-918 (CA 7, 2016), in turn relying on Cole;
Payan v United Parcel Serv, 905 F3d 1162, 1172-1174 (CA 10, 2018);
Langenbach v Wal-Mart Stores, Inc, 761 F3d 792, 799 (CA 7, 2014).

19 The same is true of Baloch v Kempthorne, 384 US App DC 85, 93; 550
F3d 1191 (2008), which concluded that an unsatisfactory performance
review was not a materially adverse action and in support cited two cases,
each of which was decided before Burlington. One of those cases, Oest v
Illinois Dep’t of Corrections, 240 F3d 605 (CA 7, 2001), alleged discrimi-
nation and retaliation, but the retaliation claim was dismissed for lack of
a causal connection and the holding with respect to the discrimination
claim has since been overturned. See Ortiz v Werner Enterprises, Inc, 834
F3d 760, 765 (CA 7, 2016). Similarly, Langenbach, 761 F3d 792, relied on
Cole and a pre-Burlington case, Haywood v Lucent Techs, Inc, 323 F3d
524, 532 (CA 7 2003), and involved a plaintiff who alleged that she was
given an unsatisfactory review and placed on a PIP after she took leave
under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). However, as the
Langenbach court noted, the plaintiff had “already received low perfor-
mance evaluations and had been placed on a PIP” before she took her
FMLA leave. Langenbach, 761 F3d at 800. Similarly, defendant’s reliance
on Jarvis v Siemens Med Solutions USA, Inc, 460 F Appx 851 (CA 11,
2012), is of little value because in that case, the plaintiff did not have a
history of positive reviews (as the instant plaintiff did), failed to show up
for work on several occasions, and falsified his time card. See id. at
854-855.
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pre-Burlington decisions should be viewed as a deter-
mination that Burlington did not affect the applicable
standards for retaliation cases. However, Burlington
clearly did change the standard for retaliation cases,
and we do not find perfunctory application of pre-
Burlington caselaw—without any discussion of the fact
that the relied-upon cases were decided before
Burlington—to be a persuasive application of the
reasonable-employee standard. And as noted, such
decisions are especially unpersuasive given that the
United States Supreme Court made clear that courts
should not define whole categories of actions that may
not be considered material regardless of context.

The Sixth Circuit has recognized that the Burlington
standard must be applied on a case-by-case basis. In
Halfacre v Home Depot, USA, Inc, 221 F Appx 424 (CA
6, 2007), two months after the plaintiff claimed race
discrimination in a failure-to-promote case, he received
an evaluation with an overall performance grade that
was lower than all his previous evaluations. His prior
evaluations were “generally stellar.” Id. at 425-426. As
part of his case, the plaintiff alleged retaliation, and the
defendant’s summary-disposition motion was granted
before the Supreme Court’s decision in Burlington. Id.
at 426-427. In its decision, the district court held “as a
categorical matter, that ‘(a] performance evaluation
that is lower than an employee feels is warranted is not
an adverse employment action sufficient to state a claim
of discrimination.’ ” Id. at 432 (citation omitted). By the
time the Sixth Circuit considered the appeal from the
district court decision, the Supreme Court had issued its
decision in Burlington. In light of that decision, the
Sixth Circuit reversed, reasoning that the district
court’s categorical approach “is now suspect.... [A
lower performance] evaluation could—in certain
circumstances—‘dissuade[] a reasonable worker from
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making or supporting a charge of discrimination.”” Id.,
quoting Burlington, 548 US at 68 (second alteration in
original).

The Sixth Circuit has also recognized that Burlington
set forth a “more liberal definition [that] permits actions
not materially adverse for purposes of an anti-
discrimination claim to qualify as such in the retaliation
context.” Michael v Caterpillar Fin Servs Corp, 496 F3d
584, 596 (CA 6, 2007). In that case, the court held that
“[tlhe retaliatory actions alleged by [the plaintiff], in-
cluding her brief placement on paid administrative
leave and the 90-day performance plan,” met the “rela-
tively low bar” for a materially adverse action for pur-
poses of a retaliation claim. Id. (emphasis added). See
also Estate of Olivia v New Jersey, 579 F Supp 2d 643,
671 (D NJ, 2008) (holding that “[aln unwarranted
negative [performance] evaluation by one’s supervisor
could have a deterrent effect” and cause “a reasonable
worker [to] be dissuaded from making a charge of
discrimination”).

The dissent asserts that negative performance evalu-
ations and PIPs must have “tangible job consequences”
to be actionable. The dissent does not elaborate on what
constitutes a tangible consequence but indicates with
a supporting citation that there must be a financial
harm. However, that position cannot be squared with
Burlington, which held in part that a reassignment of
job duties, a change in schedule, or even exclusion from
a business lunch—without any mention of a pay
deduction—could be an adverse employment action.
Burlington, 548 US at 69-71. Nor is there support for
that position in MCL 37.2701(a), which simply prohibits
an employer from retaliating or discriminating against
a person who engaged in a protected activity. Moreover,
ELCRA is remedial and should be construed broadly in
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order to accomplish its purpose, Bachman v Swan
Harbour Assoc, 252 Mich App 400, 414; 6563 NW2d 415
(2002), which, as it relates to retaliation, is to allow
employees to report discrimination without a reason-
ably based fear of retribution.

In sum, to the extent that cases cited by the dissent
hold that a negative performance evaluation or PIP
can never constitute an adverse action for purposes of
a retaliation claim, we decline to follow these cases
because they do not contain a persuasive discussion of
the reasonable-employee standard. Moreover, that
standard must be applied on a case-by-case basis, and
here, plaintiff did not merely receive a negative perfor-
mance evaluation,?’ she also was placed under a PIP,
received a notice of formal counseling, and was effec-
tively reassigned to a work location that was less
conducive to performance of her duties. Cf. Henry v
Abbott Laboratories, 651 F Appx 494, 505 (CA 6, 2016)
(holding that a reasonable jury could find that the
alleged adverse actions could dissuade a reasonable
employee from making or supporting a charge of dis-
crimination when the plaintiff, in addition to receiving
a low performance review, was subjected to “increased
scrutiny, a letter of expectations threatening further
action if her performance did not improve, and being
kept on the training line”).

20 Several of the cases relied on by the dissent do not involve negative
performance evaluations or PIPs but, rather, employees who received
lower, but still satisfactory, job evaluations. Thibodeaux-Woody v Houston
Community College, 593 F Appx 280, 285-286 (CA 5, 2014); AuBuchon v
Geithner, 743 F3d 638, 644-645 (CA 8, 2014); Weber v Battista, 494 F3d
179, 184-185; 377 US App DC 347 (2007). Similarly, PIPs were not at
issue in the two cases relied on by the dissent involving employee
counseling. See Cheatham v Dekalb Co, Georgia, 682 F Appx 881, 889-890
(CA 11, 2017); Woods v Washington, 475 F Appx 111, 112-113 (CA 9, 2012).
Nor did the plaintiffs in any of the cases cited by the dissent also claim
retaliation based on a change in work location.
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Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the
opposing party, we conclude that plaintiff has pre-
sented evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of
fact whether defendant’s actions were materially ad-
verse, i.e., that such actions “might have dissuaded a
reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge
of discrimination.” Burlington, 548 US at 68 (quotation
marks and citations omitted). A jury could reasonably
find that the alleged retaliatory actions taken against
plaintiff, i.e., the negative performance evaluation,
PIP, and work relocation, were materially adverse.
Therefore, we conclude that the trial court erred by
granting defendant’s motion for summary disposition
as to this claim.

III. CONCLUSION

We affirm the dismissal of plaintiff’s discrimination
claim but reverse the dismissal of her retaliation claim.
We remand for further proceedings consistent with
this opinion. We do not retain jurisdiction. Neither
party having prevailed in full, costs may not be taxed.
MCR 7.219(A).

RONAYNE KRAUSE, J., concurred with SHAPIRO, J.

RIORDAN, P.J. (concurring in part and dissenting in
part). 1 agree with the trial court’s conclusion that
plaintiff failed to establish a discrimination claim. How-
ever, | disagree with the majority that plaintiff's perfor-
mance evaluation, performance improvement plan
(PIP), formal counseling, and reduced travel require-
ments were adverse employment actions and that, as a
result, they support plaintiff’s retaliation claim. In
reaching this conclusion, it is not necessary to consider
whether the majority’s adoption of the standard in
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Burlington N & S F R Co v White, 548 US 53, 71; 126 S
Ct 2405; 165 L Ed 2d 345 (2006), is proper because
plaintiff provides no objective basis for demonstrating
that the alleged retaliatory actions were materially
adverse under either our existing precedent or under
the majority’s newly adopted rule. See Wilcoxon v
Minnesota Mining & Mfg Co, 235 Mich App 347, 364-
365; 597 NW2d 250 (1999) (explaining that there must
be some objective basis for demonstrating that the
change is adverse because a plaintiff's subjective im-
pressions as to the desirability of one position over
another are not controlling); Peria v Ingham Co Rd
Comm, 255 Mich App 299, 311-312; 660 NW2d 351
(2003) (applying Wilcoxon to a retaliation claim and
citing various United States Court of Appeals cases for
the proposition that “[a]lthough there is no exhaustive
list of adverse employment actions, typically it takes the
form of an ultimate employment decision, such as ‘a
termination in employment, a demotion evidenced by a
decrease in wage or salary, a less distinguished title, a
material loss of benefits, significantly diminished mate-
rial responsibilities, or other indices that might be
unique to a particular situation’ ”); Burlington, 548 US
at 71 (considering whether a reasonable employee
would find the challenged action materially adverse,
meaning that it would dissuade a reasonable worker
from making or supporting a claim of discrimination).

Plaintiff fails to submit any evidence to support her
general allegation that she was prevented from obtain-
ing potential promotions. She neither alleges nor offers
any version of facts to support that she was denied
raises or promotions because of her race or age. Rather,
until plaintiff voluntarily went on medical leave, she
maintained the same position and salary, she was not
disciplined under the Civil Service Rules, and she
remained eligible for promotion. While the majority
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offers its own conjecture, plaintiff has not submitted
any evidence to support a conclusion that a reasonable
employee in the same circumstances would be dis-
suaded from making a discrimination claim.

The majority reasons that plaintiff suffered an ad-
verse employment action because a needs-improvement
rating and a PIP plan carry potential consequences.
However, I would hold, consistent with federal caselaw,
that plaintiff failed to meet her burden of demonstrating
that she suffered an adverse employment action be-
cause negative performance evaluations and PIP plans
alone are not sufficient evidence to support that claim.

Federal courts applying Burlington require allega-
tions and evidence that PIPs and negative perfor-
mance evaluations have materially adverse conse-
quences in order to qualify as an adverse employment
action. See, e.g., Halfacre v Home Depot, USA, Inc, 221
F Appx 424, 433 (CA 6, 2007) (noting that lower
performance-evaluation scores that do not actually
affect an employee’s wages or professional advance-
ment are not materially adverse); Cole v Illinois, 562
F3d 812, 816 (CA 7, 2009) (holding that “the adoption
of the improvement plan did not constitute an adverse
action that would cause a reasonable employee to
forego exercising her rights under the [Family and
Medical Leave Act],” did not result in a reduction in
responsibility, pay, hours, or any other benefit, and did
not impose a material change in employment duties);
Thibodeaux-Woody v Houston Community College, 593
F Appx 280, 286 (CA 5, 2014) (stating that “[a] less
than optimal performance review, without more, is not
something that would have discouraged [the employee]
from asserting a charge of discrimination”); Payan v
United Parcel Serv, 905 F3d 1162, 1174 (CA 10, 2018)
(concluding that “placement on an employee improve-
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ment plan alone does not qualify as a materially
adverse action as defined by Burlington”); Sykes v
Pennsylvania State Police, 311 F Appx 526, 529 n 2 (CA
3, 2008) (noting that lower performance evaluations
“are not by themselves actionable under Title VII
absent a showing . ..that they resulted in a more
tangible form of adverse action, such as ineligibility for
promotional opportunities”) (quotation marks and ci-
tation omitted); Crawford v Carroll, 529 F3d 961, 974
(CA 11, 2008) (finding that an unfavorable perfor-
mance evaluation constituted an adverse employment
action when it actually rendered the plaintiff ineligible
for a merit pay increase); Weber v Battista, 494 F3d
179, 184-185; 377 US App DC 347 (2007) (holding that
two performance evaluations “qualiffied] as adverse
actions” under Burlington “insofar as they resulted in
the plaintiff losing a financial award or an award of
leave”); AuBuchon v Geithner, 743 F3d 638, 644 (CA 8,
2014) (explaining that since Burlington, to avoid the
“triviality pitfall,” a materially adverse employment
action must produce some injury or harm, and com-
mencing performance evaluations, falsely reporting
poor performance, sending critical letters threatening
discipline, among other acts, as a matter of law do not
establish a prima facie case of retaliation absent ma-
terially adverse consequences to the employee); Fields
v Chicago Bd of Ed, 928 F3d 622, 626 (CA 7, 2019)
(stating that “performance improvement plans, even
though they had the potential to lead to termination or
other discipline, are not enough” to establish an ad-
verse employment action). See also Meagher v Wayne
State Univ, 222 Mich App 700, 710; 565 NW2d 401
(1997) (recognizing that while federal precedent inter-
preting the federal Civil Rights Act is often used as
guidance, it is not binding on this Court). This is not to
say that a PIP or negative performance evaluations
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may never be the basis for a retaliation claim, but that
there must be some evidence of tangible job conse-
quences. Baloch v Kempthorne, 384 US App DC 85, 93,;
550 F3d 1191 (2008) (“[Plerformance reviews typically
constitute adverse actions only when attached to finan-
cial harms.”).

The majority takes great pains to distinguish the
case before us from the overwhelming weight of federal
cases and notes that many of the cases cited in this
opinion merely apply the law to the facts and rely on
cases predating Burlington. Rather than assume that
the federal courts were unaware of the dates of the
authorities they cite, or that they were all simply
mistaken by citing cases decided before Burlington, it
is more reasonable to conclude that the federal courts
intentionally carried over the pre-Burlington legal
standard for relying on PIPs and performance evalua-
tions as the basis for retaliation claims into post-
Burlington jurisprudence. Additionally, many of the
cited cases clearly and concisely state the law under
Burlington and additional exegesis was not required.
The majority does not explain what further wisdom the
federal courts must express when applying well-
established law to the uncomplicated facts of those
cases.

Additionally, the majority attempts to factually dis-
tinguish this case from the cited cases by characteriz-
ing the PIP at issue as more onerous than those in the
cited cases. Plaintiff was required to take classes,
cross-train in other areas, and meet weekly with her
supervisor. These requirements are similar to those in
federal cases in which work-related objectives were
identified, timelines established, and follow-up meet-
ings were scheduled. See Jarvis v Siemens Med Solu-
tions USA, Inc, 460 F Appx 851, 853 (CA 11, 2012)



2020] WHITE vV MDOT 135
OPINION BY RIORDAN, P.J.

(noting that the PIP identified objectives the plaintiff
needed to achieve within 30 days and scheduled review
meetings); Langenbach v Wal-Mart Stores, Inc, 761
F3d 792, 798 (CA 7, 2014) (observing that the PIP
identified actions the plaintiff “could take to improve
her performance, measurement standards by which
her performance would be evaluated, and a time frame
in which she was expected to improve”). Moreover, the
majority offers no discernable test or guidance for
measuring when a PIP is burdensome enough to dis-
suade a reasonable employee from making a discrimi-
nation claim. In this case, plaintiff was required to
attend weekly meetings, but would monthly meetings
have been requisitely oppressive? 1 agree with the
majority’s assertion that generally, the possibility of
discipline can be stressful. See Poullard v McDonald,
829 F3d 844, 856 (CA 7, 2016) (“[TThe possibility of
discipline can be stressfull.]”). However, the mere pos-
sibility or threat of discipline is insufficient to support
a claim for retaliation, id. at 856-857, and excessive
scrutiny, or “ ‘closer supervision,’ ” is not an actionable
adverse employment action, Thomson v Odyssey
House, 652 F Appx 44, 46 (CA 2, 2016). Accordingly,
rather than applying the majority’s newly adopted
Burlington test in a novel manner, I would apply it in
a manner consistent with the overwhelming body of
federal cases that require evidence of tangible job
consequences. In this case, plaintiff has not pleaded or
submitted evidence of those consequences.

The majority concludes that plaintiff suffered nega-
tive consequences from the needs-improvement rating
and PIP plan because she was issued a notice of formal
counseling. However, neither plaintiff nor the majority
explains how the notice was materially adverse to
plaintiff. There are no allegations or evidence in the
record that the notice had any effect on plaintiff’s
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salary or benefits! or that the notice would induce a
reasonable employee to forgo making or supporting a
discrimination claim.?

The majority further concludes that plaintiff estab-
lished a genuine issue of material fact regarding
whether the change in work location constitutes an
adverse employment action. However, plaintiff's re-
duced travel schedule is not objectively adverse,
Wilcoxon, 235 Mich App at 364; Burlington, 548 US at
68, particularly when she was instructed to continue to
commute from her home office in Lansing to the Detroit
worksite when the need arose. Plaintiff’s concession
that she did not again travel to Detroit after she began
reporting to the Lansing office may be evidence that
such a need did not arise thereafter, but it is not
evidence of retaliatory motive. Nor is there any evidence

1 Wilcoxon, 235 Mich App at 363 (observing that a materially adverse
action is one such as termination of employment, a demotion evidenced
by a decrease in wage or salary, a less distinguished title, a material loss
of benefits, significantly diminished material responsibilities, or other
indices that might be unique to a particular situation) (quotation marks
and citations omitted). See also Welsh v Fort Bend Indep Sch Dist, 941
F3d 818, 827 (CA 5, 2019) (stating that under the Burlington standard,
“when determining whether an allegedly retaliatory action is materially
adverse, courts look to indicia such as whether the action affected job
title, grade, hours, salary, or benefits or caused a diminution in prestige
or change in standing among coworkers”) (quotation marks, citations,
and ellipsis omitted).

2 Burlington, 548 US at 68. See also Cheatham v DeKalb Co, Georgia,
682 F Appx 881, 890 (CA 11, 2017) (finding that the plaintiff did not
identify any “ ‘serious and material change in the terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment’ deriving from the written counseling, and
thus it [did] not constitute an adverse employment action”); Woods v
Washington, 475 F Appx 111, 112-113 (CA 9, 2012) (holding that there
was no triable fact as to whether the plaintiff suffered an adverse
employment action resulting from either “Formal Counseling” or “Final
Counseling” because neither action affected his compensation, work-
place conditions, responsibilities, or job status).
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to support the conclusion that the reduced travel time
would dissuade a reasonable employee from making a
discrimination claim.?

I agree with the majority’s disposition on all other
issues. Accordingly, I would affirm the trial court in all
respects.

3 See Johnson v TCB Constr Co, Inc, 334 F Appx 666, 671 (CA 5, 2009)
(holding that an added 30 to 35 minute commute was not an adverse
employment action when there was no evidence that the added commute
was unreasonable); Webb v Round Rock Indep Sch Dist, 595 F Appx 301,
302-303 (CA 5, 2014) (holding that the plaintiff failed to demonstrate
that an added 16-mile commute was an adverse employment action
because she failed to submit any evidence that it would dissuade a
reasonable employee from making a discrimination claim).
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KOMENDAT v GIFFORD

Docket No. 346990. Submitted May 12, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 1, 2020, at 9:05 a.m.

Liliya Komendat brought an action in the Wayne Circuit Court
against Home-Owners Insurance Company seeking uninsured
motorist (UM) and personal protection insurance (PIP) benefits
after she was injured in a collision with a car driven by Andrew
Gifford and owned by Roxanne Gifford. Neither of the Giffords
had no-fault insurance. Plaintiff had initially included the Gif-
fords as defendants, but they were ultimately dismissed from the
case. For some time, Home-Owners paid various bills for plaintiff
pursuant to her husband’s insurance policy, but in October 2015,
Home-Owners refused to pay further benefits after a physician it
had retained examined plaintiff and concluded that her injuries
should have required only three to six months of treatment.
Shortly after filing her complaint, plaintiff filed a request for
defendant to admit that the Giffords’ vehicle was uninsured at
the time of the accident. Defendant denied the sought admission.
Later, after some discovery but before trial, plaintiff moved for a
directed verdict with respect to that issue, and as a result of that
motion, defendant ultimately stipulated at trial that the vehicle
was uninsured. After the close of defendant’s proofs at trial,
plaintiff moved for a directed verdict with respect to defendant’s
failure to pay a prescription bill during the time that defendant
was voluntarily paying plaintiff PIP benefits. The trial court,
Daniel A. Hathaway, J., granted the motion and awarded plaintiff
$107.17 for the prescription bill and $38.57 in penalty interest.
With respect to all other aspects of plaintiff's claims, the jury
returned a verdict in favor of defendant. Plaintiff then moved for
no-fault attorney fees under MCL 500.3148(1) on the directed
verdict concerning the prescription bill, seeking $235,000 on the
basis of the total amount of time her attorneys spent representing
her in the case. Plaintiff also moved for $25,000 in sanctions
under MCR 2.313(C) for defendant’s failure to admit before trial
that the Giffords’ vehicle was uninsured. On May 24, 2018, the
trial court entered a final judgment memorializing the results of
the trial and a combined order ruling that plaintiff was due
$4,688.75 in no-fault attorney fees and declining to sanction
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defendant for failing to admit that the vehicle was uninsured
before that evidence became available. Plaintiff appealed the
final judgment and the combined order.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Appellate jurisdiction in this case was not limited to
plaintiff’s claim for attorney fees. Given that the final judgment
and the combined order together disposed of the remaining issues
in the case, and given that the two orders were entered at or
around the same time, it was not necessary to treat the combined
order as a postjudgment order awarding attorney fees under
MCR 7.202(6)(a)(iv).

2. The trial court did not err by denying plaintiff’'s motion to
preclude the deposition testimony of defendant’s three medical
experts because a proper foundation was not laid in refreshing
the witnesses’ recollections at their respective depositions. Under
MRE 602, a witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence
is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has
personal knowledge of the matter. If a proper foundation is laid,
a witness’s personal knowledge may be established by refreshing
the witness’s memory with a writing or similar document. To lay
a proper foundation, the proponent of the testimony must show
that (1) the witness’s present memory is inadequate, (2) the
writing could refresh the witness’s present memory, and (3)
reference to the writing actually does refresh the witness’s
present memory. In this case, defendant presented the witnesses
with the reports that they had authored and asked whether
review of the reports would refresh their recollection as to their
examinations of plaintiff and their findings. Each witness re-
sponded in the affirmative. When viewed in context, these re-
sponses established, at least by implication, that the witnesses’
memories had been refreshed upon review of their respective
reports. In addition, it was not until plaintiff filed a pretrial
motion to exclude the doctors’ testimony on the ground that
defendant failed to explicitly ask the experts whether the medical
evaluations actually did refresh their memories that the basis for
plaintiff’s objection was made clear. MCR 2.308(C)(3)(a) provides
that objections to the competency of a witness or to the compe-
tency, relevancy, or materiality of testimony are not waived by
failure to make them before or during the taking of a deposition
unless the ground of the objection is one that might have been
obviated or removed if presented at that time. Had plaintiff
raised her objections with specificity while defendant was exam-
ining its witnesses or while defendant was laying the foundation
for its witnesses’ testimony, the omission could have been readily
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cured. Under these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse
its discretion by admitting the deposition testimony of defen-
dant’s experts because, on review of the testimony at issue, it was
not outside the range of reasonable and principled outcomes to
hold that the witnesses’ memories had, in fact, been refreshed by
their respective evaluations.

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by providing a
spoliation instruction to the jury with respect to plaintiff’s failure
to produce calendars that purportedly documented the household
services her husband performed while plaintiff was unable to do
so. A litigant is under a duty to preserve evidence that it knows or
reasonably should know is relevant to an action, and failure to
preserve that evidence can result in a sanction in the form of a
spoliation instruction. The possibility that there were other ways
to prove that her husband had rendered household and
attendant-care services did not render a spoliation instruction
improper. Moreover, as the use note for M Civ JI 6.01 indicates, a
spoliation instruction is warranted if the evidence that is the
subject of the instruction is material, not merely cumulative, and
not equally available to the opposite party. The calendars at issue
met all three criteria. Because the only question of fact that
existed with regard to the calendars was whether plaintiff had a
reasonable excuse for disposing of them, the trial court did not
abuse its discretion by giving the jury instruction on spoliation.

4. The trial court failed to properly determine the amount of
a reasonable no-fault attorney fee. MCL 500.3148(1) provides
that in a PIP case the plaintiff’s attorney fee may be assessed
against the insurer if the jury finds that benefits are overdue and
the court concludes that those benefits were unreasonably de-
layed or denied. In Pirgu v United Servs Auto Ass’n, 499 Mich 269
(2016), the Supreme Court defined a three-step process by which
a trial court is to determine a reasonable attorney fee for purposes
of MCL 500.3148(1). First, the trial court must determine the
reasonable hourly rate customarily charged in the locality for
similar services. Second, the trial court must multiply that rate
by the reasonable number of hours expended in the case to arrive
at a baseline figure. Third, the trial court must consider all the
remaining factors set forth in Wood v Detroit Auto Inter-Ins Exch,
413 Mich 573 (1982), and in MRPC 1.5(a) to determine whether
an up or down adjustment of the baseline fee is appropriate.
Those eight factors are (1) the experience, reputation, and ability
of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services, (2) the difficulty
of the case, i.e., the novelty and difficulty of the questions
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service
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properly, (3) the amount in question and the results obtained, (4)
the expenses incurred, (5) the nature and length of the profes-
sional relationship with the client, (6) the likelihood, if apparent
to the client, that acceptance of the particular employment will
preclude other employment by the lawyer, (7) the time limitations
imposed by the client or by the circumstances, and (8) whether
the fee is fixed or contingent. In this case, the trial court properly
began its analysis by determining the reasonable hourly rate, but
it then conflated the next two Pirgu steps by considering the eight
factors before determining the baseline number of hours and the
baseline fee. In addition, the court’s basis for selecting 15.5 hours
did not appear to be based on the record or the events in the case.
Plaintiff’s argument that the baseline fee should be based on 645
hours, which represented the total number of hours her attorneys
expended in the entire case, was consistent with the language of
MCL 500.3148(1) and with the fact that a no-fault suit typically
involves multiple denials of benefits. Proudfoot v State Farm Mut
Ins Co, 469 Mich 476 (2003), and Moore v Secura Ins, 482 Mich
507 (2008), limited the recovery of attorney fees to those that
were attributable to overdue benefits but gave no direction about
how to determine what attorney services are attributable to the
overdue benefits. Defendant’s suggestion that attorney time must
be attributable only to overdue benefits was rejected. Instead,
attorney services that supported other aspects of the case, as well
as the overdue benefits, should be included because they are
attributable to the overdue benefit claim even if not exclusively
so. However, the baseline attorney time should not include time
spent on other aspects of the claim that were not relevant to the
unreasonably denied benefits. In sum, all reasonable attorney
time in an action that recovers an overdue benefit unreasonably
withheld should be included in the baseline number of hours
unless those services were dedicated solely to the recovery of
benefits that were found not overdue, in which case that time was
not attributable to recovery of the overdue benefit. The case was
remanded for the trial court to calculate the reasonable number of
hours and the baseline fee and, if necessary, to adjust that figure
based on the factors outlined in Pirgu, including the amount in
question and the results obtained in the case as a whole.

5. The trial court did not err by denying sanctions on the basis
of defendant’s refusal to admit that the Giffords’ vehicle was not
insured. Under MCR 2.313(C), if a party denies the truth of a
matter as requested under MCR 2.312, and if the party request-
ing the admission later proves the genuineness of the document
or the truth of the matter, the requesting party may move for an
order requiring the other party to pay the expenses incurred in
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making that proof, including attorney fees. The court shall enter
the order unless it finds that the request was held objectionable
pursuant to MCR 2.312, the admission sought was of no substan-
tial importance, the party failing to admit had a reasonable basis
to believe that they might prevail on the matter, or there was
other good reason for the failure to admit. In this case, conclusive
evidence regarding the proper owner of the vehicle in question
was not uncovered until November 2017, about two years after
plaintiff requested defendant’s admission. And, while defendant
was aware of a police report from the date of the accident
mentioning that the vehicle was uninsured, this hearsay infor-
mation was not of a character that would support a contrary
conclusion for purposes of MCR 2.313(C).

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for further
proceedings.

INSURANCE — NO-FAULT — OVERDUE BENEFITS — ATTORNEY FEES.

MCL 500.3148(1) provides that in a case seeking personal protec-
tion insurance benefits, the plaintiff's attorney fee may be as-
sessed against the insurer if the fact-finder determines that
benefits are overdue and the court concludes that those benefits
were unreasonably delayed or denied; to determine a reasonable
attorney fee for purposes of MCL 500.3148(1), first, the trial court
must determine the reasonable hourly rate customarily charged
in the locality for similar services; second, the trial court must
multiply that rate by the reasonable number of hours expended in
the case to arrive at a baseline figure; third, the trial court must
consider eight additional factors: (1) the experience, reputation,
and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services, (2)
the difficulty of the case, i.e., the novelty and difficulty of the
questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal
service properly, (3) the amount in question and the results
obtained, (4) the expenses incurred, (5) the nature and length of
the professional relationship with the client, (6) the likelihood, if
apparent to the client, that acceptance of the particular employ-
ment will preclude other employment by the lawyer, (7) the time
limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances, and (8)
whether the fee is fixed or contingent; all reasonable attorney
time in an action that recovers an overdue benefit unreasonably
withheld should be included in the baseline number of hours
unless those services were dedicated solely to the recovery of
benefits that were found not overdue, in which case that time was
not attributable to recovery of the overdue benefit.
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Lorelli & Lorelli (by Malgorzata Lorelli and Vincent
Lorelli) for Liliya Komendat.

Secrest Wardle (by Drew W. Broaddus and Renee T.
Townsend) for Home-Owners Insurance Company.

Before: BECKERING, P.J., and FORT HOOD and SHAPIRO,
JdJ.

PER CURIAM. In this action for uninsured motorist
(UM) and personal protection insurance (PIP) benefits,
plaintiff, Liliya Komendat, appeals two orders entered
by the trial court: (1) a final judgment partially in favor
of plaintiff, and (2) a “combined order” that granted
plaintiff a small portion of the no-fault attorney fees
she requested against defendant Home-Owners Insur-
ance Company.! We affirm in part, reverse in part, and
remand for further proceedings.

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This case arises from injuries plaintiff suffered as a
result of a January 22, 2015 motor vehicle accident.
Plaintiff was a passenger in a vehicle struck by a car
driven by Andrew Gifford and owned by Roxanne Gif-
ford. Neither Roxanne nor Andrew had no-fault insur-
ance. For some time, defendant insurer paid various
medical and transportation bills for plaintiff, totaling
about $61,000, pursuant to her husband’s insurance
policy with defendant. On October 13, 2015, defendant
refused to pay further benefits after a physician it had
retained examined plaintiff and concluded that her

1 Although Andrew Gifford and Roxanne Gifford were also named
defendants in this case, they were ultimately dismissed from the case.
Accordingly, “defendant” as used in this opinion refers only to Home-
Owners Insurance Company.
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injuries should have required only three to six months of
treatment.

Plaintiff filed suit against defendant, seeking PIP
benefits and UM coverage. Shortly after filing her
complaint, plaintiff filed a request for admission ask-
ing defendant to admit that the Giffords’ vehicle was
uninsured at the time of the accident. Defendant
denied the sought admission. Later, after some discov-
ery but before trial, plaintiff moved for a directed
verdict with respect to that issue, and as a result of
that motion, defendant ultimately stipulated at trial
that the vehicle was uninsured.

After the close of defendant’s proofs at trial, plaintiff
moved for a directed verdict with respect to defendant’s
failure to pay a prescription bill during the time that
defendant was voluntarily paying plaintiff PIP ben-
efits. The trial court granted the motion and awarded
plaintiff $107.17 for the prescription bill and $38.57 in
penalty interest. With respect to all other aspects of
plaintiff’s claims, the jury returned a verdict in favor of
defendant. The jury found that the accident did not
cause plaintiff to suffer from a serious impairment of
an important body function, which negated plaintiff’s
UM claim, and it found that plaintiff had not incurred
any allowable PIP expenses in excess of what defen-
dant had already paid.

Both parties subsequently filed a series of posttrial
motions. Relevant to this appeal are plaintiff’'s motions
seeking no-fault attorney fees under MCL 500.3148(1)
and sanctions under MCR 2.313(C) for defendant’s
failure to admit before trial that the Giffords’ vehicle
was uninsured. Regarding the request for no-fault at-
torney fees, plaintiff relied on the directed verdict con-
cerning the prescription bill and sought attorney fees of
$235,000 based on the total amount of time her attor-
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neys spent representing her in the case. Regarding the
request for sanctions, plaintiff sought $25,000 for defen-
dant’s failure to admit before trial that the Giffords’
vehicle lacked insurance.

On May 24, 2018, the trial court entered both a final
judgment memorializing the results of trial—the di-
rected verdict for the prescription bill and the jury
verdict for no cause of action with respect to the other
aspects of plaintiff’s claim—and a “combined order”
disposing of the parties’ posttrial motions. The court
ruled in the combined order that plaintiff was due
no-fault attorney fees on the basis of the overdue
prescription bill and the lack of evidence that defen-
dant’s failure to pay the bill was reasonable. The court
next considered the proper amount of the fee to be
assessed and concluded that $4,688.75 was a reason-
able attorney fee. The court then declined to sanction
defendant for failing to admit that the vehicle was
uninsured before that evidence became available. The
court ruled that, although most everyone involved in
the case beliecved the Giffords’ vehicle was uninsured,
that fact was not conclusively known until long after
defendant declined plaintiff’'s request to admit.

Plaintiff now appeals both the final judgment and the
combined order. Plaintiff argues with respect to the final
judgment that the trial court abused its discretion by
admitting deposition testimony from defendant’s three
medical experts at trial and by giving a spoliation
instruction to the jury with respect to a replacement-
services calendar that was once in plaintiff’s possession.
With respect to the combined order, plaintiff contends
that the trial court abused its discretion by awarding
plaintiff only a portion of the attorney fees she re-
quested and by failing to sanction defendant for its
failure to admit.
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II. JURISDICTION

We begin by considering defendant’s argument that
appellate jurisdiction in this case is limited to plain-
tiff's claim for attorney fees. Defendant asserts that,
although plaintiff filed her claim of appeal within 21
days of entry of the trial court’s order denying plain-
tiff's timely motion for reconsideration, the motion for
reconsideration related only to the issue of attorney
fees in the combined order, and not the final judgment.
Defendant’s argument is premised on the idea that the
combined order is “a postjudgment order awarding or
denying attorney fees and costs” pursuant to MCR
7.202(6)(a)(iv) and is therefore a final order distinct
from the final judgment. We do not agree. While the
statement in the combined order that “this case re-
mains closed by the final judgment entered May 24,
2018” could be read to imply that the final judgment
was entered before the combined order, one could also
read the register of actions as suggesting that the
combined order was entered first. In any event, for
jurisdictional purposes, given that the final judgment
and the combined order together disposed of the re-
maining issues in the case, and given that the two
orders were undoubtedly entered at or around the
same time, we are not convinced by defendant’s sug-
gestion that we must treat the combined order as a
postjudgment order awarding attorney fees under
MCR 7.202(6)(a)(iv). Accordingly, we conclude that we
have jurisdiction and turn to review of the issues
raised in plaintiff’s briefing.

III. EXPERT TESTIMONY

Plaintiff first contends that the trial court erred
when it denied her motion to preclude the admission of
the deposition testimony of defendant’s three medical
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experts because a proper foundation was not laid in
refreshing the witnesses’ recollections at their respec-
tive depositions. We disagree.?

MRE 602 provides that “[a] witness may not testify
to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to
support a finding that the witness has personal knowl-
edge of the matter.” See also Citizens Nat’l Bank of
Cheboygan v Mayes, 133 Mich App 808, 812; 350 NW2d
809 (1984). So long as a proper foundation is laid, one
manner of establishing a witness’s personal knowledge
is to have the witness’s memory refreshed by a writing
or similar document. Genna v Jackson, 286 Mich App
413, 423; 781 NW2d 124 (2009). “To lay a proper
foundation, the proponent must show that (1) the
witness’s present memory is inadequate, (2) the writ-
ing could refresh the witness’s present memory, and (3)
reference to the writing actually does refresh the
witness’s present memory.” Id. Plaintiff asserts that
the third element was never established with the three
witnesses at issue, and accordingly, their deposition
testimony should not have been admitted at trial. We
reject plaintiff's argument for two reasons.

First, it is not clear that any error occurred. Defen-
dant presented the witnesses with the reports that
they had authored and asked whether review of the
reports “would” refresh their recollection as to their
examinations of plaintiff and their findings. Each wit-
ness responded in the affirmative. When viewed in
context, these responses established, at least by impli-
cation, that the witnesses’ memories had been re-

2 A trial court’s evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of
discretion. Haberkorn v Chrysler Corp, 210 Mich App 354, 361; 533
NW2d 373 (1995). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s
decision falls outside the range of principled and reasonable outcomes.”
Guerrero v Smith, 280 Mich App 647, 660; 761 NW2d 723 (2008).



148 334 MICH APP 138 [Oct

freshed upon review of their respective reports. For
example, one expert, Dr. Lisa Porter-Grenn, testified:

The date of my narrative report is approximately two
years prior to today’s date, so, of course, I would want to
review it. And I copied it, downloaded it, and printed it
out, yesterday, went through it, and refreshed all my
memory of the case. And it’s not that difficult to do. You
know, once you do have the report, it’s not difficult to
remember the facts.

The other two experts each testified that review of
their respective reports would refresh their recollec-
tions.

In addition, plaintiff did not make clear the basis for
her objection to the use of the reports to refresh the
witnesses’ recollections. A hearsay objection without
further explanation was made during the direct exami-
nation. It was only after defense counsel completed his
direct examination of each witness that plaintiff raised
a foundational objection on the basis of defendant’s
failure to properly refresh the witnesses’ recollections.
And it was not until plaintiff filed a pretrial motion to
exclude the doctors’ testimony that the basis for the
objection was made clear, i.e., that defendant failed to
explicitly ask the experts whether the medical evalua-
tions actually did refresh their memories.

MCR 2.308(C)(3)(a) provides:

Objections to the competency of a witness or to the
competency, relevancy, or materiality of testimony are not
waived by failure to make them before or during the
taking of a deposition, unless the ground of the objection is
one which might have been obviated or removed if pre-
sented at that time.

We have held before that “[a]ln objection that coun-
sel . . . has failed to lay a proper foundation for ques-
tions asked falls within the category of formal objec-
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tions that may be obviated during the taking of the
deposition.” Moore v Lederle Laboratories, 42 Mich App
689, 693; 202 NW2d 481 (1972), affd 392 Mich 289
(1974). Had plaintiff raised her objections with speci-
ficity while defendant was examining its witnesses—or
better, while defendant was laying the foundation for
its witnesses’ testimony—the omission could have been
readily cured.

With all the above in mind, we conclude that the
trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the
deposition testimony of defendant’s experts because,
on review of the testimony at issue, it was not outside
the range of reasonable and principled outcomes to
hold that the witnesses’ memories had, in fact, been
refreshed by their respective evaluations.

IV. SPOLIATION

Plaintiff also argues that the trial court erred when
it provided a spoliation instruction to the jury with
respect to plaintiff’s failure to produce calendars that
purportedly documented the household services her
husband performed while plaintiff was unable to do so.
We see no error in the court’s decision to give the
instruction.?

At trial, plaintiff testified that she had made some
calendars that kept track of the household and

3 In general, preserved claims of instructional error are reviewed de
novo, and reversal is only warranted when the failure to do so would be
inconsistent with substantial justice. Case v Consumers Power Co, 463
Mich 1, 6; 615 NW2d 17 (2000). However, an instruction concerning
“spoliation of evidence ‘may be disturbed only upon a finding that there
has been a clear abuse of discretion.” ” Pugno v Blue Harvest Farms LLC,
326 Mich App 1, 24; 930 NW2d 393 (2018), quoting Brenner v Kolk, 226
Mich App 149, 160; 573 NW2d 65 (1997). “An abuse of discretion occurs
when the court’s decision falls outside the range of principled and
reasonable outcomes.” Guerrero, 280 Mich App at 660.
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attendant-care services her husband had performed,
but that she no longer had them and either lost them or
disposed of them without realizing it. Later, on defen-
dant’s request, the trial court gave a spoliation instruc-
tion to the jury that read as follows:

The Plaintiff in this case has not offered any written
calenders [sic] as to services her husband performed. As
this evidence was under the control of the Plaintiff and
could’ve been produced by her, you may infer that the
evidence could’'ve been adverse to the Plaintiff if you
believe that no reasonable excuse for Plaintiff’s failure to
produce the evidence has been shown.

On appeal, plaintiff primarily argues that the in-
struction was improper because there were multiple
ways in addition to the use of the calendars to prove
the fact that her husband had rendered household and
attendant-care services. Plaintiff cites no authority,
however, in support of the proposition that merely
because there are other avenues to prove a fact, a
spoliation instruction is not proper. A “litigant is under
a duty to preserve evidence that it knows or reasonably
should know is relevant to [an] action,” Brenner v Kolk,
226 Mich App 149, 162; 573 NW2d 65 (1997), and
failure to preserve that evidence can result in a sanc-
tion in the form of a spoliation instruction, Pugno v
Blue Harvest Farms LLC, 326 Mich App 1, 24; 930
NW2d 393 (2018).

Moreover, as the use note contained in the pertinent
model jury instruction indicates, a spoliation instruc-
tion is warranted if the evidence that is the subject of
the instruction is (1) “material,” (2) “not merely cumu-
lative,” and (3) “not equally available to the opposite
party.” M Civ JI 6.01. The calendars at issue here,
which purportedly were written contemporaneously
with plaintiff's husband’s providing the at-issue ser-
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vices, clearly were material. Also, because they were
prepared in “real time,” they could have shown that
some of plaintiff’s testimony was inaccurate or at least
provided more detailed information. Finally, it is un-
disputed that the calendars were not available to
defendant. Thus, because the only question of fact that
existed with regard to the calendars was whether
plaintiff had a reasonable excuse for disposing of them,
the trial court did not abuse its discretion by giving the
jury instruction.*

V. NO-FAULT ATTORNEY FEES

Plaintiff next argues that the trial court erred when
it awarded only a small portion of the no-fault attorney
fees she requested. We agree that the trial court failed
to properly determine the amount of a reasonable fee
and that its analysis was not consistent with the
process outlined by the Supreme Court in Pirgu v
United Servs Auto Ass’n, 499 Mich 269; 884 NW2d 257
(2016), Proudfoot v State Farm Mut Ins Co, 469 Mich
476; 673 NW2d 739 (2003), and Moore v Secura Ins,
482 Mich 507; 759 NW2d 833 (2008). Accordingly, we
vacate the fee determination and remand for further

4 We also note that plaintiff's assertion that the instruction gave the
impression that she had done something wrong, and therefore “poi-
soned” the jury against her, is without merit. The jury instruction on its
face simply states that if the jury finds that plaintiff had no reasonable
excuse to dispose of the calendars, then the jury could make an adverse
inference regarding the calendars. The instruction leaves that determi-
nation solely up to the jury without suggesting how the question should
be decided, and the mere fact that the court allowed the jury to consider
the question does not impermissibly taint or poison a jury. Thus, even
assuming it was erroneous for the court to provide the instruction,
reversal would not be warranted because plaintiff has failed to show
how the error was inconsistent with substantial justice. See Case, 463
Mich at 6.
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proceedings consistent with the procedure described
below.?

MCL 500.3148(1) provides that in a PIP case the
plaintiff’s attorney fee may be assessed against the
insurer if the jury finds that benefits are overdue and
the court concludes that those benefits were unreason-
ably delayed or denied. At the time of trial, this
provision stated:

An attorney is entitled to a reasonable fee for advising
and representing a claimant in an action for personal or
property protection insurance benefits which are overdue.
The attorney’s fee shall be a charge against the insurer in
addition to the benefits recovered, if the court finds that
the insurer unreasonably refused to pay the claim or
unreasonably delayed in making proper payment. [MCL
500.3148(1), as enacted by 1972 PA 294.]'¢

In Pirgu, 499 Mich at 281, the Supreme Court
defined a three-step process by which a trial court is to
determine a reasonable attorney fee for purposes of
MCL 500.3148(1). First, the trial court “must begin its
analysis by determining the reasonable hourly rate
customarily charged in the locality for similar ser-
vices.” Id. Second, having determined the proper
hourly rate, “[t]he trial court must then multiply that
rate by the reasonable number of hours expended in
the case to arrive at a baseline figure.” Id. Third, “the
trial court must consider all of the remaining [factors

5 We review the amount awarded for attorney fees for an abuse of
discretion. Moore, 482 Mich at 516. However, questions of law, includ-
ing the interpretation and application of a statute, are reviewed de
novo. Id.

6 This provision has been amended since the trial in this case was
held, but the changes do not affect our analysis. See 2019 PA 21,
effective June 11, 2019.
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set forth in Wood v Detroit Auto Inter-Ins Exch, 413
Mich 573; 321 NW2d 653 (1982), and in MRPC 1.5(a)]
to determine whether an up or down adjustment [of the
baseline fee] is appropriate.” Id. (emphasis omitted).
The Court summarized those eight factors as follows:

(1) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer
or lawyers performing the services,

(2) the difficulty of the case, i.e., the novelty and
difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite
to perform the legal service properly,

(3) the amount in question and the results obtained,
(4) the expenses incurred,

(5) the nature and length of the professional relation-
ship with the client,

(6) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that accep-
tance of the particular employment will preclude other
employment by the lawyer,

(7) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the
circumstances, and

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. [Id. at 282.]

In this case, the trial court properly began its
analysis by determining the reasonable hourly rate.
However, the court then conflated the next two Pirgu
steps by considering the eight factors before deter-
mining the baseline number of hours and the baseline
fee. In addition, the basis for the number of hours
selected (15.5) does not appear to be related to any
demonstrable analysis based on the record and the
events in the case. The court simply stated that 15.5
hours “would have been reasonably and necessarily
expended in advising and representing Plaintiff for
her overdue prescription drug benefit.” The court then
multiplied what it found to be the reasonable number
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of hours by the reasonable hourly rate to arrive at an
attorney fee award of $4,688.75.7

Plaintiff argues that the baseline fee should be
based on 645 hours, which represents the total number
of hours her attorneys expended in the entire case.
This approach is consistent with the language of the
statute. At the time, the statute stated that “[a]n
attorney is entitled to a reasonable fee for advising and
representing a claimant in an action for personal or
property protection benefits which are overdue.” For-
mer MCL 500.3148(1) (emphasis added). Typically, a
suit involves multiple denials of benefits; individual
suits are not filed as to each particular denial. More-
over, because the time for payment is 30 days after
reasonable proofs, by the time of trial, if the jury finds
that plaintiff is owed the benefits, the overwhelming
majority of the benefits will be overdue. See MCL
500.3142(2).

Further, the first sentence of former MCL
500.3148(1) did not say that recovery of attorney fees
depends on how successful the action is—it merely
stated that the action must seek benefits that are
overdue. The second sentence limited recovery as fol-
lows: “The attorney’s fee shall be a charge against the
insurer in addition to the benefits recovered, if the
court finds that the insurer unreasonably refused to
pay the claim or unreasonably delayed in making

" Defendant suggests that this is a generous attorney fee award
because it is a greater portion of the sought fee than is the amount of the
overdue benefit in relation to the entire claim. No case has held that an
attorney fee should be calculated on the basis of such a comparison.
First, a pro rata approach has nothing to do with the time spent by the
attorney, which is the first Pirgu step. Second, it ignores the intermin-
gling of the claims in the case. Third, such an approach would provide
for different results based solely on the total amount of the initial claim
in relation to the amount overdue.
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proper payment.” Former MCL 500.3148(1), as enacted
by 1972 PA 294 (emphasis added). This sentence does
not provide a mechanism to reduce the amount of the
attorney fee. It simply states that for attorney fees to
be granted, the court must find that the failure to pay
the claim was unreasonable. The use of the word “the”
means there is only one claim, i.e., the entire action. If
defendant has failed to pay a part of a claim, it has
failed to pay the claim.

However, although the words “attributable to” do
not appear in the statute, the Supreme Court held in
Proudfoot, 469 Mich at 485, that recoverable attorney
fees are limited to those “attributable to” recovery of
the overdue benefits. Following Proudfoot, in Moore,
482 Mich at 524-525, the Court held that the plaintiff
was not entitled to no-fault attorney fees when none of
the attorney fees were attributable to the overdue
benefit.?

Considering these two cases along with the later
decided Pirgu, we conclude that we must harmonize
the requirement that the fee reflect the number of
hours expended “in an action” for overdue benefits with
the requirement that the time be “attributable to”
recovery of the overdue benefits. Doing so is further
complicated because, although Proudfoot and Moore
limited recovery of attorney fees to those that were
attributable to overdue benefits, those cases gave no
direction about how to determine what attorney ser-

8 In Moore, the plaintiff did not attribute any of the sought attorney
fees to recovery of the overdue benefit, which the defendant paid before
trial. Moore, 482 Mich at 523. Moreover, the Court held that the
defendant had a reasonable basis to have denied the only benefit that
the jury found to be overdue, and thus the plaintiff was not entitled to
attorney fees. Id. at 523-525. The case provided no guidance as to how to
calculate a reasonable attorney fee or the “baseline figure,” which is at
issue here.
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vices are attributable to the overdue benefits. Defen-
dant would have us read these cases to insert the word
“only” into Proudfoot’s holding, i.e., the attorney time
must be “attributable only to” the overdue benefits.
Under this approach, time that was spent in service of
the case as a whole would not be counted. We disagree
and conclude that attorney services that supported
other aspects of the case, as well as the overdue
benefits, should be included, because they are attrib-
utable to the overdue benefit claim even if not exclu-
sively so. However, the baseline attorney time should
not include time spent on other aspects of the claim
that were not relevant to the unreasonably denied
benefits. For instance, a motion relevant only to ben-
efits that were reasonably denied should not be in-
cluded, but a motion that relates to the entire case, or
at least some benefit found to be unreasonably denied,
should be.? In sum, all reasonable attorney time in an
action that recovers an overdue benefit unreasonably
withheld should be included in the baseline number of
hours unless those services were dedicated solely to the
recovery of benefits that were found not overdue, in
which case that time was not attributable to recovery
of the overdue benefit.

Defendant’s argument fails to account for the reality
of litigation in which different benefits and the evi-
dence that relates to them are routinely intermingled
and cannot be unmingled. For the most part, the work

9 Consider, by way of example, a plaintiff who suffers a neck injury
and a foot injury in the same accident and files suit seeking benefits
denied for both injuries. If it is found that the claimed benefits as to the
neck injury were not unreasonably denied, but benefits for treatment of
the foot injury were unreasonably denied, work attributable only to
litigating the neck injury need not be included in the baseline fee.
However, if the work was in service of obtaining benefits for both
injuries, then that time should be included in the baseline fee.
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of an attorney serves the entire case and is not divis-
ible into particular aspects of the case. For instance,
depositions of lay and expert witnesses will cover many
topics, including general information applicable to all
unpaid benefits, and an attorney’s time will be not
readily divisible and the parts apportioned to specific
benefits. The same will be true of discovery and dis-
positive motions that are relevant to multiple sought
benefits.

We confronted a similar issue in Tinnin v Farmers
Ins Exch, 287 Mich App 511, 521; 791 NW2d 747
(2010), in which we explicitly rejected the insurer’s
argument that for attorney time to be compensable
under MCL 500.3148(1), it must be “directly attribut-
able to securing” the overdue benefit. (Emphasis
added.) In that case, the jury determined that the
insurer wrongfully denied payment for office visits
related to physical and medical rehabilitation treat-
ment, but it awarded no recovery for the sought
attendant-care services. Id. at 514. The trial court,
however, awarded the plaintiff the full amount of the
requested attorney fee. Id. As we explained, “the trial
court found that all of the attorney’s time for which
plaintiff sought compensation was sufficiently related
to securing the overdue benefits compensable under
MCL 500.3148(1),” even though some benefits were
properly denied. Id. at 521. We found no support in
MCL 500.3148(1) for the insurer’s argument that ap-
portionment was required. Id. at 522.

Thus, in Tinnin, we rejected the notion that attor-
ney services must be solely directed at overdue ben-
efits to be compensable. Instead, we concluded that all
the attorney time in that case was “sufficiently re-
lated” to the recovery of the overdue benefit. To be
clear, the caselaw does not require that an attorney’s



158 334 MICH APP 138 [Oct

time be solely or even primarily related to the overdue
benefits. Nor does it require the trial court, as oc-
curred in this case, to speculate as to the number of
hours that would have been spent if the plaintiff had
sought payment only for the benefits that were found
to have been unreasonably denied. Such an exercise is
clearly speculative and is untethered to what took
place in the actual, rather than hypothetical, litiga-
tion.

In sum, in determining the baseline fee in accor-
dance with Pirgu, the court is to include all attorney
time that was relevant to recovery of the overdue
benefit, even if that time was also relevant to other
aspects of the case. Attorney time that was related only
to other aspects of the action, and did not bear on the
benefits unreasonably withheld, should be excluded
from the baseline. Any further limitation on the base-
line number of hours would be difficult to square with
Pirgu, the statute, or with the principle that the
no-fault act’s provisions should be liberally construed
in favor of the intended beneficiaries. Farmers Ins
Exch v AAA of Mich, 256 Mich App 691, 695; 671 NW2d
89 (2003).

Remand is necessary in this case so that the trial
court can properly calculate the reasonable number of
hours and the baseline fee consistent with this opinion.
After doing so, the trial court may adjust that figure
based on the factors outlined in Pirgu, including “the
amount in question and the results obtained” in the
case as a whole. Pirgu, 499 Mich at 282.

VI. SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE TO ADMIT

Finally, plaintiff contends that the trial court erred
when it denied sanctions on the basis of defendant’s
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negative response to plaintiff’s request to admit that
the Giffords’ vehicle was not insured. We disagree.!?

“Pursuant to MCR 2.312(A), a party in a civil case
may request certain admissions from the other party
before trial.” Midwest Bus Corp v Dep’t of Treasury, 288
Mich App 334, 350; 793 NW2d 246 (2010). At the time
of trial, MCR 2.313(C) provided:!

If a party denies the genuineness of a document, or the
truth of a matter as requested under MCR 2.312, and if
the party requesting the admission later proves the genu-
ineness of the document or the truth of the matter, the
requesting party may move for an order requiring the
other party to pay the expenses incurred in making that
proof, including attorney fees. The court shall enter the
order unless it finds that

(1) the request was held objectionable pursuant to MCR
2.312,

(2) the admission sought was of no substantial impor-
tance,

(3) the party failing to admit had reasonable ground to
believe that he or she might prevail on the matter, or

(4) there was other good reason for the failure to admit.

Plaintiff filed the instant complaint on October 28,
2015, alleging in part entitlement to UM benefits
pursuant to the insurance policy plaintiff’s husband
had with defendant. Not long after, plaintiff asked
defendant to admit, among other things, that “neither
Defendant Andrew Gifford nor the vehicle that he was
operating at the time of the complained of motor

10 We review for an abuse of discretion a trial court’s decision on a
request for sanctions under MCR 2.313(C). Midwest Bus Corp v Dep’t of
Treasury, 288 Mich App 334, 349-350; 793 NW2d 246 (2010). “An abuse
of discretion occurs when the court’s decision falls outside the range of
principled and reasonable outcomes.” Guerrero, 280 Mich App at 660.

I MCR 2.313(C) was amended effective January 1, 2020, and the
quoted material now appears at MCR 2.313(C)(2)(a) through (d).
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vehicle accident was properly insured.” On January 6,
2016, defendant responded as follows:

Objection. This Request to Admit is vague and over-
broad in the form and manner stated, and the information
known or readily obtainable to Defendant is insufficient to
enable Defendant to admit or deny the Request. Without
waiving said objection, and to the extent that a response is
required, Defendant denies the Request.

Defendant’s objection is without merit because the re-
quest was neither vague nor overbroad. However, we
conclude that defendant’s refusal to make an affirma-
tive admission regarding the Giffords’ insurance status
was not improper given its statement that it lacked
sufficient information to either affirm or deny the re-
quest.

The record indicates that conclusive evidence re-
garding the proper owner of the vehicle in question was
not uncovered until November 2017. This evidence
only became known following the deposition testimony
of the Giffords and the individual who sold them the
vehicle. And, while defendant was aware of a police
report from the date of the accident mentioning that
the vehicle was uninsured, this hearsay information
was not of a character that would support a contrary
conclusion beyond the realm of reasonable possibility.
To require a party to admit to such a fact under those
circumstances would not be consistent with the effect
of the court rule, which is to make the admitted fact
“conclusively established.” MCR 2.312(D)(1) (emphasis
added). Accordingly, we find no error.

VII. CONCLUSION

The trial court failed to correctly calculate a reason-
able attorney fee. We reject all other arguments raised
in plaintiff’s appeal.
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Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for
further proceedings consistent with this opinion. We do
not retain jurisdiction.

BECKERING, P.J., and FORT HOOD and SHAPIRO, JdJ.,
concurred.
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In re BENAVIDES, MINORS

Docket No. 352581. Submitted August 5, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 8, 2020, at 9:00 a.m.

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) petitioned
the Wayne Circuit Court, Family Division, for removal of LKB
and ZMB from respondent’s home after respondent committed an
incident of domestic violence against the children’s mother in the
presence of the children. Respondent was convicted of domestic
violence and placed on probation. Respondent refused to allow
Child Protective Services (CPS) access to his residence for a home
assessment, but the children’s paternal uncle, who also resided in
the home, allowed CPS into the home to perform the assessment.
Respondent was court-ordered to complete parenting, domestic-
violence, and anger-management classes. The children continued
in respondent’s custody until January 2020, when petitioner filed
a supplemental petition to remove the children from respondent’s
care, alleging that respondent physically abused ZMB when he
slapped the child, which caused ZMB severe bruising and a
bloody nose. The children additionally had a history of unex-
plained bruises that respondent attributed to “roughhousing.”
Respondent was only partially compliant with his treatment plan
and was terminated from parenting classes. Because placement
of the children with their mother was not yet a viable option, the
caseworker sought to place the children with their paternal uncle;
respondent agreed to move out of the home to prevent disruption
to the children’s living arrangement. The trial court, Cynthia L.
Miller, J., authorized the supplemental petition and ordered the
minor children to be removed from respondent’s custody and
placed with DHHS, but their physical residence continued to be
with their uncle. Respondent appealed the order.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Under MCL 712A.13a(9), a child may only be placed in
foster care if a court finds that custody of the child with the parent
presents a substantial risk of harm to the child’s life, physical
health, or mental well-being; no provision of service or other
arrangement except removal of the child is reasonably available
to adequately safeguard the child from risk; continuing the child’s
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residence in the home is contrary to the child’s welfare; consis-
tently with the circumstances, reasonable efforts were made to
prevent or eliminate the need for removal of the child; and
conditions of child custody away from the parent are adequate to
safeguard the child’s health and welfare. Under MCR 3.965(C)(4)
and (5), if the court orders placement of the child in foster care, it
must make explicit findings that it is contrary to the welfare of
the child to remain at home and that reasonable efforts to prevent
the removal of the child have been made or that reasonable efforts
to prevent removal are not required. In this case, the foster-care
worker testified that respondent had a history of domestic vio-
lence against the children’s mother in their presence and that
respondent slapped ZMB, causing the child’s nose to bleed and
leaving a bruise on the child’s face. In light of this testimony, the
referee found that it would be contrary to the welfare of the
children to remain in respondent’s custody, and the trial court
adopted the referee’s recommendation. The trial court’s findings
were not clearly erroneous because the court considered all the
requirements of MCL 712A.13a(9).

2. MCL 712A.13a(10) provides that if the court orders place-
ment of the juvenile outside the juvenile’s home, the court shall
inform the parties of the following: the agency has the responsi-
bility to prepare an initial services plan within 30 days of the
juvenile’s placement, the general elements of an initial services
plan, and that participation in the initial services plan is volun-
tary without a court order. The plain language of MCL
712A.13a(10) contains no remedy for the failure to advise the
parent of the agency’s preparation of an initial services plan and
the parent’s voluntary participation. However, MCR 2.613(A)
provides, in pertinent part, that an error or defect in anything
omitted by the court is not ground for vacating, modifying, or
otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take
this action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial
justice. Moreover, the statute does not make compliance with
MCL 712A.13a(10) a condition for removing a child from his or
her home. Therefore, a trial court’s failure to inform a respondent
of the information required by this provision does not affect the
validity of the trial court’s order. However, in light of the plain
language of the statute, MCL 712A.13a(10) did not apply to
respondent’s circumstances. The children did not need to be
removed from their home where the safety plan with the paternal
uncle was established; rather, respondent agreed to leave the
home. The precipitating event—the placement of the juvenile
outside the home—did not occur, and therefore the trial court was
not required to advise him of the preparation of an initial services
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plan. Moreover, because respondent was already required to
participate in services, there was no need to discuss with him an
initial services plan, nor was there any need to apprise him of any
conditions under MCL 712A.13a(10).

Affirmed.

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, and Jeffrey A. Ahee,
Assistant Attorney General, for petitioner.

Dorothy J. Dean for respondent.

Dawn A. Hoffmann for the minor children.
Before: MARKEY, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and TUKEL, JJ.

PER CURIAM. Respondent appeals as of right the
trial court’s order removing the minor children, LKB
and ZMB, from his custody following the preliminary
hearing when it authorized a supplemental petition.
We conclude that the trial court did not err in remov-
ing the minor children from respondent’s custody
because there was sufficient evidence that respondent
presented a substantial risk of harm to the children
when he engaged in “roughhousing” with them over
the objection of the caseworker, the children received
suspicious bruises from the roughhousing, and one
child required hospital treatment for a visible hand-
print on his face. This evidence satisfied the require-
ments of MCL 712A.13a(9) for removal. Additionally,
there was no violation of the requirement that respon-
dent receive notice of the placement, the agency’s
responsibility to prepare an initial services plan, the
elements of the plan, and respondent’s voluntary
participation in the plan. MCL 712A.13a(10). The
precipitating event for the notice to respondent did
not occur because the children were placed with their
paternal uncle and not removed from their home in
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light of respondent’s voluntary decision to leave the
family home. Additionally, the preparation of an ini-
tial services plan was unnecessary given that respon-
dent was required to participate in services in light of
his domestic violence involving the children’s mother.
Therefore, finding no errors warranting reversal, we
affirm. This appeal is decided without oral argument.
MCR 7.214(E)(1)(b).

I. BASIC FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In September 2018, Child Protective Services (CPS)
commenced proceedings after the mother suffered from
substance abuse issues that endangered LKB. Al-
though it was known that the mother and respondent,
the children’s father, were engaged in domestic vio-
lence, there was no indication that respondent physi-
cally abused the children. Consequently, the children
were placed in respondent’s care. In May 2019, a
petition was filed seeking removal of the children from
respondent after respondent committed an incident of
domestic violence against the mother in the presence of
the children. Ultimately, respondent was convicted of
domestic violence and placed on probation. Addition-
ally, the children missed 50 days of school while living
with respondent, and respondent refused to allow
access to his residence for a home assessment. How-
ever, the children’s paternal uncle allowed CPS into
the home to perform the assessment. Respondent was
court-ordered to complete parenting, domestic-
violence, and anger-management classes. Respondent
resided in a home with the children, the paternal
uncle, and the children’s grandmother.

The children continued in respondent’s custody

until January 2020, when petitioner, the Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS), filed a
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supplemental petition against respondent. It was
alleged that respondent physically abused ZMB in
late December 2019, and the agency sought the chil-
dren’s removal from respondent’s care. Specifically,
the caseworker requested a change of plan petition
because respondent slapped ZMB on the face, which
caused ZMB severe bruising and a bloody nose. ZMB
was treated at an urgent care facility that apparently
documented an observable handprint on the child’s
face, but ZMB was nonetheless released to the care of
respondent. Additionally, the children had a history of
unexplained bruises that respondent attributed to
“roughhousing.” The caseworker had requested that
respondent stop this activity. To prevent removal of
the children, DHHS had previously referred respon-
dent to domestic-violence and anger-management
classes. The agency also had conducted family team
meetings, made home visits, and placed the children
in a safety plan with the paternal uncle. However,
respondent was only partially compliant with his
treatment plan, and he was terminated from parent-
ing classes.

The children’s mother was not yet a viable place-
ment because she had not sufficiently completed her
treatment plan. Although respondent was also given a
treatment plan and allowed to keep the children in his
custody while participating in services, the supplemen-
tal petition now concluded that there was a risk of
harm and sought the children’s removal. However, the
caseworker sought to place the children with their
paternal uncle with whom they were currently resid-
ing. Because respondent lived with the children and
the paternal uncle, respondent agreed to move out of
the home to prevent disruption to the children’s living
arrangement. The trial court authorized the supple-
mental petition and ordered the minor children to be
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removed from respondent’s custody and placed with
DHHS, but their physical residence continued to be
with their uncle.!

II. THE CHILDREN’S REMOVAL

Respondent alleges that the trial court erred in
removing the minor children from his custody because
there was insufficient evidence to support the require-
ments of MCL 712A.13a(9) and MCR 3.965(C)(2). Spe-
cifically, respondent contends that the safety plan with
the paternal uncle and the lack of additional injury
between the urgent care visit and the preliminary
hearing demonstrated that the children were not sub-
ject to a substantial risk of harm, and therefore, the
safety plan could continue. We disagree.

A trial court’s factual findings are reviewed for clear
error. In re COH, ERH, JRG, & KBH, 495 Mich 184,
191; 848 NW2d 107 (2014). A finding is only clearly
erroneous if an appellate court “is left with a definite
and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.” In
re Diehl, 329 Mich App 671, 687; 944 NW2d 180 (2019)
(quotation marks and citation omitted).

“At the preliminary hearing, the court must decide
whether to authorize the filing of the petition and, if
authorized, whether the child should remain in the
home, be returned home, or be placed in foster care
pending trial.” In re McCarrick/ Lamoreaux, 307 Mich
App 436, 448; 861 NW2d 303 (2014), quoting MCR
3.965(B)(12) (quotation marks omitted). A child may
only be placed in foster care if a court finds all of the
following conditions:

1 Our examination of the lower court record reveals that the children
were returned to the care of their mother shortly after the preliminary
hearing authorizing the supplemental petition.
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(a) Custody of the child with the parent presents a
substantial risk of harm to the child’s life, physical health,
or mental well-being.

(b) No provision of service or other arrangement except
removal of the child is reasonably available to adequately
safeguard the child from risk as described in subdivision
(a).

(¢c) Continuing the child’s residence in the home is
contrary to the child’s welfare.

(d) Consistent with the circumstances, reasonable ef-

forts were made to prevent or eliminate the need for
removal of the child.

(e) Conditions of child custody away from the parent
are adequate to safeguard the child’s health and welfare.
[MCL 712A.13a(9).]

If the trial court orders placement of the child in foster
care, it must make explicit findings that “it is contrary
to the welfare of the child to remain at home,” MCR
3.965(C)(3), and “reasonable efforts to prevent the
removal of the child have been made or that reasonable
efforts to prevent removal are not required,” MCR
3.965(C)(4). See also McCarrick / Lamoreaux, 307 Mich
App at 449.

Angelita Pierce, a foster-care worker, testified that
respondent slapped ZMB, causing the child’s nose to
bleed and leaving a handprint-shaped bruise on his
face. Respondent told Pierce he was just roughhousing
with the child. This was not the first time one of the
children had injuries respondent claimed were from
roughhousing. Respondent had a history of domestic
violence against the children’s mother in their pres-
ence. He was referred to anger-management, domestic-
violence, and parenting classes. Although respondent
began those services, he had not completed them. After

2 MCR 3.965(C)(2) is identical in substance to MCL 712A.13a(9).
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this incident, a safety plan was put in place, and the
paternal uncle agreed to prevent the abuse of the
minor children.

In light of Pierce’s testimony, the referee found “it’s,
clearly, contrary to the welfare of these two boys to
remain in their father’s care because of the allegation
of severe physical abuse.” The referee also concluded
that respondent’s physical abuse and inappropriate
discipline of the children placed them at an extreme
risk of harm. The referee also indicated on the form
order that: (1) it would be contrary to the welfare of
the minor children to remain in respondent’s custody,
(2) reasonable efforts to prevent removal of the minor
children from the home were made, (3) respondent
having custody of the minor children would present a
substantial risk of harm to the children, (4) no reason-
ably available service would adequately safeguard the
minor children from the risk of harm, and (5) condi-
tions of custody away from the minor children’s home
were adequate to safeguard the minor children. The
trial court adopted the referee’s recommendation.

The trial court’s findings were not clearly erroneous.
The court’s order considered all five requirements of
MCL 712A.13a(9). Respondent’s argument—that the
safety plan involving the paternal uncle or other addi-
tional services would have been sufficient to protect
the minor children—is unpersuasive. The children had
a history of suspicious bruises, and respondent failed
to stop “roughhousing” with the children despite the
agency’s request. Further, the bruising and missed
schooling occurred while DHHS became involved be-
cause of the mother’s issues. The injury to ZMB oc-
curred when respondent had received a treatment plan
from DHHS, but respondent had not engaged in and
benefited from the services. For these reasons, we are
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not “left with a definite and firm conviction that a
mistake has been made.” Diehl, 329 Mich App at 687
(quotation marks and citation omitted).

III. NOTICE OF CHANGE IN PLACEMENT

Respondent also argues that the trial court failed to
advise him of his rights under MCL 712A.13a(10)
following the placement decision and that this omis-
sion constitutes an additional violation of the law. We
disagree.

If DHHS becomes aware of additional abuse or
neglect of a child under the jurisdiction of the court and
that abuse is substantiated, “the agency shall file a
supplemental petition with the court.” MCL
712A.19(1). “A preliminary hearing is the formal re-
view of the petition . ...” In re Hatcher, 443 Mich 426,
434; 505 NW2d 834 (1993), overruled on other grounds
by In re Ferranti, 504 Mich 1 (2019). At this stage of the
proceeding, the court must determine if the petition
should be authorized and, if so, “whether the child
should remain in the home, be returned home, or be
placed in foster care pending trial.” MCR 3.965(B)(12).
If the petition is authorized, the court shall order the
juvenile placed in “the most family-like setting avail-
able consistent with the juvenile’s needs.” MCL
712A.13a(12). The statute must be liberally construed
to ensure the juvenile receives care, guidance, and
control conducive to the child’s welfare and preferably
in the child’s own home. MCL 712A.1(3). If the child is
abused by a parent, the court may order the parent’s
removal from the home, and the court shall not leave
the child in the home unless it finds that the individual
with whom the child is placed will safeguard the child
from harm. MCL 712A.13a(4) and (5).
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MCL 712A.13a(10) addresses the child’s placement
outside the home and provides:

If the court orders placement of the juvenile outside the
juvenile’s home, the court shall inform the parties of the
following:

(a) That the agency has the responsibility to prepare an
initial services plan within 30 days of the juvenile’s
placement.

(b) The general elements of an initial services plan as
required by the rules promulgated under 1973 PA 116,
MCL 722.111 to 722.128.

(¢c) That participation in the initial services plan is
voluntary without a court order.

When interpreting this statute, we give effect to the
legislative intent by examining the plain language of
the statute. In re Ballard, 323 Mich App 233, 235; 916
NW2d 841 (2018). If the statute is unambiguous, the
Legislature intended the language as expressed, and
the statute must be applied as written. Id. at 235-236.

The plain language of MCL 712A.13a(10) contains
no remedy for the failure to advise the parent of the
agency’s preparation of an initial services plan and the
parent’s voluntary participation. However, “an error or
defect in anything . .. omitted by the court .. .is not
ground for . .. vacating, modifying, or otherwise dis-
turbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take this
action appears to the court inconsistent with substan-
tial justice.” MCR 2.613(A). Moreover, the statute does
not make compliance with MCL 712A.13a(10) a condi-
tion for removing a child from his or her home. There-
fore, a trial court’s failure to inform a respondent of the
information required by this provision does not affect
the validity of the trial court’s order.

Respondent contends that the trial court erred by
failing to advise that the children’s removal required
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that the agency prepare an initial services plan, that
the plan must contain the statutory elements, and that
the plan’s participation was voluntary. MCL
712A.13a(10). However, in light of the plain language
of the statute, we conclude that MCL 712A.13a(10) did
not apply to respondent’s circumstances. Although it
was concluded that the children needed to be removed
from respondent’s care, it was determined that the
children did not need to be removed from their home
where the safety plan with the paternal uncle was
established. Rather, respondent agreed to leave the
home to allow the children to remain in the residence
to avoid a disruption to the children’s environment.
Thus, the precipitating event, the placement of the
juvenile outside the home, did not occur, and therefore,
the trial court was not required to advise respondent of
the preparation of an initial services plan. MCL
712A.13a(10). Moreover, although the petition here
stems from the children’s mother, respondent himself
is now also subject to it and has been required to
participate in services because of the domestic violence
respondent perpetrated against the mother in the
children’s presence. Because respondent was already
required to participate in services, there was no need
to discuss with him an initial services plan, nor was
there any need to apprise him of any conditions per
MCL 712A.13a(10). Respondent is not entitled to ap-
pellate relief under these circumstances.

Affirmed.

MARKEY, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and TUKEL, JJ., con-
curred.
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In re GUARDIANSHIP OF VERSALLE, MINORS

Docket Nos. 351757 and 351758. Submitted October 7, 2020, at Grand
Rapids. Decided October 15, 2020, at 9:00 a.m. Leave to appeal
denied 509 Mich __ (2022).

Petitioner filed petitions in the Muskegon Probate Court seeking to
be appointed guardian of respondent-father’s two minor children
under MCL 700.5204(2)(b) of the Estates and Protected Individu-
als Code, MCL 700.1101 et seq. The children began living with
petitioner, their paternal grandmother, in September 2017, when
respondent-father was evicted from his apartment and moved
into a hotel. Respondent-father permitted the children to live
with petitioner because he did not feel he could provide for them
in a hotel and did not want them to live in the hotel. However,
respondent-father did not give petitioner any type of legal author-
ity with regard to the children. Respondent-father allowed the
children to live with petitioner until June 2019, when he took the
children to Texas, where he had moved. About a month before
respondent-father removed the children from petitioner, she
petitioned for guardianship of the children, and the probate court,
Gregory C. Pittman, J., granted the petitions. The Court of
Appeals granted respondent-father’s application for delayed
leave to appeal.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Parents have a constitutionally protected right to make
decisions about the custody, care, and management of their chil-
dren. Although this right is not absolute, the United States
Constitution imparts a presumption that fit parents act in the best
interests of their children. A fit parent is one who adequately cares
for his or her children. Normally, there is no reason for the state to
interfere in the private realm of the family by questioning the
ability of fit parents to make the best decisions concerning the
raising of their children, but the state has a legitimate interest in
protecting the moral, emotional, mental, and physical welfare of
minors. The presumption in favor of natural parents is applicable
to custody proceedings under the Child Custody Act, MCL 722.21 et
seq., and respondent-father argued that it should also be afforded
in guardianship proceedings. While the Court of Appeals had
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previously only considered the constitutional rights of parents in
the context of child custody, these rights must also be afforded in
the guardianship context. The constitutional right of parents to
make decisions about the care, custody, and management of their
children cannot be dependent on the type of proceeding. Further,
the Child Custody Act and the guardianship statutes have the
same purpose of promoting the best interests of children and may
be interpreted together. With regard to respondent-father’s asser-
tion that MCL 700.5204 is unconstitutional for failing to recognize
the presumption in favor of a fit parent, statutes are presumed to
be constitutional unless their unconstitutionality is clearly appar-
ent. MCL 700.5204 protects a parent’s decision regarding his or her
child until that decision reflects that the parent is no longer
adequately caring for the child. The statute is not applicable unless
a parent (1) allows their child to permanently reside with another
person, (2) has not granted legal authority to that person, and (3)
is not residing with the child when the guardianship petition is
filed. Although respondent-father was entitled to the presumption
that he was a fit parent, MCL 700.5204(2)(b) provides an opportu-
nity to rebut the presumption of a fit parent by showing that the
parent has become unfit. The record showed that the children lived
with petitioner for two years and that respondent-father did not
indicate when the children would be returned to him, if ever. Even
after respondent-father moved to Texas, the children continued to
reside with petitioner. Under MCL 700.5204(2)(b), the children
permanently lived with petitioner at the time the petition was
filed. Respondent-father never granted petitioner any legal author-
ity to care for the children. Therefore, under the statute,
respondent-father had stopped providing adequate care for the
children. The statute is constitutional because it implicitly protects
a parent’s right to raise their child by not allowing a guardianship
to be imposed when the parent is adequately providing for the
child; in other words, a parent’s decision only comes under state-
court review when the parent has effectively stopped providing
adequate care for the child.

2. The evidence was sufficient to grant a guardianship. Peti-
tioner presented evidence that the children were living with her for
two years and that she did not know whether respondent-father
planned for the children to live with him again. A parent’s permis-
sion for the child to live with the petitioner must be ongoing at the
time that the petition for guardianship is filed, which is shown by
the child’s actual presence in the care of another when the
guardianship issue arises. In this case, petitioner filed the petition
in May 2019, and respondent retrieved the children in June 2019,
so the record established that the petition was filed while the
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children were still living with petitioner, as required by the statute.
The record also showed that respondent-father had not provided
petitioner with legal authority, such as a power of attorney, to care
for the children. Respondent-father did not attend the hearing to
present his own evidence, so petitioner’s testimony was uncon-
tested.

Affirmed.

1. DUE PROCESS — PARENTAL RIGHTS — PRESUMPTION OF FITNESS — GUARD-
IANSHIPS.

Parents have a constitutional right to make decisions about the
care, custody, and management of their children; the United
States Constitution imparts a presumption that fit parents act in
the best interests of their children and that there will normally be
no reason for the state to inject itself into the private realm of the
family by questioning this presumption; the presumption applies
in the context of child-custody proceedings and also applies in the
context of guardianship proceedings.

2. DUE PROCESS — PARENTAL RIGHTS — GUARDIANSHIPS.

MCL 700.5204(2)(b) permits a court to appoint a guardian for an
unmarried minor if (1) the parent of the minor has permitted the
minor to reside with another person, (2) the parent has not
provided the other person with legal authority for the minor’s care,
and (3) the minor did not reside with the parent when the petition
was filed; the statute protects a parent’s constitutional right to
make decisions regarding his or her child’s care, custody, and
management until those decisions reflect that the parent is no
longer adequately caring for the child as provided by the statute.

The Maul Group, PLLC (by Kristen Wolfram) for
respondent.

Before: MURRAY, C.dJ., and CAVANAGH and CAMERON, JdJ.

PER CURIAM. In these consolidated appeals,
respondent-father appeals by delayed leave granted!
the probate court’s orders appointing petitioner as
guardian of his two minor children. We affirm.

! In re Guardianship of Versalle, unpublished orders of the Court of
Appeals, entered May 1, 2020 (Docket Nos. 351757 and 351758).
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In May 2019, petitioner? filed petitions seeking to be
appointed as the guardian of respondent’s two minor
children under MCL 700.5204(2)(b) of the Estates and
Protected Individuals Code (EPIC), MCL 700.1101 et
seq. Petitioner testified that the children had lived
with her since September 2017, after respondent was
evicted from his apartment and moved into a hotel.
According to petitioner, respondent permitted the chil-
dren to live with her because “[h]e couldn’t provide for
them in the hotel” and “didn’t want them to be in the
hotel.” However, respondent did not give petitioner any
type of legal authority over the children, such as a
power of attorney. Petitioner testified that respondent
did not give her legal authority because he did not
want petitioner to take away his daughters. At the
time the petitions for guardianship were filed, the
children lived with petitioner. But at the time of the
hearing on the petitions, the children lived with re-
spondent in Texas because he had returned to Michi-
gan to take them away.? The probate court granted the
petitions for guardianship, and this appeal followed.

Respondent contests the constitutionality of MCL
700.5204(2)(b) by arguing that it does not impose a
presumption in favor of a fit parent, thereby violating
his constitutional right to raise his children. We dis-
agree. “We review de novo questions of law involving
statutory interpretation and questions concerning the
constitutionality of a statute.” Hunter v Hunter, 484
Mich 247, 257; 771 NW2d 694 (2009).

2 Petitioner is respondent’s mother, and thus, the paternal grand-
mother of the children.

3 The record reflects that petitioner was under the impression that
respondent was just taking them to Texas for a visit. Instead, respon-
dent kept the children.
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We have held that “[p]arents have a constitutionally
protected right to make decisions about the care, cus-
tody, and management of their children.” Zawilanski v
Marshall, 317 Mich App 43, 49; 894 NW2d 141 (2016).
Although this right is not absolute, the United States
Constitution imparts “‘a presumption that fit parents
act in the best interest of their children’ and that ‘there
will normally be no reason for the State to inject itself
into the private realm of the family’ ” by questioning the
ability of fit parents to make the best decisions concern-
ing the raising of their children. Id., quoting In re
Sanders, 495 Mich 394, 410; 852 NW2d 524 (2014),
quoting Troxel v Granville, 530 US 57, 68-69; 120 S Ct
2054; 147 L Ed 2d 49 (2000) (opinion by O’Connor, J.). A
“fit parent” has been defined “as a parent who ‘ad-
equately cares for his or her children.’” Geering v King,
320 Mich App 182, 190-191; 906 NW2d 214 (2017),
quoting Troxel, 530 US at 68. “[TThe Due Process Clause
does not permit a State to infringe on the fundamental
right of parents to make child rearing decisions simply
because a state judge believes a ‘better’ decision could be
made.” Troxel, 530 US at 72-73 (opinion by O’Connor,
J.). However, “the state has a legitimate interest in
protecting the moral, emotional, mental, and physical
welfare of the minor.” Geering, 320 Mich App at 188
(quotation marks and citations omitted).

Respondent asserts that the statutory presumption
favoring natural parents under the Child Custody
Act, MCL 722.21 et seq., should also apply to guard-
ianship proceedings. This statutory presumption is
applicable to child custody disputes between the par-
ent and a third person and states as follows: “[T]he
court shall presume that the best interests of the child
are served by awarding custody to the parent or
parents, unless the contrary is established by clear
and convincing evidence.” MCL 722.25(1). We have
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stated that “the Legislature plainly recognized the
fundamental constitutional nature of a parent’s inter-
est in childrearing when it enacted the presumption
that in all custody disputes involving natural parents
and third persons, absent clear and convincing evi-
dence to the contrary, parental custody served the
child’s best interests.” Heltzel v Heltzel, 248 Mich App
1, 26; 638 NW2d 123 (2001). In the Child Custody Act
context, this presumption was found to control over
the presumption in favor of an established custodial
environment. Hunter, 484 Mich at 263. Our Supreme
Court stated that “Troxel established a floor or mini-
mum protection against state intrusion into the par-
enting decisions of fit parents.” Id. at 262. “The con-
stitutional protection in 7Troxel centers on the
‘traditional presumption that a fit parent will act in
the best interest of his or her child.’” Id., quoting
Troxel, 530 US at 69.

While we have only considered the constitutional
protection afforded parents in the context of child cus-
tody, the same protection must also be afforded in the
guardianship context. Because “[p]arents have a consti-
tutionally protected right to make decisions about the
care, custody, and management of their children,” this
right cannot be dependent on the type of proceeding.
Zawilanski, 317 Mich App at 49. In other words, a
parent does not lose a constitutional right that would be
afforded in a child custody case just because the parent
is part of a guardianship proceeding instead of a custody
case. We have stated that “[b]ecause the Child Custody
Act of 1970 . . . and the guardianship statutes have the
same purpose of promoting the best interests of chil-
dren, the two statutes may be interpreted consistent
with each other, or in pari materia.” Deschaine v St
Germain, 256 Mich App 665, 671 n9; 671 NW2d 79
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(2003) (citations omitted).* Therefore, we conclude that
a parent’s constitutional right to raise his or her child
is also applicable in the guardianship context.’

With this right in mind, we next address the consti-
tutionality of MCL 700.5204(2)(b). “Statutes are pre-
sumed to be constitutional, and we have a duty to
construe a statute as constitutional unless its uncon-

4 With respect to reading statutes in pari materia, our Supreme Court
has stated:

Statutes in pari materia are those which relate to the same
person or thing, or the same class of persons or things, or which
have a common purpose. It is the rule that in construction of a
particular statute, or in the interpretation of its provisions, all
statutes relating to the same subject, or having the same general
purpose, should be read in connection with it, as together consti-
tuting one law, although enacted at different times, and contain-
ing no reference one to the other. [State Treasurer v Schuster, 456
Mich 408, 417; 572 NW2d 628 (1998) (quotation marks and
citation omitted).]

5 We reject respondent’s contention that guardianship proceedings are
basically custody proceedings. It is correct that under the Uniform
Child-Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (the UCCJEA), MCL
722.1101 et seq., proceedings for guardianships are included in the
definition of “child-custody proceeding.” MCL 722.1102(d). But the
UCCJEA’s purpose is to prescribe “the powers and duties of the court in
a child-custody proceeding involving this state and a proceeding or party
outside of this state[.]” Fisher v Belcher, 269 Mich App 247, 260; 713
NW2d 6 (2005) (quotation marks and citation omitted). There are
several proceedings included under the UCCJEA’s definition of “child-
custody proceeding.” See MCL 722.1102(d). However, the Child Custody
Act and EPIC both acknowledge the existence of the two distinct
proceedings, i.e., a custody proceeding and a guardianship proceeding.
See MCL 722.26b(1) (“[A] guardian or limited guardian of a child has
standing to bring an action for custody of the child as provided in this
act.”); MCL 700.5210 (“Upon receipt of a copy of a judgment or an order
of disposition in a child custody action regarding a minor that is sent to
the court as provided in section 6b of the child custody act of 1970, 1970
PA 91, MCL 722.26b, the court shall terminate the guardianship or
limited guardianship for that minor.”). Therefore, guardianship proceed-
ings are distinct from custody proceedings in the sense that custody of a
minor is a separate determination.
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stitutionality is clearly apparent.” Mayor of Cadillac v
Blackburn, 306 Mich App 512, 516; 857 NW2d 529
(2014) (quotation marks and citation omitted). “Every
reasonable presumption or intendment must be in-
dulged in favor of the validity of an act, and it is only
when invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no room
for reasonable doubt that it violates some provision of
the Constitution that a court will refuse to sustain its
validity.” Phillips v Mirac, Inc, 470 Mich 415, 423; 685
NW2d 174 (2004) (quotation marks and citation omit-
ted). We conclude that the statute in this case, in
essence, protects a parent’s decision regarding his or
her child until that decision reflects that the parent is
no longer adequately caring for the child. See Geering,
320 Mich App at 190-191.

As discussed later in this opinion, MCL 700.5204 is
not applicable unless a parent allows a child to perma-
nently reside with another person and the parent does
not grant legal authority to the other person. MCL
700.5204 provides in relevant part:

(1) A person interested in the welfare of a minor, or a
minor if 14 years of age or older, may petition for the
appointment of a guardian for the minor. The court may
order the family independence agency or a court employee
or agent to conduct an investigation of the proposed
guardianship and file a written report of the investigation.

(2) The court may appoint a guardian for an unmarried
minor if any of the following circumstances exist:

(b) The parent or parents permit the minor to reside
with another person and do not provide the other person
with legal authority for the minor’s care and maintenance,
and the minor is not residing with his or her parent or
parents when the petition is filed.
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In other words, for the probate court to consider
appointing an individual as a guardian, that individual
must establish that (1) the parent permits the children
to reside with another person, (2) the parent does not
provide that other person with legal authority for the
children’s care, and (3) the children do not reside with
the parent when the petition is filed. See MCL
700.5204(2)(b).

With respect to permission, we have held that “the
permission referred to in the statute must be currently
occurring—which would be shown by the child’s actual
presence in the care of another—when the guardian-
ship issue arises.” Deschaine, 256 Mich App at 670.
Moreover, we have recognized that a lower court may
appoint a guardian “if parents permit their child to
permanently reside with someone else when the guard-
ianship issue arises . ...” Id. at 669-670. As we stated
more recently, “ ‘residence’ is a place of abode accom-
panied with the intention to remain.” Berger v Berger,
277 Mich App 700, 703; 747 NW2d 336 (2008) (some
quotation marks and citation omitted). There must
also be no grant of legal authority for a child’s care and
maintenance, which includes facilitating the child’s
“education and social or other activities” as well as
“medical or other professional care, treatment, or ad-
vice.” MCL 700.5215(c); see also In re Martin, 237 Mich
App 253, 257; 602 NW2d 630 (1999) (addressing the
powers and duties of a guardian under MCL 700.431,
which was the precursor to MCL 700.5215).¢

The presumption respondent seeks is that he was a
fit parent. As detailed earlier, we agree that this
presumption should apply to guardianship proceed-
ings. As noted, “fit parents” are parents who ad-

5 MCL 700.431 was repealed by 1998 PA 386, which enacted MCL
700.5215, effective April 1, 2000.
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equately provide for their children. See Geering, 320
Mich App at 190-191. This includes providing for the
“moral, emotional, mental, and physical welfare of the
minor[.]” See id. at 188 (quotation marks and citation
omitted). However, in coming under the purview of
MCL 700.5204(2)(b), respondent had essentially
stopped providing adequate care for the children, i.e.,
became unfit. In other words, MCL 700.5204(2)(b)
provides an opportunity to rebut the presumption that
respondent was a fit parent.” The record reflects that
the children were with petitioner for two years, and
during that time respondent did not indicate when the
children would return to respondent, if ever. Petitioner
testified that respondent was evicted from his apart-
ment in Michigan and that he allowed the children to
live with her while he stayed in a hotel. Respondent
then moved to Texas and continued to allow the chil-
dren to live with petitioner.

" Notably, our Supreme Court has recognized that there is no require-
ment to demonstrate parental unfitness in the context of the Child
Custody Act. As the Court explained in Hunter, “Troxel carefully limited
the constitutional scope of the parental presumption to the extent that
a court need give decisions by fit custodial parents only a presumption
of validity.” Hunter, 484 Mich at 268 (quotation marks and citation
omitted). The rationale set forth in Hunter persuades us that parental
unfitness also need not be demonstrated in the guardianship context:

Defendant would have the Court require a demonstration of
parental unfitness before allowing the parental presumption to be
rebutted where no such demonstration is required by [the Child
Custody Act]. That would, in effect, give unlimited deference to all
parenting decisions of parents deemed to be fit. However, “[a]
determination that an individual has a fundamental right does
not foreclose the State from ever limiting it.” In re RA, 153 NH 82,
102; 891 A2d 564 (2005). Such a determination is not constitu-
tionally mandated. To hold that parental unfitness is a manda-
tory prerequisite to rebutting the parental presumption would be
inconsistent with the [Child Custody Act’s] emphasis on best
interests and lack of reference to fitness. [Hunter, 484 Mich at 268
n 40.]
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As required under MCL 700.5204(2)(b), the children
had permanently lived with petitioner, and there is no
evidence to indicate that respondent intended any-
thing otherwise.® There was also evidence that respon-
dent received death benefits as a result of the chil-
dren’s mother’s death, but he did not provide any of the
money to the children. Furthermore, petitioner testi-
fied that she rarely received any money from respon-
dent to help care for the children. Respondent also
never granted petitioner legal authority to care for the
children. Therefore, because respondent had left the
children with petitioner permanently without granting
petitioner legal authority to care for the children,
respondent had stopped providing adequate care for
the children. The requirements of MCL 700.5204(2)(b)
essentially demonstrate a situation in which a parent
has stopped providing adequate care for a child and a
guardian needs to step in to provide for the child.
Therefore, the statute implicitly protects a parent’s
constitutional right to the care, custody, and mainte-
nance of his or her child by not allowing a guardianship
to be imposed in circumstances where the parent
adequately provides for the child, i.e., is a fit parent.
This protection prohibits the state from interfering
with that parent’s constitutional right.

Respondent likens this case to Troxel and argues that
MCL 700.5204(2)(b) is just as broad as the Washington
statute that was interpreted in Troxel. The Troxel case
involved a visitation dispute between the mother of two

8 Respondent was not present at the hearing to contradict any of
petitioner’s testimony. Therefore, respondent asserts without basis that
“lallthough [petitioner] testified that she did not know that [he] planned
for the children to reside with him permanently in Texas. .., [peti-
tioner| prepared the petition originally in January 2019 and did not file
it until May 9, 2019, indicating she was aware of the potential change.”
The only evidence presented supported petitioner’s position.
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children and the children’s paternal grandparents.
Troxel, 530 US at 60 (opinion by O’Connor, J.). The
grandparents sought to obtain more frequent visitation
with the child than the respondent-mother wished to
offer. Id. at 60-61. There was a statute in place that
permitted “[alny person to petition a superior court for
visitation rights at any time” and authorized that court
to grant visitation rights whenever “visitation may
serve the best interest of the child.” Id. at 60 (quotation
marks omitted; alteration in original). The United
States Supreme Court characterized the statute as
“pbreathtakingly broad” and noted that it gave no defer-
ence to a child’s parent. Id. at 67. The Supreme Court
also stated that the statute allowed “a court [to] disre-
gard and overturn any decision by a fit custodial parent
concerning visitation whenever a third party affected by
the decision files a visitation petition, based solely on
the judge’s determination of the child’s best interests.”
Id. The Supreme Court went on to hold that the visita-
tion statute violated the respondent-mother’s funda-
mental right to make parenting decisions regarding her
children. Id. at 68-70 (stating that there was no allega-
tion that the respondent-mother was unfit and that
“there is a presumption that fit parents act in the best
interests of their children”).

In this case, the guardianship statute does not inter-
fere with respondent’s fundamental right to raise his
children as the Washington statute did in Troxel. While
MCL 700.5204(1) allows “[a] person interested in the
welfare of a minor” to petition a court “for the appoint-
ment of a guardian for the minor,” there are specific
requirements that must be met under MCL
700.5204(2)(b) before the court can grant a guardian-
ship. Specifically, the statute requires that the parent
allow the child to permanently reside with another
person, without granting legal authority to the other



2020] In re GUARDIANSHIP OF VERSALLE 185

person. See Deschaine, 256 Mich App at 669-670. Unlike
the statute at issue in Troxel, MCL 700.5204(2)(b) does
not allow a presiding court to makes its own determi-
nation of the child’s best interests. Rather, there must
be a showing of permanent residency and lack of legal
authority. There must also be a showing that the other
person filed the petition for guardianship while the child
was living with him or her. Without meeting all three of
the requirements, the court cannot grant the guardian-
ship. MCL 700.5204(2)(b) is not nearly as broad as the
statute in Troxel because it limits the trial court’s
determination to the requirements of the statute. The
statute in Troxel allowed anyone to petition for visita-
tion of a child and left it to the trial court to determine
the child’s best interests. The language of the Washing-
ton statute “effectively permit[ted] any third party seek-
ing visitation to subject any decision by a parent con-
cerning visitation of the parent’s children to state-court
review.” Troxel, 530 US at 67. Under MCL
700.5204(2)(b), a parent’s decision only comes under
state-court review when the parent has effectively
stopped providing adequate care for the child. There-
fore, if a parent does not allow a child to permanently
live with another person, or grants legal authority to the
person whom the child permanently lives with, then
that parent’s constitutional right to raise the child will
not be interfered with.

Respondent also argues that there was insufficient
evidence to grant a guardianship. We disagree. “A
circuit court’s factual findings are reviewed for clear
error, which occurs when this Court is left with a firm
and definite conviction that a mistake was made.”
Deschaine, 256 Mich App at 668.

Petitioner presented evidence that the children were
living with her for two years. Petitioner testified that
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she did not know whether respondent would have the
children live with him again, and he had indicated only
that he would visit or have the children visit him. We
have recognized that past permission is irrelevant; it is
the permission that is ongoing at the time that the
petition for guardianship is filed that is relevant. See
Deschaine, 256 Mich App at 671-673. The petition was
filed on May 9, 2019. Respondent retrieved the chil-
dren on June 15, 2019, about a month after the petition
was filed. Therefore, the record reflects that respon-
dent permitted the children to live with petitioner at
the time that the petition was filed. See id. at 670.
(“[TThe permission referred to in the statute must be
currently occurring—which would be shown by the
child’s actual presence in the care of another—when
the guardianship issue arises.”). The record also re-
flects that respondent did not provide petitioner with
legal authority for the children’s care, such as a power
of attorney delegating parental authority to petitioner,
even though the children had lived with petitioner,
with respondent’s permission, for two years. Further,
petitioner testified that respondent told her that he did
not want to give her legal authority. Finally, petitioner
presented evidence that the children lived with her at
the time that the petition was filed and that a month
after the petition was filed, respondent came to Michi-
gan and took the children to Texas. Because respon-
dent decided not to attend the hearing to present his
own evidence, petitioner’s testimony is uncontradicted.

In sum, we conclude that MCL 700.5204(2)(b) is
constitutional and does not infringe a parent’s consti-
tutional right to the care, custody, and management of
his or her children. See Zawilanski, 317 Mich App at
49. Rather, the statute implicitly affords a parent the
constitutional presumption that he or she is a fit
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parent, while also providing a potential guardian the
opportunity to rebut that presumption.

Affirmed.

MURRAY, C.J., and CAVANAGH and CAMERON, JdJ., con-
curred.
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ESTATE OF ROMIG v BOULDER BLUFF CONDOMINIUMS
UNITS 73-123, 125-146, INC

Docket Nos. 347653 and 348254. Submitted October 8, 2020, at Grand
Rapids. Decided October 15, 2020, at 9:05 a.m. Vacated and
remanded 509 Mich __ (2022).

Bobbie Jo Kooman, as personal representative for the estate of
Robert J. Romig, and Terry Romig brought an action in the
Ottawa Circuit Court against Boulder Bluff Condominiums Units
73-123, 125-146, Inc., doing business as Boulder Bluff Estates
Condominium Association; Boulder Bluff Estates Condominium
Association (the Association); and Gerow Management Company,
Inc. (Gerow), alleging that defendants’ delay or refusal to allow a
disability modification to Terry’s condominium unit discriminated
against Robert. Terry and Robert lived in Unit 85 of Boulder Bluff
Condominiums, and Terry submitted an accommodation request
to Gerow, the Association’s property manager, in accordance with
the Association’s bylaws, for permission to install a railing on the
front porch and adjacent stairs of Unit 85. While waiting on a
decision from the Association’s board of directors, Robert fell
down the stairs and was hospitalized. Terry informed the board of
Robert’s fall. Gerow notified Terry by letter that the board of
directors denied the modification request. Terry and Robert
obtained counsel, and counsel sent a letter to the board, claiming
that the board did not comply with the Association’s guidelines,
that the denial was contrary to federal and state housing law, and
that a doctor advised that Robert was disabled and needed the
modifications made for his safety. Robert fell a second time and
was hospitalized. Gerow then advised Terry that the modification
request was approved. A few months later, Robert died. Plaintiffs
filed a three-count complaint against defendants, alleging that
defendants’ delay or refusal to allow the disability modification
discriminated against Robert. Plaintiffs alleged that defendants
violated the Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act (the
PWDCRA), MCL 37.1101 et seq., and Michigan’s Condominium
Act, MCL 559.101 et seq. Gerow moved for partial summary
disposition, arguing that plaintiffs did not have a cause of action
pursuant to MCL 37.1506a(1)(a) or MCL 37.1502(1)(b) because
both provisions of the PWDCRA required that the alleged dis-
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crimination occur “in connection with a real estate transaction.”
The trial court, Jon H. Hulsing, J., granted Gerow’s motion,
agreeing that this situation did not fit the PWDCRA’s definition
of a “real estate transaction.” Boulder Bluff Condominiums and
the Association filed their own motion for partial summary
disposition that relied on the same argument raised by Gerow,
and the trial court granted this motion as well. Plaintiffs ap-
pealed both orders by leave granted.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. One purpose of the PWDCRA is to ensure that all persons
be accorded equal opportunities to obtain housing. MCL
37.1502(1)(b) of the PWDCRA prohibits certain discriminatory
acts and provides, in relevant part, that an owner or any other
person engaging in a real estate transaction shall not, on the
basis of a disability, discriminate against a person in the terms,
conditions, or privileges of a real estate transaction or in the
furnishing of facilities or services in connection with a real estate
transaction. MCL 37.1506a(1)(a) also prohibits certain discrimi-
natory acts and provides, in relevant part, that a person shall not,
in connection with a real estate transaction, refuse to permit
reasonable modifications to existing premises occupied by a
person with a disability if those modifications may be necessary to
afford the person with a disability full enjoyment of the premises.
MCL 37.1501(d) defines “real estate transaction” as “the sale,
exchange, rental, or lease of real property, or an interest therein.”
In these cases, plaintiffs asserted that because the master deed
and bylaws provide that a person who acquires an ownership
interest has rights to the apartment as well as common elements,
plaintiffs held “an interest therein” and satisfied the definition of
a real estate transaction. This interpretation was contrary to the
language of MCL 37.1501(d). The last-antecedent rule provides
that a modifying clause is confined to the last antecedent, but the
modifying clause “an interest therein” is separated from the last
antecedent by a comma and the word “or.” The comma means that
the last-antecedent rule did not apply in this case. Pursuant to
the rules of statutory interpretation, under MCL 37.1501(d), a
“real estate transaction” means the (1) “sale . . . of real property,
or an interest therein,” (2) “exchange . .. of real property, or an
interest therein,” (3) “rental . . . of real property, or an interest
therein,” or (4) “lease of real property, or an interest therein.”
Applying this definition, plaintiffs did not have a cause of action
under the PWDCRA. The alleged discrimination did not have a
relationship in fact with a real estate transaction because the
alleged discrimination did not pertain to the (1) “sale . . . of real
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property, or an interest therein,” (2) “exchange . . . of real prop-
erty, or an interest therein,” (3) “rental . . . of real property, or an
interest therein,” or (4) “lease of real property, or an interest
therein.” Additionally, defendants did not allegedly discriminate
against the decedent “in the terms, conditions, or privileges of a”
(1) “sale...of real property, or an interest therein,” (2) “ex-
change ...of real property, or an interest therein” (3)
“rental . . . of real property, or an interest therein,” or (4) “lease of
real property, or an interest therein.” Instead, the alleged dis-
crimination occurred years after Terry purchased the home and
after the decedent began residing in the home. Accordingly, the
trial court did not err by granting partial summary disposition in
favor of defendants.

2. MCL 559.147a(1) addresses improvements or modifications
pertaining to persons with disabilities and provides, in pertinent
part, that a co-owner may make improvements or modifications to
the condominium unit if the purpose of the improvement or
modification is to facilitate access to or movement within the unit
for persons with disabilities who reside in or regularly visit the
unit or to alleviate conditions that could be hazardous to persons
with disabilities who reside in or regularly visit the unit. The
provisions of the PWDCRA arguably overlap with MCL
559.147a(1) and must be read together to discern legislative
intent. MCL 559.147a(1) expressly affords persons with disabili-
ties the right to make improvements or modifications to facilitate
access to or movement in the unit; it contains no express limita-
tions or correlation to a “real estate transaction” or the timing of
the sale or purchase. Thus, the Legislature’s confinement of
housing provisions in the PWDCRA to “real estate transactions”
does not preclude subsequent legal action after a disabled person
completes the real estate transaction in light of MCL 559.147a,
and the application of the PWDCRA was not extended beyond
real estate transactions. Accordingly, the trial court did not err by
granting partial summary disposition in favor of defendants.

Affirmed.

Zelmanski, Danner & Fioritto, PLLC (by Richard L.
Wagner, Jr., and Melissa D. Francis) for plaintiffs.

Secrest Wardle (by Drew W. Broaddus and Amanda
B. Fopma) for Boulder Bluff Condominiums Units
73-123, 125-145, Inc., and Boulder Bluff Estates Con-
dominium Association.
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Bosch Killman VanderWal, PC (by Joseph P.
VanderVeen) for Gerow Management Company, Inc.

Amici Curiae:

Steve Tomkowiak for the Fair Housing Center of
West Michigan, Fair Housing Center of Southwest
Michigan, Fair Housing Center of Southeast & Mid-
Michigan, and Fair Housing Center of Metropolitan
Detroit.

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, B. Eric Restuccia,
Deputy Solicitor General, and Ron D. Robinson, Assis-
tant Attorney General, for the Michigan Civil Rights
Commission and the Michigan Department of Civil
Rights.

Before: LETICA, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and REDFORD, JdJ.

PER CURIAM. In Docket No. 347653, plaintiffs, Bobbie
Jo Kooman, as personal representative for the estate of
Robert J. Romig, and Terry Romig, appeal by leave
granted! the trial court’s order granting partial sum-
mary disposition in favor of defendant Gerow Manage-
ment Company, Inc. (Gerow) pursuant to MCR
2.116(C)(10). In Docket No. 348254, plaintiffs appeal
by leave granted? the trial court’s order granting par-
tial summary disposition in favor of defendants Boul-
der Bluff Condominiums, Units 73-123, 125-146, Inc.,
doing business as Boulder Bluff Estates Condominium
Association, and Boulder Bluff Estates Condominium

! Estate of Romig v Boulder Bluff Condos, unpublished order of the
Court of Appeals, entered July 29, 2019 (Docket No. 347653).

2 Estate of Romig v Boulder Bluff Condos, unpublished order of the
Court of Appeals, entered July 29, 2019 (Docket No. 348254).
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Association (the Association)® pursuant to MCR
2.116(C)(8).4

We conclude that the Association’s denial of the
initial request for installation of a railing as an accom-
modation to assist a disabled person did not constitute
discrimination in a “real estate transaction” as that
phrase is defined in the Persons with Disabilities Civil
Rights Act (the PWDCRA), MCL 37.1101 et seq. Be-
cause plaintiffs’ claimed violations of the protections
delineated in the PWDCRA are limited to “the sale,
exchange, rental, or lease of real property, or an
interest therein,” MCL 37.1501(d), and plaintiffs’ re-
quest did not arise from such a transaction, the trial
court properly granted defendants’ motions for partial
summary disposition. Therefore, finding no errors war-
ranting reversal, we affirm.

I. BASIC FACTS? AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In 2009, Terry Romig (Terry) purchased Unit 85 of
Boulder Bluff Condominiums, and she lived there with
her ex-husband Robert J. Romig (the decedent). The

3 Plaintiff Bobbie Jo Kooman is the daughter of the decedent, Robert
J. Romig, and the personal representative of his estate. Plaintiff Terry
Romig is the purchaser and co-owner of the condominium where Robert
J. Romig resided before his death. Defendant Boulder Bluff Condomini-
ums, Units 73-123, 125-146, Inc., in effect, does business as Boulder
Bluff Estates Condominium Association and is a Michigan nonprofit
corporation designed to administer the affairs of Boulder Bluff Condo-
miniums. Gerow Management, Inc., is the corporation that serves as the
property manager for the Association.

4 For efficient administration purposes, the appeals were consolidated.
Estate of Romig v Boulder Bluff Condos, unpublished order of the Court
of Appeals, entered September 4, 2019 (Docket Nos. 347653 and 348254).

5 There were no depositions or affidavits filed by the parties address-
ing the facts in the lower court record. Accordingly, our factual summary
is drawn from the complaint, the dispositive motion pleadings, and the
trial court’s written opinion and order.
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decedent was disabled and had limited ability to stand
and walk. Consequently, in June 2016, Terry submit-
ted an accommodation request to Gerow in accordance
with the bylaws of Boulder Bluff Condominiums for
permission to install a railing on the front porch and
adjacent stairs of Unit 85. With the request, Terry
submitted a photograph of the type and kind of railing
to be installed. At the request of Gerow’s employee,
Terry provided additional information regarding the
coverage and location of the railing, the installer, and
the method of attachment of the railing to the porch.
She also advised that installation could occur “around
July 4.” While waiting for a decision from the board of
directors of the Association, the decedent fell down the
stairs and was hospitalized. Terry informed Gerow and
the board of directors of the decedent’s fall. Nonethe-
less, on July 1, 2016, Gerow notified Terry by letter
that the board of directors denied the modification
request to install a railing to the porch and stairs of
Unit 85. The board denied the request because “the
proposed railing would be a permanent change modi-
fying the overall appearance of the unit in comparison
to the rest of the association as well as the installation
would cause damage to the concrete porch.”

In a letter dated July 28, 2016, counsel for Terry
and the decedent advised the Association board that
the board did not comply with the Association’s by-
laws because the denial failed to advise Terry of the
changes necessary to permit the proposed improve-
ment. The letter also stated that the denial was
contrary to federal and state housing law, including
MCL 559.147 of the Michigan Condominium Act,
MCL 559.101 et seq. Counsel attached a letter from
Dr. Diana Dillman advising that the decedent was
disabled and “need[ed] to have side rails and hand
rails for his safety.” On August 20, 2016, the decedent
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fell a second time while attempting to maneuver the
front porch stairs. Once again, he was hospitalized for
this fall. In a letter dated August 23, 2016, Gerow
advised Terry that her request to install a railing on
the front porch adjacent to her unit was approved and
delineated the specifications for the installation. On
January 31, 2017, the decedent died.

Ultimately, plaintiffs filed a three-count complaint
against defendants, alleging that defendants’ delay or
refusal to allow the disability modification discrimi-
nated against the decedent. Specifically, in Counts 1
and 2, plaintiffs alleged that defendants, in delaying or
refusing the handrail, violated the PWDCRA. In Count
3, plaintiffs alleged that defendants violated Michi-
gan’s Condominium Act. Gerow moved for partial sum-
mary disposition, arguing that plaintiffs did not have a
cause of action pursuant to MCL 37.1506a(1)(a) or
MCL 37.1502(1)(b) because both provisions of the
PWDCRA required that the alleged discrimination
occur “in connection with a real estate transaction.”
Gerow claimed that the alleged discrimination did not
occur “in connection with a real estate transaction”
because Terry owned her condominium unit years
before the alleged discrimination occurred. The trial
court agreed with Gerow and found that this situation
did not fit the PWDCRA'’s definition of a “real estate
transaction.” After the trial court granted Gerow’s
motion, Boulder Bluff Condominiums and the Associa-
tion filed their own motion for partial summary dispo-
sition relying on the “real estate transaction” argu-
ment raised by Gerow, and the trial court granted this
motion as well. Plaintiffs appeal by leave granted both
orders granting defendants’ motions for partial sum-
mary disposition.
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II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court’s ruling on a motion for summary
disposition is reviewed de novo. Bennett v Russell, 322
Mich App 638, 642; 913 NW2d 364 (2018). Summary
disposition is proper under MCR 2.116(C)(8) if the
opposing party has failed to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted. Brickey v McCarver, 323 Mich
App 639, 641; 919 NW2d 412 (2018). A motion for
summary disposition premised on MCR 2.116(C)(8)
tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint by solely
examining the pleadings. Sullivan v Michigan, 328
Mich App 74, 80; 935 NW2d 413 (2019). All well-
pleaded factual allegations are accepted as true and
construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party. Id. A motion for summary disposition under
MCR 2.116(C)(8) should be granted only when the
claim is so clearly unenforceable as a matter of law
that no factual development could possibly uphold a
right of recovery. Brickey, 323 Mich App at 641-642.

Summary disposition is appropriate pursuant to
MCR 2.116(C)(10) when there is “no genuine issue as to
any material fact, and the moving party is entitled to
judgment or partial judgment as a matter of law.” MCR
2.116(C)(10). When reviewing a motion for summary
disposition challenged under MCR 2.116(C)(10), the
court considers the affidavits, pleadings, depositions,
admissions, and other admissible documentary evi-
dence then filed in the action or submitted by the
parties. MCR 2.116(G)(4) and (5); Puetz v Spectrum
Health Hosps, 324 Mich App 51, 68; 919 NW2d 439
(2018).

III. STATUTORY INTERPRETATION
“A decision on...the interpretation of a statute [is]

reviewed de novo.” ADR Consultants, LLC v Mich Land
Bank Fast Track Auth, 327 Mich App 66, 74; 932 NW2d 226
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(2019). Issues involving statutory interpretation present
questions of law that are reviewed de novo. Meisner Law
Group, PC v Weston Downs Condo Ass’n, 321 Mich App
702, 714; 909 NW2d 890 (2017). “The primary goal of
statutory interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the
Legislature.” Briggs Tax Serv, LLC v Detroit Pub Sch, 485
Mich 69, 76; 780 NW2d 753 (2010). The most reliable
evidence of legislative intent is the plain language of the
statute. South Dearborn Environmental Improvement
Ass’n, Inc v Dep’t of Environmental Quality, 502 Mich 349,
360-361; 917 NW2d 603 (2018). If the language of the
statute is clear and unambiguous, it is presumed that the
Legislature intended the meaning plainly expressed in the
statute. Gardner v Dep’t of Treasury, 498 Mich 1, 6; 869
NW2d 199 (2015). The court’s interpretation of a statute
must give effect to every word, phrase, and clause. South
Dearborn, 502 Mich at 361. Further, an interpretation
that would render any part of the statute surplusage or
nugatory must be avoided. Id. Common words and
phrases are given their plain meaning as determined by
the context in which the words are used, and a dictionary
may be consulted to ascertain the meaning of an unde-
fined word or phrase. Id. “In construing a legislative
enactment we are not at liberty to choose a construction
that implements any rational purpose but, rather, must
choose the construction which implements the legislative
purpose perceived from the language and the context in
which it is used.” Frost-Pack Distrib Co v Grand Rapids,
399 Mich 664, 683; 252 NW2d 747 (1977).
[Le Gassick v Univ of Mich Regents, 330 Mich App 487,
494-496; 948 NW2d 452 (2019).]

Additionally, statutes must be construed as a whole
with the provisions read in the context of the entire
statute so as to produce a harmonious whole. Bachman
v Swan Harbour Assoc, 252 Mich App 400, 414; 653
NW2d 415 (2002). “The last-antecedent rule provides
that a modifying clause is confined to the last anteced-
ent unless something in the subject matter or dominant
purpose [of the statute] requires a different interpreta-
tion.” Campbell v Dep’t of Treasury, 331 Mich App 312,
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320; 952 NW2d 568 (2020) (quotation marks and cita-
tion omitted; alteration in original). “However, this rule
does not apply when the modifying clause is set off by
punctuation, such as a comma.” Id. (quotation marks
and citation omitted). Additionally, “[a] dependent
clause set off by commas from the rest of the sentence is
not to be viewed as an independent clause operating
separately but, rather, as part of the complex sentence
overall.” Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted).
Furthermore, “the word ‘or’ is a disjunctive word that is
used to indicate a disunion, a separation, an alterna-
tive.” Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted).

IV. THE PWDCRA

When this Court construes “the statutory provisions
contained in the PWDCRA, [it must] construe the
language reasonably, keeping in mind the purpose of
the act.” Bachman, 252 Mich App at 414. “The purpose
of the PWDCRA is to ensure that all persons be
accorded equal opportunities to obtain housing.” Id.
The PWDCRA “is remedial and is to be liberally
construed to effectuate its ends.” Id. However, in gen-
eral, “the policy behind a statute cannot prevail over
what the text actually says.” Elezovic v Ford Motor Co,
472 Mich 408, 421-422; 697 NW2d 851 (2005).

“The PWDCRA, which was enacted in 1976 for the
protection of persons with disabilities, is divided into
six separate articles.” Bachman, 252 Mich App at 412.
Relevant to this case, Article 5 addresses the protected
area of housing. Id.

Plaintiffs submit that two provisions of the PWDCRA
were violated in this case, MCL 37.1502(1)(b) and MCL
37.1506a(1)(a). MCL 37.1502 prohibits certain discrimi-
natory acts and provides, in relevant part, as follows:
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(1) An owner or any other person engaging in a real
estate transaction, or a real estate broker or salesman
shall not, on the basis of a disability of a buyer or renter,
of a person residing in or intending to reside in a dwelling
after it is sold, rented, or made available, or of any person
associated with that buyer or renter, that is unrelated to
the individual’s ability to acquire, rent, or maintain prop-
erty or use by an individual of adaptive devices or aids:

® ok %

(b) Discriminate against a person in the terms, condi-
tions, or privileges of a real estate transaction or in the
furnishing of facilities or services in connection with a real
estate transaction. [Emphasis added.]

MCL 37.1506a also prohibits certain discriminatory
acts and provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(1) A person shall not do any of the following in
connection with a real estate transaction:

(a) Refuse to permit, at the expense of the person with
a disability, reasonable modifications of existing premises
occupied or to be occupied by the person with a disability
if those modifications may be necessary to afford the
person with a disability full enjoyment of the premises. In
the case of a rental, the landlord may, if reasonable, make
permission for a modification contingent on the renter’s
agreement to restore the interior of the premises to the
condition that existed before the modification, reasonable
wear and tear excepted. [Emphasis added.]

MCL 37.1501 provides definitions relevant to Article
5 of the PWDCRA, and MCL 37.1501(d) defines “real
estate transaction” as “the sale, exchange, rental, or
lease of real property, or an interest therein.”

V. ANALYSIS

Plaintiffs allege that the trial court erred in grant-
ing partial summary disposition to defendants because
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(1) the definition of “real estate transaction” includes
the phrase “an interest therein” and the Association’s
governing documents constitute “an interest therein,”
(2) the trial court failed to interpret the statute as a
whole, and (3) the trial court erred in determining that
protections are inapplicable once a real estate pur-
chase or exchange is complete. We disagree.

A. CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION MASTER DEED AND BYLAWS

The plain language of MCL 37.1502(1)(b) precludes
discrimination against a disabled person “in the terms,
conditions, or privileges of a real estate transaction or
in the furnishing of facilities or services in connection
with a real estate transaction.” Additionally, the plain
language of MCL 37.1506a(1)(a) provides that reason-
able modifications cannot be refused when necessary
for a disabled person’s full enjoyment of premises in
connection with a real estate transaction. Again, “real
estate transaction” is defined as “the sale, exchange,
rental, or lease of real property, or an interest therein.”
MCL 37.1501(d).

Plaintiffs submit that the Association’s master deed
provides® that a person who acquires an ownership
interest has rights to her apartment as well as common
elements, and therefore, plaintiffs hold “an interest
therein” under MCL 37.1501(d). Accordingly, plaintiffs
assert that the master deed and bylaws satisfy the real
estate transaction definition. However, plaintiffs’ in-

5 Plaintiffs rely on the following language: “Each person who shall
acquire or own an Apartment in the Project (the ‘Co-owner’ thereof)
shall have a particular and exclusive property right to his Apartment
and to the limited common elements appurtenant thereto, and an
undivided and inseparable right to share with other Co-owners the
general common elements of the Project, as set forth in this Consolidat-
ing Master Deed.”
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terpretation of the phrase “real estate transaction” is
contrary to the plain language of MCL 37.1501(d). As
noted, the last-antecedent rule provides that a modi-
fying clause is confined to the last antecedent, but the
modifying clause “an interest therein” is separated
from the last antecedent by a comma and the word “or.”
The comma means that the last-antecedent rule does
not apply in this case. See Campbell, 331 Mich App at
320. It also demonstrates that the modifying clause “an
interest therein” “is not to be viewed as an independent
clause operating separately but, rather, as part of the
complex sentence overall.” Id. (quotation marks and
citation omitted). Therefore, pursuant to the rules of
statutory interpretation, under MCL 37.1501(d), a
“real estate transaction” means the (1) “sale . . . of real
property, or an interest therein,” (2) “exchange . .. of
real property, or an interest therein,” (3) “rental . . . of
real property, or an interest therein,” or (4) “lease of
real property, or an interest therein.”

Applying this interpretation of the definition of “real
estate transaction” to this case, it is evident that
plaintiffs do not have a cause of action under the
PWDCRA. As stated earlier, plaintiffs raised a claim
under MCL 37.1502(1)(b), which prohibits “[d]iscrimi-
nat[ion] against a person in the terms, conditions, or
privileges of a real estate transaction or in the furnish-
ing of facilities or services in connection with a real
estate transaction.” The Legislature did not define the
phrase “in connection with,” and this Court may con-
sult a dictionary to determine the meaning of the
phrase. See In re MJG, 320 Mich App 310, 326; 906
NW2d 815 (2017). Although there are many definitions
for the word “connection,” the definition relevant in
this case is “relationship in fact.” Merriam-Webster’s
Collegiate Dictionary (11th ed). See also MJG, 320
Mich App at 326.
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In this case, the alleged discrimination did not have a
relationship in fact with a real estate transaction be-
cause the alleged discrimination did not pertain to the
(1) “sale...of real property, or an interest therein,”
(2) “exchange...of real property, or an interest
therein,” (3) “rental . . . of real property, or an interest
therein,” or (4) “lease of real property, or an interest
therein.” MCL 37.1501(d). Additionally, defendants did
not allegedly discriminate against the decedent “in the
terms, conditions, or privileges of a” (1) “sale . . . of real
property, or an interest therein,” (2) “exchange . .. of
real property, or an interest therein” (3) “rental . .. of
real property, or an interest therein,” or (4) “lease of real
property, or an interest therein.” MCL 37.1502(1)(b);
MCL 37.1501(d). Instead, the alleged discrimination
occurred years after Terry purchased the home and
after the decedent began residing in the home.

Plaintiffs also raised a claim in their complaint
pursuant to MCL 37.1506a(1)(a), which prohibits cer-
tain discriminatory acts “in connection with a real
estate transaction[.]” However, as stated earlier, the
alleged discriminatory act did not have a relationship
in fact with the (1) “sale. .. of real property, or an
interest therein,” (2) “exchange . . . of real property, or
an interest therein,” (3) “rental . . . of real property, or
an interest therein,” or (4) “lease of real property, or an
interest therein.” MCL 37.1501(d). The alleged dis-
criminatory act occurred years after Terry had pur-
chased Unit 85 from Boulder Bluff Condominiums.

B. STATUTE AS A WHOLE AND COMPLETED TRANSACTIONS

Plaintiffs also contend that the statute must be
examined as a whole and that limiting its protections
to instances of sales or leases negates the remedial
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“value” of the PWDCRA and renders the statute mean-
ingless or nugatory. However, it must be noted that
defendants did not seek summary disposition of Count
3; plaintiffs claimed violation of MCL 559.147a of the
Michigan Condominium Act. The following rules ad-
dress statutes that relate to the same subject matter:

When two or more statutes arguably relate to the same
subject or have the same purpose, the statutes are deemed
in pari materia and must be read together in order to
discern legislative intent. Measel v Auto Club Group Ins
Co, 314 Mich App 320, 329 n 7; 886 NW2d 193 (2016). The
purpose of the rule of in pari materia is to effectuate the
legislative goal as evinced by the harmonious statutes on
a particular subject. Id. “When two statutes are in pari
materia but conflict with one another on a particular
issue, the more specific statute must control over the more
general statute.” Donkers v Kovach, 277 Mich App 366,
371; 745 NW2d 154 (2007). “It is . . . well established that
a later-enacted specific statute operates as an exception or
a qualification to a more general prior statute covering the
same subject matter and that, if there is an irreconcilable
conflict between two statutes, the later-enacted one will
control.” In re Midland Publishing Co, Inc, 420 Mich 148,
163; 362 NW2d 580 (1984). These are statutory-
construction doctrines designed to discern the intent of
the Legislature. [House of Representatives v Governor, 333
Mich App 325, 350-351; 960 NW2d 125 (2020).]

MCL 559.147a(1) addresses improvements or modi-
fications pertaining to persons with disabilities and
provides, in pertinent part:

A co-owner may make improvements or modifications
to the co-owner’s condominium unit, including improve-
ments or modifications to common elements and to the
route from the public way to the door of the co-owner’s
condominium unit, at his or her expense, if the purpose of
the improvement or modification is to facilitate access to
or movement within the unit for persons with disabilities
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who reside in or regularly visit the unit, or to alleviate
conditions that could be hazardous to persons with dis-
abilities who reside in or regularly visit the unit.

Although plaintiffs urge this Court to extend the
protections of the PWDCRA beyond the “sale, ex-
change, rental, or lease of real property, or an interest
therein,” MCL 37.1501(d), “ ‘we are not at liberty to
choose a construction that implements any rational
purpose but, rather, must choose the construction
which implements the legislative purpose perceived
from the language and the context in which it is
used.”” Le Gassick v Univ of Mich Regents, 330 Mich
App at 495-496, quoting Frost-Pack Distrib Co, 399
Mich at 683. Moreover, provisions of the PWDCRA
arguably overlap with MCL 559.147a(1) of the Michi-
gan Condominium Act and must be read together to
discern legislative intent. MCL 559.147a(1) expressly
affords persons with disabilities the right to make
improvements or modifications to facilitate access to or
movement in the unit.” It contains no express limita-
tions or correlation to a “real estate transaction” or the
timing of the sale or purchase. Thus, the Legislature’s
confinement of housing provisions in the PWDCRA to
“real estate transactions” does not preclude subse-
quent legal action after a disabled person completes
the real estate transaction in light of MCL 559.147a,
and we will not extend the application of the PWDCRA
beyond real estate transactions because it would serve
the rationale purpose of protecting a disabled person.

Therefore, the trial court did not err by granting
partial summary disposition in favor of defendants.
Plaintiffs do not have any claims arising under the
PWDCRA.

" To be clear, we do not address the merits of whether plaintiffs
factually satisfy a claim pursuant to MCL 559.147a(1) or the application
of that law to these facts.
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Affirmed. No taxable costs, a public question being
involved.

LETICA, PJ., and K. F. KELLY and REDFORD, JJ.,
concurred.
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PEOPLE v REYNOLDS

Docket No. 345813. Submitted October 6, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 15, 2020, at 9:10 a.m. Affirmed in part, reversed in part,
and remanded 508 Mich 388 (2021).

Nicholas S. Reynolds pleaded no contest to two counts of child
sexually abusive activity, MCL 750.145¢(2); one count of assault by
strangulation, MCL 750.84(1)(b); and one count of third-degree
criminal sexual conduct (CSC-III), MCL 750.520d (multiple vari-
ables). Defendant was sentenced to 160 to 240 months’ imprison-
ment for each conviction of child sexually abusive activity, 72 to
120 months’ imprisonment for the assault-by-strangulation convic-
tion, and 108 to 180 months’ imprisonment for the CSC-III convic-
tion, with the sentences to run concurrently with each other.
Defendant’s sentencing guidelines range was calculated on the
basis of his CSC-III conviction; the guidelines range was not
calculated for any of his other convictions. Defendant moved in the
trial court to correct an invalid sentence, arguing that he was
entitled to resentencing because his guidelines range was calcu-
lated on the basis of his CSC-III conviction and not his convictions
for child sexually abusive activity. The trial court, Kathryn A.
Viviano, J., denied defendant’s motion. Defendant appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Under MCL 777.21(2) and MCL 771.14(2)(e)(ii), the recom-
mended minimum sentencing guidelines range must be deter-
mined for each offense having the highest crime class; the offenses
of a lower crime class do not need to be scored. However, when
there are multiple convictions of the same crime class and that
shared crime class is the highest crime class, each of those
convictions must be scored. In this case, under MCL 777.16g and
MCL 777.16y, child sexually abusive activity and CSC-III are both
Class B crimes against a person. Under MCL 777.16d, assault by
strangulation is a Class D crime against a person. Therefore,
because defendant’s multiple Class B crimes constituted the high-
est crime class among his multiple total convictions, each of his
Class B crimes had to be scored under the sentencing guidelines.
The trial court committed legal error by failing to do so and instead
scoring only defendant’s CSC-III conviction, thereby violating
MCL 777.21(2) and MCL 771.14(2)(e)(ii).
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2. If different guidelines ranges result from scoring each of
the offenses of the highest crime class when there are multiple
convictions falling within that crime class and concurrent sen-
tences are imposed, the highest guidelines range subsumes the
lower guidelines range and thereby provides the applicable guide-
lines range to be used by the sentencing court. In this case, even
assuming defendant was correct that scoring the guidelines on
his convictions for child sexually abusive material or activity
would have yielded a lower guidelines range than the guidelines
range that was based on his CSC-III conviction, the higher
guidelines range for the CSC-III conviction would have provided
the governing guidelines range to be used by the trial court
because defendant’s sentences for his convictions were to be
served concurrently and the guidelines range for the CSC-III
offense therefore would have subsumed the guidelines range for
the other offenses (including the other Class B offenses). Because
defendant did not show that the trial court’s error resulted in an
alteration to his appropriate guidelines range, resentencing was
not required.

Affirmed.

CRIMINAL LAW — SENTENCING — RECOMMENDED MINIMUM SENTENCING GUIDE-

LINES RANGE — MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS OF THE SAME CRIME CLASS.

Under MCL 777.21(2) and MCL 771.14(2)(e)(ii), the recommended
minimum sentencing guidelines range must be determined for
each offense having the highest crime class; when there are
multiple convictions of the same crime class—and that shared
crime class is the highest crime class—each of those convictions
must be scored; if different guidelines ranges result from scoring
each of the offenses of the highest crime class when there are
multiple convictions falling within that crime class and concur-
rent sentences are imposed, the highest guidelines range sub-
sumes the lower guidelines range and thereby provides the
applicable guidelines range to be used by the sentencing court.

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, Eric J. Smith, Prosecut-

ing

Attorney, Joshua D. Abbott, Chief Appellate Attor-

ney, and John Paul Hunt, Assistant Prosecuting Attor-
ney, for the people.

Danielle S. Cadoret for defendant.
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Before: SWARTZLE, P.J., and JANSEN and BORRELLO, JdJ.

BORRELLO, J. Defendant appeals by leave granted,!
challenging the propriety of his sentence. For the
reasons set forth in this opinion, we affirm.

I. BACKGROUND

Defendant pleaded no contest to two counts of child
sexually abusive activity, MCL 750.145¢(2); one count of
assault by strangulation, MCL 750.84(1)(b); and one
count of third-degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC-III),
MCL 750.520d (multiple variables). Defendant was sen-
tenced to 160 to 240 months’ imprisonment for each
conviction of child sexually abusive activity, 72 to 120
months’ imprisonment for the assault-by-strangulation
conviction, and 108 to 180 months’ imprisonment for the
CSC-III conviction, with the sentences to run concur-
rently with each other. Defendant’s minimum sentenc-
ing guidelines range was calculated on the basis of his
CSC-III conviction, and the guidelines range was not
calculated for any of his other convictions.

In a written opinion and order, the trial court denied
defendant’s motion to correct an invalid sentence. On
appeal, defendant argues that the trial court erred and
that he is entitled to resentencing because his guide-
lines range was calculated on the basis of his CSC-III
conviction (which was Count IV) and not his convic-
tions for child sexually abusive activity (which were
Counts I and II). Pertinent to the issues before us on
appeal, the trial court ruled as follows:

Counts I and II are Class B offenses against a person.
MCL 777.16g(1). Count III is a Class D offense against a

1 People v Reynolds, 505 Mich 868 (2019) (remanding the matter to the
Court of Appeals for consideration as on leave granted).
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person. MCL 777.16d. Count IV is a Class B offense against
a person. MCL 777.16y. Inasmuch as Counts I, IT and IV are
all Class B offenses against a person, defendant’s argument
that he should have been scored under Counts I and II
rather than Count III [sic] wholly lacks merit. Indeed, the
same prior record variables and offense variables are
scored for Counts I, IT and III [sic]. MCL 777.21(1)(b) and
777.22(1).2

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendant’s appellate challenge presents issues in-
volving the interpretation and application of the legis-
lative sentencing guidelines, MCL 777.11 et seq., which
we review de novo as questions of law. People v Morson,
471 Mich 248, 255; 685 NW2d 203 (2004). We begin our
analysis by reviewing the statutory language, and
“Iwlhere the language is unambiguous, we give the
words their plain meaning and apply the statute as
written.” Id. Although we review any factual findings
by the trial court in the sentencing context for clear
error, the question “[wlhether the facts, as found, are
adequate to satisfy the scoring conditions prescribed
by statute, i.e., the application of the facts to the law, is
a question of statutory interpretation, which an appel-
late court reviews de novo.” People v Rodriguez, 327
Mich App 573, 576; 935 NW2d 51 (2019) (quotation
marks and citation omitted).

III. ANALYSIS

The main issue on appeal concerns how to properly
determine defendant’s recommended minimum guide

2 Tt appears that the last two sentences of this paragraph contain a
typographical error in which the trial court mistakenly refers to Count
IIT instead of Count IV. Defendant’s guidelines range was calculated on
the basis of his conviction on Count IV for CSC-III, which is a Class B
offense against a person under MCL 777.16y.
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lines range in light of his multiple convictions. MCL
777.21(2), contained within the sentencing guidelines,
provides that “[i]f the defendant was convicted of mul-
tiple offenses, subject to section 14 of chapter XI, score
each offense as provided in this part.” (Emphasis
added.) Following this instruction, we turn our atten-
tion to MCL 771.14, which provides, in pertinent part,
as follows:

(2) ... A presentence investigation report . .. shall in-
clude all of the following:

(e) For a person to be sentenced under the sentencing
guidelines set forth in chapter XVII, all of the following:

() For each conviction for which a consecutive sentence
is authorized or required, the sentence grid in part 6 of
chapter XVII that contains the recommended minimum
sentence range.

(i) Unless otherwise provided in subparagraph (i), for
each crime having the highest crime class, the sentence
grid in part 6 of chapter XVII that contains the recom-
mended minimum sentence range.

(ii7) Unless otherwise provided in subparagraph (i), the
computation that determines the recommended minimum
sentence range for the crime having the highest crime
class. [Emphasis added.]

These statutes, read together, require that the
recommended minimum guidelines range be deter-
mined for “each” offense “having the highest crime
class.” MCL 777.21(2) (emphasis added); MCL
771.14(2)(e)(ii) (emphasis added). This Court has ex-
plained that a trial court is “not required to indepen-
dently score the guidelines for and sentence the
defendant on each of his concurrent convictions if the
court properly score[s] and sentence[s] the defendant
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on the conviction with the highest crime classifica-
tion” and that “when sentencing on multiple concur-
rent convictions, the guidelines [do] not need to be
scored for the lower-crime-class offenses because MCL
771.14(2)(e) provides that presentence reports and
guidelines calculations [are] only required for the
highest crime class felony conviction.” People v Lopez,
305 Mich App 686, 690-691; 854 NW2d 205 (2014)
(quotation marks and citation omitted; emphasis
added). However, when there are multiple convictions
of the same crime class and that shared crime class is
the highest crime class, “each” of those convictions
must be scored. MCL 777.21(2); MCL 771.14(2)(e)(i7).

In this case, child sexually abusive activity and
CSC-III are both Class B crimes against a person. MCL
777.16g (child sexually abusive activity); MCL 777.16y
(third-degree sexual assault). Assault by strangulation
is a Class D crime against a person. MCL 777.16d.
Because defendant’s multiple Class B crimes consti-
tuted the highest crime class among his multiple total
convictions, each of his Class B crimes had to be scored
under the sentencing guidelines. MCL 777.21(2); MCL
771.14(2)(e)(@i). The trial court committed legal error
by failing to do so and instead scoring only defendant’s
CSC-III conviction, thereby violating the clear statu-
tory language in MCL 777.21(2) and MCL
771.14(2)(e)(@i1).* However, concluding that the trial
court erred does not end our analysis.

3 We reject the prosecution’s argument that it was sufficient to score
one of the convictions among those having the highest crime class
merely because all the Class B offenses are Class B offenses against a
person that require consideration of the same prior record variables
(PRVs) and offense variables (OVs) in scoring them. It does not
necessarily follow that consideration of the same PRVs and OVs for
different offenses will inevitably lead to the same guidelines range
because offense variables are to be scored solely by reference to “the
sentencing offense”—i.e., the “offense being scored”—unless the “lan-
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Defendant asserts—without any further explanation,
legal authority, or discussion of factual evidence—that
his guidelines range would have been lower if the trial
court had scored his convictions for child sexually abu-
sive material as required. However, even if this Court
were to concur with defendant’s assertions regarding
his guidelines range, defendant has failed to demon-
strate that he is entitled to resentencing.

In Lopez, this Court rejected an argument closely
analogous to the argument advanced here. The defen-
dant in Lopez argued that the sentencing court erred by
relying on the guidelines range determined by his Class
A felony conviction in sentencing him on all his convic-
tions, which included convictions for Class E felonies,
rather than applying the sentencing guidelines for
Class E crimes to his lower-crime-class offenses. Lopez,
305 Mich App at 689-690. The Lopez Court concluded
that when a defendant has been convicted of multiple
offenses, the defendant’s guidelines range may properly
be based solely on the highest-crime-class conviction
and that there is no statutory requirement to determine
the guidelines range for the lower-crime-class convic-
tions when all the sentences will be served concurrently.
Id. at 690-691. This Court explained its underlying
rationale as follows:

The rationale for this legislative scheme is fairly clear
because, except in possibly an extreme and tortured case,

guage of a particular offense variable statute specifically provides
otherwise.” People v Sours, 315 Mich App 346, 348-349; 890 NW2d 401
(2016) (quotation marks and citations omitted). While the prosecu-
tion’s assumption may prove true in some cases, we have not been
provided any basis on which we could conclude that it will hold true in
all cases. Additionally, we decline to engage in hypothetical speculation
on this point in light of the myriad possible combinations of multiple
convictions that could arise in any given case, because we need not
resolve this issue in order to decide the issues presented in this appeal.
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the guidelines range for the conviction with the highest
crime classification will be greater than the guidelines
range for any other offense. Given that the sentences are
to be served concurrently, the guidelines range for the
highest-crime-class offense would subsume the guidelines
range for lower-crime-class offenses, and there would be
no tangible reason or benefit in establishing guidelines
ranges for the lower-crime-class offenses. Therefore, be-
cause the sentences for defendant’s lower-crime-class of-
fenses were to be served concurrently with the highest-
class-felony sentence, the Class E guidelines did not need
to be scored . . .. [Id. at 691-692.]

We acknowledge that there is a significant distinc-
tion between the instant case and Lopez in that each of
defendant’s highest-crime-class convictions were
statutorily required to have been scored, which is
different from the lack of such a requirement with
respect to convictions of a lower crime class. However,
we find the logic expressed by this Court in Lopez to be
persuasive in determining how to navigate the next
procedural obstacle presented in the instant case,
namely, what happens if different guidelines ranges
result from scoring each of the offenses of the highest
crime class when there are multiple convictions falling
within that crime class and concurrent sentences are
imposed. Applying the reasoning set forth in Lopez, the
highest guidelines range would “subsume” the lower
guidelines range and thereby provide the applicable
guidelines range to be used by the sentencing court. Id.

Hence, in this case, even assuming defendant is
correct that scoring the guidelines on his convictions
for child sexually abusive material would have yielded
a lower guidelines range than the guidelines range
that was based on his CSC-III conviction, the higher
guidelines range for the CSC-III conviction would have
provided the governing guidelines range to be used by
the trial court because defendant’s sentences for his
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convictions were to be served concurrently and the
guidelines range for the CSC-III offense therefore
would have subsumed the guidelines range for the
other offenses (including the other Class B offenses).
See id.

In so holding, we acknowledge that “[a] defendant is
entitled to be sentenced by a trial court on the basis of
accurate information,” but a defendant must show that
“there has been a scoring error or inaccurate informa-
tion has been relied upon” to be entitled to resentencing
if the defendant’s “minimum sentence falls within the
appropriate guidelines range . ...” People v Francisco,
474 Mich 82, 88; 711 NW2d 44 (2006). “Where a scoring
error does not alter the appropriate guidelines range,
resentencing is not required.” Id. at 89 n 8. In this case,
defendant has not shown that the trial court’s error
resulted in an alteration to his appropriate guidelines
range, and resentencing is therefore not required. Id.
Accordingly, defendant is not entitled to resentencing.

Finally, our review of defendant’s remaining argu-
ments leads us to conclude that these arguments are
abandoned. Defendant asserts without citation of any
supporting authority that this Court should “consider
reinstating the previous version of MCL 777.21 (effec-
tive prior to January 9, 2007), which required that all
convicted offenses be scored.” Defendant does not in-
form this Court as to the process by which we may
“reinstate” prior versions of a statute. “An appellant
may not merely announce his position and leave it to
this Court to discover and rationalize the basis for his
claims, nor may he give only cursory treatment with
little or no citation of supporting authority.” People v
Henry, 315 Mich App 130, 148; 889 NW2d 1 (2016)
(quotation marks and citation omitted). Defendant also
asserts in his statement of the questions presented
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that his right to the effective assistance of counsel was
violated. However, defendant does not devote any por-
tion of the argument section of his brief to this issue,
nor does defendant discuss any legal authority rel-
evant to this claim. “Failure to brief a question on
appeal is tantamount to abandoning it.” Id. at 149
(quotation marks and citation omitted). Given our
holding relative to defendant’s request for resentenc-
ing, even presuming ineffective assistance of counsel,
defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice. See People v
LeBlanc, 465 Mich 575, 582-583; 640 NW2d 246 (2002),
quoting Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668, 687; 104
S Ct 2052; 80 LL Ed 2d 674 (1984). Accordingly, defen-
dant is not entitled to relief on any of his additional
claims.

Affirmed.

SWARTZLE, P.J., and JANSEN, dJ., concurred with
BORRELLO, J.
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AFT and numerous other labor organizations representing public
school employees, and Deborah McMillan, Timothy L. Johnson,
and other public school employees, brought actions in the Court of
Claims against the state of Michigan and others challenging the
constitutionality of 2010 PA 75, which revised the Public School
Employees Retirement Act, MCL 38.1301 et seq. Specifically,
§ 43e of the act, former MCL 38.1343e, required public school
employees to contribute 3% of their salaries to the Michigan
Public School Employees’ Retirement System (MPSERS). The
court, Clinton Canady III, J., agreed that former MCL 38.1343e
was unconstitutional. On appeal, the Court of Appeals, SHAPIRO,
P.J., and BECKERING, J. (SAAD, J., concurring in part and dissenting
in part), affirmed that former MCL 38.1343e was unconstitu-
tional under the United States and Michigan Constitutions. 297
Mich App 597 (2012) (AFT Mich I). In response to the Court of
Appeals’ decision, the Legislature enacted 2012 PA 300, which
altered the scope and effect of MCL 38.1343e but did not repeal it.
Plaintiffs challenged 2012 PA 300 in the Court of Claims, and the
court, Rosemarie E. Aquilina, J., upheld the constitutionality of
2012 PA 300 and dismissed their claims. On appeal, the Court of
Appeals, SaADp, P.J., and K. F. KELLY, J. (GLEICHER, J., concurring),
affirmed. 303 Mich App 651 (2014) (AFT Mich II). The Supreme
Court affirmed the Court of Appeals’ decision regarding 2012 PA
300. 497 Mich 197 (2015) (AFT Mich III). However, the Supreme
Court vacated the Court of Appeals’ decision in AFT Mich I and
remanded for the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision in
light of the enactment of 2012 PA 300 and the Supreme Court’s
decision upholding it. 498 Mich 851 (2015). On remand, the Court
of Appeals concluded that neither the passage of 2012 PA 300 nor
the Supreme Court’s decision upholding 2012 PA 300 affected the
validity of 2010 PA 75, and that 2010 PA 75 and its compulsory-
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contribution provision remained unconstitutional. 315 Mich App
602 (2016) (AFT Mich IV). In particular, the Court of Appeals held
that 2010 PA 75 violated the Contracts Clauses of the United
States and Michigan Constitutions. The Supreme Court affirmed
the Court of Appeals’ holding and additionally held that because
2010 PA 75 was unconstitutional, the funds collected pursuant to
that act, before the effective date of 2012 PA 300, had to be
refunded to plaintiffs. 501 Mich 939 (2017) (AFT Mich V). In
January 2018, the Court of Claims, STEPHEN L. BORRELLO, J.,
ordered defendants to return the subject funds to the relevant
employees, and defendants complied. In February 2018, plaintiffs
filed a joint motion seeking payment of interest under MCL
600.6455. Plaintiffs argued that they were entitled to statutory
interest because they had obtained a “money judgment” and the
Court of Appeals had ordered the trial court to return the funds
with interest. Defendants argued that the Court of Appeals had
issued a declaratory judgment, not a money judgment, so they
were not required to pay interest under MCL 600.6455. The Court
of Claims, BORRELLO, J., concluded that an order to return invol-
untarily withheld funds was not a money judgment within the
meaning of MCL 600.6455(2) because the order merely restored
property to plaintiffs and because it was an order for equitable
relief resulting from a declaratory judgment. The court also
rejected defendants’ argument that governmental or sovereign
immunity barred an interest award outside of interest on a
money judgment under MCL 600.6455. The trial court deter-
mined that the proper rate of interest was the same rate provided
for a money judgment in MCL 600.6455(2). Defendants MPSERS
and others appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The law-of-the-case doctrine precluded consideration of
defendants’ argument that plaintiffs’ claims should be dismissed
because plaintiffs failed to comply with the requirements of
MCL 600.6431. Under the doctrine, once an appellate court has
passed on a legal question and remanded the case for further
proceedings, the legal questions determined by the appellate
court will not be differently determined on a subsequent appeal
when the facts remain materially the same. An issue is decided
if the court expresses an opinion on the merits. In these cases,
both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court had expressed
opinions on the merits of plaintiffs’ claims. Both courts ruled
that former MCL 38.1343e violated the Contracts Clauses of the
United States and Michigan Constitutions and ordered the
return of the funds. By ruling that plaintiffs were entitled to the
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return of their wrongly taken wages, both courts implicitly
determined that plaintiffs had a cause of action. Therefore,
although defendants correctly asserted that a claim cannot
proceed against the state unless a claimant complies with the
requirements of MCL 600.6431, the law-of-the-case doctrine
precluded consideration of that issue.

2. The Court of Claims Act, MCL 600.6401 et seq., provides
for statutory interest on money judgments recovered in a civil
action. The act does not define “money judgment,” but caselaw
has interpreted this phrase as used in MCL 600.6013. Because
both MCL 600.6013 and MCL 600.6455 are part of the Revised
Judicature Act, MCL 600.101 e¢ seq., the meaning of money
judgment in a civil action is construed the same in MCL
600.6455(2) as in MCL 600.6013(1). Caselaw interpreting the
phrase “money judgment” in MCL 600.6013 makes it clear that
a judgment is not a money judgment simply because money is
granted as part of that judgment. Rather, a money judgment is
a judgment that orders the payment of a sum of money, as
distinguished from an order directing that an act be undertaken
or property be restored or transferred. Our Supreme Court has
further held that an order directing the return of seized funds to
a claimant was not an adjudication of an action for money
damages but rather one for the delivery of property that had
been the subject of a forfeiture action. The Court reasoned that
the return of seized property is an act of restoration, not an
award of monetary compensation for damages suffered by a
party. In these cases, the January 2018 order directed the return
of personal property and was not an award of monetary com-
pensation for damages. Because no money judgment was en-
tered, the trial court properly declined to award statutory
interest to plaintiffs under MCL 600.6455(2).

3. Governmental agencies are immune from civil liability
unless the Legislature has pulled back the veil of immunity by
consenting to the lawsuit. Although the Legislature has not
created an exception to immunity for a constitutional tort, the
Supreme Court has held that a claim for damages against the
state arising from a violation of the Michigan Constitution may
be recognized in “appropriate” cases. In Mays v Governor, 506
Mich 157 (2020), the lead opinion set forth factors for assessing a
damages inquiry for a constitutional violation, including: (1) the
existence and clarity of the constitutional violation itself; (2) the
degree of specificity of the constitutional protection; (3) support
for the propriety of a judicially inferred damages remedy in any
text, history, and previous interpretations of the specific provi-
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sion; (4) the availability of another remedy; and (5) various other
factors militating for or against a judicially inferred damages
remedy. In these cases, as to the first factor, the Court of Appeals
and the Supreme Court determined that plaintiffs established a
clear violation of the Contracts Clauses of the United States and
Michigan Constitution; therefore, this factor weighed in favor of a
judicially inferred damages remedy. Regarding the second and
third factors, US Const, art I, § 10, and Const 1963, art 1, § 10,
both prohibit the enactment of a statute that impairs a contract.
However, not every constitutional violation merits damages, and
historically, the federal Contracts Clause has not provided a
damages remedy. Rather, the United States Supreme Court has
held that a plaintiff who asserts that a state law violates the
federal Contracts Clause has a right only to a judicial determi-
nation, i.e., declaratory or injunctive relief. Therefore, the second
and third factors weighed against recognition of a damages
remedy. The fourth factor also weighed against recognition of a
damages remedy. Plaintiffs in these cases clearly enjoyed an
alternative remedy in that they were able to bring equitable
claims, on which they recovered. Although the existence of
alternative remedies is not dispositive, it weighs against recog-
nition of a damages remedy. Finally, regarding the fifth factor,
there were no other relevant circumstances that supported a
conclusion that damages should be inferred for a Contracts
Clause violation. Therefore, on the basis of these factors, damages
should not be inferred for a Contracts Clause violation.

4. Michigan has long recognized the common-law doctrine of
awarding interest as an element of damages, and caselaw sup-
ports that the purpose of common-law interest is to compensate
plaintiffs for the loss of the use of their funds and to allow full
compensation. Because money damages were not available to
plaintiffs for the constitutional tort, they were also not entitled to
equitable interest if the award of equitable interest amounted to
an award of damages. Plaintiffs sought interest in order to be
fully compensated for their losses, and the trial court awarded
equitable interest, in part, because plaintiffs had been deprived of
the use of their funds, affecting their ability to pay for the daily
necessities of life. Thus, the interest awarded was a compensatory
damage, and was therefore awarded in error.

5. In a September 2010 stipulated order, the trial court ordered
the funds that were taken from plaintiffs by defendants pursuant
to former MCL 38.1343e be placed in a separate interest-bearing
account. If it was determined that MCL 38.1343e was unconstitu-
tional or unenforceable, then the money would be repaid to
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plaintiffs by defendants, plus any interest earned on their respec-
tive contributions in the separate interest-bearing account. In AFT'
Mich IV, the Court of Appeals ordered the return of the funds with
interest to the relevant employees, and the Supreme Court also
ordered the return of the funds in accordance with the Court of
Appeals’ judgment. Construing the judgments together, the Court
of Appeals’ reference to interest meant the interest from the
interest-bearing account, not some other form of interest. There-
fore, plaintiffs are not entitled to interest beyond the interest
earned in the interest-bearing account on the basis of the orders of
the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court.

Affirmed in part and reversed in part.

CIviL ACTIONS — COURT OF CLAIMS ACT — MONEY JUDGMENTS — STATUTORY
INTEREST.

MCL 600.6455(2) of the Court of Claims Act, MCL 600.6401 et seq.,
provides for statutory interest on money judgments; a “money
judgment” is a judgment that orders the payment of a sum of
money, as distinguished from an order directing an act to occur or
property to be restored or transferred; an order directing the
return of seized property in the form of money is not a money
judgment but rather an act of restoration, and a plaintiff is not
entitled to payment of statutory interest under MCL 600.6455(2)
for such a judgment.

Mark H. Cousens for AFT and others.

White Schneider PC (by Timothy J. Dlugos, James A.
White, and Andrew J. Gordon) and Michigan Educa-
tion Association (by Michael M. Shoudy) for Deborah
McMillan and others.

Miller Cohen, PLC (by Robert D. Fetter, Bruce A.
Miller, and Keith D. Flynn) for Timothy L. Johnson and
others.

Dykema Gossett PLLC (by Gary P. Gordon, W. Alan
Wilk, Jason T. Hanselman, and Hilary L. Vigil), Special
Assistant Attorneys General, for the state of Michigan
and others.
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Before: JANSEN, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and CAMERON, JJ.

CAMERON, J. In these three cases consolidated for
appeal, defendants-appellants (defendants) appeal and
plaintiffs-appellees (plaintiffs) cross-appeal a July 24,
2018 order of the Court of Claims. That order directed
defendants to pay equitable judgment interest on
funds collected under MCL 38.1343e, as amended by
2010 PA 75 (former MCL 38.1343e). The July 24, 2018
order also denied plaintiffs’ request for statutory inter-
est under MCL 600.6455. We affirm in part and reverse
in part.

I. BACKGROUND

On May 19, 2010, the Legislature enacted 2010 PA
75, which revised the Public School Employees Retire-
ment Act, MCL 38.1301 et seq. In relevant part, § 43e of
2010 PA 75 required public school employees to con-
tribute 3% of their salaries to the Michigan Public
School Employees’ Retirement System (MPSERS). The
funds were to be placed in an irrevocable trust that
funded retiree health care benefits.

Plaintiffs brought suits contesting the constitution-
ality of 2010 PA 75 on various grounds. In July 2010,
the trial court ordered that “[t]he 3% levy from the
wages of all members of the [MPSERS] pursuant to
2010 [PA] 75 shall not be placed in the irrevocable
trust ....” The trial court instead ordered that the
money would be “placed in a separate interest bearing
account” and that the money could “not be spent or
otherwise disbursed” until further order of the court.
Additionally, in September 2010, the trial court en-
tered a stipulated order that provided as follows:

Defendants agree that if the final Court to rule in this
case finds MCL 38.1343e to be unconstitutional, otherwise
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illegal, or unenforceable as a result of a breach of contract,
Defendant [MPSERS] ... will repay to each member of
MPSERS who contributed under MCL 38.1343e the
amount of their individual contributions, plus any interest
earned thereon in the separate interest-bearing account.

The trial court ultimately concluded that former
MCL 38.1343e was unconstitutional. On appeal, this
Court held that former MCL 38.1343e was unconstitu-
tional under multiple provisions of the Michigan and
United States Constitutions. AFT Mich v Michigan,
297 Mich App 597; 825 NW2d 595 (2012) (AFT Mich I),
vacated by 498 Mich 851 (2015). In response to this
Court’s decision, the Legislature enacted 2012 PA 300,
which altered the scope and effect of MCL 38.1343e but
did not repeal it. All of the plaintiffs challenged 2012
PA 300, and the trial court dismissed their claims. This
Court affirmed the trial court’s decision in AFT Mich v
Michigan, 303 Mich App 651; 846 NW2d 583 (2014)
(AFT Mich II), and the Michigan Supreme Court
affirmed this Court’s decision regarding 2012 PA 300,
AFT Mich v Michigan, 497 Mich 197; 866 NW2d 782
(2015) (AFT Mich III). However, our Supreme Court
vacated this Court’s decision in AFT Mich I and
remanded with instructions for this Court to recon-
sider its decision in light of the enactment of 2012 PA
300 and in light of the Supreme Court’s “decision
upholding that Act.” AFT Mich v Michigan, 498 Mich
851, 851 (2015).

On remand, this Court concluded that neither the
passage of 2012 PA 300 nor our Supreme Court’s
decision to uphold 2012 PA 300 affected the validity of
2010 PA 75. AFT Mich v Michigan (On Remand), 315
Mich App 602; 893 NW2d 90 (2016) (AFT Mich IV),
vacated in part by 501 Mich 939 (2017). This Court
concluded that 2010 PA 75 and its compulsory-
contribution provision remained unconstitutional for
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several reasons. AFT Mich IV, 315 Mich App at 611-
612. In Part II of the opinion, this Court held that
“2010 PA 75, from its effective date until the completed
transition to a voluntary system, violated” the Con-
tracts Clauses of the United States and Michigan
Constitutions. Id. at 621. This Court remanded the
case to the trial court “with the direction to return the
subject funds, with interest, to the relevant employ-
ees.” Id. at 612.

Our Supreme Court affirmed this Court’s “holding
that 2010 Public Act 75 violated the respective Con-
tract Clauses of both the federal and state constitu-
tions . ...” AFT Mich v Michigan, 501 Mich 939, 939
(2017) (AFT Mich V). Our Supreme Court additionally
held that, “[blecause 2010 Public Act 75 is unconstitu-
tional, the funds collected pursuant to that act before
the effective date of 2012 Public Act 300 must be
refunded to the plaintiffs in accordance with the Court
of Appeals judgment.” Id.

On January 22, 2018, the trial court entered an order,
noting that it had been directed to order the “return of
the subject funds, with interest, to the relevant employ-
ees.” The trial court ordered defendants to disburse the
funds “together with the interest earned on the amounts
in the interest-bearing account.” Defendants complied
with the trial court’s order.

In February 2018, plaintiffs filed a joint motion
seeking the payment of interest under MCL 600.6455.
Plaintiffs argued that they had obtained a money
judgment and that this Court had ordered the trial
court to return the funds “with interest.” Plaintiffs
argued that because the interest on the money held in
escrow was “less than one percent of the principal in
total,” they would not be made whole if the trial court
did not order defendants to pay statutory interest. In
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the alternative, plaintiffs moved the trial court to
award interest as a matter of equity. Plaintiffs argued
that absent defendants’ unconstitutional actions,
plaintiffs would have received full payment for their
earned compensation. Plaintiffs argued that they
should be paid “in today’s dollars for the compensation
which they should have been receiving between 2010
and 2012.” Defendants opposed the motion, arguing
that plaintiffs had waived any additional interest
award under contract principles and that defendants
were not required to pay interest under MCL 600.6455
because the case had resulted in a declaratory judg-
ment, not a money judgment. Defendants also argued
that governmental immunity barred payment of equi-
table interest and that, under the circumstances,
plaintiffs were not entitled to an award of equitable
interest.

The trial court rejected defendants’ argument that
plaintiffs had waived entitlement to interest. The trial
court then concluded that an order to return the
involuntarily withheld funds was not a “money judg-
ment” within the meaning of MCL 600.6455(2) because
the order merely restored property to plaintiffs and
because the order was for equitable relief resulting
from a declaratory judgment. The trial court also
disagreed that governmental immunity or sovereign
immunity barred an interest award outside of interest
on a money judgment under MCL 600.6455. The trial
court reasoned that governmental immunity was not
available in the underlying action because it was not a
tort action. Additionally, the trial court noted that
common-law sovereign immunity had been replaced by
governmental immunity under the governmental tort
liability act (“GTLA”), MCL 691.1401 et seq., and that
an award of equitable interest was not a tort subject to
the GTLA.
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Finally, the trial court held that an award of equi-
table interest was warranted. The court noted that in
equitable actions, it had discretion to award judgment
interest even if interest was not mandated by statute.
When considering the totality of the circumstances, the
trial court declined to “punish” plaintiffs for prudently
obtaining injunctive relief. The trial court found that
defendants “played no small role in the protracted
nature of the appellate proceedings....” While the
fact that AFT Mich I was pending on application for
nearly two years contributed to the delay, the trial
court noted that defendants had sought leave to appeal
after the Attorney General decided to no longer pursue
the matter. The trial court also considered that plain-
tiffs were deprived of the use of their taken wages for
nearly seven years. The trial court determined that the
proper rate of interest was the same rate that MCL
600.6455(2) provided for interest on a money judg-
ment, less the amount of interest the escrow account
had actually earned. These appeals followed.

II. ANALYSIS

A. LAW-OF-THE-CASE DOCTRINE

Defendants first argue that plaintiffs’ claims should
be dismissed because plaintiffs failed to comply with
the requirements of MCL 600.6431. Although defen-
dants are correct that “a claim cannot proceed against
the state” unless a claimant complies with the man-
dates outlined in MCL 600.6431, Fairley v Dep’t of
Corrections, 497 Mich 290, 293; 871 NW2d 129 (2015),
we conclude that the law-of-the-case doctrine pre-
cludes consideration of this issue.

The law-of-the-case doctrine provides that once “an
appellate court has passed on a legal question and
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remanded the case for further proceedings, the legal
questions . . . determined by the appellate court will
not be differently determined on a subsequent appeal
in the same case where the facts remain materially the
same.” See Grievance Administrator v Lopatin, 462
Mich 235, 259; 612 NW2d 120 (2000) (quotation marks
and citation omitted). “[A]s a general rule, an appellate
court’s determination of an issue in a case binds lower
tribunals on remand and the appellate court in subse-
quent appeals.” Id. at 260.

The purpose of the doctrine is to promote consis-
tency and to “avoid reconsideration of matters once
decided during the course of a single lawsuit.” See
Schumacher v Dep’t of Natural Resources, 275 Mich
App 121, 128; 737 NW2d 782 (2007). The doctrine
promotes finality and prevents forum-shopping as
well. See Int’l Union v Michigan, 211 Mich App 20, 24;
535 NW2d 210 (1995). The doctrine is also founded on
an appellate court’s lack of jurisdiction to modify its
own judgments except on rehearing. See Johnson v
White, 430 Mich 47, 53; 420 NW2d 87 (1988). The
law-of-the-case doctrine is, in a sense, the “analytical
cousin of the doctrines of claim and issue preclusion.”
Locricchio v Evening News Ass’n, 438 Mich 84, 109; 476
NW2d 112 (1991). However, the law-of-the case doc-
trine applies “only to issues actually decided, either
implicitly or explicitly, in the prior appeal.” Lopatin,
462 Mich at 260. An issue is decided if this Court
expresses an opinion on the merits. See id. (ruling that
the doctrine did not apply because the Court had not
addressed the issue on the merits).

In this case, both this Court and the Michigan
Supreme Court have expressed opinions on the merits
of plaintiffs’ claims. Specifically, this Court previously
held that former MCL 38.1343e violated the Contracts
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Clauses of the United States and Michigan Constitu-
tions. AFT Mich 1V, 315 Mich App at 621; US Const,
art I, § 10; Const 1963, art 1, § 10. As a result of this
holding, this Court ordered the return of plaintiffs’
funds. Id. at 628. Our Supreme Court also ruled that
former MCL 38.1343e violated the Contracts Clauses
and ordered the return of the funds. AFT Mich V, 501
Mich at 939. By ruling that plaintiffs were entitled to
their wrongly taken wages, both this Court and the
Supreme Court implicitly decided that plaintiffs had a
cause of action. Furthermore, when a higher court has
remanded a case, it is the duty of the lower court to
comply with the remand order. Rodriguez v Gen Motors
Corp (On Remand), 204 Mich App 509, 514; 516 NW2d
105 (1994). The trial court was ordered to distribute
the funds, AFT Mich IV, 315 Mich App at 628; AFT
Mich V, 501 Mich at 939, and it was required to do so.
Therefore, we decline to decide whether plaintiffs’
claims were barred by virtue of plaintiffs’ alleged
failure to verify their respective complaints.

B. STATUTORY INTEREST

Plaintiffs argue that the trial court erred by ruling
that the January 2018 order was not a money judg-
ment. We disagree.

This Court reviews de novo whether a statute ap-
plies in a given case. See In re Forfeiture of $176,598,
465 Mich 382, 385; 633 NW2d 367 (2001). Generally,
“le]ntitlement to interest on a judgment is purely
statutory and must be specifically authorized by stat-
ute.” Dep’t of Transp v Schultz, 201 Mich App 605, 610;
506 NW2d 904 (1993). “[Aln award of interest is
mandatory in all cases to which [a] statute applies.”
Everett v Nickola, 234 Mich App 632, 639; 599 NW2d
732 (1999).
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Plaintiffs argue that interest must be awarded on
the wrongfully withheld funds under MCL 600.6455(2)
of the Court of Claims Act, MCL 600.6401 et seq., which
provides as follows:

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, for
complaints filed on or after January 1, 1987, interest on a
money judgment recovered in a civil action shall be calcu-
lated from the date of filing the complaint at a rate of
interest which is equal to 1% plus the average interest
rate paid at auctions of 5-year United States treasury
notes during the 6 months immediately preceding July 1
and January 1, as certified by the state treasurer, and
compounded annually, pursuant to this section. [Empha-
sis added.]

As noted by the trial court and acknowledged by the
parties, the key phrase in MCL 600.6455(2) is “on a
money judgment.” Plaintiffs argue that because the
crux of this case involved the payment of money, it
necessarily involved a “money judgment.” We disagree.

The phrase “money judgment” is not defined in the
Court of Claims Act, and the caselaw interpreting MCL
600.6455(2) is limited. However, like MCL 600.6455(2),
MCL 600.6013(1) “applies to money judgments recov-
ered in a civil action.” Olson v Olson, 273 Mich App
347, 350; 729 NW2d 908 (2006). The meaning of
“money judgment” within MCL 600.6013(1) has been
interpreted by Michigan courts. When engaging in
statutory interpretation, “the statute must be read as a
whole,” and this Court should read phrases “in the
context of the entire legislative scheme.” Mich Props,
LLC v Meridian Twp, 491 Mich 518, 528; 817 NW2d
548 (2012). This Court also reads subsections of cohe-
sive statutory provisions together. Robinson v Lansing,
486 Mich 1, 15; 782 NW2d 171 (2010). Because both
MCL 600.6013 and MCL 600.6455 are part of the
Revised Judicature Act, MCL 600.101 et seqg., and
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because both provisions refer to money judgments in
civil actions, we will construe the meaning of money
judgment in a civil action the same in MCL 600.6455(2)
as in MCL 600.6013(1).

Caselaw interpreting the phrase “money judgment”
in MCL 600.6013(1) makes it clear that a judgment is
not a money judgment simply because money is
granted as part of that judgment. Under MCL
600.6013(1), a money judgment in a civil action is a
judgment “that orders the payment of a sum of money,
as distinguished from an order directing an act to be
done or property to be restored or transferred.” In re
Forfeiture, 465 Mich at 386.

In In re Forfeiture, the police seized $176,598 from
the claimant’s home and from another residence on the
suspicion that the money was related to drug traffick-
ing. Id. at 383-384. The claimant ultimately prevailed
in a forfeiture action that was brought by the prosecu-
tor. Id. at 384. Thereafter, the claimant moved in the
trial court for the return of the money and statutory
judgment interest under MCL 600.6013. Id. at 383-
384. The trial court ordered the prosecutor to return
the money to the claimant, but it denied the request for
statutory interest. Id. at 385. This Court reversed on
appeal, holding “that the decree directing return of the
funds was a money judgment in a civil action” which
entitled the claimant to interest under MCL
600.6013(1). Id.

In affirming the trial court’s denial of statutory
interest under MCL 600.6013, our Supreme Court
concluded that the order directing the return of the
seized funds to the claimant was not a money judg-
ment in a civil action. Id. at 389. The Court observed
that “[t]he trial court’s order was not an adjudication of
an action for money damages, but rather one for the
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delivery of property that had been the subject of a
forfeiture action.” Id. at 388. Further, the Court rea-
soned that money is “property” subject to forfeiture
and that the trial court simply ordered the return of
specific personal property. Id. at 386-387. It noted that
wrongfully seized currency is generally treated like
any other wrongfully seized property. Id. at 386 n 10.
Specifically, our Supreme Court reasoned that “[t]he
return of seized property is treated as an act of
restoration, rather than as an award of monetary
compensation for damages suffered by a party.” Id.

We conclude that the January 2018 order at issue in
this case directed the return of specific personal prop-
erty and was not an award of monetary compensation
for damages. As already discussed, defendants took
money from plaintiffs’ paychecks and that specific
money was ordered to be placed into an account. This
Court ordered that the money be “return|ed] . . . to the
relevant employees,” AFT Mich IV, 315 Mich App at
612, and our Supreme Court ordered that the funds
collected “must be refunded to the plaintiffs,” AFT
Mich V, 501 Mich at 939. Consistently with these
holdings, the trial court ordered as follows:

The funds currently held in the separate interest-
bearing accounts will be dispersed by Defendants on
January 22, 2018 to the reporting units, or Local Educa-
tion Agencies (LEAs), from which the funds were received,
together with the interest earned on the amounts in the
interest-bearing account.

Accordingly, the January 2018 order did not order
the payment of a sum of money. Rather, the order
directed an act to be done, i.e., that plaintiffs’ property
be transferred “to the reporting units” or LEAs “from
which the funds were received.” Thus, like in In re
Forfeiture, the order represented the return of specific
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property that defendants wrongfully took from plain-
tiffs. Because a money judgment was not entered, the
trial court properly declined to award statutory inter-
est to plaintiffs under MCL 600.6455(2).

C. EQUITABLE INTEREST

Defendants argue that the trial court erred by
awarding plaintiffs equitable interest. Specifically, de-
fendants argue that plaintiffs’ request for compensa-
tion for their loss of use of the money taken by
defendants was a claim for common-law damages to
which defendants have not waived immunity.! We
agree.

From the time of Michigan’s statehood, our Supreme
Court’s jurisprudence has recognized that the state, as
sovereign, is immune from suit unless it consents to
the lawsuit. Manion v State Hwy Comm’r, 303 Mich 1,
19; 5 NW2d 527 (1942). See also Odom v Wayne Co, 482
Mich 459, 477; 760 NW2d 217 (2008). Thus, “a govern-
mental agency is immune unless the Legislature has
pulled back the veil of immunity and allowed suit by
citizens against the government.” Mack v Detroit, 467
Mich 186, 195; 649 NW2d 47 (2002). Tort immunity is
granted to governmental agencies in MCL 691.1407(1),
which provides, in pertinent part, “Except as otherwise
provided in this act, a governmental agency is immune
from tort liability if the governmental agency is en-
gaged in the exercise or discharge of a governmental

1 We note that defendants argue that “sovereign immunity” bars
plaintiffs’ claims. However, Michigan has abrogated common-law sover-
eign immunity. Pittman v City of Taylor, 398 Mich 41, 49; 247 NW2d 512
(1976). Furthermore, our Supreme Court has explained that while the
terms “sovereign immunity” and “governmental immunity” have been
used interchangeably over the years, the terms are not synonymous.
Pohutski v City of Allen Park, 465 Mich 675, 682; 641 NW2d 219 (2002).
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function.” Thus, “[ilmmunity from tort liability, as
provided by MCL 691.1407 ..., is expressed in the
broadest possible language—it extends immunity to all
governmental agencies for all tort liability whenever
they are engaged in the exercise or discharge of a
governmental function.” Nawrocki v Macomb Co Rd
Comm, 463 Mich 143, 156; 615 NW2d 702 (2000)
(emphasis omitted). However, the GTLA also provides
several exceptions to this broad grant of immunity,
Wesche v Mecosta Co Rd Comm, 480 Mich 75, 84; 746
NW2d 847 (2008), none of which pertains to a claim for
damages arising from the violation of a constitutional
right.

“The Legislature has never created an exception to
immunity for a constitutional tort.” Mays v Governor,
506 Mich 157, 187; 954 NW2d 139 (2020) (opinion by
BERNSTEIN, J.). Nonetheless, in Smith v Dep’t of Pub
Health, 428 Mich 540, 544; 410 NW2d 749 (1987), our
Supreme Court held that “[a] claim for damages
against the state arising from violation by the state of
the Michigan Constitution may be recognized in appro-
priate cases.” However, as recently recognized by our
Supreme Court in Mays, 506 Mich at 196 (opinion by
BERNSTEIN, J.),

[t]his Court has never explicitly endorsed a test for assess-
ing a damages inquiry for a constitutional violation.
However, we agree with the Court of Claims and the Court
of Appeals that the multifactor test elaborated in Justice
BoOYLE’s separate opinion in Smith provides a framework
for assessing the damages inquiry. Under that test, we
weigh various factors, including (1) the existence and
clarity of the constitutional violation itself; (2) the degree
of specificity of the constitutional protection; (3) support
for the propriety of a judicially inferred damages remedy
in any text, history, and previous interpretations of the
specific provision; (4) the availability of another remedy;
and (5) various other factors militating for or against a
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judicially inferred damages remedy. See Smith, 428 Mich
at 648-652 (BOYLE, J., concurring in part and dissenting in
part).

As to the first factor, as already discussed in detail,
this Court and our Supreme Court have determined
that plaintiffs have established a clear violation of the
Contracts Clauses of the United States and Michigan
Constitutions. See AF'T Mich IV, 315 Mich App at 621,
AFT Mich V, 501 Mich at 939. Thus, this factor weighs
in favor of a judicially inferred damages remedy.

With respect to the second and third factors, US
Const, art I, § 10 and Const 1963, art 1, § 10 both
prohibit the enactment of a statute that impairs a
contract, and the two provisions are interpreted simi-
larly. In re Certified Question, 447 Mich 765, 776-777;
527 NW2d 468 (1994). However, “[n]ot every constitu-
tional violation merits damages.” Mays, 506 Mich at
196 (opinion by BERNSTEIN, J.). Importantly, the federal
Contracts Clause has not historically provided a dam-
ages remedy. See Carter v Greenhow, 114 US 317, 322;
5 S Ct 928; 29 L. Ed 202 (1885). Rather, the United
States Supreme Court has held that a plaintiff who
asserts that a state law violated the Contracts Clause
has only “a right to have a judicial determination,
declaring the nullity of the attempt to impair its
obligation. This is the only right secured to him by that
clause of the Constitution.” Id. Thus, the remedy
available for a Contracts Clause violation is generally
declaratory or injunctive relief. See id. We therefore
conclude that the second and third factors weigh
against recognition of a damages remedy.

With respect to the fourth factor, “[t]he existence of
alternative remedies is given considerable weight, but
it is not dispositive.” Mays, 506 Mich at 197 (opinion by
BERNSTEIN, J.) (citation omitted). Importantly, in this
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case, plaintiffs clearly enjoyed an alternative remedy
in that they were able to bring equitable claims. Not
only were plaintiffs able to bring equitable claims, they
also recovered on these claims. As already discussed in
depth, plaintiffs’ remedy in this case specifically in-
cluded the distribution of the balance of an escrow
account. See AFT Mich IV, 315 Mich App at 628; AFT
Mich V, 501 Mich at 939. Therefore, this factor weighs
against recognition of a damages remedy. Finally, as to
the fifth factor, which requires us to assess all other
relevant considerations, we can discern no other rel-
evant circumstances that would support a conclusion
that damages should be inferred for a Contracts Clause
violation. Indeed, as already stated, the federal Con-
tracts Clause has not historically provided a damages
remedy, and equitable relief was available to plaintiffs.
On the basis of these factors, we conclude that it is
unwarranted to conclude that damages should be in-
ferred for a Contracts Clause violation.

Because money damages are not available to plain-
tiffs for the constitutional tort, we must next consider
whether the equitable interest awarded in this case
amounted to an award of damages. We find it helpful to
first consider the meaning of the word “interest.”
Various caselaw definitions of the term “interest” make
reference to its relationship to the use of money. The
United States Supreme Court stated in Deputy v Du
Pont, 308 US 488, 497-498; 60 S Ct 363; 84 L. Ed 416
(1940), that the “usual import of the term” “interest” “is
the amount which one has contracted to pay for the use
of borrowed money” and added that “‘interest on
indebtedness’ means compensation for the use or for-
bearance of money.” (Some quotation marks and cita-
tions omitted.) “Interest” has also been defined as “the
compensation allowed by law, or fixed by the parties,
for the use or forbearance of money, or as damages for
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its detention.” Marion v Detroit, 284 Mich 476, 484; 280
NW 26 (1938) (quotation marks and citation omitted).
Additionally, in Balch v Detroit Trust Co, 312 Mich 146,
152; 20 NW2d 138 (1945), our Supreme Court stated
that “interest” “is paid for the use of money . . . or given
for the delay in the payment of money.” (Quotation
marks and citations omitted.)

Dictionaries define “interest” similarly to our case-
law. Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (11th ed)
defines “interest” as “a charge for borrowed money
generally a percentage of the amount borrowed.”
Random House Webster’s College Dictionary (1997)
defines “interest” as “a sum paid or charged for the use
of money or for borrowing money,” or “such a sum
expressed as a percentage of the amount borrowed to
be paid over a given period....” Thus, interest is
compensation for the use of another’s money.

Importantly,

Michigan has long recognized the common-law doctrine of
awarding interest as an element of damages. The doctrine
recognizes that money has a “use value” and interest is a
legitimate element of damages used to compensate the
prevailing party for the lost use of its funds. Furthermore,
the decision whether to award interest as an element of
damages is not dependent upon a contractual promise to
pay interest . ... [Tlhe pivotal factor in awarding such
interest is whether it is necessary to allow full compensa-
tion. [Gordon Sel-Way, Inc v Spence Bros, Inc, 438 Mich
488, 499; 475 NW2d 704 (1991) (citations omitted).]

Accordingly, in Michigan, the purpose of common-
law interest is to compensate plaintiffs for loss of use of
their funds and to “allow full compensation.” Id. In-
deed, courts have long recognized equitable prejudg-
ment interest as “an element of [a litigant’s] complete
compensation.” Osterneck v Ernst & Whinney, 489 US
169, 175; 109 S Ct 987; 103 L Ed 2d 146 (1989)
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(quotation marks and citation omitted). “Prejudgment
interest is normally designed to make the plaintiff
whole and is part of the actual damages sought to be
recovered.” Monessen Southwestern R Co v Morgan,
486 US 330, 335; 108 S Ct 1837; 100 L. Ed 2d 349
(1988). See also Library of Congress v Shaw, 478 US
310, 321; 106 S Ct 2957; 92 L Ed 2d 250 (1986)
(adopting the view that “[plrejudgment interest . . . is
considered as damages, not a component of ‘costs’”);
Gen Motors Corp v Devex Corp, 461 US 648, 655-656
n 10; 103 S Ct 2058; 76 L Ed 2d 211 (1983) (stating that
“prejudgment interest represents ‘delay damages’ and
should be awarded as a component of full compensa-
tion”); Miller v Robertson, 266 US 243, 258; 45 S Ct 73;
69 L Ed 265 (1924) (“[Iln order to arrive at fair
compensation, the court in the exercise of a sound
discretion may include interest or its equivalent as an
element of damages.”).

In this case, plaintiffs sought interest in order to be
fully compensated for their losses, i.e., the deprivation
of the benefit of possessing and using the funds during
the years prior to judgment. Plaintiffs claimed that
because the interest on the money held in escrow was
“less than one percent of the principal in total,” they
would not be made whole if the trial court did not order
defendants to pay interest. When determining that it
was proper to award equitable interest, the trial court
noted that plaintiffs “were deprived of the use of the
funds.” The trial court also noted that defendants’
taking of a portion of plaintiffs’ wages hindered “plain-
tiffs’ respective abilities to provide for and ‘meet the
daily necessities of life.” ” Based in part on these facts,
the trial court found that it was proper to award
interest and applied MCL 600.6455(2) in order to
calculate the amount of interest owed to plaintiffs.
Thus, the interest awarded in this case was a compen-
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satory damage in that it compensated plaintiffs for the
delay and expense that resulted from the loss of use of
their property. Consequently, the trial court erred by
awarding equitable interest.

Finally, plaintiffs in Docket No. 345418 argue that
they are entitled to interest beyond that of the interest
earned in the interest-bearing account because this
Court and the Michigan Supreme Court specifically
ordered that the funds be returned “with interest.” We
disagree.

Courts should interpret the terms in a judgment in
the same manner as courts interpret contracts. Smith
v Smith, 278 Mich App 198, 200; 748 NW2d 258 (2008).
We construe contractual terms in context, Henderson v
State Farm Fire & Cas Co, 460 Mich 348, 356-357; 596
NW2d 190 (1999), and this Court generally construes
together agreements that are related to the same
subject matter, Culver v Castro, 126 Mich App 824,
826; 338 NW2d 232 (1983). Courts should not read
language into contracts, In re Smith Trust, 274 Mich
App 283, 288-289; 731 NW2d 810 (2007), or rewrite
clear contractual language, DeFrain v State Farm Mut
Auto Ins Co, 491 Mich 359, 372; 817 NW2d 504 (2012).

In this case, the trial court ordered that the money
was to be “placed in a separate interest bearing ac-
count” and not spent or disbursed until further order of
the court. Additionally, the September 2010 stipulated
order provided that if it was determined that former
MCL 38.1343e was unconstitutional or unenforceable,
defendants would “repay to each member of MPSERS
who contributed under MCL 38.1343e the amount of
their individual contributions, plus any interest
earned thereon in the separate interest-bearing ac-
count.” In AFT Mich IV, 315 Mich App at 628, this
Court ordered that the trial court “shall direct the
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return of the subject funds, with interest, to the
relevant employees.” The Michigan Supreme Court
ordered that the funds be refunded to plaintiffs in
accordance with this Court’s judgment. AFT Mich V,
501 Mich at 939. Construing the judgments together,
like this Court would construe contracts together, we
conclude that this Court’s reference to interest means
the interest from the interest-bearing account, not
some other form of interest. Indeed, had this Court
wished to order the payment of judgment interest, it
would have done so. Consequently, we decline to read
the word “judgment” before the word “interest” into
this Court’s previous decision.2 See AF'T Mich 1V, 315
Mich App at 628.

We affirm in part and reverse in part. We do not
retain jurisdiction.

JANSEN, PJ., and K. F. KELLY, J., concurred with
CAMERON, d.

2 Given this holding, the remainder of the parties’ arguments on appeal
are rendered moot and need not be considered. See Attorney General v
Pub Serv Comm, 269 Mich App 473, 485; 713 NW2d 290 (2006).
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MICHIGAN ALLIANCE FOR RETIRED AMERICANS v
SECRETARY OF STATE

Docket No. 354993. Submitted October 9, 2020, at Lansing. Decided

October 16, 2020, at 9:00 a.m.

The Michigan Alliance for Retired Americans, Detroit/Downriver
Chapter of the A. Philip Randolph Institute, and three individu-
als, Charles Robinson, Gerard McMurran, and Jim Pedersen
(collectively, plaintiffs) brought an action in the Court of Claims
against the Secretary of State and the Attorney General, seeking
declaratory and injunctive relief related to the handling and
counting of absent-voter ballots for the 2020 general election.
Plaintiffs subsequently filed an amended complaint, asserting
facial and as-applied challenges to the constitutionality of three
laws: (1) a deadline requiring that ballots submitted by absent
voters must be received by election officials before polls close at
8:00 p.m. on election day in order to be counted, MCL 168.759b
and MCL 168.764a; (2) a ballot-handling provision that restricts
who, other than the voter, may possess, solicit, or deliver an
absent voter’s ballot, MCL 168.932(f); and (3) a requirement that
voters who choose to submit their ballot by mail must first affix
the necessary postage to their envelope to ensure delivery, MCL
168.764a. In relevant part, plaintiffs alleged that these laws, in
combination with the anticipated delay in mail delivery due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, imposed unconstitutional burdens on plain-
tiffs’ right to vote absentee in violation of Const 1963, art 1, § 2.
Plaintiffs later requested that the Court of Claims issue a
preliminary injunction, and the Court of Claims, CyNTHIA D.
STEPHENS, dJ., did so in part. Plaintiffs and defendants filed
competing motions for summary disposition. The Court of Claims
granted partial relief to plaintiffs, concluding that plaintiffs had
established two as-applied constitutional violations of plaintiffs’
right to vote absentee in the 2020 general election. The Court of
Claims issued an order enjoining the operation of two election
laws: the deadline for mail-in absent-voter ballots and the restric-
tion limiting who can lawfully possess, solicit, and deliver another
person’s ballots. The Court of Claims ordered that mail-in ballots
received after the polls closed on election night would now be
eligible to be counted up to 14 days later, provided that the “ballot
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is postmarked before election day” and received by the clerk
within 14 days of the election. The Court of Claims also sus-
pended the ballot-handling restrictions regarding third parties
possessing and delivering absentee ballots as long as the third
party’s conduct occurred from 5:01 p.m. on the Friday before the
2020 general election until the polls closed, so long as the absent
voter gave his or her approval. The Court of Claims rejected
plaintiffs’ final claim that the state was constitutionally required
to provide prepaid postage for absent voters to use after complet-
ing their ballots and granted summary disposition in favor of
defendants with respect to this claim only. After defendants
elected not to appeal, the Michigan Senate and the Michigan
House of Representatives (the Legislature) successfully inter-
vened and filed the instant appeal. The Republican National
Committee and the Michigan Republican Party appeared as
amici on appeal.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The Legislature had standing to file an appeal, and it was
assumed without deciding that plaintiffs had standing to bring
suit. A litigant on appeal must demonstrate an injury arising
from either the actions of the trial court or the appellate court
judgment rather than an injury arising from the underlying facts
of the case. The appellate litigant must show a concrete and
particularized injury. In this case, plaintiffs argued that the
Legislature did not have standing on appeal. However, the
Legislature—a body that is subject to the election procedures at
issue in this case and that is composed of elected officials of the
citizens of Michigan—undoubtedly had a significant interest in
the instant appeal. League of Women Voters of Mich v Secretary of
State, 331 Mich App 156 (2020) (League I), was distinguishable.
The Legislature in League I sought—as a plaintiff—a declaratory
judgment to enforce particular legislation; in doing so, the Leg-
islature was challenging the actions of members of the executive
branch. In this case, however, the Legislature sought to intervene
after defendants, constitutional officers within the executive
branch, declined to appeal the Court of Claims decision. The
Legislature essentially took the place of defendants in this case.
Accordingly, the Legislature had standing to appeal. Further-
more, it was assumed without deciding that plaintiffs had stand-
ing to bring suit; given the exigent circumstances in this case and
given that plaintiffs asserted their members’ status as elderly or
disabled individuals—some of whom had underlying health con-
ditions that made them more vulnerable to COVID-19—plaintiffs
had standing.
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2. The Court of Claims erred by granting summary disposition
in favor of plaintiffs on its declaratory action. Plaintiffs requested
relief that was not confined only to plaintiffs but would apply to all
Michigan voters who choose to cast their ballots by mail. The
ballot-deadline relief extended well beyond the circumstances of
the individual plaintiffs and their organizations, reaching all
Michigan voters who, for whatever reason, would benefit from
more time in which to mail their ballots. Furthermore, lifting the
restrictions and criminal penalties concerning who may handle
absent-voter ballots would apply to all Michigan voters as long as
the conduct in question occurred after 5:00 p.m. on the Friday
before the election. While plaintiffs’ challenge arose only in rela-
tion to a specific fact pattern—the November 3, 2020 election
during the COVID-19 pandemic and slow mail delivery—the relief
plaintiffs sought would apply to every Michigan absent voter.
Therefore, the substance of plaintiffs’ amended complaint was a
facial challenge of the relevant statutes, and the Court of Claims
erred by failing to analyze the claims accordingly. A party challeng-
ing the facial constitutionality of a statute faces an extremely
rigorous standard and must show that no set of circumstances
exists under which the statute would be valid. League of Women
Voters of Mich v Secretary of State, 333 Mich App 1, 29-30 (2020)
(opinion by SAWYER, P.J.); id. at 32 (RIORDAN, J., concurring), held
that the 8:00 p.m. ballot-receipt deadline survived a facial chal-
lenge and did not violate Const 1963, art 2, § 4. Accordingly, the
ballot-receipt deadline was not unconstitutional. Furthermore, the
ballot-handling restrictions of MCL 168.932(f) also survived a
facial challenge. The ballot-handling restrictions are intended to
combat voter fraud; imposing limits on whether third parties can
possess or collect ballots simply reflects a policy decision by a duly
elected Legislature, where the Constitution places responsibility to
regulate and preserve the purity of elections. In sum, the restric-
tions in MCL 168.932(f) were reasonable, nondiscriminatory, and
warranted to further the important regulatory interest of protect-
ing against voter fraud. Furthermore, the requirement that clerks
provide voter assistance only until 5:00 p.m. on the Friday before
an election—in addition to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
asserted delivery slowdown at the United States Postal Service
(the USPS)—did not impose an unconstitutional burden on the
right to vote absentee. Even with the 5:00 p.m. limit, voters were
not deprived of the choice to vote absentee; they retained all the
options of delivering their ballots in person to the clerk, using one
of over 1,000 drop boxes in the state, using community satellite
voter centers, if available, or relying on any family member or
household resident to deliver their ballots. Additionally, the clerk is



2020] RETIRED AMERICANS V SEC OF STATE 241

required to assist voters with returning their ballots if the voters
request such assistance before 5:00 p.m. on the Friday before an
election, and the clerk may continue to provide door-to-door deliv-
ery service for qualified absent voters after that time. Given the
variety of options, the ballot-handling restrictions did not imper-
missibly burden the right to vote absentee. And even if plaintiffs’
claims could be considered as-applied challenges, those claims did
not survive. The Court of Claims concluded that returning the
ballot by mail was the “only realistic option” for those with
underlying health conditions who wished to vote absentee; how-
ever, that finding was unsupported given the additional ballot-
delivery options available to absentee voters. Additionally, as
pointed out by amici, the pandemic and resulting USPS mail-
delivery slowdowns were not attributable to the state. Although
those factors could complicate plaintiffs’ voting process, they did
not automatically amount to a loss of the right to vote absentee.
Accordingly, the Court of Claims erred by granting summary
disposition in favor of plaintiffs on its declaratory action.

3. The Court of Claims abused its discretion by entering the
preliminary injunction given plaintiffs’ failure to establish a
likelihood of success on the merits and plaintiffs’ failure to
establish irreparable harm. And because the Court of Claims
erred by concluding that a constitutional violation existed, it
necessarily followed that the Court of Claims abused its discre-
tion by entering the permanent injunction.

Reversed and remanded for the immediate entry of summary
disposition in favor of defendants.

BOONSTRA, J., concurring, fully agreed with the opinion of the
Court but wrote separately to express his concerns about judicial
overreach in recent years. For instance, in this case, the Court of
Claims ordered oral argument on plaintiff's request for a prelimi-
nary injunction even though plaintiffs had not filed a motion for
injunctive relief. Additionally, Judge BOONSTRA observed that in
the face of an adverse decision on the constitutional issue raised
in League of Women Voters of Mich, 333 Mich App 1, plaintiffs in
this case embarked on a creative effort to dodge the effect of that
decision, taking advantage of expedited briefing on a “motion”
that had never been filed, oral argument on a “motion” that had
never been filed, a reframing of plaintiffs’ arguments to sidestep
the adverse decision in League of Women Voters of Mich, 333 Mich
App 1, the “augmentation” of plaintiffs’ complaint to conform to
those reframed arguments, and errors on the merits as outlined
in the opinion of the Court. Furthermore, Judge BOONSTRA be-
lieved thatif circumstances had permitted the examination of the
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question of standing, the Court might have come to the conclusion
that plaintiffs lacked standing because, in bringing a facial
constitutional challenge, it could plausibly be argued that plain-
tiffs were not asserting a special injury or right—or substantial
interest—that would be detrimentally affected in a manner
different from the citizenry at large. Plaintiffs should have sought
the remedy of mandamus but did not do so. As a result, it could be
argued that plaintiffs lacked standing.

1. ELECTION LAW — ABSENT-VOTER BALLOTS — BALLOT-RECEIPT DEADLINE.

MCL 168.759b and MCL 168.764a provide that ballots submitted
by absent voters must be received by election officials before polls
close at 8:00 p.m. on election day in order to be counted; the 8:00
p.m. ballot-receipt deadline does not violate Const 1963, art 2, § 4.

2. ELECTION LAW — ABSENT-VOTER BALLOTS — BALLOT-HANDLING RESTRIC-
TIONS.

MCL 168.764a and MCL 168.932(f) are ballot-handling provisions
that restrict who, other than the voter, may possess, solicit, or
deliver an absent voter’s ballot; the restrictions in MCL 168.932(f)
are reasonable, nondiscriminatory, and warranted to further the
important regulatory interest of protecting against voter fraud.

Perkins Coie LLP (by Marc E. Elias, Uzoma N.
Nkwonta, Courtney A. Elgart, Jyoti Jasrasaria, and
Reina Almon-Griffin) and Salvatore Prescott Porter
& Porter (by Sarah S. Prescott) for the Michigan
Alliance for Retired Americans, Detroit/Downriver
Chapter of the A. Philip Randolph Institute, Charles
Robinson, Gerard McMurren, and Jim Pedersen.

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, and Heather S. Meingast
and Erik A. Grill, Assistant Attorneys General, for the
Secretary of State and the Attorney General.

Bush Seyferth PLLC (by Patrick G. Seyferth,
Michael K. Steinberger, and Frankie Dame) for the
Michigan Senate and the Michigan House of Repre-
sentatives.
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Amici Curiae:

Butzel Long, PC (by Kurtis T. Wilder, Joseph E.
Richotte, and Steven R. Eatherly) for the Michigan
Republican Party and the Republican National Com-
mittee.

Before: CAMERON, P.J., and BOONSTRA and GADOLA, JdJ.

CAMERON, P.J. Intervening defendants, the Senate
and the House of Representatives (collectively, the
Legislature), appeal by right a September 30, 2020
opinion and order of the Court of Claims that granted
declaratory and injunctive relief in favor of plaintiffs
with respect to the receipt deadline for absentee ballots
and ballot-handling restrictions that limit who may
lawfully possess another voter’s ballot. For the reasons
stated in this opinion, we reverse.

I. FACTS AND PROCEDURE

In June 2020, plaintiffs filed a complaint against
defendant Secretary of State (the Secretary) and de-
fendant Attorney General, seeking declaratory and
injunctive relief related to the handling and counting
of absent-voter ballots for the 2020 general election.!
Plaintiffs later filed an amended complaint, asserting

1 Plaintiffs’ original complaint requested preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief. The Court of Claims later entered the following
scheduling order: “IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: that oral argument on
Plaintiff’s request for Declaratory and Injunctive relief is scheduled for
Wednesday, July 08, 2020 at 11:00 a.m. via Zoom. Plaintiff’s brief
shall be filed by Friday, June 26, 2020 at 12:00p.m. Defendant’s re-
sponse is due by Friday, July 03, 2020 at 12:00p.m. No replies are
permitted.” Thereafter, plaintiffs filed a brief entitled “BRIEF IN
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS® REQUEST FOR PRELIMINARY IN-
JUNCTIVE RELIEF IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE COURT'S 6/19/20
SCHEDULING ORDER?” in support of their demand for preliminary
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facial and as-applied challenges to the constitutional-
ity of three laws: (1) a deadline requiring that ballots
submitted by absent voters must be received by elec-
tion officials before polls close at 8:00 p.m. on election
day in order to be counted; (2) a ballot-handling provi-
sion that restricts who, other than the voter, may
possess, solicit, or deliver an absent voter’s ballot; and
(3) a requirement that voters who choose to submit
their ballot by mail must first affix the necessary
postage to their envelope to ensure delivery. In rel-
evant part, plaintiffs alleged that these laws, in com-
bination with the anticipated delay in the delivery of
mail due to the COVID-19 pandemic, impose unconsti-
tutional burdens on plaintiffs’ right to vote absentee in
violation of Const 1963, art 1, § 2. Plaintiffs urged the
Court of Claims to declare these laws unconstitutional
and to suspend the enforcement of these election laws
for the 2020 general election. Plaintiffs further asked
the court to order that all absent-voter ballots post-
marked before election day and received within 14
days of election day must be counted, to suspend the
ballot-handling restrictions, and to require that Michi-
gan provide prepaid postage to all voters who re-
quested an absentee ballot.

Plaintiffs later requested that the Court of Claims
issue a preliminary injunction, and the Court of Claims
did so in part. Thereafter, plaintiffs and defendants
filed competing motions for summary disposition. Ul-
timately, the Court of Claims granted partial relief to
plaintiffs, concluding that plaintiffs had established
two as-applied constitutional violations of plaintiffs’
right to vote absentee in the 2020 general election. The

injunctive relief. In defendants’ response, defendants noted that plain-
tiffs had not moved for a preliminary injunction before the trial court
issued its scheduling order.
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Court of Claims issued an order enjoining the opera-
tion of two election laws: the deadline for mail-in
absent-voter ballots and the restriction limiting who
can lawfully possess, solicit, and deliver another per-
son’s ballots. The Court of Claims ordered that mail-in
ballots received after the polls closed on election night
would now be eligible to be counted up to 14 days later,
provided that the “ballot is postmarked before election
day” and received by the clerk within 14 days of the
election.? The Court of Claims also suspended the
ballot-handling restrictions regarding third parties
possessing and delivering absentee ballots as long as
the third party’s conduct occurs from 5:01 p.m. on the
Friday before the 2020 general election until polls
close, so long as the absent voter gives his or her
approval. The Court of Claims rejected plaintiffs’ final
claim that the state was constitutionally required to
provide prepaid postage for absent voters to use after
completing their ballots and granted summary dispo-
sition in favor of defendants with respect to this claim
only.

After defendants elected not to appeal, the Legisla-
ture, which had appeared as amicus in the Court of
Claims proceedings, successfully intervened and filed
the instant appeal. The Republican National Commit-
tee and the Michigan Republican Party appear on
appeal as amici.?

2 The Court of Claims held, in relevant part: “Consistent with MCL
168.822, the timely postmarked ballot must be received by the clerk’s
office no later than 14 days after the election has occurred, so as not to
interfere with the board of county canvassers’ duty to certify election
results by the fourteenth day after the election.”

3 Mich Alliance for Retired Americans v Secretary of State, unpub-
lished order of the Court of Appeals, entered October 9, 2020 (Docket No.
354993).
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II. LEGAL BACKGROUND

Michigan law formerly required voters to designate
one of six reasons to support a request to vote absentee.
In November 2018, Michigan voters approved Proposal
3, which bestowed a constitutional right to “no-reason”
absentee voting on all Michigan voters. Const 1963, art
2, § 4(1)(g) now provides that Michigan voters shall
have the right “to vote an absent voter ballot without
giving a reason....” The Legislature then enacted
2018 PA 603, which amended the Michigan Election
Law accordingly.

Under the Michigan Election Law, MCL 168.1 et
seq., registered voters may apply for an absentee ballot
by completing an application to receive an absentee
ballot. The application from an already-registered
voter must be made before “4 p.m. on the day before the
election.” MCL 168.761(3). An unregistered voter, how-
ever, may apply for an absentee ballot as late as “before
8 p.m. on election day” provided that he or she does so
in person at the clerk’s office. MCL 168.761(3). Notably,
if a voter applies for an absentee ballot after 5:00 p.m.
on the Friday before an election, “[t]he clerk of a city or
township shall not send by first-class mail an absent
voter ballot . ...” MCL 168.759(2). The Secretary has
issued instructions to clerks to transmit a ballot to a
voter by mail only when adequate time exists for the
voter to receive the ballot by mail, vote, and return the
ballot before 8:00 p.m. on election day.

By law, an absent-voter ballot contains the following
instructions to the voter: (1) read the voting instruc-
tions; (2) after voting, place the ballot in the secrecy
sleeve or fold it to conceal the votes; (3) place the ballot
in the return envelope and seal it; (4) sign and date the
envelope and, if assistance in voting was required, mark
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that on the envelope; and (5) use one of four methods to
deliver the return envelope to the clerk. MCL 168.764a.

Step Five of the instructions provides four methods
of delivering completed absent-voter ballots to the
clerk. First, voters may deposit ballots in “the United
States mail or with another public postal service,
express mail service, parcel post service, or common
carrier.” MCL 168.764a, Step 5(a). Voters who choose to
use the United States mail or a delivery service must
“[pllace the necessary postage upon the return enve-
lope ....” MCL 168.764a, Step 5(a). Second, a voter
may deliver the completed absentee ballot in person.
MCL 168.764a, Step 5(b). Third, a voter may mail or
deliver his or her ballot through “a member of the
immediate family of the voter including a father-in-
law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-
in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent, or grandchild or
an individual residing in the voter’s household . ...”
MCL 168.764a, Step 5(c). But a person who is not a
member of a voter’s immediate family or who does not
reside in the voter’s household is prohibited from
possessing another person’s ballot; indeed, to do so
subjects the person to prosecution for a five-year felony.
MCL 168.764a; MCL 168.761; MCL 168.932(f); MCL
168.935. The fourth and final method is that a voter
who is unable to return his or her absent-voter ballot
by any of the other authorized methods may “request
by telephone that the clerk who issued the ballot
provide assistance in returning the ballot.” MCL
168.764a, Step 5(d). When the proper request is made
before “5 p.m. on the Friday immediately preceding the
election,” the clerk’s office is required to pick up and
deliver the absent-voter ballot.* MCL 168.764a, Step

4 The pertinent sentence reads, “The clerk is required to provide
assistance if you are unable to return your absent voter ballot as
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5(d); see also MCL 168.764b(4)(c). When the request
occurs after 5:00 p.m. on the Friday immediately
preceding the election, the clerk may—but is not duty
bound—to pick up and deliver the absent-voter ballot.>

Notably, if an absent voter’s ballot is returned to the
clerk’s office in an unauthorized manner, the ballot will
not be “invalidated solely because the delivery to the
clerk was not in compliance” with the statutes. MCL
168.764b(7). Rather, the ballot will be processed as a
challenged ballot. MCL 168.764b(7). Completed ballots
must be received by the clerk “before the close of the
polls on election day.”s MCL 168.764a, Step 6. Further-
more, MCL 168.759b provides, in relevant part, that
“[t]o be valid, ballots must be returned to the clerk in
time to be delivered to the polls prior to 8 p.m. on
election day.” Ballots not received by 8:00 p.m. on
election day are not counted. MCL 168.764a, Step 6

specified in (a), (b), or (c) above, if it is before 5 p.m. on the Friday
immediately preceding the election, and if you are asking the clerk to
pick up the absent voter ballot within the jurisdictional limits of the city,
township, or village in which you are registered.” MCL 168.764a, Step
5(d). Therefore, under the plain language of the statute, a voter need
only call the clerk before 5:00 p.m. on the Friday immediately preceding
the election to trigger the clerk’s duty to provide ballot-delivery service
for eligible absent voters.

5 The clerk’s obligations found in MCL 168.764b(4) and (5) are
essentially the same except that MCL 168.764b(5) reduces the clerk’s
responsibility to provide ballot-delivery services from a “shall” to “may”
if the request for assistance is made after 5:00 p.m. on the Friday
immediately preceding the election. Although not particularly relevant
to this appeal, MCL 168.764b(5) also removes the restriction that,
during this narrow window, the absent-voter ballot be within the
jurisdictional limits in which the absent voter is registered; election
officials therefore may provide ballot-delivery service for absent voters
under MCL 168.764b(5) even if the ballot is outside of those jurisdic-
tional limits.

5 The polls close at 8:00 p.m. MCL 168.720.
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(“An absent voter ballot received by the clerk or assis-
tant of the clerk after the close of the polls on election
day will not be counted.”).

ITI. ANALYSIS

A. STANDING

Plaintiffs argue that the Legislature does not having
standing to file an appeal in this matter. We disagree.

Whether a party has standing is a question of law
subject to review de novo. Groves v Dep’t of Corrections,
295 Mich App 1, 4; 811 NW2d 563 (2011). In League of
Women Voters of Mich v Secretary of State, 331 Mich
App 156, 168-169; 952 NW2d 491 (2020) (League I),
affd in part and vacated in part 506 Mich 561 (2020),
this Court observed as follows:

[TThis Court has jurisdiction over appeals by right “filed by
an aggrieved party.” MCR 7.203(A). Black’s Law Diction-
ary (11th ed) defines “aggrieved party” as “[a] party
entitled to a remedy; [especially], a party whose personal,
pecuniary, or property rights have been adversely affected
by another person’s actions or by a court’s decree or
judgment.” “To be aggrieved, one must have some interest
of a pecuniary nature in the outcome of the case, and not
a mere possibility arising from some unknown and future
contingency.” Federated Ins Co v Oakland Co Rd Comm,
475 Mich 286, 291; 715 NW2d 846 (2006) (quotation
marks and citation omitted).

* * &

“‘Standing is the legal term used to denote the exis-
tence of a party’s interest in the outcome of the litigation;
an interest that will assure sincere and vigorous advo-
cacy.” ” Allstate Ins Co v Hayes, 442 Mich 56, 68; 499 NW2d
743 (1993) (citations omitted).
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Furthermore, our Supreme Court has ruled, in per-
tinent part, that “a litigant on appeal must demon-
strate an injury arising from either the actions of the
trial court or the appellate court judgment rather than
an injury arising from the underlying facts of the case.”
Federated Ins Co, 475 Mich at 292. Therefore, the
appellate litigant also must show a “concrete and
particularized injury.” Id. at 291.

Here, plaintiffs argue that the Legislature has not
met its heavy burden of establishing that it has stand-
ing on appeal. In so arguing, however, plaintiffs over-
look the Legislature’s interests given that the Legisla-
ture is “an entity that certainly has an interest in
defending its own work.” League of Women Voters of
Mich v Secretary of State, 506 Mich 905, 911 n 1 (2020)
(MCcCORMACK, C.J., dissenting). This is particularly the
case here given that the Legislature is defending the
constitutionality of several of its statutes, as well as
the manner in which future elections are to be con-
ducted in this state. The Legislature—a body that is
subject to these election procedures and that is com-
posed of elected officials of the citizens of this state—
undoubtedly has a significant interest in the instant
appeal. Indeed, it is difficult to envision interests that
would assure more sincere and vigorous advocacy.

Although plaintiffs oppose the Legislature’s stand-
ing on the basis of League I, we conclude that League I
is distinguishable. The Legislature in League I
sought—as a plaintiff—a declaratory judgment to en-
force particular legislation; in doing so, the Legislature
was “plainly challenging the actions of members of the
Executive Branch.” League I, 331 Mich App at 173. In
this case, however, the Legislature sought to intervene
after defendants, constitutional officers within the
Executive Branch, declined to appeal the Court of
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Claims decision. The Legislature, as a body made up of
the elected representatives of the citizens of Michigan,
is essentially taking the place of defendants in this
case to ensure an actual controversy with robust con-
trary arguments. Indeed, the Court of Claims initially
denied the Legislature’s motion to intervene and only
permitted intervention after the Executive Branch
abdicated its role in this litigation. As noted by this
Court in League of Women Voters of Mich v Secretary of
State, 333 Mich App 1, 11; 959 NW2d 1 (2020) (League
II) (opinion by SAWYER, P.J.),

just as a legislative body cannot legitimately enact a
statute that is repugnant to the Constitution, nor can an
executive-branch official effectively declare a properly
enacted law to be void by simply conceding the point in
litigation. To vest that power in an official would effec-
tively grant that official the power to amend the Consti-
tution itself.

For these reasons, we conclude that the Legislature
has standing to appeal.

Amici also challenge plaintiffs’ standing to bring
suit, arguing that plaintiffs have not shown a special
injury. However, plaintiffs in this action include the
Michigan Alliance for Retired Americans (MARA),
which is a nonprofit corporation with over 200,000
members, many of whom are elderly and/or disabled,
and the Detroit/Downriver Chapter of the A. Philip
Randolph Institute, the senior constituency group of
the AFL-CIO. The individual plaintiffs, Charles Rob-
inson, Gerard McMurran, and Jim Pedersen, are all
members of MARA, are over the age of 61, and are
retired union members. Given the exigent circum-
stances here and given that plaintiffs have asserted
their members’ status as elderly or disabled
individuals—some of whom have underlying health
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conditions that make them more vulnerable to COVID-
19—we assume without deciding that plaintiffs have
standing. See House of Representatives v Governor, 333
Mich App 325, 343; 960 NW2d 125 (2020) (“In light of
this highly expedited appeal, we shall proceed on the
assumption that the Legislature had standing to file
suit against the Governor for declaratory relief.”), rev’d
in part on other grounds 506 Mich 934 (2020).

B. DECLARATORY RELIEF

The Legislature argues that the Court of Claims
erred by granting summary disposition in favor of
plaintiffs on its declaratory action. We agree.

This Court reviews de novo a trial court’s decision on
a motion for summary disposition in an action seeking
declaratory relief. League I, 331 Mich App at 167. The
constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law
that this Court reviews de novo. GMAC LLC v Dep’t of
Treasury, 286 Mich App 365, 372; 781 NW2d 310
(2009).

The Legislature first argues that the Court of
Claims should have analyzed plaintiffs’ declaratory
claims as a facial attack on the election laws because
plaintiffs’ allegations do not amount to an as-applied
challenge. An “as-applied” challenge “considers the
specific application of a facially valid law to individual
facts,” while a “facial” constitutional challenge consid-
ers the plain language of the challenged provision (i.e.,
on its face). In re Request for Advisory Opinion Regard-
ing Constitutionality of 2005 PA 71,479 Mich 1, 11; 740
NW2d 444 (2007). In other words, a facial challenge is
a claim that the law is “invalid in toto—and therefore
incapable of any valid application....” Steffel v
Thompson, 415 US 452, 474; 94 S Ct 1209; 39 L Ed 2d
505 (1974). In contrast, “[aln as-applied challenge, to
be distinguished from a facial challenge, alleges a



2020] RETIRED AMERICANS V SEC OF STATE 253

present infringement or denial of a specific right or of
a particular injury in process of actual execution of
government action.” Bonner v Brighton, 495 Mich 209,
223 n 27; 848 NW2d 380 (2014) (quotation marks and
citation omitted).

Frequently, as here, litigants describe their chal-
lenges as both facial and as-applied challenges. This is
unsurprising given that elements of the two can over-
lap. See Citizens United v Fed Election Comm, 558 US
310, 331; 130 S Ct 876, 893; 175 L. Ed 2d 753 (2010)
(stating that “the distinction between facial and as-
applied challenges is not so well defined”). However, as
a general rule, substance prevails over the particular
wording used in a complaint. Auto Club Group Ins Co
v Burchell, 249 Mich App 468, 481; 642 NW2d 406
(2002). Thus, a litigant’s labels are not what matter.

In John Doe No 1 v Reed, 561 US 186, 194; 130 S Ct
2811; 177 L Ed 2d 493 (2010), the United States
Supreme Court examined whether a claim was a facial
challenge or an as-applied challenge. In analyzing the
issue, the Reed Court examined the substance of the
plaintiffs’ claim, which contained elements of a facial
challenge because it was not limited to the plaintiffs’
specific case, but it also resembled an as-applied chal-
lenge because it did not seek to strike the challenged
statute in its entirety. Id. The Reed Court then exam-
ined the plaintiffs’ requested relief: an injunction bar-
ring the Secretary of State “ ‘from making referendum
petitions available to the public.’” Id. (citation omit-
ted). The Reed Court declared that the label attached
to the claim was not dispositive; rather, the Court held
that the deciding factor was that the relief the plain-
tiffs sought would “reach beyond the particular circum-
stances of these plaintiffs.” Id. The Reed Court ruled
that the plaintiffs must “satisfy our standards for a
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facial challenge to the extent of that reach.” Id., citing
United States v Stevens, 559 US 460, 472-473; 130 S Ct
1577; 176 L Ed 2d 435 (2010).

On casual inspection, plaintiffs’ allegations appear
to be as-applied challenges because they refer to plain-
tiffs’ particular vulnerability given the facts—
COVID-19 and an alleged mail slowdown—as infringe-
ments on their right to vote only in the November 2020
general election. A reading of plaintiffs’ request for
relief, however, brings into focus the breadth of their
requests, which are not confined only to plaintiffs.
Specifically, the relief plaintiffs seek would apply to all
Michigan voters who choose to cast their ballots by
mail—not just to the elderly and disabled members of
plaintiffs’ organizations. Therefore, the ballot-deadline
relief extends well beyond the circumstances of the
individual plaintiffs and their organizations and would
reach all Michigan voters who, for whatever reason,
would benefit from more time in which to mail their
ballots. Furthermore, lifting the restrictions and crimi-
nal penalties concerning who may handle absent-voter
ballots would apply to all Michigan voters as long as
the conduct in question occurs after 5:00 p.m. on the
Friday before the election. While plaintiffs’ challenge
arises only in relation to a specific fact pattern—the
November 3, 2020 election during the COVID-19 pan-
demic and slow mail delivery—the relief plaintiffs seek
applies to every Michigan absent voter. Therefore, the
substance of plaintiffs’ amended complaint is a facial
challenge of the relevant statutes, and the Court of
Claims erred by failing to analyze the claims accord-
ingly.”

" We reject plaintiffs’ argument that the fact that the changes would
apply only to the November 2020 election removes this case from a facial
analysis. Because the relief would extend to all Michigan absent
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That said, we must next consider whether plaintiffs
were entitled to summary disposition on their declara-
tory action. As already stated, plaintiffs alleged that
the ballot-receipt deadline required by MCL 168.759b
and MCL 168.764a and the ballot-handling restric-
tions required by MCL 168.932(f) violate Const 1963,
art 2, § 4(1)(g), which guarantees voters the right to
vote by absentee ballot without giving a reason “during
the forty (40) days before an election” and the right “to
choose whether the absent voter ballot is applied for,
received and submitted in person or by mail.” Impor-
tantly, because Const 1963, art 2, § 4 is a self-executing
constitutional provision, the Legislature is not permit-
ted to impose additional undue obligations. Durant v
Dep’t of Ed, 186 Mich App 83, 98; 463 NW2d 461
(1990).

The guiding framework for an examination of the
constitutionality of a statute begins with the presump-
tion that statutes are constitutional, and “courts have
a duty to construe a statute as constitutional unless its
unconstitutionality is clearly apparent.” Taylor v
Smithkline Beecham Corp, 468 Mich 1, 6; 658 NW2d
127 (2003). “A party challenging the facial constitu-
tionality of a statute faces an extremely rigorous
standard, and must show that no set of circumstances
exists under which the act would be valid.” In re

voters—not just plaintiffs—in the November 2020 election, it does not
survive the Reed analysis. Plaintiffs also contend that even if the relief
extends beyond their circumstances, reversal still is not required
because courts often invalidate laws facially on the basis of their impact
on certain communities and subgroups. For example, plaintiffs cite
Crawford v Marion Co Election Bd, 553 US 181; 128 S Ct 1610; 170 L Ed
2d 574 (2008), in which the United States Supreme Court considered a
law’s impact on identifiable subgroups for whom the burden may be
most severe. For the reasons already explained, however, we conclude
that the relief plaintiffs seek is not tailored to a subgroup or subgroups.
Instead, the relief plaintiffs seek would apply to all absent voters.
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Request for Advisory Opinion, 479 Mich at 11 (quota-
tion marks, citations, and brackets omitted).

With regard to plaintiffs’ arguments concerning the
ballot-receipt deadline, we need not analyze this point.
In this Court’s divided opinion in League II, this Court
held that the 8:00 p.m. ballot-receipt deadline survives
a facial challenge and does not violate Const 1963, art
2, § 4. League II, 333 Mich App at 29-30 (opinion by
SAWYER, P.J.); id. at 32 (RIORDAN, J., concurring). We are
not only bound by that holding, but we fully agree with
it. MCR 7.215(J)(1).

Although this Court in League II did not address the
statutory provisions that provide ballot-handling re-
strictions, we conclude that MCL 168.932(f) also sur-
vives a facial challenge. As noted in League II:

In [In re Request for Advisory Opinion, 479 Mich at
35,] ... our Supreme Court held that “the Michigan Con-
stitution does not compel that every election regulation be
reviewed under strict scrutiny.” The Court recognized that
in Burdick v Takushi, 504 US 428; 112 S Ct 2059; 119 L Ed
2d 245 (1992), the United States Supreme Court “rejected
the notion that every election law must be evaluated under
strict scrutiny analysis.” In re Request for Advisory
Opinion, 479 Mich at 20-21. The Court stated that the
Burdick Court “recognized that ‘to subject every voting
regulation to strict scrutiny and to require that the regula-
tion be narrowly tailored to advance a compelling state
interest . . . would tie the hands of States seeking to assure
that elections are operated equitably and efficiently.’ ” Id. at
21, quoting Burdick, 504 US at 433. [League II, 333 Mich
App at 27-28 (opinion by SAWYER, P.J.).]

Indeed, although “the right to vote is an implicit
fundamental political right that is preservative of all
rights,” that right is not absolute. Promote the Vote v
Secretary of State, 333 Mich App 93, 119-120; 958
NW2d 861 (2020) (quotation marks and citation omit-
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ted). “[S]tates have a compelling interest in preserving
the integrity of their election processes....” In re
Request for Advisory Opinion, 479 Mich at 19. “In order
to protect that compelling interest, a state may enact
generally applicable and evenhanded restrictions that
protect the integrity and reliability of the electoral
process . ...” Id. at 19-20 (quotation marks and cita-
tion omitted). Our Supreme Court has described the
Burdick test as balancing between protecting the citi-
zens’ right to vote and protecting against fraudulent
voting. Id. at 35. It has commented as follows regard-
ing application of the Burdick test:

[TThe first step in determining whether an election law
contravenes the constitution is to determine the nature and
magnitude of the claimed restriction inflicted by the elec-
tion law on the right to vote, weighed against the precise
interest identified by the state. If the burden on the right to
vote is severe, then the regulation must be “narrowly
drawn” to further a compelling state interest. However, if
the restriction imposed is reasonable and nondiscrimina-
tory, then the law is upheld as warranted by the important
regulatory interest identified by the state. The United
States Supreme Court has stressed that each inquiry is fact
and circumstance specific, because “[n]Jo bright line sepa-
rates permissible election-related regulation from unconsti-
tutional infringements....” [In re Request for Advisory
Opinion, 479 Mich at 21-22 (citation omitted).]

In this case, the Legislature argues that the ballot-
handling restrictions are intended to combat voter
fraud. “There is no question about the legitimacy or
importance of the State’s interest in counting only the
votes of eligible voters. ... While the most effective
method of preventing election fraud may well be de-
batable, the propriety of doing so is perfectly clear.”
Crawford v Marion Co Election Bd, 553 US 181, 196;
128 S Ct 1610; 170 L. Ed 2d 574 (2008).
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Indeed, designing adjustments to our election-
integrity laws is the responsibility of our elected policy-
makers, not the judiciary. See Const 1963, art 2, § 4(2)
(“[TThe legislature shall enact laws to regulate the time,
place and manner of all... elections, to preserve the
purity of elections, to preserve the secrecy of the ballot,
to guard against abuses of the elective franchise, and to
provide for a system of voter registration and absentee
voting.”). To be sure, the pandemic has caused consid-
erable change in our lives, but election officials have
taken considerable steps to alleviate the potential ef-
fects by making no-reason absent voting easier for the
2020 election. For instance, after Proposal 3, munici-
palities across Michigan now have installed more than
700 ballot drop boxes available for absent voters who do
not want to use the mail to deliver their ballot, and the
Secretary has reported that there will be more than
1,000 drop boxes available by election day.® Additionally,
satellite election centers embedded in some communi-
ties allow eligible persons to register to vote, receive a
ballot, vote, and drop off their completed ballot all on
site.? Our Legislature has addressed the expected
increase of absent-voter ballots by empowering clerks
to begin processing absent-voter ballots earlier in an

effort to provide a final vote tally after polls close for
the 2020 election. MCL 168.765a(8). While plaintiffs

8 Campbell, Absentee Ballot Drop Boxes Boom in Michigan, Despite
Controversy  Elsewhere, Bridge Michigan (October 5, 2020)
<https://www.bridgemi.com/michigan-government/absentee-ballot-drop-
boxes-boom-michigan-despite-controversy-elsewhere?amp> (accessed
October 15, 2020) [https://perma.cc/V8UJ-ARL3].

9 Warikoo, Detroit Prepares for Historic Election with Early Voting
Options, Detroit Free Press (October 9, 2020) <https://www.freep.com/
story/news/local/michigan /detroit/2020/10/09/city-early-voting-satellite-
centers-drop-off-boxes/3597687001/>  (accessed  October 15, 2020)
[https:/perma.cc/SNPR-4LKV].
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might view these efforts as inadequate first steps,
there is no reason to believe that these specific efforts
are constitutionally required, even in the midst of a
pandemic. Instead, they reflect the proper “exercise of
discretion, the marshaling and allocation of resources,
and the confrontation of thorny policy issues” that the
people have reserved exclusively for our legislative and
executive branches to exercise. League II, 333 Mich
App at 39 (RIORDAN, J., concurring). Imposing limits on
whether third parties can possess or collect ballots
simply reflects a policy decision by a duly elected
Legislature, where the Constitution places responsibil-
ity to regulate and preserve the purity of elections.

Although record evidence in the Court of Claims
supported that voter fraud is very rare, our Supreme
Court has ruled that “there is no requirement that the
Legislature ‘prove’ that significant in-person voter
fraud exists before it may permissibly act to prevent
it.” In re Request for Advisory Opinion, 479 Mich at 26.
Even so, the Secretary acknowledges in its brief on
appeal that voter fraud has occurred in the past in
relation to voter assistance and that “[t]he challenged
statutes . .. were amended in 1995 because investiga-
tions by election officials revealed abuse of that pro-
cess.” Indeed, until 1995, the statutes permitted any
registered voter to return another voter’s completed
absentee ballot, but that “led to abuse by campaign
workers who were eager to ‘assist’ absentee voters.”
People v Pinkney, unpublished per curiam opinion of
the Court of Appeals, issued July 14, 2009 (Docket Nos.
282144 and 286992), p 15, citing House Legislative
Analysis, HB 4242 (October 17, 1995). In sum, we
conclude that the restrictions in MCL 168.932(f) are
reasonable and nondiscriminatory and that the restric-
tions are warranted to further an important regulatory
interest: protecting against voter fraud.
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However, the state’s interest in protecting against
voter fraud must be balanced against the voter’s inter-
est in the right to vote. The Court of Claims concluded
that because the clerk’s office was not required to pick
up and deliver ballots after 5:00 p.m. on the Friday
immediately preceding the election, there was an unac-
ceptable risk that during this brief time before the
election some homebound absent voters would be disen-
franchised by a voter-fraud provision that limits who
the voters may entrust to possess and deliver their
ballots. Thus, the question before this Court is whether
the requirement that clerks provide voter assistance
only until 5:00 p.m. on the Friday before an election—in
addition to the COVID-19 pandemic and the asserted
delivery slowdown at the United States Postal Service
(the USPS)—imposes an unconstitutional burden on
the right to vote absentee. We conclude that it does not.
First, even with the 5:00 p.m. limit, voters are not
deprived of the choice to vote absentee; they retain all
the options of delivering their ballots in person to the
clerk, using one of over 1,000 drop boxes in the state,
using community satellite voter centers, if available, or
relying on any family member or household resident to
deliver their ballots.!® Additionally, as pointed out by
defendants, the clerk is required to assist voters with
returning their ballots if the voters request such assis-
tance before 5:00 p.m. on the Friday before an election,
and the clerk may continue to provide door-to-door
delivery service for qualified absent voters after that
time. See MCL 168.764b(5) (providing that, under

10 In view of those other options, voters are not compelled to deliver
their ballots in person, which likely would be found unconstitutional as
a severe burden. See generally Deleeuw v State Bd of Canvassers, 263
Mich App 497, 502 n 1; 688 NW2d 847 (2004) (noting that to require a
candidate for a federal position in public office to file her petition in
person would be violative of the United States Constitution).
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certain circumstances, the clerk may make arrange-
ments to collect a ballot from a voter personally or by
an authorized assistant). In furtherance of this effort, a
clerk may appoint assistants to accept delivery of
absentee ballots at any location within the city or
township. MCL 168.764b(3).1* That option, which has
not been suspended during the pandemic, further
mitigates the burden on voters who need assistance.
Amici additionally point out that local clerks may
provide “curbside voting,” where registered voters can
vote in their cars at the polling place on election day.
Given those varied options, we cannot conclude that
the ballot-handling restrictions impermissibly burden
the right to vote absentee. On balance, the ballot-
handling restrictions pass constitutional muster given
the state’s strong interest in preventing fraud.

Furthermore, even if plaintiffs’ claims could be con-
sidered an as-applied challenge, those claims do not
survive. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Court
of Claims concluded that returning the ballot by mail is
the “only realistic option” for those with underlying
health conditions who wish to vote absentee. That
finding is unsupported given the additional ballot-
delivery options available to absentee voters. Addition-
ally, as pointed out by amici, the pandemic and result-
ing USPS mail delivery slowdowns are not attributable
to the state. Although those factors may complicate
plaintiffs’ voting process, they do not automatically
amount to a loss of the right to vote absentee. The

I That section provides, in relevant part: “The clerk of a city or
township may appoint the number of assistants necessary to accept
delivery of absent voter ballots at any location in the city or township.
An appointment as assistant to accept delivery of absent voter ballots
must be for 1 election only. An assistant appointed to receive ballots at
a location other than the office of the clerk must be furnished credentials
of authority by the clerk.”
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letter from USPS General Counsel Thomas J. Mar-
shall, which indicated that the law creates an “incon-
gruity” and a “mismatch” between mail delivery stan-
dards and deadlines for casting mail-in ballots in
Michigan, is not dispositive. The cited incongruity is
not dependent on the COVID-19 pandemic or the
USPS slowdown; Marshall’s conclusion was on the
basis of the USPS ideal delivery rates rather than
those experienced during COVID-19. The fact that the
Legislature drafted the statutes without accounting for
USPS deadlines does not mean that the statutes are
unconstitutional as applied. Because plaintiffs retain
other options for delivering their completed ballots,
they have not lost their constitutional right to vote
absentee.

C. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

The Legislature next challenges the Court of Claims’
entry of the preliminary and permanent injunctions.
This Court reviews for an abuse of discretion a trial
court’s decision to grant injunctive relief. Taylor v
Currie, 277 Mich App 85, 93; 743 NW2d 571 (2007);
Schadewald v Brulé, 225 Mich App 26, 39; 570 NW2d
788 (1997). “A court abuses its discretion when a
decision falls outside the range of reasonable and
principled outcomes.” House of Representatives, 333
Mich App at 363.

The Legislature first argues that the Court of Claims’
“preliminary-injunction analysis was deeply flawed”
and that this Court should reverse the September 18,
2020 opinion and order. However, we conclude that this
argument is moot. “The objective of a preliminary in-
junction is to maintain the status quo pending a final
hearing regarding the parties’ rights.” Alliance for the
Mentally Ill of Mich v Dep’t of Community Health, 231
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Mich App 647, 655-656; 588 NW2d 133 (1998). In this
case, the Court of Claims granted plaintiffs’ request for
a preliminary injunction in its September 18, 2020
opinion and order. Thereafter, on September 30, 2020,
the Court of Claims granted a permanent injunction.
Because a permanent injunction was entered after the
Court of Claims held “a final hearing regarding the
parties’ rights,” the Legislature’s challenge to the pre-
liminary injunction is moot and need not be addressed.
See id. Nonetheless, we have briefly considered the
argument and conclude that the Court of Claims abused
its discretion by entering the preliminary injunction
given plaintiffs’ failure to establish a likelihood of suc-
cess on the merits and plaintiffs’ failure to establish
irreparable harm. See Mich AFSCME Council 25 v
Woodhaven-Brownstown Sch Dist, 293 Mich App 143,
148; 809 NW2d 444 (2011).

The Legislature also challenges the Court of Claims’
entry of the permanent injunction. In the September 30,
2020 opinion and order, the Court of Claims concluded
that it was proper to grant a permanent injunction. In
doing so, the Court of Claims addressed some of the
factors required to be considered before a permanent
injunction can be entered and “incorporate[d] its reason-
ing from the September 18, 2020 opinion and order
that . . . the ballot receipt deadline and the voter assis-
tance ban violate art 2, § 4.” The Court of Claims further
incorporated into its September 30, 2020 “opinion and
order the narrow injunctive relief granted in the Court’s
September 18, 2020 opinion and order.” “It is beyond
reasonable dispute that a trial court has the authority,
and, in appropriate cases, the duty, to enter permanent
injunctive relief against a constitutional violation.”
Mich Coalition of State Employee Unions v Mich Civil
Serv Comm, 465 Mich 212, 219; 634 NW2d 692 (2001)
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(emphasis omitted). Because the Court of Claims erred
by concluding that a constitutional violation existed, it
necessarily follows that the Court of Claims abused its
discretion by entering the permanent injunction.

We reverse and remand for the immediate entry of
summary disposition in favor of defendants. This opin-
ion has immediate effect. MCR 7.215(F)(2). We do not
retain jurisdiction.

BOONSTRA and GADOLA, Jd., concurred with CAMERON,
PJ.

BOONSTRA, J. (concurring). 1 fully concur in the
opinion of the Court. I write separately to underscore
that judicial overreach is just as pernicious as execu-
tive overreach. The judicial overreach in this case
requires that we reverse the Court of Claims, vacate its
order granting summary disposition in favor of plain-
tiffs as well as its preliminary and permanent injunc-
tions, and remand with instructions to immediately
enter an order granting summary disposition in favor
of defendants.

I. INTRODUCTION

The genius of our Founding Fathers in establishing a
system of three separate and coequal branches of gov-
ernment was in recognizing that it is the checks and
balances of such a system that serve to preserve our
liberty. As I recently observed in Slis v Michigan, 332
Mich App 312, 378; 956 NW2d 569 (2020) (BOONSTRA, J.,
concurring), Iv den 506 Mich 912 (2020), preservation of
liberty “is why legislatures enact laws and why it is up
to the executive to sign them (or not). And it is why the
judiciary defers to the legislature on matters of public
policy.” Without question, such a system creates certain



2020] RETIRED AMERICANS V SEC OF STATE 265
CONCURRING OPINION BY BOONSTRA, J.

inefficiencies in government. After all, it would be much
easier if a benevolent dictator could simply rule by
decree without having to endure the inconvenience of
others’ input. But those inefficiencies are there by
design; they are the natural and intended consequence
of our system of checks and balances. And those ineffi-
ciencies are therefore the price we willingly pay so that
we may live under the banner of freedom in the United
States of America.

The tensions between the branches of government
have existed since our nation’s founding, and the rela-
tive power of any given branch has ebbed and flowed
over time. Sometimes it is the executive branch that
engages in governmental overreach. See, e.g., Slis, 332
Mich App at 357-358 (opinion of the Court) (affirming
the preliminary injunction of emergency rules banning
the sale of flavored nicotine vapor products); id. at 393
(BOONSTRA, dJ., concurring) (“As the adage goes, ‘Give
them an inch, and theyll take a mile.” Amidst the
COVID-19 pandemic, that adage has new meaning. It
even applies to vaping.”). And sometimes the Legisla-
ture is, perhaps unwittingly, complicit in executive
overreach. See In re Certified Questions from the US
Dist Court, Western Dist of Mich, Southern Div, 506
Mich 332, 338; 958 NW2d 1 (2020) (holding that the
Emergency Powers of the Governor Act of 1945, MCL
10.31 et seq., “is an unlawful delegation of legislative
power to the executive branch in violation of the Michi-
gan Constitution” and accordingly that “the executive
orders issued by the Governor in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic now lack any basis under Michi-
gan law”).

Alexander Hamilton once said that the judicial
branch of government, lacking “influence over either
the sword or the purse,” was “the weakest of the
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three” branches of government. The Federalist No. 78
(Hamilton) (Rossiter ed, 1961), p 433. He continued:

[TThough individual oppression may now and then proceed
from the courts of justice, the general liberty of the people
can never be endangered from that quarter; I mean so long
as the judiciary remains truly distinct from both the
legislature and the executive. For I agree, that “there is no
liberty, if the power of judging be not separated from the
legislative and executive powers.” And it proves, in the
last place, that as liberty can have nothing to fear from the
judiciary alone, but would have everything to fear from its
union with either of the other departments|.] [Id. at 434
(citation omitted).]

But in recent years (or decades), the judicial branch
has often also overreached. Too often those who have
been unsuccessful in advancing their political agenda
through the political process, i.e., through the legis-
lative and executive branches, have turned to the
judiciary to achieve their political ends. And too often
they have found judges who are induced, under the
cloak of a robe, to impose policy preferences by
judicial fiat. But policymaking under the guise of
judicial decision-making is simply tyranny by another
name. See Morrison v Olson, 487 US 654, 712; 108
S Ct 2597; 101 L Ed 2d 569 (1988) (Scalia, J.,
dissenting) (stating that judicial forays into policy-
making result in a government that is “not only not
the government of laws that the Constitution estab-
lished; it is not a government of laws at all”). Courts
are not mini-legislatures, and judges are not policy-
makers. See, e.g., Kyser v Kasson Twp, 486 Mich 514,
536; 786 NW2d 543 (2010) (noting that “policy-
making is at the core of the legislative function”);
Myers v Portage, 304 Mich App 637, 644; 848 NW2d
200 (2014) (“[M]aking public policy is the province of
the Legislature, not the courts.”); see also Morrison,
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487 US at 697 (Scalia, J., dissenting), quoting Mass
Const 1780, art XXXX, Part 1 (“ ‘In the government of
this Commonwealth, the legislative department shall
never exercise the executive and judicial powers, or
either of them: The executive shall never exercise the
legislative and judicial powers, or either of them: The
judicial shall never exercise the legislative and execu-
tive powers, or either of them: to the end it may be a
government of laws and not of men.’ ”).

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS

Recently, in a sister case to this one, this Court
considered a complaint for mandamus in which the
plaintiffs' alleged that the statutory requirement that
absentee ballots be received by the local election clerk
by 8:00 p.m. on election day? (the ballot-receipt dead-
line) violated Const 1963, art 2, § 4, as amended by the
passage of Proposal 32 in November 2018. See League
of Women Voters of Mich v Secretary of State, 333 Mich

! The plaintiffs in that case were the League of Women Voters of
Michigan and three individuals who were League members and regis-
tered Michigan voters.

2 This requirement is set forth in MCL 168.764a and MCL 168.764b.

3 See Proposition No. 18-3 (2018). Proposal 3 granted all Michigan
voters the constitutional right to vote by absentee ballot without stating
a reason. Before the passage of Proposal 3, the right was a statutory one,
provided that certain conditions were met. Specifically, before the
passage of Proposal 3 and the subsequent enactment of 2018 PA 603,
MCL 168.759 provided six grounds for requesting an absentee ballot: (1)
being absent from the community on election day; (2) being physically
unable to attend the polls without the assistance of another; (3) being
unable to attend the polls because of the tenets of the voter’s religion; (4)
serving as an election inspector in a different precinct; (5) being 60 years
of age or older; or (6) being confined to jail awaiting arraignment or trial.
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App 1; 959 NW2d 1 (2020) (League II),* Iv den 506 Mich
886 (2020), recon den 506 Mich 905 (2020).

I note that while the complaint in League II did
briefly refer to the ballot-receipt deadline as “facially
den[ying] voters their express constitutional right ‘to
choose’ to submit their absentee ballots ‘by mail’ at any
time within 40 days of election day,” that complaint
also cited the COVID-19 pandemic as the reason why
expedited relief was necessary. It stated:

Even before COVID-19 struck Michigan, voting by mail
was set to play an unprecedented role in this year’s
elections, and its role will be magnified exponentially
given the personal and public health risks of voting in
person at a polling place. Michigan’s absentee ballot
voting process is simply not ready to meet its biggest test
ever in the 2020 primary and general elections, when
Michigan voters by the millions will attempt to vote by
absentee ballot. This Complaint is an action for manda-
mus to compel the Secretary of State to perform her clear
state constitutional duties in the administration of absen-
tee ballot voting in Michigan, to protect the fundamental
rights of the Plaintiffs and over 7 million Michigan voters.

This Court in League II denied the complaint for
mandamus, notwithstanding the fact that defendant
Secretary of State concurred with plaintiffs that the
ballot-receipt deadline was unconstitutional. League
11, 333 Mich App at 25-26. Our Supreme Court denied
leave to appeal and denied reconsideration of that
denial, with Justice VIVIANO observing that “this law-
suit appears to be a friendly scrimmage brought to
obtain a binding result that both sides desire. Nearly
from the start, the defendant Secretary of State has
agreed with plaintiffs that the deadline must be struck

4 T use the “League II” nomenclature for purposes of consistency with
the opinion of the Court. The parties and the Court of Claims sometimes
refer to that decision as “LWV.”
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down as unconstitutional.” League of Women Voters of
Mich v Secretary of State, 506 Mich 905, 905 (2020)
(VIVIANO, J., concurring). He further observed: “This is
not the way the judiciary works. In our adversary
system, the parties’ competing interests lead to argu-
ments that sharpen the issues so that courts will ‘not
sit as self-directed boards of legal inquiry and re-
search . ... ” Id. at 906 (citation omitted).

B. PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT OF CLAIMS

Although we briefly outline the procedural history of
this case in the opinion of the Court, it is worthy of
some further explication here because, in my judg-
ment, a full description of the manner in which this
case proceeded in the Court of Claims serves to high-
light my concerns about judicial overreach. In doing so,
I reserve judgment about how that overreach occurred,
reiterate my great respect for all concerned, and cast
aspersions on no one; my focus instead is on how and
why the process did not, in my judgment, serve us or
our judicial system well.

On June 2, 2020, i.e., 11 days after League II was
filed in this Court but before League II was decided,
plaintiffs filed this action in the Court of Claims,
seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, again claim-
ing (as was claimed in League II) that the ballot-receipt
deadline was unconstitutional and additionally claim-
ing that aspects of MCL 168.932(f) (the ballot-handling
restrictions) were unconstitutional.®? Like the com-
plaint for mandamus in League II, plaintiffs’ complaint

5 In pertinent part, MCL 168.932(f) prohibits persons from attempting
to influence how an absent voter should vote and limits those third
persons who may return an absent-voter ballot to mail carriers and
“member(s] of the immediate family of the absent voter including
father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law,



270 334 MICH APP 238 [Oct
CONCURRING OPINION BY BOONSTRA, J.

in this case expressed concerns about the impact of
COVID-19 on voting:

Even in ordinary times, it would be reasonable to
expect the shift toward absentee voting to continue in
Michigan. But these are not ordinary times. Over the past
few months, life in the United States has changed rapidly
as the result of a highly infectious, novel coronavirus,
which as of the date of this filing, has infected over 1.85
million and killed over 107,000 people across the country.
The pandemic has hit Michigan particularly hard, infect-
ing Michiganders from Detroit to the Upper Peninsula. To
date, there have been over 57,500 confirmed cases of
coronavirus in Michigan, and over 5,500 deaths from the
respiratory illness it causes, COVID-19.

Plaintiffs’ original complaint in this case did not
specifically characterize its claims as presenting “facial”
or “as-applied” constitutional challenges. But it did
state:

The ballot receipt deadline thus, on its face, denies voters
their self-executing right “to choose” to submit their ab-
sentee ballots “by mail” at any time within 40 days of
Election Day. [Citation omitted; emphasis added.]

daughter-in-law, grandparent, or grandchild; or a person residing in the
absent voter’s household . ...” The reason for enacting these ballot-
handling restrictions was described by the House Legislative Analysis
Section in its analysis of HB 4242 of 1995 (which ultimately was adopted
as 1995 PA 261 and codified as MCL 168.932(f)), as follows:

Election officials say the current system is subject to abuse by
campaign workers eager to “assist” voters. Without strict limits
on who can handle absentee ballots, it is difficult to track their
safe return and it is difficult to enforce laws against soliciting
the return of absentee ballots, coercion and intimidation in
filling out ballots, and tampering. Election officials have recom-
mended stricter control over who can handle an absentee ballot
and stiffer penalties for violations as a means of enhancing the
integrity of the process. [See House Legislative Analysis, HB
4242 (October 17, 1995), p 1.]
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Moreover, plaintiffs’ complaint stated that “[iln the
face of the continuing pandemic, Michigan must take
steps now to protect the fundamental voting rights of
all Michiganders.” (Emphasis added.) Further, it
claimed, “With the primary and general elections fast
approaching, the time to act is now, to prevent wide-
spread disenfranchisement and effectuate the will of
the voters so that all will have a safe and meaningful
opportunity to participate in Michigan’s elections.”
(Emphasis added.) It continued, “Flatly rejecting all
absentee ballots that arrive after 8 p.m. on Election
Day, disenfranchises Michigan voters—many of whom
also lack reasonable access to safe, in-person voting
options during the pandemic—for reasons entirely
beyond their control.” (Emphasis added.)

On June 15, 2020, and notwithstanding that plain-
tiffs had not yet filed a motion for preliminary injunc-
tion,* the Court of Claims issued an order directing
defendants to file a “reply brief” to plaintiffs’ com-
plaint” by June 18, 2020, and scheduling a “hearing for
the Preliminary Injunction” to occur on June 22, 2020.8
The Court of Claims denied motions to intervene filed
by the Michigan House of Representatives and the

6 MCR 3.310(A)(1) provides that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by
statute or these rules, an injunction may not be granted before a hearing
on a motion for a preliminary injunction or on an order to show cause
why a preliminary injunction should not be issued.” MCR 3.310(A)(3)
provides that “[a] motion for a preliminary injunction must be filed and
noticed for hearing in compliance with the rules governing other
motions unless the court orders otherwise on a showing of good cause.”

" Upon the filing of a complaint, a defendant generally is obligated to
file either an answer to the complaint, MCR 2.110, or a motion for
summary disposition, MCR 2.116. The Michigan Court Rules do not
provide for the filing of a brief in response to a complaint.

8 On June 19, 2020, the Court of Claims rescheduled the hearing for

July 8, 2020, and ordered that plaintiffs file a brief by June 26, 2020,
and that defendants file a response brief by July 3, 2020.
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Michigan Senate (collectively, the Legislature), and by
the Republican National Committee and the Michigan
Republican Party, but granted them amici status.? It
then held oral argument on plaintiffs’ injunctive-relief
request on July 8, 2020. It did so despite defendants’®
expressed confusion in light of the fact that plaintiffs
had not yet filed a motion for injunctive relief (and
instead had only filed a complaint that included a
prayer for such relief).

On July 14, 2020, this Court issued its opinion in
League I1, and the Court of Claims therefore ordered the
parties to file supplemental briefs “[iln light of the
release of” that decision. In their supplemental brief,
defendants argued that “the LWV decision forecloses
granting injunctive relief here on the duplicate claims”
and that “[b]ased on the LWV decisions, only Plaintiffs’
request for injunctive relief regarding the absent voter
ballot delivery statutes appears to be a live issue before
the Court.” The Legislature concurred in that assess-
ment. Plaintiffs, however, argued for the first time that
League II presented purely a “facial” constitutional
challenge, whereas plaintiffs in this case were present
ing both “facial” and “as-applied” constitutional chal-
lenges.

® The Legislature moved for reconsideration of the Court of Claims’
denial of their motion to intervene. The Court of Claims denied the
motion for reconsideration. The Republican National Committee and
the Michigan Republican Party filed in this Court an application for
leave to appeal the Court of Claims’ denial of their motion to intervene.
This Court denied that motion. Our Supreme Court denied a further
application for leave to appeal in that Court; a motion for reconsidera-
tion is now pending.

10 Named as defendants were the Secretary of State and the Attorney
General of Michigan.

1 Indeed, defendants contended that plaintiffs were not entitled to
preliminary injunctive relief in part because they had yet moved for
such relief. They also argued that plaintiffs’ request for preliminary
injunctive relief should be denied on the merits.
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On August 8, 2020, the Court of Claims issued an
order that mistakenly referred to a pending “Motion for
Preliminary Injunction” and then stated, “The plaintiffs
raised both a facial and as applied challenge to several
election statutes.” It suggested that the experience of
the just-completed August 2020 primary election “may
or may not affect the nature of the as-applied argu-
ments” and invited the parties to “augment their plead-
ings...."2

Plaintiffs then filed an amended complaint that for
the first time expressly alleged (as their original com-
plaint had not) that they were presenting both facial
and as-applied constitutional challenges. Plaintiffs
contemporaneously filed a “Renewed Motion for Pre-
liminary Injunction” (which, given the lack of any prior
motion, apparently served to supplement the prior
prayer for injunctive relief contained in plaintiffs’
complaint) as well as a supplemental brief in support
of their request for a preliminary injunction, now
arguing that the ballot-receipt deadline was unconsti-
tutional “as applied to the upcoming November [3,
2020] election.” In response, defendants observed that
“liln response to the Court’s suggestion in its order,
Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint makes clear that Plain-
tiffs are alleging facial and ‘as-applied to the November
election’ claims.” (Emphasis added.) Defendants none-
theless argued that this Court’s ruling in League II
“precludes Plaintiffs’ facial and as-applied arguments
under article 2, § 4.” Further, they stated:

Plaintiffs’ as-applied claims appear to be indistinguish-
able from the facial claim raised in LWV. The facial
challenge rejected by the LWV Court was also based on

12 T note that defendants had not yet answered plaintiffs’ complaint
and therefore had not yet filed any “pleadings.” MCR 2.110(A).
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different treatment in mail service for voters. If the Court
determines that to be the case, it would mean that
Plaintiffs’ as-applied claims are likewise precluded by the
decision in LWV.113!

On August 31, 2020, defendants moved for summary
disposition. Other than generically incorporating the
arguments of their brief, they did not in any fashion
address the constitutionality of the ballot-receipt dead-
line. They argued that the ballot-handling restrictions
were constitutional. Plaintiffs filed a cross-motion for
summary disposition on both issues.

On September 18, 2020, the Court of Claims issued
an opinion and order that described our holding in
League II as addressing a “facial” constitutional chal-
lenge and as conclusively resolving plaintiffs’ facial
challenge to the ballot-receipt deadline. Consistently
with plaintiffs’ newly taken position (as well as defen-
dants’ own invitation in their preliminary-injunction
briefing), the Court of Claims then construed plaintiffs’
challenge to the ballot-receipt deadline in this case as
an “as-applied” challenge and held that “the ballot
receipt deadline is unconstitutional as-applied in light
of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.” The Court of
Claims further held that the ballot-handling restric-
tions of MCL 168.932(f) “create[] an unnecessary bur-
den that tends to unduly restrict the rights enshrined
in art 2, § 4,” that the statute therefore was “unconsti-
tutional as applied” to the several days preceding
election day, and that during that time an absentee
voter must be allowed “to seek assistance from a third

13 Yet, defendants did an about-face in the concluding paragraph of
their brief, requesting that the Court of Claims “consider granting
[preliminary injunctive] relief as to the absent voter ballot receipt
deadline statutes if not precluded from doing [so] by the Court’s decision
in LWV...”
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party of their choosing.” The Court of Claims issued a
preliminary injunction accordingly.

On September 21, 2020, the Legislature filed an
emergency renewed motion to intervene so that it could
file an interlocutory appeal of the Court of Claims’
preliminary-injunction order. On September 28, 2020,
plaintiffs filed a brief opposing that motion, and defen-
dants, noting that they had decided not to appeal the
Court of Claims’ preliminary-injunction order, con-
curred in the renewed motion to intervene.

On September 25, 2020, defendants responded to
plaintiffs’ motion for summary disposition and re-
quested, in light of the likelihood of an appeal of the
Court of Claims’ preliminary-injunction order or its
order denying intervention, that the Court of Claims
hold the parties’ motions for summary disposition in
abeyance until any such appeal was resolved;* alter-
natively, they requested the denial of plaintiffs’ motion
for summary disposition.

On September 30, 2020, the Court of Claims issued
an opinion and order that incorporated the reasoning
of its September 18, 2020 preliminary-injunction opin-
ion and order. Holding that “as applied under the
current circumstances and on the record before this
Court, the ballot receipt deadline and the voter assis-
tance ban violate art 2, § 4,” the Court of Claims
granted summary disposition in favor of plaintiffs as to
both the ballot-receipt deadline and the ballot-
handling restrictions, effectively granting a permanent

4 1 note that appeals of preliminary-injunction orders or orders
denying intervention, which are not “final orders,” may proceed only
upon the granting of an application for leave to appeal, whereas an
appeal from an order granting summary disposition may proceed by
right. MCR 7.202; MCR 7.203.
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injunction. It also granted the Legislature’s renewed
motion to intervene. This appeal then ensued.

ITII. ANALYSIS

I agree entirely with the opinion of the Court that
plaintiffs raise a facial-—mot an as-applied—
constitutional challenge in this case. I will not repeat
the rationale (with which I concur) but would instead
additionally observe that in the face of an adverse
decision on the constitutional issue raised in League I
with respect to the ballot-receipt deadline, plaintiffs in
this case embarked on a creative effort to dodge the
effect of that decision and took advantage of proceedings
that featured:

o Expedited briefing on a “motion” that had never
been filed

e Oral argument on a “motion” that had never been
filed

e A reframing of plaintiffs’ arguments to sidestep
the adverse decision in League I1

e The “augmentation” of plaintiffs’ complaint to
conform to those reframed arguments

e Errors on the merits as described in the opinion
of the Court

To quote Justice VIVIANO, “This is not the way the
judiciary works.” League of Women Voters of Mich v
Secretary of State, 506 Mich at 906 (VIVIANO, J., concur-
ring). The judiciary’s role is to decide actual controver-
sies. Particularly in an era of excessive politicization,
the judiciary should not be hijacked to achieve political
ends outside of the legislative process. And the judiciary,
which cannot “function both as an advocate and as an
adjudicator,” In re Knight, 333 Mich App 681, 691; 963
NW2d 676 (2020), should not allow itself to be hijacked.
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The Constitution is not suspended or transformed even
in times of a pandemic, and judges do not somehow
become authorized in a pandemic to rewrite statutes or
to displace the decisions made by the policymaking
branches of government.

IV. COROLLARY

Because this matter has been expedited and time is
of the essence, circumstances do not permit us to fully
examine the question whether plaintiffs have standing
to bring this action for injunctive and declaratory
relief.’> We consequently have properly assumed for
purposes of our decision that plaintiffs do have stand-
ing. I believe, however, that the question is a signifi-
cant one and that, if circumstances permitted us to
fully examine the question, it might lead to the conclu-
sion that plaintiffs lack standing. And I believe that
conclusion may follow from our conclusion that plain-
tiffs’ constitutional challenge is a facial one.

Our Supreme Court has held that “[w]here a cause
of action is not provided at law, then a court should, in
its discretion, determine whether a litigant has stand-
ing. A litigant may have standing in this context if the
litigant has a special injury or right, or substantial
interest, that will be detrimentally affected in a man-
ner different from the citizenry at large or if the
statutory scheme implies that the Legislature in-
tended to confer standing on the litigant.” Lansing Sch
Ed Ass’n MEA/NEA v Lansing Bd of Ed, 487 Mich 349,
372; 792 NW2d 686 (2010). The statutory scheme here
does not imply that the Legislature intended to confer

15 The parties have not raised or addressed this issue on appeal. The
Republican National Committee and the Michigan Republican Party do
argue in their amicus brief that plaintiffs lack standing, although their
argument does not track what I outline here.
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standing on plaintiffs. The pertinent question, there-
fore, is whether plaintiffs have a “special injury or
right, or substantial interest, that will be detrimen-
tally affected in a manner different from the citizenry at
large . ...” Id. (emphasis added).

It seems to me that, in bringing a facial challenge, it
could plausibly be argued that plaintiffs necessarily
are not asserting a “special injury or right, or substan-
tial interest, that will be detrimentally affected in a
manner different from the citizenry at large . ...” Id.
(emphasis added). Rather, they are asserting the same
injury, right, or interest as that of the citizenry at
large—being subject to a law that is incapable of
any valid, constitutional application. See Steffel v
Thompson, 415 US 452, 474; 94 S Ct 1209; 39 L Ed 2d
505 (1974). In that event, absent some exception,
plaintiffs would not have standing. An exception to the
standing requirement has been recognized for certain
forms of vagueness and overbreadth challenges in the
context of the regulation of free speech. See, e.g., Mich
Up & Out of Poverty Now Coalition v Michigan, 210
Mich App 162, 170; 533 NW2d 339 (1995). But here,
although Count IV of plaintiffs’ complaint does allege a
violation of the right to free speech under Const 1963,
art 1, § 5, plaintiffs have not alleged that the chal-
lenged statutes “sweepl] too broadly, covering a sub-
stantial amount of protected free speech” or that they
create an “unreasonable risk of censorship” by vesting
“‘unbridled discretion in a government official over
whether to permit or deny expressive activity....”
Id., quoting Lakewood v Plain Dealer Publishing Co,
486 US 750, 755-756; 108 S Ct 2138; 100 L Ed 2d 771
(1988). And if plaintiffs have not adequately alleged an
exception to the standing requirement, then they
would not seem to have standing to bring this action in
its current form.
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That would not mean, however, that plaintiffs (or
anyone else in the citizenry at large) would have no
recourse. This Court has held:

Michigan jurisprudence recognizes the special nature of
election cases and the standing of ordinary citizens to
enforce the law in election cases. Deleeuw v Bd of State
Canvassers, 263 Mich App 497, 505-506; 688 NW2d 847
(2004). See also Helmkamp v Livonia City Council, 160
Mich App 442, 445; 408 NW2d 470 (1987) (“[Iln the
absence of a statute to the contrary,...a private per-
son . .. may enforce by mandamus a public right or duty
relating to elections without showing a special interest
distinct from the interest of the public.” [Quotation marks
omitted.]). The general interest of ordinary citizens to
enforce the law in election cases is sufficient to confer
standing to seek mandamaus relief. See Citizens Protecting
Michigan’s Constitution [v Secretary of State], 280 Mich
App [273, 282; 761 NW2d 210 (2008)] (permitting a ballot
question committee to challenge a petition). [Protect MI
Constitution v Secretary of State, 297 Mich App 553,
566-567; 824 NW2d 299 (2012) (emphasis added), rev’d on
other grounds, 492 Mich 860 (2012).]

See also League II, 333 Mich App at 8 (“ ‘(M]andamus
is the proper remedy for a party seeking to compel
election officials to carry out their duties.””), quoting
Citizens Protecting Michigan’s Constitution v Secretary
of State, 324 Mich App 561, 583; 922 NW2d 404 (2018),
affd 503 Mich 42 (2018).

In other words, the plaintiffs in League II pursued
the proper remedy in an election case, i.e., manda-
mus. Plaintiffs in this case did not seek mandamus.
As a result, they might lack standing. Nonetheless,
because the circumstances of this appeal do not
permit our full consideration of the standing issue
and the parties have not developed the arguments on
appeal, it is not properly before us to decide at this
juncture.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in the opinion of the Court
and for these additional reasons, I concur in our
determination to reverse the Court of Claims, to vacate
its order granting summary disposition in favor of
plaintiffs as well as its preliminary and permanent
injunctions, and to remand with instructions to imme-
diately enter an order granting summary disposition in
favor of defendants.
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ESTATE OF LINDA HORN v SWOFFORD

Docket No. 349522. Submitted October 13, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 22, 2020, at 9:00 a.m.

The estate of Linda Horn brought a negligence action in the
Oakland Circuit Court against Michael J. Swofford, D.O., and
Southfield Radiology Associates, PLLC, alleging medical mal-
practice in connection with the care the decedent received before
her death. Horn, who was 24 years old when she died, had a
history of pseudotumor cerebri, which causes increased pressure
inside the skull. To address this condition, a shunt catheter was
implanted in her head on February 22, 2013, to remove cerebro-
spinal fluid. On February 26, 2013, Horn went to the emergency
room after experiencing a headache, nausea, and vomiting. A
cranial computerized tomography (CT) scan indicated that the
shunt appeared to be stable and functioning properly, and Horn
was given pain medication and discharged. On March 2, 2013,
Horn went to the emergency room by ambulance after her
symptoms returned. The emergency room physician ordered
another CT scan, a radiologist dictated the scan, and Dr. Swofford
verified the results of the scan, which was interpreted as indicat-
ing a malfunctioning shunt. After receiving the interpretation of
the CT scan, the emergency room doctor performed a lumbar
puncture to remove cerebrospinal fluid and relieve pressure on
Horn’s brain. Nevertheless, Horn’s condition continued to dete-
riorate, and she died on March 4, 2013. Plaintiff attached an
affidavit of merit executed by Scott B. Berger, M.D., Ph.D., a
licensed medical physician who was a board-certified specialist in
the field of neuroradiology, and the affidavit of merit contained
averments that mirrored the allegations in the complaint. Defen-
dants filed their answer and an affidavit of meritorious defense
executed by Dr. Swofford, in which he averred that he was a
board-certified diagnostic radiologist at the time of the events
giving rise to plaintiff's action and that he had provided treat-
ment equivalent to that performed by a reasonable board-
certified diagnostic radiologist of ordinary learning, judgment,
and skill under the same or similar circumstances with respect to
the interpretation of Horn’s cranial CT scan. Plaintiff moved to
confirm that neuroradiology was the one most relevant specialty
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or subspecialty for purposes of qualifying an expert. The trial
court, Cheryl A. Matthews, J., denied plaintiff’s motion and ruled
that the one most relevant specialty in this case was diagnostic
radiology. The court denied plaintiff's motion for reconsideration,
and plaintiff appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. MCL 600.2912d(1) requires a medical malpractice plaintiff
to file with the complaint an affidavit of merit signed by a health
professional who the plaintiffs attorney reasonably believes
meets the requirements for an expert witness under MCL
600.2169. In pertinent part, MCL 600.2169(1)(a) provides that in
an action alleging medical malpractice, a person shall not give
expert testimony on the appropriate standard of practice or care
unless the person is licensed as a health professional in this state
or another state and, if the party against whom or on whose
behalf the testimony is offered is a specialist, specializes at the
time of the occurrence that is the basis for the action in the same
specialty as the party against whom or on whose behalf the
testimony is offered. MCL 600.2169(1)(a) further states that if the
party against whom or on whose behalf the testimony is offered is
a specialist who is board-certified, the expert witness must be a
specialist who is board-certified in that specialty. Under Woodard
v Custer, 476 Mich 545 (2006), the plaintiff’s expert does not have
to match all of the defendant physician’s specialties; rather, the
plaintiff's expert only has to match the one most relevant spe-
cialty, which is the specialty engaged in by the defendant doctor
during the course of the alleged malpractice. Woodard defined
“specialty” as a particular branch of medicine or surgery in which
one can potentially become board-certified. Accordingly, if the
defendant physician practices a particular branch of medicine or
surgery in which one can potentially become board-certified, the
plaintiff's expert must practice or teach the same particular
branch of medicine or surgery. Further, if a defendant physician
specializes in a subspecialty, the plaintiff's expert witness must
have specialized in the same subspecialty as the defendant
physician at the time of the occurrence that is the basis for the
action.

2. Dr. Swofford was undisputedly a board-certified diagnos-
tic radiologist when he interpreted Horn’s cranial CT scan on
March 2, 2013, and he testified that he would not hold himself
out to be a neuroradiologist. Dr. Berger was board-certified in
diagnostic radiology, received a certificate of added qualification
in neuroradiology in 2000, renewed the certificate in 2010, and
was in the process of once again renewing the certificate of
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added qualification in neuroradiology at the time of his 2019
deposition, and he testified that he spends the vast majority of
his time practicing neuroradiology. According to Dr. Berger,
while every diagnostic radiologist is trained to interpret cranial
CT scans, neuroradiologists have more expertise on the matter
than diagnostic radiologists. Because the branch of medicine
known as diagnostic radiology is one that provides or allows for
board certification, diagnostic radiology is a “specialty” and a
diagnostic radiologist is a “specialist” for purposes of MCL
600.2169(1). Taking into consideration the deposition testimony
and recognizing that a physician can effectively become board-
certified in neuroradiology by receiving a certificate of added
qualification, it is clear that neuroradiology is also a “specialty”
under the statute and more particularly a “subspecialty” of
diagnostic radiology. In this case, Dr. Swofford was, in fact,
practicing neuroradiology when he examined and interpreted
neuroimages—the CT scan of Horn’s skull—and he potentially
could obtain, as he had done in the past, a certificate of special
qualification in neuroradiology, which constitutes a board certi-
fication in neuroradiology under our caselaw. Therefore, Dr.
Swofford was acting or practicing as a “specialist” or “subspe-
cialist” in neuroradiology, at least for purposes of MCL
600.2169(1) as interpreted by Woodard. Although Dr. Swofford
was also practicing diagnostic radiology when he interpreted
Horn’s CT scan, considering that diagnostic radiologists are
credentialed to interpret neuroimages, neuroradiology was the
one most relevant specialty.

Reversed and remanded for further proceedings.

BOONSTRA, J., concurring, wrote separately to encourage the
Supreme Court to clarify this complex area of the law in this or
another appropriate case, particularly in light of the confusing
nature of the four-opinion decision in Woodard and the disagree-
ment regarding whether the Supreme Court’s order in Estate of
Jilek v Stockson, 490 Mich 961 (2011), implicitly overruled
Reeves v Carson City Hosp (On Remand), 274 Mich App 622
(2007).

Sommers Schwartz, PC (by Kenneth T. Watkins and
Ramona C. Howard) for plaintiff.

Collins Einhorn Farrell PC (by Michael J. Cook) for
defendants.
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Before: BOONSTRA, P.J., and MARKEY and FORT HOOD, JJ.

MARKEY, J. This is a medical malpractice action
involving the death of Linda Horn allegedly caused by
the negligence of defendant Michael J. Swofford, D.O.,
with respect to his interpretation of a cranial comput-
erized tomography (CT) scan and his communications
to other medical personnel based on that interpreta-
tion. Horn’s estate, through personal representative
Joelynn T. Stokes, commenced the suit and now ap-
peals by leave granted! the trial court’s order denying
its motion to confirm that the one most relevant
specialty in this case for purposes of qualifying an
expert witness is neuroradiology. Instead, the trial
court sided with defendants and concluded that diag-
nostic radiology is the one most relevant specialty. We
reverse and remand for further proceedings.

I. BACKGROUND FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

According to plaintiff, Horn, who was 24 years old
when she died, had a history of pseudotumor cerebri,
which occurs when pressure inside the skull increases
for no obvious reason. As a result, Horn suffered fre-
quent headaches. To address her medical condition, a
“posterior parietal approach shunt catheter” was im-
planted in her head on February 22, 2013, to remove
cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). On February 26, 2013, Horn
went to the emergency room complaining of a headache,
nausea, and vomiting. A cranial CT scan was performed,
and the shunt appeared to be stable and functioning
properly. Horn was given pain medication and dis-
charged. On March 2, 2013, Horn returned to the emer-
gency room by ambulance. She was experiencing a

! Estate of Horn v Swofford, unpublished order of the Court of
Appeals, entered October 10, 2019 (Docket No. 349522).
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severe headache, nausea, and vomiting. Another cranial
CT scan was performed. The emergency room physician
ordered the CT scan, a radiologist dictated the scan, and
Dr. Swofford verified the results of the scan. The CT
scan was interpreted as showing that the “[blilateral
lateral ventricles ha[d] increased in size since [the] prior
study, especially the right,” which “[c]orrelate[d] clini-
cally for [a] malfunctioning shunt.” After receiving the
interpretation of the CT scan, the emergency room
doctor performed a lumbar puncture to remove CSF and
relieve pressure on Horn’s brain.2 Unfortunately,
Horn’s condition continued to deteriorate, and on
March 4, 2013, she died. An autopsy report indicated
that Horn showed “diffuse brain swelling” and “no
evidence of inflammation or infection . ...”

Plaintiff filed a complaint alleging medical malprac-
tice by Dr. Swofford and his practice group, defendant
Southfield Radiology Associates, PLLC (SRA). Plaintiff
alleged as follows regarding Dr. Swofford:

That Defendant SWOFFORD ... was negligent inter
alia in the following particulars in that a licensed and
practicing Neuroradiologist, when encountering a patient
exhibiting the history, signs and symptoms such as those
demonstrated by [Horn] had a duty to timely and properly:

a. Possess the degree of reasonable care, diligence,
learning, judgment and skill ordinarily and/or reasonably
exercised and possessed by a board certified Neuro Radi-
ologist under the same or similar circumstances;

b. Eevaluate [sic], interpret, report and intervene re-
garding Ms. Horn’s head CT of March 2, 2013;

c. Acknowledge the CT scan of March 2, 2013[,] showed
a dramatic change when compared to the February 26,
2013 CT scan, that required neurological emergent surgery,
intervention;

2 While at the hospital on March 2, 2013, Horn suffered three sei-
zures.
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d. Acknowledge and appreciate that the CT scan of
March 2, 2013[,] showed that the ventricular system had
become severely dilated with subtle areas of low density
adjacent to the ventricles that suggest shunt obstruction
and the transependymal flow of CSF;

e. Acknowledge and appreciate that findings on the CT
scan of March 2, 2013],] indicated acute obstructive hy-
drocephalus which is a neurological emergency;

f. Acknowledge, appreciate and communicate that the
brain in the CT scan of March 2, 2013[,] demonstrated
downward transtentorial herniation and diffuse cerebral
edema, all of which porten[d] a devastating neurological
injury in the absence of an urgent neurosurgical interven-
tion;

g. Urgently communicate the head CT findings to the
ordering physician and advise the ER physician that the
patient must be treated by neurosurgery;

h. Notify and consult with neurosurgery;

i. Immediately advise the ER doctor that the findings
on the March 2, 2013 CT of the head must be emergently
addressed by neurosurgery tapping of the shunt or a
placement of an EVD [external ventricular drain] and that
he should avoid performance of a lumbar puncture be-
cause it would likely exacerbate herniation; [and]

j- Refrain from other acts of negligence which may
become known through the course of discovery.

Plaintiff attached an affidavit of merit executed by
Scott B. Berger, M.D., Ph.D., in which he asserted that
he was a licensed medical physician specializing and
board-certified in the field of neuroradiology. Dr.
Berger averred that he had spent the majority of his
professional time in the year before the incident prac-
ticing neuroradiology or teaching neuroradiology. The
affidavit of merit contained averments that mirrored
the allegations in the complaint quoted above. Defen-
dants filed their answer and an affidavit of meritorious
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defense executed by Dr. Swofford in which he averred
that he was a board-certified diagnostic radiologist at
the time of the events giving rise to plaintiff’s action.
Dr. Swofford contended that the standard of care in
this matter required him to provide treatment equiva-
lent to that performed by a reasonable board-certified
diagnostic radiologist of ordinary learning, judgment,
and skill under the same or similar circumstances. Dr.
Swofford opined that he had complied with the appro-
priate standard of care with respect to the interpreta-
tion of Horn’s cranial CT scan and his communications
based on that interpretation.

Plaintiff moved to confirm that neuroradiology was
the one most relevant specialty or subspecialty for
purposes of qualifying an expert. Defendants argued in
response that the one most relevant specialty was
diagnostic radiology, not neuroradiology. The trial
court denied plaintiff's motion and ruled that the one
most relevant specialty in this case was diagnostic
radiology. The court denied plaintiff’'s motion for recon-
sideration, and this appeal ensued.

II. ANALYSIS

A. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This case turns on the interpretation of MCL
600.2169, and “[t]he construction of MCL 600.2169
presents a question of law subject to de novo review.”
Crego v Edward W Sparrow Hosp Ass’n, 327 Mich App
525, 531; 937 NW2d 380 (2019); see also Woodard v
Custer, 476 Mich 545, 557; 719 NW2d 842 (2006). We
review for an abuse of discretion a trial court’s decision
concerning the qualifications of a proposed expert
witness to testify. Crego, 327 Mich App at 531. When a
trial court’s decision falls outside the range of prin-
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cipled and reasonable outcomes, the court abuses its
discretion. Id. A court necessarily abuses its discretion
when a particular ruling constitutes an error of law. Id.

B. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The Crego panel recited the principles that govern
the construction of a statute, explaining as follows:

When interpreting a statute, the primary rule of con-
struction is to discern and give effect to the Legislature’s
intent, the most reliable indicator of which is the clear and
unambiguous language of the statute. Such language
must be enforced as written, giving effect to every word,
phrase, and clause. Further judicial construction is only
permitted when statutory language is ambiguous. When
determining the Legislature’s intent, statutory provisions
are not to be read in isolation; rather, they must be read in
context and as a whole. [Crego, 327 Mich App at 531
(quotation marks and citations omitted).]

C. DISCUSSION

1. MEDICAL MALPRACTICE—GOVERNING LAW

“The plaintiff in a medical malpractice action bears
the burden of proving: (1) the applicable standard of
care, (2) breach of that standard by defendant,
(3) injury, and (4) proximate causation between the
alleged breach and the injury.” Cox v Flint Bd of Hosp
Managers, 467 Mich 1, 10; 651 NW2d 356 (2002)
(quotation marks and citation omitted). Failure to
establish any one of these four elements is fatal to a
plaintiff’s medical malpractice suit. Id. The “standard
of care is founded upon how other doctors in that field
of medicine would act and not how any particular
doctor would act.” Cudnik v William Beaumont Hosp,
207 Mich App 378, 382; 525 NW2d 891 (1994) (quota-
tion marks and citation omitted).
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MCL 600.2912d(1) requires a medical malpractice
plaintiff to “file with the complaint an affidavit of merit
signed by a health professional who the plaintiff's
attorney reasonably believes meets the requirements
for an expert witness under [MCL 600.2169].” And in
pertinent part, MCL 600.2169 provides:

(1) In an action alleging medical malpractice, a person
shall not give expert testimony on the appropriate stan-
dard of practice or care unless the person is licensed as a
health professional in this state or another state and
meets the following criteria:

(a) If the party against whom or on whose behalf the
testimony is offered is a specialist, specializes at the time of
the occurrence that is the basis for the action in the same
specialty as the party against whom or on whose behalf the
testimony is offered. However, if the party against whom or
on whose behalf the testimony is offered is a specialist who
is board certified, the expert witness must be a specialist
who is board certified in that specialty.

(b) Subject to subdivision (c¢) [which is inapplicable to
this case], during the year immediately preceding the date
of the occurrence that is the basis for the claim or action,
devoted a majority of his or her professional time to either
or both of the following:

(1) The active clinical practice of the same health
profession in which the party against whom or on whose
behalf the testimony is offered is licensed and, if that
party is a specialist, the active clinical practice of that
specialty.

(#7) The instruction of students in an accredited health
professional school or accredited residency or clinical
research program in the same health profession in which
the party against whom or on whose behalf the testimony
is offered is licensed and, if that party is a specialist, an
accredited health professional school or accredited resi-
dency or clinical research program in the same specialty.
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2. CONSTRUCTION OF MCL 600.2169—THE MICHIGAN SUPREME
COURT’S OPINION IN WOODARD

“[Ilf a defendant physician is a specialist, the plain-
tiff’'s expert witness must have specialized in the same
specialty as the defendant physician at the time of the
alleged malpractice.” Woodard, 476 Mich at 560-561.
Additionally, plaintiff's expert is required to hold the
same board certification as the defendant doctor if in
fact the physician is board-certified in the pertinent
specialty. Id. at 560. While specialties and board certi-
fications must match, not all of them are required to
match. Id. at 558. “Because an expert witness is not
required to testify regarding an inappropriate or irrel-
evant standard of medical practice or care, § 2169(1)
should not be understood to require such witness to
specialize in specialties and possess board certificates
that are not relevant to the standard of medical prac-
tice or care about which the witness is to testify.” Id. at
559. The Woodard Court noted that the language of
MCL 600.2169(1) only requires a single specialty to
match, not multiple specialties. Id. In other words, “the
plaintiff’s expert does not have to match all of the
defendant physician’s specialties; rather, the plaintiff’s
expert only has to match the one most relevant spe-
cialty.” Id. at 567-568 (emphasis added). The specialty
engaged in by the defendant doctor during the course
of the alleged malpractice constitutes the one most
relevant specialty. Id. at 560.

In Woodard, our Supreme Court explored the mean-
ing of the terms “specialty” and “specialist” as used in
MCL 600.2169(1)(a), along with examining the concept
of a subspecialty, stating:

Both the dictionary definition of “specialist” and the
plain language of § 2169(1)(a) make it clear that a physi-
cian can be a specialist who is not board certified. They
also make it clear that a “specialist” is somebody who can
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potentially become board certified. Therefore, a “specialty”
is a particular branch of medicine or surgery in which one
can potentially become board certified. Accordingly, if the
defendant physician practices a particular branch of medi-
cine or surgery in which one can potentially become board
certified, the plaintiff’s expert must practice or teach the
same particular branch of medicine or surgery.

Plaintiffs argue that § 2169(1)(a) only requires their
expert witnesses to have specialized in the same specialty
as the defendant physician, not the same subspecialty. We
respectfully disagree. . . . [A] “subspecialty” is a particular
branch of medicine or surgery in which one can potentially
become board certified that falls under a specialty or
within the hierarchy of that specialty. A subspecialty,
although a more particularized specialty, is nevertheless a
specialty. Therefore, if a defendant physician specializes
in a subspecialty, the plaintiff’s expert witness must have
specialized in the same subspecialty as the defendant
physician at the time of the occurrence that is the basis for
the action. [Woodard, 476 Mich at 561-562.]

3. DR. SWOFFORD AND DR. BERGER—CREDENTIALS AND
DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY VERSUS NEURORADIOLOGY

There is no dispute that Dr. Swofford was a board-
certified diagnostic radiologist when he interpreted
Horn’s cranial CT scan on March 2, 2013. Dr. Swofford
graduated from medical school in 1992, was a resident
in diagnostic radiology at a hospital from 1993 to 1997,
participated in a one-year fellowship in neuroradiology
from July 1997 to June 1998, was employed as a staff
radiologist from 1998 to 2006 at a couple of hospitals,
began working at SRA in 2006, and was currently a
partner at SRA. Dr. Swofford obtained a certificate of
added qualification in neuroradiology in 2002, but the
certificate had expired absent renewal by the time he
interpreted Horn’s CT scan. Dr. Swofford was chief of
neuroradiology during a hospital stint from 2002 to
2006.
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In his deposition, Dr. Swofford testified, “I read ap-
proximately 25 percent of neurology-related . . . studies,
and 75 percent based on diagnostic general radiology.”
He additionally testified that radiologists at SRA inter-
pret neuroimages even though they have no extra
certification in neuroradiology. The parties agree that
diagnostic radiologists are certified and permitted to
interpret neuroimages. Dr. Swofford testified that he
would not hold himself out to be a neuroradiologist.

Dr. Berger is board-certified in diagnostic radiology,
received a certificate of added qualification in neurora-
diology in 2000, renewed the certificate in 2010, and was
in the process of once again renewing the certificate of
added qualification in neuroradiology at the time of his
2019 deposition.? Dr. Berger testified that he spends
the “vast majority” of his time practicing neuroradiol-
ogy. In his deposition, he indicated that 90% to 95% of
his practice consisted of neuroradiology and that the
vast majority of his 25-year career had been focused on
neuroradiology. Dr. Berger explained that “a CT scan of
the head would fall into the category of a neuroimaging
study.” There is no dispute over that assertion. Accord-
ing to Dr. Berger, while every diagnostic radiologist is
trained to interpret cranial CT scans, neuroradiolo-

3 Dr. Berger testified that technically there is no board certification in
neuroradiology. Instead, a certificate of added qualification in neurora-
diology is available. But the Woodard Court ruled that for purposes of
MCL 600.2169, there effectively is no difference between being board-
certified and having a certificate of added or special qualification:

Because a certificate of special qualifications is a document
from an official organization that directs or supervises the prac-
tice of medicine that provides evidence of one’s medical qualifica-
tions, it constitutes a board certificate. Accordingly, if a defendant
physician has received a certificate of special qualifications, the
plaintiff’s expert witness must have obtained the same certificate
of special qualifications in order to be qualified to testify under
§ 2169(1)(a). [Woodard, 476 Mich at 565.]
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gists have more expertise on the matter than diagnos-
tic radiologists.* To obtain and maintain a certificate of
added qualification in neuroradiology, a radiologist
must have a “certain amount of reads per year” rela-
tive to neuroimages and must pass an examination
establishing that he or she has a high level of profi-
ciency in reading neuroradiological images.

4. APPLICATION OF FACTS TO LAW

Because the branch of medicine known as diagnostic
radiology is one that provides or allows for board
certification, diagnostic radiology is a “specialty” and a
diagnostic radiologist is a “specialist” for purposes of
MCL 600.2169(1). See Woodard, 476 Mich at 561-562.
Taking into consideration the deposition testimony and
recognizing that a physician can effectively become
board-certified in neuroradiology by receiving a certifi-
cate of added qualification, see id. at 562, 565, it is
clear that neuroradiology is also a “specialty” under
the statute and more particularly a “subspecialty” of
diagnostic radiology. The difficulty that arises in this
case is that while no longer a board-certified neurora-
diologist or its equivalent, Dr. Swofford was undoubt-
edly engaged in interpreting a neuroimage when he
examined Horn’s CT scan on March 2, 2013. Horn’s CT
scan could have been interpreted by a neuroradiologist
or a diagnostic radiologist. We conclude that Reeves v
Carson City Hosp (On Remand), 274 Mich App 622; 736
NW2d 284 (2007), provides some guidance. In Reeves,
this Court addressed the following set of circum-
stances:

4 Dr. Berger did testify that it was his “opinion that when it comes to
a head CT, . . . the standard of care that applies to a neuroradiologist or
a diagnostic radiologist is the same, because they are trained to
interpret those studies as a resident.”
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Catherine R. and Anthony L. Reeves filed this medical
malpractice action against several defendants, including
Lynn Squanda, D.O., who is board-certified in family
medicine, but was working in the emergency room at the
time of the alleged malpractice. The Reeveses claimed
that Dr. Squanda and others were negligent in failing to
timely diagnose and treat Catherine Reeves’s ectopic
pregnancy. The Reeveses filed an affidavit of merit signed
by Eric Davis, M.D., who is board-certified in emergency
medicine, but not board-certified in family medicine. [Id.
at 623.]

The trial court in Reeves ruled that Dr. Davis was
not qualified to give expert testimony against Dr.
Squanda, but this Court vacated the trial court’s order.

Id. at 624. The Reeves panel reasoned and held:

In sum, because Dr. Squanda was practicing emergency
medicine at the time of the alleged malpractice and
potentially could obtain a board certification in emergency
medicine, she was a “specialist” in emergency medicine
under the holding in Woodard. Thus, plaintiffs would need
a specialist in emergency medicine to satisfy MCL
600.2169; Dr. Davis, as a board-certified emergency medi-
cine physician, would satisfy this requirement. However,
the specialist must have also devoted the majority of his
professional time during the preceding year to the active
clinical practice of emergency medicine or the instruction
of students. Because there is no information in the record
regarding what comprised the majority of the expert’s
professional time, a remand for a determination on this
issue is necessary. [Id. at 630.]"

5 Defendants argue that Reeves is distinguishable because there the
defendant doctor was practicing outside her board certification, and it
did not involve, as here, the overlap between a specialty and a subspe-
cialty. We disagree. The whole point of Reeves is that if a defendant
physician was practicing a particular branch of medicine when the
malpractice allegedly occurred, and board certification was available for
the practice of that branch of medicine, then the physician was engaged
in a “specialty” for purposes of MCL 600.2169, and the plaintiff’s expert
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Indeed, as we quoted earlier, the Supreme Court in
Woodard, 476 Mich at 561-562, observed that “if the
defendant physician practices a particular branch of
medicine or surgery in which one can potentially
become board certified, the plaintiff's expert must
practice or teach the same particular branch of medi-
cine or surgery.”

In this case, Dr. Swofford was, in fact, practicing
neuroradiology when he examined and interpreted
neuroimages—the CT scan of Horn’s skull—and he
potentially could obtain, as he had done in the past,
board certification in neuroradiology. And therefore Dr.
Swofford was acting or practicing as a “specialist” or
“subspecialist” in neuroradiology, at least for purposes
of MCL 600.2169(1) as interpreted by Woodard. Al-
though Dr. Swofford was also practicing diagnostic
radiology when he interpreted Horn’s CT scan, consid-
ering that diagnostic radiologists are credentialed to
interpret neuroimages, neuroradiology was the one
most relevant specialty.

We do find it necessary to distinguish the facts in this
case from those presented in Woodard. In Woodard, the
defendant physician was board-certified in pediatrics
and also had certificates of special qualifications in
pediatric critical-care medicine and neonatal-perinatal
medicine, but the plaintiff's proposed expert was only
board-certified in pediatrics and had no certificates of
special qualifications. Woodard, 476 Mich at 554-555.
The Supreme Court held that the one most relevant
specialty in the case was pediatric critical-care medi-

must have practical or teaching experience in that specialty. We see no
difference in relation to the analysis between a case that entails a
defendant family doctor actually practicing emergency medicine and a
case that involves a diagnostic radiologist actually practicing, more
specifically, neuroradiology—the overlap in the latter is not a basis to
jettison the principle.
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cine; therefore, the plaintiff's expert did not satisfy the
same-specialty requirement of MCL 600.2169(1)(a). Id.
at 576. In this lawsuit, Dr. Swofford did not practice a
specialty or have a board certification that Dr. Berger
lacked.

In Hamilton v Kuligowski, the companion case to
Woodard, the underlying facts were as follows:

Plaintiff alleges that the defendant physician failed to
properly diagnose and treat the decedent while she exhib-
ited prestroke symptoms. The defendant physician is
board certified in general internal medicine and special-
izes in general internal medicine. Plaintiff’s proposed
expert witness is board certified in general internal medi-
cine and devotes a majority of his professional time to
treating infectious diseases, a subspecialty of internal
medicine. [Woodard, 476 Mich at 556.]

Our Supreme Court held that the plaintiff’s proposed
expert did not qualify to give testimony on the stan-
dard of care under MCL 600.2169, noting that the
expert himself acknowledged that he was “ ‘not sure
what the average internist sees day in and day out.””
Id. at 578. As opposed to the situation in Hamilton in
which the expert witness’s subspecialty in treating
infectious diseases was not pertinent to diagnosing
prestroke symptoms, Dr. Berger’s credentials as a
neuroradiologist were extremely relevant to the inter-
pretation of neuroimages. Dr. Berger certainly knows
what the average radiologist sees day in and day out.
Stated differently, the defendant doctor in Hamilton
was not practicing infectious-disease medicine in treat-
ing the decedent, but Dr. Swofford was plainly practic-
ing neuroradiology in interpreting decedent Horn’s CT
scan.

Finally, although it is an unpublished opinion, we
feel compelled to touch on this Court’s decision in
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Higgins v Traill, unpublished per curiam opinion of the
Court of Appeals, issued July 30, 2019 (Docket No.
343664), because it is a very similar case. In Higgins,
this Court affirmed the trial court’s ruling in the
context of the following facts:

In October 2013, plaintiff, Joan Higgins, collapsed in
her home. When Emergency Medical Services (EMS) ar-
rived, Higgins could not speak, had right-sided weakness,
and was experiencing facial droop. Higgins was trans-
ported to St. John Macomb-Oakland Hospital. Relevant to
this appeal, plaintiffs argue that Dr. Fry read a CT
angiogram of Higgins’s head as normal when it actually
showed an occlusion in the middle cerebral artery. Plain-
tiffs contend that Dr. Fry’s failure to properly read the CT
angiogram delayed Higgins’s treatment, which caused her
to experience the full effect of an ischemic stroke and
resulted in her sustaining permanent neurological defi-
cits.

Following discovery, defendants moved for summary
disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10), arguing that plain-
tiffs’ experts, Dr. Meyer and Dr. Zoarski, were not quali-
fied to provide standard-of-care testimony under MCL
600.2169. Specifically, defendants asserted that the spe-
cialty that Dr. Meyer and Dr. Zoarski spent the majority of
their time practicing—neuroradiology—did not match Dr.
Fry’s specialty—diagnostic radiology—so they were not
qualified to testify against Dr. Fry. Plaintiffs, however,
maintained that the specialty matched because at the
time of the alleged malpractice Dr. Fry was practicing
neuroradiology, not diagnostic radiology. The trial court
agreed with plaintiffs, holding that Dr. Meyer and Dr.
Zoarski were qualified to testify as experts against Dr. Fry
under MCL 600.2169 and MRE 702, and denying defen-
dants’ motion for summary disposition. [Higgins, unpub
op at 2.]

As we did above, the Higgins panel relied on Woodard
and Reeves in affirming the trial court’s ruling. Higgins,
unpub op at 4-6. The Court observed that when defen-



298 334 MICH APP 281 [Oct
CONCURRING OPINION BY BOONSTRA, P.dJ.

dant Dr. Fry was reading the brain angiogram, “he was
engaged in the practice of neuroradiology.” Id. at 4. The
Court held that it could “discern no error in the court’s
determination that the relevant specialty was neurora-
diology because that was what Dr. Fry was practicing
when he read the CT angiogram.” Id. We agree with this
Court’s ruling and reasoning in Higgins.® Moreover, on
application for leave to appeal in Higgins, three jus-
tices voted to deny leave, three justices voted to direct
oral argument on just the application, and one justice
did not participate because of a familial relationship.
Higgins v Traill, 505 Mich 1046 (2020). Accordingly,
the application for leave to appeal was denied. Id.
Having considered the facts and the caselaw, we con-
clude at this juncture that MCL 600.2169(1), as con-
strued in Woodard, Reeves, and Higgins, supports our
ruling.

We reverse and remand for proceedings consistent
with this opinion. We do not retain jurisdiction. Having

fully prevailed on appeal, plaintiff may tax costs under
MCR 7.219.

FORT HOOD, J., concurred with MARKEY, J.

BOONSTRA, P.J. (concurring). I concur in the majority
opinion. I write separately simply to encourage our
Supreme Court, in this or another appropriate case,
to clarify the law in this area. I note that while this
case turns largely on the Supreme Court’s decision in

6 “Although MCR 7.215(C)(1) provides that unpublished opinions are
not binding under the rule of stare decisis, a court may nonetheless
consider such opinions for their instructive or persuasive value.” Cox v
Hartman, 322 Mich App 292, 307; 911 NW2d 219 (2017). Additionally,
we agree with the Higgins panel’s reasoning in rejecting the contention
that the Supreme Court implicitly overruled Reeves in an order in Estate
of Jilek v Stockson, 490 Mich 961 (2011). Higgins, unpub op at 6.
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Woodard v Custer, 476 Mich 545; 719 NW2d 842
(2006), by which we are bound, that decision featured
no fewer than four opinions, including three concur-
ring opinions—one of which was authored by the
same justice who wrote the four-justice majority opin-
ion, and one of which maintained that it actually was
the majority opinion (by virtue of the second concur-
rence), see id. at 591-592 (TAYLOR, C.J., concurring).
Moreover, this Court’s unpublished decision in
Higgins v Traill, unpublished per curiam opinion of
the Court of Appeals, issued July 30, 2019 (Docket
No. 343664), featured a separate concurring opinion
by Judge GLEICHER in which she maintained that
Woodard’s analysis was faulty in certain respects and
should be reconsidered. Although the Supreme Court
subsequently denied leave to appeal in Higgins, it did
so on an evenly split 3-3 vote, with one justice not
participating. And there remains disagreement—
which the Supreme Court could put to rest, one way
or another—about whether its order in Estate of Jilek
v Stockson, 490 Mich 961 (2011), implicitly overruled
Reeves v Carson City Hosp (On Remand), 274 Mich
App 622; 736 NW2d 284 (2007).

For these reasons, I concur in the majority opinion
but encourage our Supreme Court to provide much-
needed clarity in this complex area of law.
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In re MOTA, MINORS

Docket No. 351830. Submitted October 14, 2020, at Detroit. Decided

October 22, 2020, at 9:05 a.m.

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) filed a

petition in the Lenawee Circuit Court, Family Division, seeking to
terminate respondent’s parental rights on the basis of an allega-
tion that he had sexually abused his minor children’s seven-year-
old half-sister. The petition asserted that jurisdiction was proper
under MCL 712A.2(b)(1) and (2), that grounds for termination
existed under MCL 712A.19b(3)(b)(1), (), and (k)(ix), and that
termination of respondent’s parental rights was in the children’s
best interests. The trial court, Catherine A. Sala, J., authorized the
petition and placed the children with their mother. Before the
termination proceedings began, the DHHS moved under MCR
3.972(C)(2) to admit statements LP had made to her maternal
grandmother regarding the sexual abuse. After a tender-years
hearing under MCR 3.972(C)(2)(a), the trial court granted the
motion, allowing for the admission of LP’s statements into evi-
dence at trial. The trial court then held a combined adjudication
trial and dispositional hearing, at which a Sexual Assault Nurse
Examiner (SANE) testified that she had physically examined LP
and concluded that LP had injuries that were “highly suggestive”
of sexual abuse. After the proofs were submitted, the court found a
basis to exercise jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b)(1) and (2), and
it terminated respondent’s parental rights to the minor children,
primarily on the basis of its finding that respondent had sexually
abused LP. Respondent appealed by right.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The trial court committed procedural errors in conducting
the adjudicative and dispositional phases of the case; however,
respondent failed to show that the errors required reversal. MCR
3.973 indicates that an adjudication trial is to be followed by a
dispositional hearing, even if there is no space of time between the
trial and the hearing, and MCR 3.977(E) clearly contemplates two
separate proceedings—a trial or plea relative to adjudication and a
dispositional hearing for purposes of termination. MCR 3.977(E)(3)
does allow a court, at the initial disposition hearing, to rely on
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evidence admitted at the adjudication trial to support termination.
Reading MCR 3.973(A), (B), and (C) in conjunction with MCR
3.977(E)(3) indicates that, when an adjudication trial is conducted
and the DHHS requests termination at the initial dispositional
hearing, the following process should apply. First, an adjudication
trial is to be conducted with the court allowing the introduction of
legally admissible evidence that is relevant to the exercise of
jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b). At the conclusion of the adjudi-
cation trial, the court, in a bench trial, is to determine whether the
DHHS established by a preponderance of the evidence a basis for
jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b). If jurisdiction is not established,
the proceeding is concluded. If the trial court finds that it has
jurisdiction, the dispositional hearing in which termination is
sought may immediately be commenced. MCR 3.977 provides that
at the termination hearing, the trial court may take into consider-
ation any evidence that had been properly introduced and admit-
ted at the adjudication trial, as well as any additional relevant and
material evidence that is received by the court at the termination
hearing. In this case, the trial court did not separate the adjudi-
cation trial from the dispositional hearing, and it issued rulings in
regard to jurisdiction and termination after all the proofs were
submitted. However, this error did not require reversal because
respondent did not establish that his substantial rights were
affected or that the integrity, fairness, or public reputation of the
proceedings were seriously affected by the court’s procedural
errors. With regard to respondent’s arguments regarding the
SANE’s testimony and report, the record reflected that, to the
extent that the court relied on the report and testimony, it was for
purposes of both adjudication and termination, and the statements
LP made to the SANE were admissible under MRE 803(4). Respon-
dent’s contention that the trial court made no factual findings
lacked merit. The trial court, relying on legally admissible evi-
dence, expressly found that respondent sexually abused LP, that
there was penetration, and that there was a substantial risk of
harm to the minor children in light of the sexual assault committed
by respondent against LP, and these findings were used to support
the exercise of jurisdiction and the termination of parental rights.

2. The performance of respondent’s trial counsel in failing to
object to the process used in this case fell below an objective
standard of reasonableness. However, because the results of the
adjudication and disposition would have been the same had the
court followed the proper procedures, reversal was unwarranted.

3. The trial court did not clearly err by finding that terminat-
ing respondent’s parental rights was in the children’s best inter-
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ests. Although there was only evidence of one act of sexual abuse,
it was an especially egregious violation of a child who had looked
to respondent for care and protection. The trial court did not
clearly err by finding that this single act of sexual abuse revealed
a side of respondent that posed a serious danger to his minor
children. With respect to the purported bond between respondent
and his children, there was also evidence of a bond between LP
and respondent, yet that did not prevent respondent from sexu-
ally exploiting and abusing her. Furthermore, there was nothing
in the record to support respondent’s argument that he was not a
danger to boys, and the fact that respondent provided some
assistance to his children did not suffice to overcome the danger
that he posed to them.

Affirmed.

1. PARENT AND CHILD — CHILD PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS.

Under the procedures set forth in the juvenile code, MCL 712A.1 et
seq., and Subchapter 3.900 of the Michigan Court Rules, child
protective proceedings comprise an adjudicative phase and a
dispositional phase; generally, a court determines whether it can
take jurisdiction over a child during the adjudicative phase and,
if so, the court then determines during the dispositional phase
what course of action will ensure the child’s safety and well-being.

2. PARENT AND CHILD — CHILD PROTECTIVE PROCEEDINGS — ADJUDICATION

TRIALS — DISPOSITIONAL HEARINGS — TERMINATION OF PARENTAL
RIGHTS.

When the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)
requests the termination of a respondent’s parental rights at the
initial dispositional hearing in a child protective proceeding, first,
an adjudication trial is to be conducted with the court allowing
the introduction of legally admissible evidence that is relevant to
the exercise of jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b); at the conclu-
sion of the adjudication trial, the court, in a bench trial, is to
determine whether the DHHS established by a preponderance of
the evidence a basis for jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b); if the
trial court finds that it has jurisdiction, the dispositional hearing
in which termination is sought may immediately be commenced;
at the termination hearing, the trial court, in rendering its
termination decision under MCL 712A.19b, may take into consid-
eration any evidence that had been properly introduced and
admitted at the adjudication trial under MCR 3.977(E) along with
any additional relevant and material evidence that the court
received at the termination hearing under MCR 3.977(H)(2).
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Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, R. Burke Castleberry, Jr.,
Prosecuting Attorney, and Jennifer L. Bruggeman,
Chief Appellate Prosecuting Attorney, for the peti-
tioner.

Michael H. Dzialowski for the respondent.
Before: BOONSTRA, P.J., and MARKEY and FORT HOOD, JJ.

MARKEY, J. Respondent father appeals by right the
trial court’s order terminating his parental rights to
his three minor children pursuant to MCL
712A.19b(3)(b)(7) (a sibling of the children suffered
sexual abuse caused by the parent’s act), (j) (reason-
able likelihood that children will be harmed if returned
to parent’s home), and (k)(ix) (parent sexually abused a
sibling of the children and there is a reasonable like-
lihood of harm to the children if returned to parent’s
care). On appeal, respondent presents three argu-
ments. First, he contends that the trial court erred by
combining the adjudication trial with the initial dispo-
sition hearing, resulting in one indistinguishable court
proceeding. Second, respondent argues that his attor-
ney was ineffective for failing to object to the trial
court’s merging the adjudicative and dispositional
phases of the case. Third, respondent maintains that
the trial court erred by finding that it was in the
children’s best interests to terminate respondent’s pa-
rental rights. We affirm.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In February 2019, the petitioner, the Department of
Health and Human Services (DHHS) filed a petition to
remove the minor children from respondent’s care and
to terminate his parental rights. Although the minor
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children’s mother was listed as a respondent in the
petition, she was subsequently dismissed from the case
absent any adjudication relative to her parental rights.
In the petition, the DHHS alleged that respondent had
sexually abused the minor children’s half-sister, LP, by
taking photographs of her anal and vaginal areas while
LP pretended to be asleep. The petition asserted that
jurisdiction was proper under MCL 712A.2(b)(1) and
(2), that grounds for termination existed under MCL
712A.19b(3)(b)(@), (j), and (k)(ix), and that termination
of respondent’s parental rights was in the children’s
best interests. The trial court authorized the petition
and placed the children with their mother.

In June 2019, the DHHS moved under MCR
3.972(C)(2) to admit statements LP had made to her
maternal grandmother, Cynthia Johnson, regarding the
sexual abuse. The DHHS argued that the statements
LP made to Johnson satisfied the criteria for admissi-
bility set forth in MCR 3.972(C)(2).! On October 24,
2019, the trial court conducted a tender-years hearing
under MCR 3.972(C)(2)(a). At the hearing, Johnson
testified that LP was seven years old when she made

1 MCR 3.972(C) provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(2) Any statement made by a child under 10 years of
age . .. regarding an act of . . . sexual abuse . . . may be admitted
into evidence through the testimony of a person who heard the
child make the statement as provided in this subrule.

(a) A statement describing such conduct may be admitted
regardless of whether the child is available to testify or not, and
is substantive evidence of the act or omission if the court has
found, in a hearing held before trial, that the circumstances
surrounding the giving of the statement provide adequate indicia
of trustworthiness. This statement may be received by the court
in lieu of or in addition to the child’s testimony.

(b) If the child has testified, a statement denying such conduct
may be used for impeachment purposes as permitted by the rules
of evidence.
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statements to Johnson concerning the acts respondent
allegedly committed. When Johnson was playfully
tickling LP, LP told Johnson that respondent had
entered LP’s bedroom the night before while LP was in
bed. According to LP, respondent pulled down LP’s
pants and underwear and touched her buttocks. LP
also told Johnson that respondent spread LP’s but-
tocks apart, that he had a flashlight or a phone light
that was turned on at the time, and that she believed
that respondent took photographs of her. Johnson
testified that LP indicated that she was scared and did
not know what to do, so she pretended to be asleep
even when respondent turned her over. LP appeared
nervous to Johnson, but Johnson believed that this
was because LP did not know how Johnson would react
to LP’s assertions. Johnson noted that respondent had
helped raise LP since before she was age one and that
LP referred to respondent as “dada.”

Kevin Sellers, who was employed by the DHHS,
testified that he conducted a forensic interview of LP
regarding her allegations of sexual abuse by respon-
dent. LP informed Sellers that she was sleeping on her
back when a light woke her up. LP told Sellers that she
knew that it was respondent in her room with a light
and that she pretended to be sleeping. According to LP,
respondent pulled LP’s pants and underwear down
with the light still on. LP explained to Sellers that
respondent turned LP over onto her stomach and
moved the light down to her buttocks area. As she had
told Johnson, LP indicated to Sellers her belief that
respondent was taking photographs of her. Sellers
testified that LP informed him that respondent spread
her buttocks apart and “toward her . . . vaginal area.”

At the conclusion of the testimony by Johnson and
Sellers and following arguments by the parties on the
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DHHS’s tender-years motion, the trial court granted
the motion, allowing for the admission of LP’s state-
ments into evidence at trial. The court found that LP
was under 10 years of age when the statements were
made, that the statements were sufficiently trustwor-
thy, that LP made the statements spontaneously, and
that LP had behaved appropriately under the circum-
stances. Accordingly, the criteria in MCR 3.972(C)(2)
were satisfied. The trial court further concluded that
LP’s statements were made to someone she trusted,
that subsequent assertions LP made to Sellers were
consistent with those made to Johnson, that there was
nothing to suggest LP had a motive to lie about the
incident, and that the terminology used by LP to
describe the events was consistent with the language
one would expect of a child her age.

After the trial court granted the DHHS’s motion and
a half-hour recess, the court commenced a combined
adjudication trial and dispositional hearing. Rachelle
VanAken, a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE),
testified that she physically examined LP around the
time of the disclosure of sexual abuse. VanAken pre-
pared a report concerning her examination, which
included various statements LP made to VanAken. The
DHHS sought to admit the SANE report into evidence;
respondent objected on the basis that the report con-
tained information and directions that were suppos-
edly given to the “patient” but were actually provided
to Johnson. VanAken explained that some information
and directions normally given to a patient are often
given to the patient’s caregiver when the patient is a
minor. The trial court overruled respondent’s objection.

When VanAken physically examined LP, she ob-
served some bruises on LP’s shins, which LP thought
had been caused by bumping into something. VanAken



2020] In re MOTA, MINORS 307

testified that there was white discharge between LP’s
labia and hymen, a tear where LP’s labia come to-
gether posteriorly, and a small abrasion on the outside
of LP’s anus. LP reported to VanAken that her buttocks
hurt “a little.” VanAken opined that the injuries were
“highly suggestive” of sexual abuse. VanAken ex-
plained:

Due to the fact that she was saying that he spread her
apart and depending on the force that was used or the
pressure that was put on you can actually tear that tissue
by spreading the areas around the vaginal area if you use
your hands to spread that open you can actually tear that
tissue and the same thing can kind of happen with the
anal area. Any force that is used to spread open the anal
area can cause injuries.

According to VanAken, LP told her that respondent
checked LP’s buttocks with a flashlight while she
pretended to sleep. VanAken believed that LP’s version
of events was consistent with her physical injuries.
Respondent raised a hearsay objection, which was
overruled by the trial court on the basis of the medical
treatment or diagnosis exception to hearsay, MRE
803(4). LP also informed VanAken about a history of
domestic violence in the family home, describing sev-
eral events, including one in which respondent had
choked the children’s mother, which resulted in inter-
vention by Johnson and her husband and a call to the
police.

Johnson was once again called to testify about the
statements LP made to her. Johnson’s testimony was
consistent with the testimony she gave during the
tender-years’ hearing, with a few clarifications. On the
basis of her discussion with LP, Johnson was unsure
whether respondent had successfully turned LP over
onto her back or if he had only attempted to do so. In
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addition, LP told Johnson that respondent did not put
anything inside of her and had only touched her
buttocks. Johnson did not believe that the minor chil-
dren were bonded with respondent because he rarely
engaged in activities with the children. Whenever
Johnson saw them together, the children were playing
by themselves while respondent played video games.

Jill Heilmann, a children’s protective services
worker, testified to her belief that the minor children
were likely to be harmed if returned to respondent’s
care. She was concerned about respondent’s having
access to the children considering his sexual abuse of
LP. Heilmann also noted that respondent had provided
very little support for the minor children. Heilmann
further expressed concern regarding the alleged do-
mestic violence, but the trial court struck this testi-
mony when respondent objected on the ground that it
constituted hearsay. In Heilmann’s opinion, the minor
children had a heightened need for stability and per-
manency due to their ages—they were all under six
years old. To the best of Heilmann’s knowledge, respon-
dent had neither been arrested nor charged for the
alleged sexual abuse of LP.

Heilmann testified that before proceedings were com-
menced, the minor children had lived with their four
older siblings, their mother, and respondent in a rental
unit. At some point between the initiation of this case
and trial, the family was evicted from the rental home
and the children and their mother had moved in with
Johnson and Johnson’s husband. According to Heil-
mann, the children were all bonded with each other.

The children’s mother testified that respondent
moved out of their home after LP made the allegations
against respondent. She also touched on the alleged
history of domestic violence, claiming that while respon-
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dent had not physically assaulted her, he would stand in
her way and prevent her from leaving a room. The
children heard some of their arguments, although the
children’s mother testified that she did not intend to
argue in front of them. According to the children’s
mother, respondent sometimes yelled at the children
and spanked them for disciplinary purposes but never
in a way that she deemed inappropriate. She never saw
respondent physically mistreat any of the minor chil-
dren. Because of the age of the youngest child, the
children’s mother did not believe that the child and
respondent had bonded. But the other two children
talked about respondent often and said that they missed
him. In the mother’s view, one child was having behav-
ioral issues caused or exacerbated by respondent’s ab-
sence. When the child was angry with the children’s
mother, the child would cry and ask for respondent.

After the proofs were submitted, there was a power
outage, so the court adjourned the matter for the day.
A week later the case was reconvened, and the trial
court issued its ruling from the bench. The trial court
found a basis to exercise jurisdiction under MCL
712A.2(b)(1) and (2), and it terminated respondent’s
parental rights to the minor children. The petition had
alleged grounds for termination under MCL
712A.19b(3)(b)(@), (j), and (k)(ix), and while the court’s
ruling was a bit vague, it appeared that the court found
that all three provisions had been proven by clear and
convincing evidence. The primary premise of the
court’s decision was its finding that there was “sexual
abuse in this case.” The trial court concluded that the
evidence even revealed some penetration.

In finding a basis to exercise jurisdiction and to
terminate respondent’s parental rights, the trial court
determined that the minor children would be at a
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substantial risk of harm by respondent for two reasons
related to respondent’s sexual abuse of LP. First, there
was a direct risk of respondent’s engaging in similar
conduct with his children and, second, there was a risk
to the children’s mental, physical, and emotional well-
being in being raised by someone who would do such
things. The trial court also found that termination was
in the minor children’s best interests because they
needed permanency, stability, and an environment safe
from potential victimization. Furthermore, the court
determined that the bond between the children and
respondent, while significant, actually posed a danger
to the children because they could be abused or learn
negative behaviors and a lack of impulse control. The
trial court also noted that the children were safe with
their mother, who reported LP’s allegations immedi-
ately and continued to provide a good environment for
the children. Respondent appeals by right.

II. ANALYSIS

A. ADJUDICATION AND DISPOSITION IN A SINGLE COMBINED
PROCEEDING

Respondent argues that the trial court erred when it
combined the adjudication trial and the initial dispo-
sition hearing, resulting in a single indistinguishable
proceeding. Respondent contends that “the record does
not reflect that a separate hearing was conducted by
the trial court to determine whether or not there was a
preponderance of ... evidence” to establish jurisdic-
tion. Respondent further maintains that the SANE
report prepared by VanAken was inadmissible because
the medical treatment or diagnosis exception to hear-
say, MRE 803(4), did not apply. Respondent similarly
posits that some of VanAken’s testimony was based on
hearsay statements LP made to VanAken and that LP
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herself stated that there was no penetration. And,
according to respondent, there is no indication in the
record whether the trial court used the SANE report
and VanAken’s testimony for purposes of the adjudica-
tion or instead used the evidence to decide the issue of
termination as part of the dispositional phase of the
case. Respondent also argues that the trial court made
no factual findings and thus it is unclear whether the
court properly adjudicated respondent with legally
admissible evidence.

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[Flamily division procedure under the court
rules . . . [is] reviewed de novo.” In re AMAC, 269 Mich
App 533, 536; 711 NW2d 426 (2006). Respondent, how-
ever, did not preserve his argument below with an
objection to the procedure employed by the trial court.
Therefore, our review is for plain error affecting respon-
dent’s substantial rights, and to justify reversal the
plain error must also seriously affect the integrity,
fairness, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.
In re Ferranti, 504 Mich 1, 30; 934 NW2d 610 (2019).

2. INTERPRETATION OF THE COURT RULES

“When called upon to interpret and apply a court
rule, this Court applies the principles that govern statu-
tory interpretation.” Haliw v Sterling Hts, 471 Mich
700, 704; 691 NW2d 753 (2005); see also Fleet Business
Credit, LLC v Krapohl Ford Lincoln Mercury Co, 274
Mich App 584, 591; 735 NW2d 644 (2007). “Court rules
should be interpreted to effect the intent of the drafter,
the Michigan Supreme Court.” Fleet Business, 274 Mich
App at 591. Clear and unambiguous language contained
in a court rule must be given its plain meaning and is
enforced as written. Id. We may consult a dictionary to
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determine the plain meaning of an undefined term used
in the court rules. Wardell v Hincka, 297 Mich App 127,
132; 822 NW2d 278 (2012).

3. DISCUSSION

The DHHS, following an investigation, may petition
a court to take jurisdiction over a child. In re Ferrantt,
504 Mich at 15, citing MCR 3.961(A). The petition must
contain essential facts that, if proven, would permit the
court to assume and exercise jurisdiction over the child.
MCR 3.961(B)(3); MCL 712A.2(b); In re Ferranti, 504
Mich at 15. If a petition is authorized, the adjudication
phase of the proceedings takes place, and the “question
at adjudication is whether the trial court can exercise
jurisdiction over the child (and the respondents-
parents) under MCL 712A.2(b) so that it can enter
dispositional orders, including an order terminating
parental rights.” In re Ferranti, 504 Mich at 15.

In In re Sanders, 495 Mich 394, 404; 852 NW2d 524
(2014), the Michigan Supreme Court explained:

A brief review of the court rules and statutes governing
child protective proceedings is helpful here. The juvenile
code, MCL 712A.1 et seq., establishes procedures by which
the state can exercise its parens patriae authority over
minors. These procedures are reflected in Subchapter
3.900 of the Michigan Court Rules. In Michigan, child
protective proceedings comprise two phases: the adjudica-
tive phase and the dispositional phase. Generally, a court
determines whether it can take jurisdiction over the child
in the first place during the adjudicative phase. Once the
court has jurisdiction, it determines during the disposi-
tional phase what course of action will ensure the child’s
safety and well-being. [Citations omitted.]

If a trial is held regarding adjudication, the respon-
dent is entitled to a determination of the facts by the
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jury or judge, the rules of evidence apply, and jurisdic-
tion must be established by a preponderance of the
evidence. In re AMAC, 269 Mich App at 536. “The
dispositional phase involves a determination of what
action, if any, will be taken on behalf of the child.” Id.
at 537. “Unlike the adjudicative [trial], at the initial
dispositional hearing the respondent is not entitled to
a jury determination of the facts and, generally, the
Michigan Rules of Evidence do not apply, so all rel-
evant and material evidence is admissible.” Id., citing
MCR 3.911, MCR 3.973(E), and MCR 3.977(A)(3).
“Termination of parental rights may be ordered at the
initial dispositional hearing.” In re AMAC, 269 Mich
App at 537, citing MCR 3.977(E) and MCL
712A.19b(4).2 “If permanent termination of parental
rights is sought, the petitioner bears the burden of
proving the statutory basis for termination by clear
and convincing evidence.” In re AMAC, 269 Mich App
at 537; see also MCL 712A.19b(3).

MCR 3.973 addresses procedural and substantive
aspects of dispositional hearings, and Subrule (A)
provides:

A dispositional hearing is conducted to determine what
measures the court will take with respect to a child
properly within its jurisdiction and, when applicable,
against any adult, once the court has determined following
trial, plea of admission, or plea of no contest that one or
more of the statutory grounds alleged in the petition are
true. [Emphasis added.]

The language of MCR 3.973(A) indicates that a dispo-
sitional hearing is to be conducted following or after a
trial in which jurisdiction is established pursuant to

2 “If a petition to terminate the parental rights to a child is filed, the
court may enter an order terminating parental rights . . . at the initial
dispositional hearing.” MCL 712A.19b(4).
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statute. MCR 3.973(B) provides that “[ulnless the
dispositional hearing is held immediately after the
trial, notice of hearing may be given by scheduling it on
the record in the presence of the parties or in accor-
dance with MCR 3.920.” This language plainly envi-
sions the dispositional hearing taking place “after” the
adjudication trial, whether immediately thereafter or
later. MCR 3.973(C) provides, in relevant part, that
“[t]he interval, if any, between the trial and the dispo-
sitional hearing is within the discretion of the court.”
(Emphasis added.) An “interval” is “a space of time
between events or states.” Merriam-Webster’s Colle-
giate Dictionary (11th ed). And even if there is no space
of time “between” a trial and a dispositional hearing,
which is permissible under MCR 3.973(C), the se-
quence of events nonetheless entails an adjudication
trial followed by a dispositional hearing.

MCR 3.977 addresses the termination of parental
rights in the dispositional phase of the proceedings,
and Subrule (E) provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

The court shall order termination of the parental rights
of a respondent at the initial dispositional hearing held
pursuant to MCR 3.973, and shall order that additional
efforts for reunification of the child with the respondent
shall not be made, if

(1) the original, or amended, petition contains a request
for termination;

(2) at the trial or plea proceedings, the trier of fact finds
by a preponderance of the evidence that one or more of the
grounds for assumption of jurisdiction over the child
under MCL 712A.2(b) have been established;

(3) at the initial disposition hearing, the court finds on
the basis of clear and convincing legally admissible evi-
dence that had been introduced at the trial or plea
proceedings, or that is introduced at the dispositional
hearing, that one or more facts alleged in the petition:
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(a) are true, and

(b) establish grounds for termination . . . .

The language of MCR 3.977(E) clearly envisions or
contemplates two separate proceedings—a trial or plea
relative to adjudication and a dispositional hearing for
purposes of termination. MCR 3.977(E)(3) indicates
that at an initial disposition hearing, a court can
terminate parental rights on the basis of legally admis-
sible evidence that had previously been introduced at
the adjudication trial or legally admissible evidence
presented for the first time at the dispositional hear-
ing.? Thus, MCR 3.977(E)(3) does allow a court, at the
initial disposition hearing, to rely on evidence admit-
ted at the adjudication trial to support termination. In
that sense, MCR 3.977(E)(3) creates some murkiness
with respect to the line of demarcation between an
adjudication trial and an initial dispositional hearing.

Reading MCR 3.973(A), (B), and (C) in conjunction
with MCR 3.977(E)(3), we conclude that the following
described process honors the intent of the court rules
promulgated by our Supreme Court and applies when
an adjudication trial is conducted and the DHHS
requests termination at the initial dispositional hear-

3 In In re Utrera, 281 Mich App 1, 17-18; 761 NW2d 253 (2008), this
Court noted that the “petitioner sought termination of respondent’s
parental rights at the initial disposition in the amended petition, and
MCR 3.977(E) provides that clear and convincing, legally admissible
evidence was required.” (Emphasis added.) Thus, while generally the
“Michigan Rules of Evidence do not apply at the initial dispositional
hearing,” MCR 3.973(E)(1), when termination is sought at the initial
dispositional hearing, legally admissible evidence is required, MCR
3.977(E)(3). When termination of parental rights is not being sought at
the initial dispositional hearing or on the basis of circumstances that are
new or different from those that led the court to originally take
jurisdiction, “[t]he Michigan Rules of Evidence do not apply, other than
those with respect to privileges . ...” MCR 3.977(H)(2).
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ing under circumstances such as those posed in this
case. First, an adjudication trial is to be conducted
with the court allowing the introduction of legally
admissible evidence that is relevant to the exercise of
jurisdiction under MCL 712A.2(b). At the conclusion of
the adjudication trial, the court, in a bench trial, is to
determine whether the DHHS established by a prepon-
derance of the evidence a basis for jurisdiction under
MCL 712A.2(b). If jurisdiction is not established, the
proceeding is, of course, concluded. If the trial court
finds that it has jurisdiction, the dispositional hearing
in which termination is sought may immediately be
commenced. At the termination hearing, the trial
court, in rendering its termination decision under MCL
712A.19b, may take into consideration any evidence
that had been properly introduced and admitted at the
adjudication trial, MCR 3.977(E), along with any ad-
ditional relevant and material evidence that is re-
ceived by the court at the termination hearing, MCR
3.977(H)(2).4

4 To the extent that the DHHS argues that this Court’s opinion in In
re AMAC supports the trial court’s handling of the adjudication and
dispositional phases of the case, we disagree. Indeed, In re AMAC fully
supports our ruling, as reflected in the following passage:

In this case, there was an adjudicative hearing that concluded
with the trial court rendering its written opinion and order
terminating respondent’s parental rights without a dispositional
hearing either immediately following the trial or by proper notice
after the trial. We construe the plain and ordinary language of
MCR 3.973(A) as requiring a dispositional hearing to be “con-
ducted to determine what measures the court will take with
respect to a child properly within its jurisdiction . ...” Clearly,
the dispositional hearing is to be held after the adjudicative phase
of the proceeding in which it was determined that the child was
properly within the court’s jurisdiction. See MCR 3.973(A). And
the dispositional hearing must be held either immediately follow-
ing the adjudicative hearing or after proper notice. See 3.973(B).
Therefore, the trial court erred here in not affording respondent
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In this case, with respect to the presentation of
evidence, the trial court did not separate the adjudica-
tion trial from the dispositional hearing, and it then
issued rulings in regard to jurisdiction and termina-
tion after all the proofs were submitted. The trial
court, therefore, failed to proceed as required by the
court rules. But on plain-error review, we cannot
conclude that respondent’s substantial rights were
affected or that the integrity, fairness, or public repu-
tation of the proceedings were seriously affected by the
court’s procedural errors. With regard to respondent’s
argument that the SANE report and VanAken’s testi-
mony touching on LP’s assertions should not have been
admitted into evidence and that it is impossible to tell
whether the court used this evidence for adjudication
or disposition, we note the record reflects that to the
extent that the court relied on the report and testi-
mony, it was for purposes of both adjudication and
termination. Moreover, the statements LP made to
VanAken were “for purposes of medical treatment or
medical diagnosis in connection with treatment and
describing medical history, or past or present symp-
toms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general
character of the cause or external source thereof inso-
far as reasonably necessary to such diagnosis and
treatment.” MRE 803(4). Respondent fails to develop
any pertinent argument to the contrary.

With respect to respondent’s contention that the
trial court made no factual findings, leaving it unclear
whether the court properly adjudicated respondent

her right to a dispositional hearing. [In re AMAC, 269 Mich App
at 538 (citations omitted; ellipses in original).]

Although a dispositional hearing can be conducted immediately after an
adjudicative trial, the two cannot be converged such that there is no
distinction. In re Thompson, 318 Mich App 375, 379; 897 NW2d 758
(2016).
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with legally admissible evidence, we find that argu-
ment lacks merit. The trial court, relying on legally
admissible evidence, expressly found that respondent
sexually abused LP, that there was penetration, and
that there was a substantial risk of harm to the minor
children in light of the sexual assault committed by
respondent against LP. Moreover, these findings were
used to support the exercise of jurisdiction and the
termination of parental rights.

In sum, we hold that the trial court committed
procedural errors in conducting the adjudicative and
dispositional phases of the case; however, respondent
has failed to show that the errors affected his substan-
tial rights or seriously affected the fairness, integrity,
or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

B. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Respondent argues that his trial attorney was inef-
fective for failing to object to the trial court’s merger of
the adjudicatory and dispositional phases of the case.

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether counsel was ineffective presents a mixed
question of fact and constitutional law, which we
review, respectively, for clear error and de novo. People
v LeBlanc, 465 Mich 575, 579; 640 NW2d 246 (2002).

2. DISCUSSION

“The principles applicable to claims of ineffective
assistance of counsel in the arena of criminal law also
apply by analogy in child protective proceedings; there-
fore, it must be shown that (1) counsel’s performance
was deficient, falling below an objective standard of
reasonableness, and that (2) the deficient performance
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prejudiced the respondent.” In re Martin, 316 Mich
App 73, 85; 896 NW2d 452 (2016). To demonstrate
prejudice, a party must show the existence of a reason-
able probability that, but for counsel’s error, the results
of the proceeding would have been different, and a
reasonable probability is one that is sufficient to un-
dermine confidence in the outcome. People v Carbin,
463 Mich 590, 600; 623 NW2d 884 (2001).

In light of our holding regarding the proper proce-
dures under the court rules to be used in conducting an
adjudicative trial and an initial dispositional hearing
in which termination is sought, we conclude that trial
counsel’s performance in failing to object to the process
used in this case fell below an objective standard of
reasonableness. Nevertheless, respondent simply can-
not and does not establish the requisite prejudice. We
are confident that the results of the adjudication and
disposition would have been exactly the same had the
court followed the proper procedures. Accordingly, re-
versal is unwarranted.

C. CHILDREN’S BEST INTERESTS

Finally, respondent argues that the trial court
clearly erred by finding that termination of his paren-
tal rights was in the children’s best interests. Respon-
dent contends that the children’s placement with
their mother weighed heavily against termination
and that the trial court failed to consider that the
children were placed with a relative—their mother.
He also maintains that the trial court failed to con-
sider that the children had a good relationship and
strong bond with their father. Respondent claims that
terminating his parental rights was traumatic for the
children. Respondent emphasizes that there was no
evidence that he harmed, neglected, or abused his
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minor children. He notes that there was only one
incident of abuse; that two of his children are boys, so
there should have been no concern that he would
sexually abuse them; and that respondent provided
for the basic needs of the children.

1. TERMINATION FRAMEWORK AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

If a trial court finds that a single statutory ground
for termination has been established by clear and
convincing evidence and that it has been proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that termination of
parental rights is in the best interests of a child, the
court is mandated to terminate a respondent’s paren-
tal rights to that child. MCL 712A.19b(3) and (5); MCR
3.977(H)(3); In re Beck, 488 Mich 6, 10-11; 793 NW2d
562 (2010); In re Moss, 301 Mich App 76, 90; 836 NW2d
182 (2013); In re Ellis, 294 Mich App 30, 32; 817 NW2d
111 (2011).5 “This Court reviews for clear error the trial
court’s ruling that a statutory ground for termination
has been established and its ruling that termination is
in the children’s best interests.” In re Hudson, 294
Mich App 261, 264; 817 NW2d 115 (2011); see also
MCR 3.977(K). “A finding . . . is clearly erroneous if the
reviewing court has a definite and firm conviction that
a mistake has been committed . . . .” In re BZ, 264 Mich
App 286, 296; 690 NW2d 505 (2004). When applying
the clear-error standard in parental termination cases,
“regard is to be given to the special opportunity of the
trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses who
appeared before it.” In re Miller, 433 Mich 331, 337,
445 NW2d 161 (1989); see also MCR 2.613(C).

5 Respondent does not argue that the trial court erred by finding that
the grounds for termination were established by clear and convincing
evidence.
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2. DISCUSSION

With respect to a child’s best interests, we focus on
the child rather than the parent. In re Moss, 301 Mich
App at 87. In assessing a child’s best interests, a trial
court may consider such factors as a “child’s bond to
the parent, the parent’s parenting ability, the child’s
need for permanency, stability, and finality, and the
advantages of a foster home over the parent’s home.”
In re Olive/ Metts Minors, 297 Mich App 35, 41-42; 823
NW2d 144 (2012) (citations omitted). “The trial court
may also consider a parent’s history of domestic vio-
lence, the parent’s compliance with his or her case
service plan, the parent’s visitation history with the
child, the children’s well-being while in care, and the
possibility of adoption.” In re White, 303 Mich App 701,
714; 846 NW2d 61 (2014). The trial court may also
consider how long the child was in foster care or placed
with relatives, along with the likelihood that “the child
could be returned to [the] parents’ home within the
foreseeable future, if at all.” In re Frey, 297 Mich App
242 249; 824 NW2d 569 (2012).

Furthermore, “[a] child’s placement with relatives is
a factor that the trial court is required to consider”
when making its best-interests determination, In re
Gonzales/ Martinez, 310 Mich App 426, 434; 871 NW2d
868 (2015), and “a child’s placement with relatives
weighs against termination,” In re Mason, 486 Mich
142, 164; 782 NW2d 747 (2010). “Relative” is defined in
MCL 712A.13a(1)(j) as

an individual who is at least 18 years of age and related to
the child by blood, marriage, or adoption, as grandparent,
great-grandparent, great-great-grandparent, aunt or
uncle, great-aunt or great-uncle, great-great-aunt or
great-great-uncle, sibling, stepsibling, nephew or niece,
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first cousin or first cousin once removed, and the spouse of
any of the above, even after the marriage has ended by
death or divorce.

Thus, a child’s biological parent is not that child’s
“relative” for purposes of the statute. This proposition
was recognized by this Court in In re Schadler, 315
Mich App 406, 412-413; 890 NW2d 676 (2016), wherein
the panel observed:

[Rlespondent argues that the trial court entirely failed to
give any weight to BS’s placement with his biological
mother. However, the trial court specifically acknowledged
the “week on / week off custodial arrangement between
the father and mother” in the process of determining that
termination was in BS’s best interests. Moreover, MCL
712A.13a(1)(j) defines “relative,” and biological mother is
not included in the definition. See MCL 712A.13a(1)(j).
Therefore, because BS’s biological mother was not a “rela-
tive” for purposes of MCL 712A.19a, the trial court was
not required to consider that relative placement. Respon-
dent’s argument is misplaced.

Accordingly, we reject respondent’s similar argument
in this case.

In finding that termination was in the minor chil-
dren’s best interests, the trial court acknowledged that
respondent and the minor children were bonded and
that termination would not be an easy transition. But
the court also recognized that the children needed
stability and permanence, as well as “to grow up in an
environment where they are safe and securel]
from . . . potential victimization ....” The trial court
opined that the children’s mother was providing a safe
and nurturing environment for the children.

Although there was only evidence of one act of
sexual abuse, it was an especially egregious violation
of a child who had looked to respondent for care and
protection as a father figure. We cannot conclude that
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the trial court clearly erred by finding that this single
act of sexual abuse that resulted in physical injuries
revealed a side of respondent that posed a serious
danger to his minor children. With respect to the
purported bond between respondent and his children,
there was also evidence of a bond between LP and
respondent, yet that did not prevent respondent from
sexually exploiting and abusing her. The doctrine of
anticipatory neglect provides that how a parent treats
one child is probative of how that parent may treat
other children. In re LaFrance Minors, 306 Mich App
713, 730; 858 NW2d 143 (2014). Although the doctrine
is not a perfect fit in this case because LP is not
respondent’s child, respondent had been raising LP for
a number of years as if she were his daughter. Further-
more, there is nothing in the record to support respon-
dent’s pseudo-psychological argument that he is not a
danger to young boys—abuse is abuse. Finally, the fact
that respondent provided some limited assistance to
his children did not suffice to overcome the danger that
respondent poses to his children. In sum, the trial
court did not clearly err by finding that termination of

respondent’s parental rights was in the best interests
of the children.

III. CONCLUSION

We hold that the trial court committed procedural
errors in conducting the adjudicative and dispositional
phases of the case; however, respondent has failed to
show that the errors affected his substantial rights or
seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public
reputation of the judicial proceedings. We also con-
clude that trial counsel’s performance in failing to
object to the process used in this case fell below an
objective standard of reasonableness, but respondent
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failed to establish the prejudice required for reversal.
Finally, we hold that the trial court did not clearly err
by finding that termination of respondent’s parental
rights was in the children’s best interests.

We affirm.

BOONSTRA, P.J., and FORT HoOD, J., concurred with
MARKEY, J.
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ESTATE OF MILLER v ANGELS’ PLACE, INC

Docket No. 348940. Submitted October 7, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 22, 2020, at 9:10 a.m.

Plaintiff, the estate of Aaron K. Miller, brought an action in the
Oakland Circuit Court against Angels’ Place, Inc., and its em-
ployee, Carol Caramia, alleging ordinary negligence against
Angels’ Place and Caramia and also alleging breach of contract
against Angels’ Place. The case arose from the death of Miller,
who had mental and physical disabilities and was a resident at a
licensed adult foster-care small group home owned and operated
by Angels’ Place. Miller had the tendency to eat too quickly and
put large amounts of food into his mouth; because of this
tendency, his access to food was regulated, and he was to be
visually monitored when he ate. On December 30, 2017, Miller
was at the home, and Caramia was the sole caregiver on duty.
Miller began to have difficulty breathing and collapsed. Caramia
telephoned 911, and emergency personnel transported Miller to
the hospital. He died the next day from asphyxia and airway
obstructions as a result of choking on food. Plaintiff initiated this
case, and following discovery, defendants moved for summary
disposition, asserting that plaintiff’s claims did not arise under
ordinary-negligence theories but instead were medical malprac-
tice claims. The trial court, Michael Warren, J., granted summary
disposition in favor of defendants, holding that Angels’ Place was
a licensed health facility or agency under MCL 600.5838a(1)
because it qualified as an “intermediate care facility” under MCL
333.20108(1) and thus was capable of committing medical mal-
practice. It further held that Caramia, as an employee and agent
of Angels’ Place, was also capable of committing medical malprac-
tice. The court found that plaintiff’s claims arose out of a contract
with defendants to provide Miller with healthcare services and
therefore involved a professional relationship entangled with
questions of medical judgment. Finally, the court determined that
the claims would require the testimony of medical experts.
Plaintiff moved for reconsideration, which the trial court denied.
Plaintiff appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:
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The first issue to be determined in any purported medical
malpractice case is whether the case is brought against an entity or
a person capable of medical malpractice. Under MCL 600.5838a(1),
a medical malpractice claim may be brought against a person or
entity who is or holds himself or herself out to be a licensed
healthcare professional, licensed health facility or agency, or an
employee or agent of a licensed health facility or agency. A licensed
health facility or agency means a health facility or agency licensed
under Article 17 of the Public Health Code, MCL 333.1101 et seq.,
and a licensed healthcare professional means an individual li-
censed or registered under Article 15 of the Public Health Code.
Article 17 of the Public Health Code provides its own definition of
a health facility or agency in MCL 333.20106(1). In this case, the
parties did not dispute that Angels’ Place, as an adult foster-care
small group home, was not licensed as one of the entities listed
under MCL 333.20106(1), nor did they dispute that Angels’ Place
was not licensed under the Public Health Code. Rather, it was
licensed under the Adult Foster Care Facility Licensing Act (the
AFCFLA), MCL 400.701 et seq. Because Angels’ Place was licensed
under the AFCFLA and not under Article 17 of the Public Health
Code, Angels’ Place could not be a licensed health facility or agency
within the meaning of MCL 600.5838a(1), regardless of whether it
also had certification as a provider of care for the developmentally
disabled. As a result, Angels’ Place and its employee, Caramia,
could not be liable for medical malpractice in that capacity. The
trial court improperly held that Angels’ Place was an intermediate
care facility under MCL 333.20108(1) that became a health facility
or agency under MCL 333.20115. MCL 333.20115 refers only to
certification, not licensure, and there was no evidence that Angels’
Place met the definition of intermediate care facility even for
purposes of certification. The record further did not demonstrate
that Angels’ Place was “a hospital long-term care unit, nursing
home, county medical care facility, or other nursing care facility, or
distinct part thereof,” which was a prerequisite to finding that
Angels’ Place meets the definition found in MCL 333.20108(1).
Because defendants in this case were not entities or persons
capable of committing medical malpractice, the claims could not
sound in medical malpractice. Rather, the claims alleged in plain-
tiff's complaint sounded in ordinary negligence. Accordingly, the
trial court erred when it granted summary disposition in favor of
defendants.

Reversed and remanded for further proceedings.

Giroux Amburn PC (by Matthew D. Klakulak) for
plaintiff.
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Vandeveer Garzia, PC (by Donald C. Brownell,
Adam K. Gordon, and Christian E. Hildebrandt) for
defendants.

Before: GapoLa, P.J., and RONAYNE KRAUSE and
O’BRIEN, JJ.

GADOLA, P.dJ. Plaintiff, Joan Miller, as personal rep-
resentative of the Estate of Aaron Kelly Miller, appeals
as of right the trial court order granting defendants,
Angels’ Place, Inc. (Angels’ Place) and Carol Caramia,
summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) on plain-
tiffs claims of negligence. The trial court concluded
that plaintiff’s claims sounded in medical malpractice
rather than ordinary negligence, and plaintiff chal-
lenges that ruling. Because we conclude that defen-
dants are not entities or persons capable of committing
medical malpractice, we reverse the trial court’s grant
of summary disposition and remand for proceedings
consistent with this opinion.

I. FACTS

This case arises from the death of Aaron Kelly Miller
(Miller). Miller was diagnosed with mental and physi-
cal disabilities and required support to live in the
community. At the time of his death, Miller was a
resident at Joliat Home, a licensed adult foster-care
small group home with a special certification for pro-
viding services to the developmentally disabled. Joliat
Home is owned and operated by defendant Angels’
Place.

At Joliat Home, Miller was to be continually moni-
tored for safety. Particularly because Miller had the
tendency to eat too quickly and put large amounts of
food into his mouth, his access to food was regulated
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and he was to be visually monitored when he ate. On
December 30, 2017, Miller was at the home, and de-
fendant Carol Caramia, an employee of Angels’ Place,
was the sole caregiver on duty. Miller began to have
difficulty breathing and collapsed. Caramia telephoned
911. Emergency personnel arrived shortly thereafter;
they found that Miller did not have a pulse and also
discovered food in Miller’s mouth. They performed
CPR and artificial breathing until Miller regained his
pulse and then transported him to the hospital. Miller
died the next day from asphyxia and airway obstruc-
tion as a result of choking on the food.

Plaintiff initiated this case in the trial court, alleg-
ing ordinary negligence against Angels’ Place and
Caramia and also alleging breach of contract against
Angels’ Place. After discovery, defendants moved for
summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (8),
asserting that plaintiff's claims did not arise under
ordinary-negligence theories and instead were medical
malpractice claims. Defendants argued that Angels’
Place was an entity capable of medical malpractice
because it is a licensed health facility under MCL
600.5838a(1) and that Caramia was capable of medical
malpractice as its agent. Defendants also asserted that
plaintiff’s claims involved questions of medical judg-
ment and that a lay juror would require testimony
from a medical expert to understand whether defen-
dants’ actions and decisions had been reasonable or in
breach of a duty.

The trial court granted defendants’ motion for sum-
mary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7). The trial
court found that Angels’ Place was properly classified
as a licensed health facility or agency because it is an
“intermediate care facility,” MCL 333.20108(1), and
thus is an entity capable of medical malpractice under
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MCL 600.5838a, as was Caramia as an employee and
agent of Angels’ Place. The trial court also found that
plaintiff’s claims arose out of a contract with defen-
dants to provide Miller with healthcare services and
therefore involved a professional relationship en-
tangled with questions of medical judgment. Finally,
the trial court determined that the claims would re-
quire the testimony of medical experts. Because the
claims had not been alleged as medical malpractice
claims, the trial court granted defendants summary
disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) but permitted
plaintiff an opportunity to file a motion to amend her
complaint under MCR 2.118. The trial court thereafter
denied plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. Plaintiff
now appeals.

II. DISCUSSION

Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred by grant-
ing defendants summary disposition under MCR
2.116(C)(7), holding that her claims sounded in medi-
cal malpractice and not ordinary negligence as alleged
in her complaint. We agree.

Whether a plaintiff’s claim sounds in ordinary neg-
ligence or in medical malpractice is a question of law
that this Court reviews de novo. Trowell v Providence
Hosp & Med Ctrs, Inc, 502 Mich 509, 517; 918 NW2d
645 (2018). We also review de novo the application of
statutes, Cox v Hartman, 322 Mich App 292, 298; 911
NW2d 219 (2017), and a trial court’s decision to grant
or deny summary disposition, Dawoud v State Farm
Mut Auto Ins Co, 317 Mich App 517, 520; 895 NW2d
188 (2016).

The determination whether the nature of a claim is
ordinary negligence or medical malpractice is properly
made under MCR. 2.116(C)(7). Bryant v Oakpointe
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Villa Nursing Ctr, Inc, 471 Mich 411, 419; 684 NW2d
864 (2004). In considering a motion under MCR
2.116(C)(7), we accept the contents of the complaint as
true unless contradicted by the documentation submit-
ted by the moving party, and we consider any affida-
vits, depositions, admissions, or other documentary
evidence submitted. McLean v McElhaney, 289 Mich
App 592, 597; 798 NW2d 29 (2010). If no facts are in
dispute, and if reasonable minds could not differ re-
garding the legal effect of those facts, whether sum-
mary disposition is proper is a question of law for the
Court. See id.

The first issue to be determined in any purported
medical malpractice case is whether the case is
brought against an entity or a person capable of
medical malpractice. Bryant, 471 Mich at 420. “A
malpractice action cannot accrue against someone
who, or something that, is incapable of malpractice.”
Adkins v Annapolis Hosp, 420 Mich 87, 95; 360 NW2d
150 (1984). Recently, this Court discussed who can be
sued for malpractice:

The scope of who can be sued for medical malpractice
has expanded over the years. Initially, “[ulnder the com-
mon law, only physicians and surgeons were potentially
liable for medical malpractice.” Kuznar v Raksha Corp,
481 Mich 169, 177, 750 NW2d 121 (2008). With MCL
600.5838a, the Legislature expanded the scope of who may
be subject to a medical-malpractice action to include other
professionals and entities. Bryant, 471 Mich at 420, citing
Adkins, 420 Mich at 94-95. Specifically, the Legislature
provided for medical-malpractice claims to be brought
against “a person or entity who is or who holds himself or
herself out to be a licensed health care professional,
licensed health facility or agency, or an employee or agent
of a licensed health facility or agency.” MCL 600.5838a(1).
For these purposes, a “licensed health facility or agency”
means “a health facility or agency licensed under article
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17 of the public health code,” and a “licensed health care
professional” means “an individual licensed or registered
under article 15 of the public health code.” MCL
600.5838a(1)(a) and (b). [LaFave v Alliance Healthcare
Seruvs, Inc, 331 Mich App 726, 732; 954 NW2d 566 (2020).]

Thus, MCL 600.5838a, though an accrual statute
that sets forth when a medical malpractice action
accrues, also expands the list of those who are subject
to suit for medical malpractice to include a licensed
health facility or agency. Bryant, 471 Mich at 420. That
statute provides, in relevant part:

(1) For purposes of this act, a claim based on the
medical malpractice of a person or entity who is or who
holds himself or herself out to be a licensed health care
professional, licensed health facility or agency, or an
employee or agent of a licensed health facility or agency
who is engaging in or otherwise assisting in medical care
and treatment, whether or not the licensed health care
professional, licensed health facility or agency, or their
employee or agent is engaged in the practice of the health
profession in a sole proprietorship, partnership, profes-
sional corporation, or other business entity, accrues at the
time of the act or omission that is the basis for the claim
of medical malpractice, regardless of the time the plaintiff
discovers or otherwise has knowledge of the claim. As used
in this subsection:

(a) “Licensed health facility or agency” means a health
facility or agency licensed under article 17 of the public
health code, Act No. 368 of the Public Acts of 1978, being
sections 333.20101 to 333.22260 of the Michigan Compiled
Laws. [MCL 600.5838a.]

MCL 600.5838a(1)(a) thus defines licensed health
facilities and agencies as “those licensed under article
17 of the Public Health Code,” Kuznar v Raksha Corp,
481 Mich 169, 177-178; 750 NW2d 121 (2008), specifi-
cally, in MCL 333.20101 to MCL 333.22260. Article 17
thereby “provides its own definition of what is a health
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facility or agency in the form of a list.” Kuznar, 481
Mich at 178. That “list,” found in MCL 333.20106(1),
see id. at 178 n 23, specifically defines a “health facility
or agency” as follows:

(1) “Health facility or agency,” except as provided in
[MCL 333.20115], means:

(a) An ambulance operation, aircraft transport opera-
tion, nontransport prehospital life support operation, or
medical first response service.

(b) A county medical care facility.

(c) A freestanding surgical outpatient facility.
(d) A health maintenance organization.

(e) A home for the aged.

(f) A hospital.

(g) A nursing home.

(h) A hospice.

(i) A hospice residence.

(§) A facility or agency listed in subdivisions (a) to (g)
located in a university, college, or other educational insti-
tution.

The list set forth in MCL 333.20106(1) defines
“health facility or agency,” except as provided in MCL
333.20115. MCL 333.20115 provides for the promulga-
tion of administrative rules to “further define” the list
set forth in MCL 333.20106(1). Kuznar, 481 Mich at
178. MCL 333.20115 provides, in relevant part:

(1) The department may promulgate rules to further
define the term “health facility or agency” and the defini-
tion of a health facility or agency listed in [MCL 333.20106]
as required to implement this article. The department may
define a specific organization as a health facility or agency
for the sole purpose of certification authorized under this
section. For purpose of certification only, an organization
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defined in [MCL 333.20106(5), MCL 333.20108(1), or MCL
333.20109(4)] is considered a health facility or agency.
[Emphasis added.]

In this case, the parties do not dispute that Angels’
Place is a licensed adult foster-care small group home.
The parties also do not dispute that Angels’ Place has
a certification! as a provider of care for the develop-
mentally disabled. However, the parties also do not
dispute that Angels’ Place, as an adult foster-care
small group home, is not licensed as one of the entities
listed under MCL 333.20106(1), nor is it /icensed under
any administrative expansion of the list under MCL
333.20115. See Kuznar, 481 Mich at 178.

Moreover, the parties do not dispute that Angels’
Place is not licensed under the Public Health Code.
Rather, adult foster-care small group homes are li-
censed under the Adult Foster Care Facility Licensing
Act (the AFCFLA), MCL 400.701 et seq. Life Skills
Village, PLLC v Nationwide Mut Fire Ins Co, 331 Mich
App 280, 287; 951 NW2d 724 (2020). Because Angels’
Place is licensed under the AFCFLA and not under

! Under MCL 333.20131, the Department of Licensing and Regulatory
Affairs is charged with the certification process; MCL 333.20131(1)
states that the department “shall establish a comprehensive system of
licensure and certification for health facilities or agencies....” MCL
333.20131(2) provides that the department “may certify a health facility
or agency, or part thereof, defined in [MCL 333.20106] or under [MCL
333.20115] when certification is required by state or federal law, rule, or
regulation.” “Certification” is defined in MCL 333.20104(1) as “the
issuance of a document by the department to a health facility or agency
attesting to the fact that the health facility or agency . . . complies with
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements and standards
[and] . .. is eligible to participate as a provider of care and services in a
specific federal or state health program.” By contrast, MCL 333.20108(2)
defines “license,” in pertinent part, as “an authorization, annual or as
otherwise specified, granted by the department and evidenced by a
certificate of licensure or permit granting permission to a person to
establish or maintain and operate, or both, a health facility or agency.”
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Article 17 of the Public Health Code, Angels’ Place
cannot be a licensed health facility or agency within
the meaning of MCL 600.5838a(1), regardless of
whether it also has certification as a provider of care
for the developmentally disabled. As a result, Angels’
Place and its employee, Caramia, cannot be liable for
medical malpractice in that capacity. See Sabbagh v
Hamilton Psychological Servs, PLC, 329 Mich App 324,
337; 941 NW2d 685 (2019).

The trial court, however, held that Angels’ Place was
an entity capable of medical malpractice because,
although Angels’ Place was not one of the entities
specified in the list provided by MCL 333.20106(1),
Angels’ Place nonetheless is a licensed health facility
or agency within the meaning of MCL 600.5838a(1)
given that the trial court found it to be an “intermedi-
ate care facility” under MCL 333.20108(1). That sec-
tion provides:

(1) “Intermediate care facility” means a hospital long-
term care unit, nursing home, county medical care facility,
or other nursing care facility, or distinct part thereof,
certified by the department to provide intermediate care
or basic care that is less than skilled nursing care but
more than room and board. [MCL 333.20108(1).]

The trial court concluded that Angels’ Place is an
intermediate care facility under MCL 333.20108(1) be-
cause it is certified to provide care to the developmen-
tally disabled, which the trial court determined was
“intermediate care or basic care that is less than skilled
nursing care but more than room and board.” The trial
court reasoned that Angels’ Place, as an intermediate
care facility under MCL 333.20108(1), becomes a
“health facility or agency” under MCL 333.20115. How-
ever, MCL 333.20115(1) provides that “[t]he department
may define a specific organization as a health facility or
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agency for the sole purpose of certification authorized
under this article. For purpose of certification only, an
organization defined in [MCL 333.20106(5), MCL
333.20108(1), or MCL 333.20109(4)] is considered a
health facility or agency.” (Emphasis added.) Addition-
ally, MCL 333.20108(1) refers only to certification, not
licensure. Consequently, both statutory sections provide
that being an “intermediate care facility” establishes
only that it is “certified” under the Public Health Code,
not that it is “licensed.” The plain language of MCL
600.5838a(1)(a) specifically requires licensure.

Further, there is no demonstration that Angels’
Place meets the definition of “intermediate care facil-
ity” even for purposes of -certification. MCL
333.20108(1) requires that an entity be “a hospital
long-term care unit, nursing home, county medical
care facility, or other nursing care facility, or distinct
part thereof,” to be classified as an intermediate care
facility “certified by the department to provide inter-
mediate care . ...” In finding that Angels’ Place was a
licensed health facility or agency, the trial court prin-
cipally relied on the second half of MCL 333.20108(1),
concluding that Angels’ Place is an intermediate care
facility because it has been “certified by the depart-
ment to provide intermediate care or basic care that is
less than skilled nursing care but more than room and
board.” The record, however, does not demonstrate
that Angels’ Place is “a hospital long-term care unit,
nursing home, county medical care facility, or other
nursing care facility, or distinct part thereof,” which is
a prerequisite to finding that Angels’ Place meets the
definition found in MCL 333.20108(1). Nor does the
record support that Angels’ Place was, in fact, certified
in this manner. Moreover, as discussed earlier, con-
cluding that Angels’ Place has been “certified by the
department to provide intermediate care or basic care
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that is less than skilled nursing care but more than
room and board,” despite the lack of evidentiary sup-
port for this proposition, would not transform Angels’
Place into an entity licensed under Article 17 of the
Public Health Code when it is instead licensed under
the AFCFLA.

Our Legislature expressly identified the category of
persons and entities that can be subjected to a medical
malpractice lawsuit, and this Court will not expand
that category. LaFave, 331 Mich App at 732. MCL
600.5838a extends the category of those who are sub-
ject to suit for medical malpractice to include a licensed
health facility or agency. Bryant, 471 Mich at 420-421.
MCL 600.5838a(1)(a) defines licensed health facilities
and agencies as “those licensed under article 17 of the
Public Health Code,” Kuznar, 481 Mich at 177-178,
specifically MCL 333.20101 to MCL 333.22260. Be-
cause Angels’ Place is not licensed under Article 17 of
the Public Health Code, it is not a licensed health
facility or agency under MCL 600.5838a. The trial
court therefore erred by finding that Angels’ Place was
a health facility or agency licensed under Article 17 of
the Public Health Code, that Angels’ Place was an
entity capable of medical malpractice, and that Cara-
mia was an agent of Angels’ Place similarly capable of
medical malpractice.

Plaintiff also contends that the trial court erred
when it found that her claims raised questions requir-
ing evidence of medical judgment or knowledge that
went beyond a juror’s common knowledge and experi-
ence and therefore sounded in medical malpractice
rather than ordinary negligence. We need not address
this additional inquiry, however. Before a claim can be
found to be one of medical malpractice, the defendant
must be a person or entity capable of committing
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malpractice. LaFave, 331 Mich App at 731-732. Be-
cause defendants in this case are not entities or per-
sons capable of committing medical malpractice, the
claims cannot sound in medical malpractice. The
claims alleged in plaintiff’s complaint therefore sound
in ordinary negligence.?

Reversed and remanded for further proceedings
consistent with this opinion. We do not retain jurisdic-
tion.

RONAYNE KRAUSE and O’BRIEN, JdJ., concurred with
GADOLA, P.J.

2 Given this conclusion, we decline to address plaintiffs additional
challenge that the trial court abused its discretion when it chose to
strike the affidavit offered by plaintiff in support of her motion for
reconsideration.
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PEOPLE v POSEY
PEOPLE v QUINN

Docket Nos. 345491, 351834, and 346039. Submitted October 13, 2020,
at Detroit. Decided October 22, 2020, at 9:15 a.m. Leave to appeal
sought in Docket No. 345491.

Dametrius B. Posey and Sanchez Quinn were convicted by separate
juries at a joint trial in the Wayne Circuit Court in connection
with a shooting incident outside a market in Detroit. Posey was
convicted of two counts of assault with intent to commit murder
(AWIM), MCL 750.83; two counts of assault with intent to do
great bodily harm less then murder (AWIGBH), MCL 750.84;
carrying a concealed weapon (CCW), MCL 750.227; arming one-
self with a weapon with unlawful intent, MCL 750.226; felon in
possession of a firearm (felon-in-possession), MCL 750.224f; and
six counts of possession of a firearm during the commission of a
felony (felony-firearm), MCL 750.227b. Quinn was convicted of
two counts of AWIGBH, single counts of CCW, arming oneself
with a weapon with unlawful intent, and felon-in-possession, and
four counts of felony-firearm. While Terrence Byrd and Dwayne
Scott were talking together in the parking lot outside a market,
two men exited the store and came up behind Byrd and Scott.
One, later identified as Posey, pointed a gun at Scott, and the
other, later identified as Quinn, pointed a gun at Byrd. Byrd, who
had a conceal-carry permit, responded by pulling out his hand-
gun. Byrd fired all 17 rounds in his gun in shooting at defendants;
Byrd thought that he struck both defendants, but he did not know
whether he or Posey fired first. Although Byrd testified that
Quinn did not shoot first and might not have even fired his gun,
a gun with a spent casing in it that was linked to Quinn was
found at the scene. Byrd failed to identify defendants in photo-
graphic lineups soon after the incident, but he identified them
during trial. While Scott identified Posey as one of the shooters
during a pretrial photographic lineup, he was unable to identify
the second assailant. Thereafter, Scott was unable to identify
Posey or Quinn at the preliminary examination or at trial. On top
of this identification testimony, the prosecution introduced at
trial video and photographic evidence related to the shooting.
Posey and Quinn were treated for gunshot wounds at area
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hospitals after the shooting. Quinn made statements to the police
while he was in the hospital; after first denying his presence at
the market, he later admitted that he was present during the
shooting. The court, Ulysses W. Boykin, J., sentenced Quinn as a
third-offense habitual offender to 9 to 20 years’ imprisonment for
the AWIGBH convictions and 4 to 10 years’ imprisonment for the
CCW, arming-with-unlawful-intent, and felon-in-possession con-
victions; those sentences were to be served concurrently with
each other but consecutively with concurrent two-year terms of
imprisonment for the felony-firearm convictions. The trial court
sentenced Posey as a third-offense habitual offender, MCL 769.11,
to 22 to 40 years’ imprisonment for the AWIM convictions, 9 to 20
years’ imprisonment for the AWIGBH convictions, and 4 to 10
years’ imprisonment for the CCW, arming-with-unlawful-intent,
and felon-in-possession convictions; those sentences were all to be
served concurrently with each other but consecutively with con-
current five-year terms of imprisonment for the six felony-firearm
convictions. Posey moved in the Court of Appeals to remand for
corrections to the jury verdict and for resentencing. On remand,
the trial court vacated Posey’s AWIGBH convictions and the two
associated felony-firearm convictions and resentenced Posey for
the remaining convictions to the same terms of imprisonment
previously imposed. In Docket No. 345491, Posey appealed his
convictions and the original judgment of sentence, and in Docket
No. 351834, Posey appealed the amended judgment of sentence
entered on resentencing. In Docket No. 346039, Quinn appealed
his convictions and judgment of sentence.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution is
implicated if an in-court identification was preceded by a sugges-
tive out-of-court identification. To sustain a due-process challenge,
a defendant must show that the pretrial identification procedure
was so suggestive in light of the totality of the circumstances that
it led to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. A suggestive
identification procedure can arise in the following circumstances:
(1) when a witness is called by the police and is told that the police
have arrested the right person, (2) when a witness is shown only
one person, or (3) when a witness is shown a group of individuals
in which one person, the defendant, is singled out in some way,
leading the witness to presume that he or she is the perpetrator.
Testimony concerning an identification is inadmissible at trial if
the trial court finds that the pretrial procedure was impermissibly
suggestive. However, an in-court identification may be allowed and
admitted despite an impermissibly suggestive procedure if an
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in-court identification can be established that is untainted by the
improper pretrial identification procedure. A trial court should
evaluate the following factors to determine whether a witness has
an independent basis for an in-court identification: (1) Prior
relationship with or knowledge of the defendant, (2) the opportu-
nity to observe the offense, (3) length of time between the offense
and the disputed identification, (4) accuracy or discrepancies in the
pre-lineup or showup description and the defendant’s actual de-
scription, (5) any previous proper identification or failure to iden-
tify the defendant, (6) any identification prior to lineup or showup
of another person as the defendant, (7) the nature of the alleged
offense and the physical and psychological state of the victim, and
(8) any idiosyncratic or special features of the defendant. The need
to establish an independent basis for an in-court identification only
arises when the pretrial identification is tainted by improper
procedure or unduly suggestive comments. A witness’s failure to
identify the defendant in a pretrial lineup does not render the
witness’s subsequent in-court identification inadmissible; instead,
the issue is one of credibility for the fact-finder to determine. Posey
admitted that Byrd did not identify him before trial, let alone in an
impermissibly suggestive identification, and there was no im-
proper law enforcement activity related to the identification pro-
cess. Therefore, the independent-basis test was not applicable, and
Posey was not denied due process when Byrd identified Posey in
court. Further, Posey’s trial counsel aggressively challenged Byrd’s
in-court identification, and it was for the jury to assess Byrd’s
credibility. With regard to Quinn, there was no suggestive out-of-
court identification of Quinn by Scott or Byrd, and it was for the
jury to assess Byrd’s identification of Quinn in court. Moreover,
Quinn admitted to the police that he was present at the crime
scene. Accordingly, Quinn was not denied due process of law by a
suggestive identification process; moreover, any error related to
the unpreserved issue would have been harmless.

2. To establish a claim of ineffective assistance, a defendant
must show that counsel’s performance was deficient and that the
performance prejudiced the defendant, i.e., that there was a
reasonable probability that but for counsel’s error, the result of
the proceeding would have been different. Posey was not denied
effective assistance when his trial counsel failed to object to
Byrd’s in-court identification testimony; there was no legal basis
to challenge that identification, and counsel was not ineffective
for failing to raise a meritless argument. Posey’s trial counsel was
not ineffective for failing to call an eyewitness-identification
expert. Hearing testimony from an expert that eyewitness testi-
mony is inherently suspect would not have added much to the
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trial given that Byrd’s lack of identification of Posey before
trial—of which the jury was made aware—illustrated by itself
that eyewitness testimony is inherently suspect. Finally, given
the other evidence presented (video and photographs showing the
shooter and evidence of Posey’s treatment for a gunshot wound
after the shooting), Posey failed to demonstrate a reasonable
likelihood that the outcome of the trial would have been different
had he obtained an eyewitness-identification expert. There was
no evidence that Quinn’s statements to the police while he was in
the hospital recovering from gunshot wounds were coerced.
Accordingly, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue
a futile motion to suppress. In addition, because there was no
evidence to support Quinn’s claim that a DNA expert would have
exonerated him, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to
obtain that expert.

3. MCL 769.34(10) provides that if a minimum sentence is
within the appropriate guidelines minimum sentence range, the
Court of Appeals must affirm that sentence and shall not remand
for resentencing absent an error in scoring the sentencing guide-
lines or inaccurate information relied upon in determining the
defendant’s sentence. In People v Lockridge, 498 Mich 358 (2015),
the Supreme Court determined that Michigan’s sentencing guide-
lines violated the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. To
remedy the constitutional infringement, the Court declared the
guidelines advisory only. In People v Schrauben, 314 Mich App
181 (2016), the Court of Appeals concluded that Lockridge did not
alter or diminish MCL 769.34(10) such that when a trial court
does not depart from the recommended minimum sentencing
range, the minimum sentence must be affirmed unless there was
an error in scoring or the trial court relied on inaccurate infor-
mation. The trial court vacated Posey’s convictions of AWIGBH on
remand and then resentenced defendant to the same minimum
prison term of 22 to 40 years for his AWIM convictions. The
sentence was within the newly calculated guidelines minimum
sentence range, and Posey did not challenge the scoring of the
guidelines or the accuracy of the information used by the court in
sentencing Posey; thus, under MCL 769.34(10), defendant was
not entitled to review of those sentences. To avoid application of
MCL 769.34(10), Posey argued that Schrauben was wrongly
decided and that the panel should declare a conflict and convene
a special panel under MCR 7.215(J)(2) and (3) to resolve the issue.
Because the panel agreed with the analysis in Schrauben related
to MCL 769.34(10) and because other panels had also relied on
Schrauben in published opinions, the Court of Appeals declined to
declare a conflict with Schrauben. Accordingly, Posey’s sentences
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were affirmed because (1) MCL 769.34(10) precluded review and
(2) Posey failed to raise a viable constitutional challenge to the
sentences.

4. Identity is an element of every offense. The elements of
AWIGBH are (1) an attempt or threat with force or violence to do
corporal harm to another (an assault) and (2) an intent to do great
bodily harm less than murder. AWIGBH is a specific-intent crime.
The intent to do great bodily harm less than murder is an intent
to do serious injury of an aggravated nature. If a defendant has
such intent, the fact that he was provoked or that he acted in the
heat of passion is irrelevant to a conviction. Because of the
difficulty in proving an actor’s intent, only minimal circumstan-
tial evidence is necessary to show that a defendant had the
requisite intent. Intent to cause serious harm can be inferred
from the defendant’s actions, including the use of a dangerous
weapon or the making of threats. Although actual injury to the
victim is not an element of the crime, injuries suffered by the
victim may also be indicative of a defendant’s intent. Pointing a
loaded gun at another person is inherently dangerous. There was
sufficient evidence that Quinn was at the scene of the shooting
because Quinn’s statement to the police placed him there, Quinn
went to the hospital with gunshot wounds after the shooting, and
Byrd identified Quinn in court. There was also sufficient evidence
that Quinn attempted to injure Byrd or Scott and intended to
cause great bodily harm because Quinn admitted that he was at
the market during that shooting, admitted that he was with
someone who intended to rob two individuals outside the market,
and admitted that he was holding his gun after exiting the
market. Further, the jury could have inferred that Quinn in-
tended to cause serious injury of an aggravated nature because
Quinn used a dangerous weapon.

5. Although the trial court plainly erred when it failed to
articulate, as required by MCL 769.1k(1)(b)(ii7), the factual basis
for the court costs imposed against Quinn, remand was not
necessary because Quinn failed to demonstrate that he was
prejudiced by that failure.

In Docket Nos. 345491 and 351834, Posey’s convictions and
judgment of sentence affirmed. In Docket No. 346039, Quinn’s
convictions and judgment of sentence affirmed.

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW — DUE PROCESS CLAUSE — IN-COURT IDENTIFICATIONS —
NEED FOR INDEPENDENT BASIS.

The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution is
implicated if an in-court identification was preceded by a sugges-
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tive out-of-court identification; an in-court identification may be
allowed and admitted despite an impermissibly suggestive pro-
cedure if the witness has an independent basis for the in-court
identification; the need to establish an independent basis for an
in-court identification only arises when the pretrial identification
is tainted by improper procedure or unduly suggestive comments
(US Const, Am IV).

Docket Nos. 345491 and 351834:

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, Kym L. Worthy, Prosecut-
ing Attorney, Jason W. Williams, Chief of Research,
Training, and Appeals, and Gabrielle O’Connor, Assis-
tant Prosecuting Attorney, for the people.

State Appellate Defender (by Adrienne N. Young)
and Ronald D. Ambrose for Dametrius B. Posey.

Docket No. 346039:

Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A.
Hammoud, Solicitor General, Kym L. Worthy, Prosecut-
ing Attorney, Jason W. Williams, Chief of Research,
Training, and Appeals, and Thomas M. Chambers, Spe-
cial Assistant Prosecuting Attorney, for the people.

Sanchez Quinn, in propria persona, and Arthur H.
Landau for Sanchez Quinn.

Before: BOONSTRA, P.dJ., and MARKEY and FORT HOOD,
JdJ.

MARKEY, J. In these consolidated appeals, defen-
dants Dametrius Posey and Sanchez Quinn appeal by
right their convictions by separate juries at a joint
trial. Posey was convicted of two counts of assault with
intent to commit murder (AWIM), MCL 750.83; two
counts of assault with intent to do great bodily harm
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less then murder (AWIGBH), MCL 750.84; carrying a
concealed weapon (CCW), MCL 750.227; arming one-
self with a weapon with unlawful intent, MCL 750.226;
felon in possession of a firearm (felon-in-possession),
MCL 750.224f; and six counts of possession of a firearm
during the commission of a felony (felony-firearm),
MCL 750.227b. The trial court sentenced Posey as a
third-offense habitual offender, MCL 769.11, to 22 to
40 years’ imprisonment for the AWIM convictions, 9 to
20 years’ imprisonment for the AWIGBH convictions,
and 4 to 10 years’ imprisonment for the CCW, arming-
with-unlawful-intent, and felon-in-possession convic-
tions, which are all to be served concurrently but
consecutively with concurrent five-year terms of im-
prisonment for the six felony-firearm convictions. After
this Court granted Posey’s motion to remand for cor-
rections to the jury verdict and for resentencing,! the
trial court vacated the AWIGBH convictions and the
two associated felony-firearm convictions and resen-
tenced Posey for the remaining convictions to the same
terms of imprisonment previously imposed. Quinn was
convicted of two counts of AWIGBH, single counts of
CCW, arming oneself with a weapon with unlawful
intent, and felon-in-possession, and four counts of
felony-firearm. The trial court sentenced Quinn as a
third-offense habitual offender to 9 to 20 years’ impris-
onment for the AWIGBH convictions and 4 to 10 years’
imprisonment for the CCW, arming-with-unlawful-
intent, and felon-in-possession convictions; those sen-
tences are all to be served concurrently with each other
but consecutively with concurrent two-year terms of
imprisonment for the felony-firearm convictions. Posey
appealed his convictions and the original judgment of

1 People v Posey, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered
July 5, 2019 (Docket No. 345491).
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sentence in Docket No. 345941, and he appeals the
amended judgment of sentence entered on resentenc-
ing in Docket No. 351834. Quinn appeals his convic-
tions and judgment of sentence in Docket No. 346039.
We affirm the convictions and sentences with respect
to both defendants.

I. FACTUAL SUMMARY

This case arises from a shooting outside the Super X
Market, which is located at the corner of Charles
Street and Sparling Street in Detroit. On Sunday,
October 8, 2017, Terrence Byrd and his cousin Dwayne
Scott were talking together outside the Super X Mar-
ket near Byrd’s Chevrolet Trailblazer. Two men, one
described as dark-skinned and the other as being
lighter-skinned, approached and entered the store.
After a short period, the two men exited the store and
flanked Byrd and Scott. The dark-skinned man pro-
duced a handgun and pointed it at Scott, while the
other man pointed a gun at Byrd. Byrd, who had a
permit to carry a concealed weapon, pulled out his
firearm in response and gunfire rang out. Byrd dis-
charged all 17 rounds in his gun in shooting at Quinn
and Posey. He believed that he struck both assailants.
Byrd could not say whether he or Posey shot first. Byrd
testified that Quinn did not shoot first and that he did
not even see Quinn fire his gun. A spent casing,
however, was found stuck in a gun that was dropped at
the scene and linked to Quinn. Although Byrd was not
injured during the episode, Scott was shot in his hip
and left arm.

Although Byrd failed to identify Posey or Quinn in
photo lineups shortly after the incident and, in fact,
selected other individuals in the arrays, he identified
both of them at trial as the culprits, with Posey being
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the dark-skinned person and Quinn being the lighter-
skinned person. In a pretrial photo lineup, Scott iden-
tified Posey as one of the shooters, but he was unable to
identify the other shooter. Scott could not identify
either defendant at the preliminary examination or
trial. A surveillance video and photos of the events as
they transpired outside the market were admitted into
evidence. They showed clear pictures of the dark-
skinned man, but the lighter-skinned man was wear-
ing a hoodie and was more difficult to see.

Posey and Quinn were both treated for gunshot
wounds at area hospitals after the shooting. Quinn
made statements at the hospital to the police in which,
after first lying, he admitted being present during the
shooting at the Super X Market. A video of that
interview was admitted into evidence.2 When police
spoke to Posey at the hospital, he initially provided
officers with a false name. Following defendants’ con-
victions, these appeals ensued.

II. DOCKET NOS. 345491 & 351834—DEFENDANT POSEY

A. DUE PROCESS AND IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION

Posey argues that he was denied his right to due
process of law when Byrd was allowed to identify him
at trial. We disagree. Because Posey did not object to
Byrd’s identification testimony at trial, this issue is
unpreserved. We review unpreserved constitutional
issues for plain error affecting substantial rights.
People v McNally, 470 Mich 1, 5; 679 NW2d 301 (2004).
Thus, to succeed, Posey must show that there was an
error, that the error was clear or obvious, and that the
error affected his substantial rights. People v Carines,

2 Quinn’s interview was presented only to his jury.
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460 Mich 750, 763; 597 NW2d 130 (1999). An error
affects substantial rights when it impacts the outcome
of the lower-court proceedings. Id. Additionally, rever-
sal is only warranted when the plain, forfeited error
resulted in the conviction of an actually innocent
defendant or when the error seriously affected the
integrity, fairness, or public reputation of the judicial
proceedings independent of the defendant’s innocence.
Id.

A defendant’s right to due process is implicated if an
in-court identification was preceded by a suggestive
out-of-court identification. Neil v Biggers, 409 US 188,
196-198; 93 S Ct 375; 34 LL Ed 2d 401 (1972). “In order
to sustain a due process challenge, a defendant must
show that the pretrial identification procedure was so
suggestive in light of the totality of the circumstances
that it led to a substantial likelihood of misidentifica-
tion.” People v Kurylczyk, 443 Mich 289, 302; 505
NW2d 528 (1993) (opinion by GRIFFIN, J.). A suggestive
identification procedure can arise when a witness is
called by the police and is told that the police have
arrested the right person, when a witness is shown
only one person, or when a witness is shown a group of
individuals wherein one person, the defendant, is
uniquely singled out in some way, leading the witness
to presume that he or she is the perpetrator. People v
Gray, 457 Mich 107, 111; 577 NW2d 92 (1998). “If the
trial court finds that the pretrial procedure was imper-
missibly suggestive, testimony concerning that identi-
fication is inadmissible at trial.” Kurylczyk, 443 Mich
at 303.2 But an in-court identification may be allowed
and admitted despite an impermissibly suggestive
procedure if an independent basis for the in-court

3 “Due process protects criminal defendants against the introduction
of evidence of, or tainted by, unreliable pretrial identifications obtained
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identification can be established that is untainted by
the improper pretrial identification procedure. Id.
“[R]eliability is the linchpin in determining the admis-
sibility” of possibly tainted identification testimony.
Manson v Brathwaite, 432 US 98, 114; 97 S Ct 2243; 53
L Ed 2d 140 (1977).

To determine if a witness has an independent basis
for an in-court identification, the Michigan Supreme
Court has identified eights factors a court should
evaluate:

1. Prior relationship with or knowledge of the defen-
dant.

2. The opportunity to observe the offense. This in-
cludes such factors as length of time of the observation,
lighting, noise or other factor affecting sensory perception
and proximity to the alleged criminal act.

3. Length of time between the offense and the disputed
identification. . . .

4. Accuracy or discrepancies in the pre-lineup or
showup description and defendant’s actual description.

5. Any previous proper identification or failure to iden-
tify the defendant.

6. Any identification prior to lineup or showup of
another person as defendant.

7. ...[Tlhe nature of the alleged offense and the
physical and psychological state of the victim. . . .

8. Any idiosyncratic or special features of defendant.
[People v Kachar, 400 Mich 78, 95-96; 252 NW2d 807
(1977).]

While Scott identified Posey in a pretrial photo
lineup, Scott could not identify Posey at trial. Scott’s

through unnecessarily suggestive procedures.” People v Sammons, 505
Mich 31, 41; 949 NW2d 36 (2020) (quotation marks and citation
omitted).
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pretrial identification of Posey is not at issue. Byrd did
not identify Posey in a photo lineup before trial; he
selected another individual. He did, however, identify
Posey at trial. Byrd indicated that he realized he had
identified the wrong person in the photo array after he
saw Posey in a subsequent news broadcast. On appeal,
Posey acknowledges that Byrd made no pretrial iden-
tification of Posey, let alone an improperly suggestive
identification. Nonetheless, Posey maintains that we
should apply the factors governing the independent-
basis test to assess the admissibility of Byrd’s in-court
identification of Posey.

“The need to establish an independent basis for an
in-court identification only arises where the pretrial
identification is tainted by improper procedure or un-
duly suggestive comments.” People v Laidlaw, 169
Mich App 84, 92; 425 NW2d 738 (1988) (emphasis
added). In People v Barclay, 208 Mich App 670, 675-
676; 528 NW2d 842 (1995), this Court observed:

The need to establish an independent basis for an
in-court identification arises where the pretrial identifica-
tion is tainted by improper procedure or is unduly sugges-
tive. At no point has defendant argued that the lineup
procedure was improper or unduly suggestive. Rather,
defendant’s argument is premised on the fact that [the
witness] did not identify defendant at a pretrial corporeal
lineup, but identified him in court (at the preliminary
examination) as the man who poured the gasoline in the
store. The fact that [the witness] did not identify defen-
dant at the lineup did not render his subsequent in-court
identification inadmissible. Rather, this was a credibility
issue that was properly before the jury to determine. The
trial court did not commit clear error in allowing the
in-court identification testimony. [Citations omitted.]
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Moreover, in Perry v New Hampshire, 565 US 228,
231-233; 132 S Ct 716; 181 L Ed 2d 694 (2012), the
United States Supreme Court stated and held:

In our system of justice, fair trial for persons charged
with criminal offenses is secured by the Sixth Amend-
ment, which guarantees to defendants the right to coun-
sel, compulsory process to obtain defense witnesses, and
the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses for the pros-
ecution. Those safeguards apart, admission of evidence in
state trials is ordinarily governed by state law, and the
reliability of relevant testimony typically falls within the
province of the jury to determine. This Court has recog-
nized, in addition, a due process check on the admission of
eyewitness identification, applicable when the police have
arranged suggestive circumstances leading the witness to
identify a particular person as the perpetrator of a crime.

An identification infected by improper police influence,
our case law holds, is not automatically excluded. Instead,
the trial judge must screen the evidence for reliability
pretrial. If there is a very substantial likelihood of irrepa-
rable misidentification, the judge must disallow presenta-
tion of the evidence at trial. But if the indicia of reliability
are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the
police-arranged suggestive circumstances, the identifica-
tion evidence ordinarily will be admitted, and the jury will
ultimately determine its worth.

We have not extended pretrial screening for reliability
to cases in which the suggestive circumstances were not
arranged by law enforcement officers. Petitioner requests
that we do so because of the grave risk that mistaken
identification will yield a miscarriage of justice. Our
decisions, however, turn on the presence of state action
and aim to deter police from rigging identification proce-
dures, for example, at a lineup, showup, or photograph
array. When no improper law enforcement activity is
involved, we hold, it suffices to test reliability through the
rights and opportunities generally designed for that pur-
pose, notably, the presence of counsel at postindictment
lineups, vigorous cross-examination, protective rules of
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evidence, and jury instructions on both the fallibility of
eyewitness identification and the requirement that guilt
be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. [Quotation marks
and citation omitted.]

Here, there was no improper law enforcement activ-
ity and no pretrial identification by Byrd. Posey’s
reliance on United States v Hill, 967 F2d 226 (CA 6,
1992)—which reached a conclusion compatible with
Posey’s argument—is misplaced because Hill is incon-
sistent with Michigan precedent, see Barclay, 208
Mich App at 675-676, and was issued before the United
States Supreme Court decided Perry. Posey’s counsel
aggressively challenged Byrd’s testimony by highlight-
ing how Byrd, while not under stress and with the
incident still fresh in his mind, identified someone
other than Posey in the photo array and only changed
his mind after viewing the news broadcast of the
incident.* Byrd also acknowledged on cross-
examination that when he made the identification
during the police photo lineup, he did not know what
the assailants looked like. It was for the jury to assess
the reliability and credibility of Byrd’s in-court identi-
fication of Posey as one of the shooters. We also note
that Posey was treated for gunshot wounds at a hos-
pital shortly after the shooting occurred, that he lied to
police about his identity, and that Byrd believed that
he hit both Posey and Quinn with gunfire. This evi-
dence leads to an almost inescapable conclusion that
Posey was present at the scene of the shooting.

Posey also argues that he was denied the effective
assistance of counsel when trial counsel failed to object
to Byrd’s in-court identification testimony and when

4 We note that Posey does not make any argument that Byrd’s viewing
of the broadcast impermissibly tainted his in-court identification such
that the identification was inadmissible.
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counsel failed to retain an expert witness on eyewit-
ness identification. Whether counsel was ineffective
presents a mixed question of fact, which is reviewed for
clear error, and constitutional law, which is reviewed
de novo. People v LeBlanc, 465 Mich 575, 579; 640
NWwW2d 246 (2002). Our Supreme Court in People v
Carbin, 463 Mich 590, 599-600; 623 NW2d 884 (2001),
articulated the principles governing a claim of ineffec-
tive assistance of counsel, stating as follows:

To justify reversal under either the federal or state con-
stitutions, a convicted defendant must satisfy [a] two-part
test . ... First, the defendant must show that counsel’s
performance was deficient. This requires showing that
counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not
performing as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth
Amendment. In so doing, the defendant must overcome a
strong presumption that counsel’s performance consti-
tuted sound trial strategy. Second, the defendant must
show that the deficient performance prejudiced the de-
fense. To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show
the existence of a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel’s error, the result of the proceeding would have
been different. A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Be-
cause the defendant bears the burden of demonstrating
both deficient performance and prejudice, the defendant
necessarily bears the burden of establishing the factual
predicate for his claim. [Quotation marks and citations
omitted.]

An attorney’s performance is deficient if the represen-
tation falls below an objective standard of reasonable-
ness. People v Toma, 462 Mich 281, 302; 613 NW2d 694
(2000).

“Decisions regarding what evidence to present and
whether to call or question witnesses are presumed to
be matters of trial strategy, and this Court will not
substitute its judgment for that of counsel regarding
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matters of trial strategy.” People v Davis, 250 Mich App
357, 368; 649 NW2d 94 (2002); see also People v Payne,
285 Mich App 181, 190; 774 NW2d 714 (2009) (explain-
ing that the same presumption applies regarding a
trial counsel’s decision to call or not to call expert
witnesses). We cannot, however, “insulate the review of
counsel’s performance by simply calling it trial strat-
egy.” People v Trakhtenberg, 493 Mich 38, 52; 826
NW2d 136 (2012). Initially, this Court must determine
whether strategic choices were made after less than
complete investigation, with any choice being reason-
able only to the extent that reasonable professional
judgment supported the limitations on investigation.
1d.; see also People v Ackley, 497 Mich 381, 389; 870
NW2d 858 (2015).

Because, for the reasons discussed earlier, there was
no valid legal basis to challenge Byrd’s in-court iden-
tification of Posey, trial counsel was not ineffective for
failing to object to the identification. People v Ericksen,
288 Mich App 192, 201; 793 NW2d 120 (2010) (noting
that counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a
meritless argument or futile objection).

Posey also argues that trial counsel was ineffective
for failing to call an eyewitness-identification expert at
trial. While the identification of Posey as one of the
shooters was an important issue at his trial, it was
reasonable for trial counsel to attack the credibility
and reliability of Byrd’s in-court identification solely
through cross-examination. Although it is possible an
expert may have helped, one was not required. See
People v Pickens, 446 Mich 298, 314; 521 NW2d 797
(1994) (explaining that the law requires a trial that is
fair, not perfect). Trial counsel effectively challenged
Byrd’s identification testimony. In fact, without the use
of an expert, the jury was made aware that Byrd
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admitted identifying someone other than Posey in a
photo lineup the day after the shooting when his
memory was fresh. Again, Byrd even admitted that at
the time of the array, he actually could not identify the
shooters. Instead, Byrd indicated that he relied on his
subsequent viewing of the surveillance videos on a
television news broadcast—not his personal recollec-
tion of the shooters—to identify defendants. Further,
the jury was informed that at the preliminary exami-
nation Byrd could only identify Quinn as one of the
perpetrators. Thus, hearing testimony from an expert
that eyewitness testimony is inherently suspect would
not have added much, considering that the jurors were
made fully aware of Byrd’s dubious history of identify-
ing the shooters. Put another way, Byrd’s failure to
identify defendants as the shooters immediately after
the shooting and his subsequent in-court identification
of defendants illustrated firsthand that eyewitness
testimony can be inherently suspect. No expert was
needed to convey this point.

For the same reason, Posey fails to demonstrate a
reasonable likelihood that the outcome of the proceed-
ings would have been different had he obtained an
expert witness for trial. Additionally, the prosecution
presented surveillance video evidence and still frames
showing the assailants. As a result, the jury may have
completely disregarded Byrd’s questionable identifica-
tion testimony and instead relied on both the video and
photographic evidence showing the shooters and the
circumstantial evidence that Posey appeared at a hos-
pital with gunshot wounds after the incident to deter-
mine that Posey was one of the gunmen. In sum, we
hold that Posey’s claims of ineffective assistance of
counsel do not warrant reversal.
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B. SENTENCING AND PROPORTIONALITY

Posey argues that the trial court abused its discre-
tion when it sentenced him to serve 22 to 40 years’
imprisonment for his AWIM convictions. We disagree.
“[Tlhe proper inquiry when reviewing a sentence for
reasonableness is whether the trial court abused its
discretion by violating the ‘principle of proportionality’
set forth in People v Milbourn, 435 Mich 630, 636; 461
NW2d 1 (1990), ‘which requires sentences imposed by
the trial court to be proportionate to the seriousness of
the circumstances surrounding the offense and the
offender.’ ” People v Steanhouse, 500 Mich 453, 459-
460; 902 NW2d 327 (2017). We review de novo consti-
tutional challenges to sentencing decisions. See People
v Skinner, 502 Mich 89, 99; 917 NW2d 292 (2018).

At his initial sentencing, Posey’s guidelines range
for his AWIM convictions was 225 to 562 months (or 18
years and 9 months to 46 years and 10 months), and
the court sentenced him within that range to a mini-
mum prison term of 22 years. After filing his claim of
appeal in Docket No. 345491, Posey successfully moved
to remand for resentencing. On remand, the trial court
vacated Posey’s convictions of AWIGBH and recalcu-
lated his guidelines range at 171 to 427 months (or 14
years and 3 months to 35 years and 7 months). The
court, however, resentenced Posey to the same mini-
mum prison term of 22 years, which was still well
within the new guidelines minimum sentence range—
more than 13 years below the top end of the range.

Posey argues that the minimum sentence is not
proportionate because the court failed to take into
consideration his rehabilitative potential and because
the sentence was not decreased at resentencing despite
the decrease in and lowering of the guidelines range. “If
a minimum sentence is within the appropriate guide-
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lines sentence range, the court of appeals shall affirm
that sentence and shall not remand for resentencing
absent an error in scoring the sentencing guidelines or
inaccurate information relied upon in determining the
defendant’s sentence.” MCL 769.34(10). In this case,
Posey’s minimum sentence of 22 years falls within the
applicable guidelines range, and he does not challenge
the scoring of the guidelines or the accuracy of the
information used by the court in sentencing Posey.

Posey argues that MCL 769.34(10) is no longer good
law in light of our Supreme Court’s decision in People v
Lockridge, 498 Mich 358; 870 NW2d 502 (2015). In
Lockridge, the Supreme Court held that Michigan’s
sentencing guidelines violated the Sixth Amendment
right to a jury trial, and it remedied the constitutional
infringement by declaring the guidelines advisory only.
Id. at 364-365. In People v Schrauben, 314 Mich App
181,196 n 1; 886 NW2d 173 (2016), this Court held that
the decision in “Lockridge did not alter or diminish MCL
769.34(10)[.]” Therefore, “[wlhen a trial court does not
depart from the recommended minimum sentencing
range, the minimum sentence must be affirmed unless
there was an error in scoring or the trial court relied on
inaccurate information.” Schrauben, 314 Mich App at
196. Posey acknowledges Schrauben, argues that it was
wrongly decided in violation of Lockridge and the Sixth
Amendment, and asks us to declare a conflict and

request the convening of a special panel under MCR
7.215(J)(2) and (3).

In People v Ames, 501 Mich 1026 (2018), our Supreme
Court entered an order directing oral argument on the
application for leave to appeal and asking the parties to
address “whether MCL 769.34(10) has been rendered
invalid by this Court’s decision in People v Lockridge,
498 Mich 358 (2015), to the extent that the statute
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requires the Court of Appeals to affirm sentences that
fall within the applicable guidelines range ‘absent an
error in scoring the sentencing guidelines or inaccurate
information relied upon in determining the defendant’s
sentence.” See People v Schrauben . ...” The Supreme
Court heard oral arguments on January 24, 2019, and
then later unanimously denied the application for leave
to appeal because the Court was “not persuaded that
the questions presented should be reviewed . . . .” People
v Ames, 504 Mich 899 (2019). While not binding prec-
edent,> the order in Ames appears to signal the
Supreme Court’s acceptance of Schrauben. Moreover,
this Court has been relying on the construction of MCL
769.34(10) set forth in Schrauben, including in binding
published opinions. See People v Anderson, 322 Mich
App 622, 636 & n1; 912 NW2d 607 (2018) (citing
Schrauben in support of its ruling that “[b]ecause the
trial court sentenced Anderson within the applicable
sentencing guidelines range, this Court need not
evaluate Anderson’s sentences for reasonableness and
must affirm his sentences . ...”). Under these circum-
stances, and because we believe that the Schrauben
panel was correct in its analysis, we decline to declare
a conflict with Schrauben under MCR 7.215(J)(2) and
3).

Additionally, defendant is simply mistaken that a
sentence within the guidelines is unassailable absent a
scoring error or inaccurate information. MCL
769.34(10) does not and cannot preclude constitutional
appellate challenges to a sentence, e.g., an argument
that a sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punish-

5 See Tebo v Havlik, 418 Mich 350, 363 n 2; 343 NW2d 181 (1984)
(opinion by BRICKLEY, J.) (“A denial of leave to appeal has no precedential
value.”). See also MCR 7.301(E) (“The reasons for denying leave to
appeal . . . are not to be regarded as precedent.”).
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ment. See People v Powell, 278 Mich App 318, 323; 750
NW2d 607 (2008) (stating that MCL 769.34(10)’s limi-
tation on review does not apply to claims of constitu-
tional error); see also People v Conley, 270 Mich App
301, 316; 715 NW2d 377 (2006) (“It is axiomatic that a
statutory provision, such as MCL 769.34(10), cannot
authorize action in violation of the federal or state
constitutions.”).

We note that grossly disproportionate sentences may
constitute cruel and unusual punishment. People v
Bullock, 440 Mich 15, 32; 485 NW2d 866 (1992). How-
ever, there is a distinction between “proportionality” as
it relates to the constitutional protection against cruel
and unusual punishment, and “proportionality” as it
relates to reasonableness review of a sentence, which is
not constitutional in nature. Id. at 34 n 17 (“Because the
similarity in terminology may create confusion, we note
that the constitutional concept of ‘proportionality’ under
Const 1963, art 1, § 16 [cruel or unusual punishment
prohibition] is distinct from the nonconstitutional ‘prin-
ciple of proportionality’ discussed in ... Milbourn ...,
although the concepts share common roots.”). A sen-
tence within the guidelines range is presumptively
proportionate, and a proportionate sentence is not cruel
or unusual punishment. Powell, 278 Mich App at 323. A
defendant can only overcome that presumption by pre-
senting unusual circumstances that would render a
presumptively proportionate sentence disproportionate.
People v Bowling, 299 Mich App 552, 558; 830 NW2d
800 (2013). No unusual circumstances were presented
here, and the AWIM sentences were not disproportion-
ate. Indeed, we conclude that the 22-year minimum
sentence was proportionate to the seriousness of the
circumstances surrounding the offense and the offender.
Steanhouse, 500 Mich at 459-460. In this case, defen-
dant does not argue that his AWIM sentences constitute
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cruel or unusual punishment, and we conclude, in any
event, that because the sentences were presumptively
proportionate, devoid of unusual circumstances, propor-
tionate under Milbourn, and certainly not grossly dis-
proportionate, they did not constitute cruel or unusual
punishment.

Because MCL 769.34(10) precludes appellate review
of Posey’s AWIM sentences and he does not raise a
viable constitutional challenge to the sentences, we
affirm those sentences.

III. DOCKET NO. 346039—DEFENDANT QUINN

A. DUE PROCESS AND IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION

Quinn argues that he was denied due process of law
by a suggestive identification process. But as with the
argument presented by Posey, there was no pretrial
identification of Quinn by Scott or Byrd and thus no
suggestive out-of-court identification. Byrd’s identifi-
cation of Quinn in court was properly left for the jury to
assess. Accordingly, Quinn’s argument fails. See Perry,
565 US at 231-233; Barclay, 208 Mich App at 675-676.
Moreover, Quinn made a statement to the police in
which he admitted being present at the crime scene,
and his attorney conceded that point in counsel’s
arguments to the jury. Any error arising from this
unpreserved issue would have been completely harm-
less and nonprejudicial. Carines, 460 Mich at 763.

B. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Quinn next argues that there was insufficient evi-
dence to support his AWIGBH convictions. The argu-
ment is cursory, vague, and disjointed. In People v
Kenny, 332 Mich App 394, 404; 956 NW2d 562 (2020),
this Court observed:
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This Court reviews de novo the issue regarding whether
there was sufficient evidence to support a conviction. In
reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court must
view the evidence—whether direct or circumstantial—in a
light most favorable to the prosecutor and determine
whether a rational trier of fact could find that the essen-
tial elements of the crime were proven beyond a reason-
able doubt. A jury, and not an appellate court, observes the
witnesses and listens to their testimony; therefore, an
appellate court must not interfere with the jury’s role in
assessing the weight of the evidence and the credibility of
the witnesses. Circumstantial evidence and any reason-
able inferences that arise from such evidence can consti-
tute satisfactory proof of the elements of a crime. The
prosecution need not negate every reasonable theory of
innocence, it need only prove the elements of the crime in
the face of whatever contradictory evidence is provided by
the defendant. All conflicts in the evidence must be re-
solved in favor of the prosecution. [Quotation marks and
citations omitted.]

Quinn first appears to argue that the evidence was
insufficient to establish his presence at the crime
scene. “[[]dentity is an element of every offense.”
People v Yost, 278 Mich App 341, 356; 749 NW2d 753
(2008). Quinn’s statement to police placed him at the
crime scene. Also, defense counsel conceded that Quinn
was present at the shooting. And Byrd’s in-court iden-
tification indicated that Quinn was at the crime scene.
Also, Quinn went to the hospital after the shooting
suffering from gunshot wounds. There was not only
sufficient evidence that Quinn was present at the
shooting, there was overwhelming evidence.

Next, Quinn essentially contends that there was
insufficient evidence to show that he instigated or
started the shooting or that he even discharged his
weapon before Byrd, who was not injured, opened fire.
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Thus, according to Quinn, there was no attempt to
injure Byrd or Scott and no intent to cause great bodily
harm.

In People v Stevens, 306 Mich App 620, 628-629; 858
NW2d 98 (2014), this Court addressed the offense of
AWIGBH, stating:

The elements of AWIGBH are (1) an attempt or threat
with force or violence to do corporal harm to another (an
assault), and (2) an intent to do great bodily harm less
than murder. AWIGBH is a specific intent crime. The
intent to do great bodily harm less than murder is an
intent to do serious injury of an aggravated nature. If a
defendant has such intent, the fact that he was provoked
or that he acted in the heat of passion is irrelevant to a
conviction. Because of the difficulty in proving an actor’s
intent, only minimal circumstantial evidence is necessary
to show that a defendant had the requisite intent. Intent
to cause serious harm can be inferred from the defendant’s
actions, including the use of a dangerous weapon or the
making of threats. Although actual injury to the victim is
not an element of the crime, injuries suffered by the victim
may also be indicative of a defendant’s intent[.] [Quotation
marks and citations omitted.]

In Quinn’s interview with the police, after initially
lying about whether he was present at the Super X
Market, Quinn admitted to being at the market,
admitted that he was with someone who intended to
rob two individuals near the Trailblazer outside the
market, and admitted that he produced his gun after
exiting the market. There was also evidence showing,
contrary to Quinn’s assertions in his statement to the
police, that Quinn had his firearm drawn and pointed
at Byrd before Byrd responded by pulling out his own
firearm. To the extent that Quinn is suggesting that if
Byrd fired first, it would make Quinn’s subsequent
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discharge of his weapon justifiable, i.e., self-defense,
we find that argument to be without merit. Quinn did
not raise any issue of self-defense, and the jury was
not instructed on self-defense. Moreover, in light of
the evidence that Quinn was the aggressor, any claim
of self-defense would not have been sustainable. See
People v Guajardo, 300 Mich App 26, 35; 832 NW2d
409 (2013) (“In general, a defendant does not act in
justifiable self-defense when he or she uses excessive
force or when the defendant is the initial aggressor.”).

Furthermore, the jury could reasonably infer that
Quinn had the intent to cause serious injury of an
aggravated nature in light of his use of a dangerous
weapon. Stevens, 306 Mich App at 629. As this Court
has explained, “[m]erely pointing a loaded gun at
another person is inherently dangerous; the notion
that actually shooting a gun in the direction of an-
other person, no matter how inaccurately, could re-
flect anything but an intent to cause serious harm is
beyond comprehension.” People v Blevins, 314 Mich
App 339, 358; 886 NW2d 456 (2016) (emphasis omit-
ted). Additionally, Quinn cannot rely on the fact that
Byrd testified that he never saw Quinn fire his
weapon. The person Byrd identified as Quinn left his
gun behind at the scene. The retrieved gun had a
spent casing that apparently had become jammed or
stuck inside the weapon. From this evidence, the jury
could have reasonably inferred that Quinn fired his
gun. Moreover, the jury was instructed on aiding and
abetting, and there was evidence that Posey and
Quinn were working together to commit a robbery
and that Posey fired his gun multiple times in the
gunfight melee that erupted at the market. See MCL
767.39 (“Every person concerned in the commission of
an offense, whether he directly commits the act con-
stituting the offense or procures, counsels, aids, or
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abets in its commission may hereafter be prosecuted,
indicted, tried and on conviction shall be punished as
if he had directly committed such offense.”); People v
Robinson, 475 Mich 1, 6; 715 NW2d 44 (2006) (noting
that aiding and abetting is a theory of prosecution
that allows the imposition of vicarious liability for
accomplices). Although vacated presumably on
double-jeopardy grounds, Posey was convicted of two
counts of AWIGBH by the jury. Thus, the jury cer-
tainly could have determined that Quinn—Posey’s
accomplice—was guilty of two counts of AWIGBH on
an aiding and abetting theory even if Quinn did not
have a chance to discharge his weapon before being
shot.

In sum, we hold that Quinn’s argument that there
was insufficient evidence to support his AWIGBH con-
victions fails. Reversal is unwarranted.

C. IMPOSITION OF COURT COSTS

Quinn argues that remand is necessary because the
trial court did not explain the factual basis for its
imposition of $1,300 in court costs as required under
MCL 769.1k(1)(b)(Zii) (providing that a court may im-
pose “any cost reasonably related to the actual costs
incurred by the trial court without separately calculat-
ing those costs involved in the particular case”) and
under this Court’s decision in People v Konopka (On
Remand), 309 Mich App 345, 360; 869 NW2d 651
(2015) (“We . ..remand to the trial court for it to
establish a factual basis for the $500 in costs imposed
under MCL 769.1k(1)(b)(iii), or to alter that figure, if
appropriate.”). The trial court imposed the $1,300 in
court costs without explanation. But Quinn did not
preserve this issue with an objection; therefore, our
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review is for plain error affecting Quinn’s substantial
rights. Carines, 460 Mich at 763.

The prosecutor has supplied us with a document
from the State Court Administrative Office (SCAO)
reflecting that the average cost per criminal case in the
Wayne Circuit Court is $1,302.¢ Furthermore, during
Posey’s resentencing, he was assessed $1,300 in court
costs as well. And at that time, the trial court ex-
plained that the $1,300 figure “has been arrived at as
an average cost of processing cases through the Wayne
County Circuit Court by the [SCAO].” Although this
remark pertained to Posey and not to Quinn, it reveals
the trial court’s reliance on the SCAO calculation for
the imposition of $1,300 in court costs. While Konopka
would ordinarily call for a remand, we decline to do so
under the present circumstances. Konopka, 309 Mich
App at 360. Quinn does not even present an argument
under the prejudice prong of the plain-error test.
Accordingly, although the trial court plainly erred by
failing to articulate the factual basis for the court costs
imposed against Quinn, Quinn has not demonstrated
any of the requisite “prejudice, i.e., that the error
affected the outcome of the lower court proceedings.”
Carines, 460 Mich at 763.

D. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Quinn argues that he was denied the effective assis-
tance of counsel during trial in two particular in-
stances. Quinn first asserts that counsel was ineffec-
tive for failing to move to suppress his statements to
the police. On the day of the shooting, Quinn was taken
to Henry Ford Hospital after he was shot, and he had

5 We exercise our power under MCR 7.216(A)(4) to “permit . . . addi-
tions to the . .. record” and will consider the SCAO document.
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surgery that same day. The following day, the police
interviewed Quinn at the hospital. The interview was
recorded and admitted into evidence. Quinn maintains
that as a result of his postsurgery condition, his
statements were not voluntary and thus inadmissible.
Quinn primarily relies on the fact that he was physi-
cally injured and on pain medication at the time of the
interview.

It is well established that voluntary statements are
admissible, while involuntary statements are not.
People v Robinson, 386 Mich 551, 557; 194 NW2d 709
(1972). In People v Cipriano, 431 Mich 315, 333-334;
429 NW2d 781 (1988), the Michigan Supreme Court
set forth the analysis governing whether a defendant’s
statements or confession was voluntary:

The test of voluntariness should be whether, considering
the totality of all the surrounding circumstances, the
confession is “the product of an essentially free and
unconstrained choice by its maker,” or whether the ac-
cused’s “will has been overborne and his capacity for
self-determination critically impaired . ...” The line of
demarcation “is that at which governing self-direction is
lost and compulsion, of whatever nature or however in-
fused, propels or helps to propel the confession.”

In determining whether a statement is voluntary, the
trial court should consider, among other things, the fol-
lowing factors: the age of the accused; his lack of education
or his intelligence level; the extent of his previous experi-
ence with the police; the repeated and prolonged nature of
the questioning; the length of the detention of the accused
before he gave the statement in question; the lack of any
advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; whether
there was an unnecessary delay in bringing him before a
magistrate before he gave the confession; whether the
accused was injured, intoxicated or drugged, or in ill
health when he gave the statement; whether the accused
was deprived of food, sleep, or medical attention; whether
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the accused was physically abused; and whether the
suspect was threatened with abuse.

The absence or presence of any one of these factors is
not necessarily conclusive on the issue of voluntariness.
The ultimate test of admissibility is whether the totality of
the circumstances surrounding the making of the confes-
sion indicates that it was freely and voluntarily made.
[Citations omitted.]

Again, Quinn focuses solely on his injuries and the
medication he was taking to support his claim of
involuntariness. All of the other factors discussed in
Cipriano appear to support a conclusion that Quinn’s
statements to the police were voluntary. Quinn was 29
years old at the time; he had a GED, and he could read
and write. Quinn’s status as a third-offense habitual
offender indicates that he had prior experience with
the police. The questioning lasted less than 25 min-
utes, of which, more than six minutes were dedicated
to discussing Quinn’s personal information and obtain-
ing a Miranda™ waiver. There is no suggestion that
Quinn had been deprived of food, sleep, or medical
attention, and there is no evidence that Quinn was
abused or threatened with any abuse.

Furthermore, assuming that Quinn was experienc-
ing some pain from his injuries and was affected by his
pain medication, we still have no indication that his
condition was so debilitating as to make him lose his
free will. In our review of the interview, Quinn appears
alert and articulate the entire time, with no sign that
he was impaired by any medication during the inter-
view. Consequently, Quinn’s reliance on Mincey v Ari-
zona, 437 US 385; 98 S Ct 2408; 57 L Ed 2d 290 (1978),
is misplaced. In Mincey, the defendant had been seri-
ously wounded; he was severely depressed; he was still

" Miranda v Arizona, 384 US 436; 86 S Ct 1602; 16 L Ed 2d 694 (1966).
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in the intensive care unit when interviewed, he de-
scribed leg pain that was unbearable; he was quite
confused; some of his written answers were incoherent;
he was using a breathing apparatus reserved for more
critical patients; he had made several ignored requests
for the questioning to cease; and the interrogating
officer only stopped the interview at points when the
defendant lost consciousness or received medical treat-
ment. Id. at 398-401.

The video of Quinn’s interview shows a markedly
different situation. Quinn never asked to stop the ques-
tioning; he was alert and conscious the whole time; and
his physical condition was nowhere near as severe as
the defendant’s condition in Mincey. In sum, there is no
evidence that Quinn’s mental condition was signifi-
cantly compromised or diminished. Indeed, he was
alert, responsive, and articulate during the interview.

It is also important to recall that Quinn initially lied
to the police. When a detective asked him about the
circumstances surrounding his getting shot, Quinn first
stated that he had been shot by someone named “John
Boy” at a tire store, possibly near Dequindre Road.
Quinn claimed that he was trying to buy some rims for
his tires. The detective then asked Quinn if he was sure
about that story, and Quinn replied, “I'm positive.”
When the detective said that he had seen a video
showing Quinn at the Super X Market, Quinn changed
his story and admitted to being at the market. Quinn
also admitted to being present with “D” at the market
and that “D” wanted to rob two individuals who were
outside standing next to a Trailblazer. Although Quinn
initially denied having a gun that day, he later admitted
to having a firearm and wielding it after leaving the
market. Quinn explained that the “gunplay started”
right after he walked out of the Super X Market. Quinn
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maintained that he only pulled out his gun after seeing
other weapons being displayed, and Quinn continued to
deny having ever fired his gun. Quinn’s initial fabrica-
tions belie his claim that his statements were involun-
tary. If the circumstances in the interview were such
that Quinn had lost his free will, he would not have been
able to fabricate a story in an attempt to clear himself of
any criminal wrongdoing. See DeJesus v Delaware, 655
A2d 1180, 1198 (Del, 1995) (stating that the defendant’s
“exculpatory statements at the hospital serve to under-
mine his claim of coercion” and involuntariness). The
video shows that Quinn finally relented with his false-
hoods, for the most part, when he was informed that the
detective had clearly seen him in the video.

Furthermore, in Colorado v Connelly, 479 US 157,
163-164; 107 S Ct 515; 93 L Ed 2d 473 (1986), the
United States Supreme Court spoke to the issue of
voluntariness as part of due-process analysis, explain-
ing:

[TThe cases considered by this Court over the 50 years
since Brown v Mississippi[, 297 US 278; 56 S Ct 461; 80 L
Ed 682 (1936),] have focused upon the crucial element of
police overreaching. While each confession case has
turned on its own set of factors justifying the conclusion
that police conduct was oppressive, all have contained a
substantial element of coercive police conduct. Absent
police conduct causally related to the confession, there is
simply no basis for concluding that any state actor has
deprived a criminal defendant of due process of law.
Respondent correctly notes that as interrogators have
turned to more subtle forms of psychological persuasion,
courts have found the mental condition of the defendant a
more significant factor in the “voluntariness” calculus. But
this fact does not justify a conclusion that a defendant’s
mental condition, by itself and apart from its relation to
official coercion, should ever dispose of the inquiry into
constitutional “voluntariness.” [Citation omitted.]
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In this case, there is simply no evidence to indicate or
suggest that there was any police coercion in obtaining
Quinn’s statements. Therefore, there was no due-
process violation.

For these reasons, any motion to suppress Quinn’s
statements on the basis that they were involuntary
would not have been successful. The totality of the
circumstances established that Quinn’s statements
were voluntary. Accordingly, defense counsel was not
ineffective for failing to pursue a meritless or futile
motion to suppress. See Ericksen, 288 Mich App at 201.

Quinn also argues that counsel was ineffective for
failing to obtain a DNA expert. This claim lacks merit.
There is nothing in the lower-court record suggesting
that a DNA expert could have discovered anything of
relevance. With nothing in the record to support
Quinn’s position that DNA testing would have been
helpful, he cannot prevail on this issue. See Carbin,
463 Mich at 600 (stating that a defendant has the
burden of establishing the factual predicate for his
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel). There simply
is no basis for concluding that DNA testing would have
exonerated Quinn.

IV. CONCLUSION

In Docket Nos. 345491 and 351834, we affirm Po-
sey’s convictions and judgment of sentence. In Docket
No. 346039, we likewise affirm Quinn’s convictions and
judgment of sentence.

BOONSTRA, P.J., and FORT HOOD, J., concurred with
MARKEY, J.
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NYKORIAK v NAPOLEON

Docket No. 354410. Submitted October 9, 2020, at Grand Rapids.
Decided October 22, 2020, at 9:20 a.m. Leave to appeal denied
507 Mich 883 (2021).

T. P. Nykoriak filed an action in the Wayne Circuit Court against the
Wayne County Clerk and the Wayne County Board of Election
Commissioners, seeking the disqualification of the third defen-
dant, Benny Napoleon, as a candidate in the election for Wayne
County Sheriff. Nykoriak alleged that Napoleon’s affidavit of
identity (AOI) had not been properly notarized. The court, Timo-
thy M. Kenny, J., denied plaintiffs mandamus complaint and
related motions. The Court of Appeals granted plaintiff’s motion
for immediate consideration of his appeal.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Mandamus is an extraordinary remedy that is only proper
if (1) the party seeking the writ has a clear legal right to
performance of the specific duty sought, (2) the defendant has the
clear legal duty to perform the act requested, (3) the act is
ministerial, and (4) no other legal or equitable remedy exists that
might achieve the same result. Nykoriak argued that Napoleon’s
AOI failed to comply with MCL 168.558 of the Michigan Election
Law, MCL 168.1 et seq., which requires, inter alia, candidates for
elected office to file a notarized AOI with the city clerk that
contains the candidate’s name, address, and other information
useful to establishing the candidate’s identity. Nykoriak argued
that Napoleon’s AOI was facially defective because it did not
include a notary signature or date of notarization as required
under MCL 55.287 of the Michigan Law on Notarial Acts, MCL
55.261 et seq. However, a review of the AOI showed that although
the notary did not sign and date the form in the spaces designated
for notary use, the notary did sign and date the form in the
section of the form labeled “for office use only.” There was no
dispute that the signature on the form belonged to the notary. The
notary also stamped the form with the date of expiration of her
commission and the county in which she was acting. Because
there is no statutory requirement regarding the location of the
notary’s signature on the AOI, the notary’s signature in the “for
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office use only” section of the form was sufficient to satisfy MCL
55.287(1). Similarly, the AOI also contained the date that the
notarial act was performed, although it did not appear on the line
designated for the date of notarization. The date “4/15/2020” was
written on the form in the “for office use only” section. Napoleon
signed the form on April 15, 2020, the same date that the AOI was
filed. Thus, the date of filing was the same date as the notarial
act, which is reflected on the form. Because the date that the
notarial act was performed was stated on the AOI, the AOI
facially complied with MCL 55.287(2)(e). Therefore, the Wayne
County defendants did not have a clear legal duty to remove
Napoleon’s name from the ballot, and the circuit court correctly
concluded that Nykoriak was not entitled to mandamus.

2. Under MCL 691.1031, there is a rebuttable presumption of
laches in election cases if the action is commenced less than 28
days before the date of the affected election. Estoppel by laches is
the failure to do something which should be done under the
circumstances or the failure to claim or enforce a right at a proper
time. Nykoriak filed his action more than 28 days before the
primary election at issue, so the rebuttable presumption of laches
did not apply as a matter of law. However, after Napoleon filed his
AOI on April 15, 2020, Nykoriak filed objections on April 24, 2020.
When no action was taken by the Wayne County defendants,
Nykoriak waited 24 days to bring suit in the circuit court. During
this time, the ballots were printed and delivered to the local
clerks. Nykoriak’s claim that he used this time to hire counsel,
who then had to investigate the claim and research the issue, was
not persuasive because there was only one issue in dispute.
Napoleon and the Wayne County defendants also sufficiently
established that a change in position, i.e., the printing and
delivery of the ballots, had resulted in prejudice. Therefore, the
circuit court did not err by ruling that the doctrine of laches
barred Nykoriak’s challenge.

Affirmed.

ELECTION LAW — AFFIDAVIT OF IDENTITY — INOTARIZATION — FACIAL DEFECTS.

MCL 168.558 of the Michigan Election Law, MCL 168.1 et seq.,
requires that a candidate for elected office file an affidavit of
identity (AOI) containing the candidate’s name, address, and
other information useful to establishing their identity; the AOI
must be notarized in accordance with MCL 55.287 of the Michi-
gan Law on Notarial Acts, MCL 55.261 et seq., which requires,
inter alia, that the notary’s signature and the date of notarization
appear on the AOI; an AOI that contains the notary’s signature
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and date of notarization in a location on the form other than the
one designated for notarial acts complies with MCL 168.558 and
MCL 55.287 and is not facially defective so long as the notary’s
signature, the date of notarization, and other required informa-
tion in MCL 55.287(e) appear on the form.

Alexander V. Lyzohub for T. P. Nykoriak.

Perkins Law Group, PLLC (by Todd Russell Perkins)
for Benny Napoleon.

Janet Anderson Davis, Assistant Corporation Coun-
sel, for the Wayne County Clerk and the Wayne County
Board of Election Commissioners.

Before: LETICA, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and REDFORD, JdJ.

PER CURIAM. Plaintiff appeals as of right the circuit
court order denying his complaint and motion for a
writ of mandamus seeking to compel defendants the
Wayne County Clerk (the Clerk) and the Wayne
County Board of Election Commissioners (the Board)
(collectively, the Wayne County defendants), to reject a
facially defective election form and disqualify defen-
dant Benny Napoleon (Napoleon) as a competing can-
didate in the election for the office of Wayne County
Sheriff. We affirm.

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff, a candidate for the Democratic primary
election, filed a complaint seeking a writ of mandamus
to compel the Wayne County defendants to disqualify
the incumbent candidate, Napoleon, based on an alleg-
edly facially defective affidavit of identity (AOI). Specifi-
cally, plaintiff alleged that Napoleon’s AOI was defective
because it was not properly notarized. Defendants re-
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sponded that the AOI was not defective and that plain-
tiff's claim was barred by the doctrine of laches.

Following a hearing, the circuit court agreed with
defendants and denied plaintiff’s complaint and related
motions. This appeal followed and we granted immedi-
ate consideration. Nykoriak v Napoleon, unpublished
order of the Court of Appeals, entered August 14, 2020
(Docket No. 354410).

II. MANDAMUS

Plaintiff argues that the circuit court erred by fail-
ing to issue a writ of mandamus directing the Wayne
County defendants to disqualify Napoleon as a candi-
date in the election for Wayne County Sheriff on the
basis of his facially defective AOI. We disagree.

“This Court reviews for an abuse of discretion a trial
court’s grant or denial of a writ of mandamus. An abuse
of discretion occurs when the trial court chooses an
outcome that falls outside the range of reasonable and
principled outcomes.” Southfield Ed Ass’n v Bd of Ed of
the Southfield Pub Sch, 320 Mich App 353, 378; 909
NW2d 1 (2017) (quotation marks and citations omit-
ted). “We review de novo, as questions of law, whether
defendants have a clear legal duty to perform and
whether plaintiff has a clear legal right to performance
of any such duty.” Berry v Garrett, 316 Mich App 37, 41,
890 NW2d 882 (2016). We also review de novo the
interpretation of statutes. Protecting Mich Taxpayers v
Bd of State Canvassers, 324 Mich App 240, 244; 919
NW2d 677 (2018).

! Plaintiff subsequently filed a bypass application for leave to appeal
in our Supreme Court along with a motion for immediate consideration.
The Court granted the motion for immediate consideration, but denied
bypass. Nykoriak v Napoleon, 506 Mich 915 (2020).
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As we explained in O’Connell v Dir of Elections, 317
Mich App 82, 90-91; 894 NW2d 113 (2016):

Mandamus is an extraordinary remedy . ... Thus, is-
suance of this writ is proper only if (1) the party seeking
the writ has a clear, legal right to performance of the
specific duty sought, (2) the defendant has the clear legal
duty to perform the act requested, (3) the act is ministe-
rial, and (4) no other remedy exists, legal or equitable,
that might achieve the same result. Within the meaning of
the rule of mandamus, a clear, legal right is one clearly
founded in, or granted by, law; a right which is inferable as
a matter of law from uncontroverted facts regardless of
the difficulty of the legal question to be decided. [Quota-
tion marks and citations omitted.]

“A ministerial act is one in which the law prescribes
and defines the duty to be performed with such preci-
sion and certainty as to leave nothing to the exercise of
discretion or judgment.” Berry, 316 Mich App at 42
(quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiff argues that Napoleon’s AOI did not comply
with MCL 168.558. Accordingly, this issue involves the
interpretation of that statute.

This Court’s primary task in interpreting and apply-
ing a statute is to discern and give effect to the intent of
the Legislature. The words of the statute are the most
reliable evidence of the Legislature’s intent, and this
Court must give each word its plain and ordinary mean-
ing. In interpreting the statute at issue, [this Court]
consider[s] both the plain meaning of the critical words
or phrase as well as its placement and purpose in the
statutory scheme. When a statute’s language is unam-
biguous, the Legislature must have intended the mean-
ing clearly expressed, and the statute must be enforced
as written. [Stumbo v Roe, 332 Mich App 479, 484-485;
957 NW2d 830 (2020) (quotation marks and citations
omitted; alterations in original).]
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MCL 168.558 relates to the filing of petitions, fees,

and affidavits for primary elections and provides:

(1) When filing a nominating petition, qualifying peti-
tion, filing fee, or affidavit of candidacy for a federal,
county, state, city, township, village, metropolitan district,
or school district office in any election, a candidate shall
file with the officer with whom the petitions, fee, or
affidavit is filed 2 copies of an affidavit of identity. A
candidate nominated for a federal, state, county, city,
township, or village office at a political party convention or
caucus shall file an affidavit of identity within 1 business
day after being nominated with the secretary of state. The
affidavit of identity filing requirement does not apply to a
candidate nominated for the office of President of the
United States or Vice President of the United States.

(2) An affidavit of identity must contain the candidate’s
name and residential address; a statement that the can-
didate is a citizen of the United States; the title of the
office sought; a statement that the candidate meets the
constitutional and statutory qualifications for the office
sought; other information that may be required to satisfy
the officer as to the identity of the candidate; and the
manner in which the candidate wishes to have his or her
name appear on the ballot. If a candidate is using a name
that is not a name that he or she was given at birth, the
candidate shall include on the affidavit of identity the
candidate’s full former name.

(3) The requirement to indicate a name change on the
affidavit of identity does not apply if the name in question
is 1 of the following:

(a) Aname that was formally changed at least 10 years
before filing as a candidate.

(b) A name that was changed in a certificate of natu-
ralization issued by a federal district court at the time the
individual became a naturalized citizen at least 10 years
before filing as a candidate.

(c) A name that was changed because of marriage.
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(d) A name that was changed because of divorce, but
only if to a legal name by which the individual was
previously known.

(e) A name that constitutes a common law name as
provided in section 560b.

(4) An affidavit of identity must include a statement
that as of the date of the affidavit, all statements, reports,
late filing fees, and fines required of the candidate or any
candidate committee organized to support the candidate’s
election under the Michigan campaign finance act, 1976
PA 388, MCL 169.201 to 169.282, have been filed or paid;
and a statement that the candidate acknowledges that
making a false statement in the affidavit is perjury,
punishable by a fine up to $1,000.00 or imprisonment for
up to 5 years, or both. If a candidate files the affidavit of
identity with an officer other than the county clerk or
secretary of state, the officer shall immediately forward to
the county clerk 1 copy of the affidavit of identity by
first-class mail. The county clerk shall immediately for-
ward 1 copy of the affidavit of identity for state and federal
candidates to the secretary of state by first-class mail. An
officer shall not certify to the board of election commis-
sioners the name of a candidate who fails to comply with
this section, or the name of a candidate who executes an
affidavit of identity that contains a false statement with
regard to any information or statement required under
this section.

(5) If petitions or filing fees are filed by or on behalf of
a candidate for more than 1 office, either federal, state,
county, city, village, township, metropolitan district, or
school district, the terms of which run concurrently or
overlap, the candidate so filing, or on behalf of whom
petitions or fees were so filed, shall select the 1 office to
which his or her candidacy is restricted within 3 days after
the last day for the filing of petitions or filing fees unless
the petitions or filing fees are filed for 2 offices that are
combined or for offices that are not incompatible. Failure
to make the selection disqualifies a candidate with respect
to each office for which petitions or fees were so filed and
the name of the candidate must not be printed upon the
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ballot for those offices. A vote cast for that candidate at the
ensuing primary or general election must not be counted
and is void.

(6) A violation of this section for perjury is distinct and

separate from any violation of the Michigan campaign
finance act, 1976 PA 388, MCL 169.201 to 169.282.

As we explained in Stumbo, 332 Mich App at 483,

[ulnder MCL 168.558(1) and (2), a candidate filing a
nominating petition or a filing fee in lieu of nominating
petition must also file an AOI containing the candidate’s
name, address, and other information useful to establish-
ing the candidate’s identity. The Secretary of State pro-
vides a form AOI for use by candidates. This form AOI
includes a space designated for the candidate’s signature.
To the immediate right of the signature space is a space
designated for the candidate to record the date he or she
signed the AOIL. The form AOI also provides space for a
notary to attest to the identity of the affiant signing the
AOL

The parties do not dispute that strict compliance
with MCL 168.558 is required. See id. at 481 (“Our
Supreme Court has instructed that a candidate for
elected office must strictly comply with the preelection
form and content requirements identified in the Michi-
gan Election Law, MCL 168.1 et seq., in the absence of
any statutory language expressly indicating that sub-
stantial compliance with the statute’s requirements
suffices.”). Nor do the parties dispute that this statute
requires notarization, as defined by the Michigan Law
on Notarial Acts, MCL 55.261 et seq.2 MCL 55.287,
relating to the signature and statement requirements,
provides:

2 We are cognizant that on April 8, 2020, in response to the COVID-19
pandemic, the Governor signed Executive Order 2020-41, temporarily
suspending strict compliance with MCL 55.261 et seq. “to the extent it
requires a notary to be in the physical presence of an individual seeking
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(1) A notary public shall place his or her signature on
every record upon which he or she performs a notarial act.
The notary public shall sign his or her name exactly as his
or her name appears on his or her application for commis-
sion as a notary public.

(2) On each record that a notary public performs a
notarial act and immediately near the notary public’s
signature, as is practical, the notary public shall print,
type, stamp, or otherwise imprint mechanically or elec-
tronically sufficiently clear and legible to be read by the
secretary and in a manner capable of photographic repro-
duction all of the following in this format or in a similar
format that conveys all of the same information:

(a) The name of the notary public exactly as it appears
on his or her application for commission as a notary
public.

(b) The statement: “Notary public, State of Michigan,
County of ?

(c) The statement: “My commission expires .

(d) If performing a notarial act in a county other than
the county of commission, the statement: “Acting in the
County of .

(e) The date the notarial act was performed.

(f) If applicable, whether the notarial act was per-
formed using an electronic notarization system under
section 26a or performed using a remote electronic nota-
rization platform under section 26b.

(3) A notary public may use a stamp, seal, or electronic
process that contains all of the information required under
subsection (2). However, the notary public shall not use
the stamp, seal, or electronic process in a manner that
renders anything illegible on the record being notarized. A
notary public shall not use an embosser alone or use any
other method that cannot be reproduced.

the notary’s services” and, in lieu thereof, authorizing a two-way
real-time audiovisual process for the performance of a notarial act.
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(4) The illegibility of the statements required under
subsection (2) does not affect the validity of the transac-
tion or record that was notarized.

In Berry, 316 Mich App at 40, the plaintiff, a regis-
tered voter, filed a complaint seeking a writ of manda-
mus to compel the defendants, the Plymouth Township
Clerk, Plymouth Township Election Commission (the
Plymouth Township defendants) and the Wayne County
Election Commission (the Wayne County defendants),
not to place the names of two candidates, the interven-
ing defendants, on the ballot for the August 2, 2016
primary election. It was undisputed that the affidavits
filed by the intervening defendants did not provide a
precinct number as required by MCL 168.558(2). Id. We
concluded that because the intervening defendants
failed to comply with MCL 168.558(2), the Wayne
County defendants had a clear legal duty not to certify
their names under MCL 168.558(4). Id. at 44. We also
concluded that completing a facial review of the affida-
vits was a ministerial task because they were facially
defective. Id. at 45. We further concluded that the
plaintiff lacked an adequate legal or equitable remedy
that might achieve the same result as mandamus. Id.
Finally, we concluded that the plaintiff had “a clear legal
right to performance of the Wayne County defendants’
statutory duties.” Id. at 45, 51.

In Stumbo, 332 Mich App at 481, we recognized that
“[t]he failure to supply a facially proper affidavit of
identity (AOI), i.e., an affidavit that conforms to the
requirements of the Election Law, is a ground to
disqualify a candidate from inclusion on the ballot.” In
that case, the parties agreed that the defendant’s AOI
contained “a facially obvious defect” in that “[t]he date
that accompanies her signature differ[ed] from the
date of the notarization.” Id. at 486. We concluded,
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however, that the AOI was “strictly compliant with the
requirements of MCL 168.558.” Id. We explained:

There is no question that [the defendant] signed her
AOI. There is also no question that the notarization on the
AOI is facially compliant with MCL 55.285(1)(b), (4), and
(6)(c), which require a notary to witness and attest to a
signature made in the presence of the notary. A review of
the AOI shows that notary Brent W. Royal attests in that
notarization that [the defendant] signed her AOI before
him on April 21, 2020. Therefore, we conclude that [the
defendant] strictly complied with the attestation require-
ment implicit in MCL 168.558. [Id. at 488.]

We held “that as long as the AOI has been signed by the
candidate and notarized in a manner allowed under
MCL 55.285, the AOI strictly complies with the attes-
tation requirements implicit in MCL 168.558 and the
clerk has a legal duty to certify the affiant to the board
of election commissioners for placement on the ballot.”
Id. at 482-483.

In this case, plaintiff argues that Napoleon’s AOI is
facially defective because it does not include a notary
signature and date of notarization as required under
MCL 55.285. A review of the AOI shows that the notary
did not sign and date the AOI in the specific locations
designated for the notary signature and date. Rather,
the notary’s signature appears in the “for office use
only” section on the line indicating “received by.” The
date of “4/15/2020” appears on the line designated as
the “date of filing.” The AOI was also stamped by the
notary. The stamp included the date on which the
notary’s commission expires and the county in which
she was acting.

With regard to the signature, plaintiff does not
dispute that the signature on the “received by” line was
that of the notary. That is, there is no dispute that the
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notary actually signed the AOI. We agree with defen-
dants that there is no statutory requirement regarding
the location of the notary’s signature; therefore, the
notary’s signature in the “for office use only” section is
sufficient to satisfy the requirement of MCL 55.287(1).

Likewise, we conclude that the AOI states the date
that the notarial act was performed, and, therefore, is
facially compliant with MCL 55.287(2)(e). Again, the
line designated for the date of notarization was left
blank. However, in the “for office use only” section, the
date of “4/15/2020” was written on the line designated
for the “date of filing.” Napoleon signed the AOI on
April 15, 2020, the same date that the AOI was filed.
The notary named on the AOI is the deputy director of
the elections division in the Wayne County Clerk’s
Office. That being so, Napoleon either presented in-
person to the Wayne County Clerk’s Office? or complied
with the process described in Executive Order 2020-41
on April 15, 2020. Stated otherwise, the date of the
filing was the same date of the notarial act. Accord-
ingly, the date written on the “date of filing” line next
to the clerk/notary’s signature, “4/15/2020,” is the same
date that the clerk notarized the AOI. Because the date
that the notarial act was performed is reflected on the
AOQI, the AOI facially complied with MCL 55.287(2)(e).

To summarize, the AOI was facially compliant with
the requirements under MCL 55.287 because it con-
tained: (1) the notary’s signature; (2) the notary’s
name; (3) the county of the notary’s commission; (4) the
expiration date of the notary’s commission; (5) the
county the notary acted in; and (6) the date the
notarial act was performed. Although certain of these

3 Plaintiff's pleadings reflect that plaintiff arranged for an in-person
meeting by making an appointment with the Wayne County Clerk’s
Office.
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requirements were not completed in the box provided,
they were nonetheless on the form, rendering it facially
compliant. To conclude otherwise would elevate form
over substance. Because the AOI complied with the
requirements of MCL 168.558, we conclude that the
Wayne County defendants did not have a clear legal
duty to remove Napoleon’s name from the ballot, and
the circuit court correctly concluded that plaintiff was
not entitled to a writ of mandamus.

ITI. LACHES

Because plaintiff is not entitled to a writ of manda-
mus on the merits, we need not address the parties’
arguments regarding laches. However, even if we ac-
cepted plaintiff’s challenge to Napoleon’s AOI, we
would nevertheless affirm because the circuit court did
not err by determining that plaintiff's claim was
barred by the doctrine of laches.

As explained in Home-Owners Ins Co v Perkins, 328
Mich App 570, 589; 939 NW2d 705 (2019):

Estoppel by laches is the failure to do something which
should be done under the circumstances or the failure to
claim or enforce a right at a proper time. To successfully
assert laches as an affirmative defense, a defendant must
demonstrate prejudice occasioned by the delay. Typically,
[llaches is an equitable tool used to provide a remedy for
the inconvenience resulting from the plaintiff’s delay in
asserting a legal right that was practicable to assert. A
party guilty of laches is estopped from asserting a right it
could have and should have asserted earlier. [Quotation
marks and citations omitted; alteration in original.]

“This doctrine applies to cases in which there is an
unexcused or unexplained delay in commencing an
action and a corresponding change of material condi-
tion that results in prejudice to a party.” Wayne Co v
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Wayne Co Retirement Comm, 267 Mich App 230, 252;
704 NW2d 117 (2005) (quotation marks and citation
omitted). The doctrine of laches applies in actions in
which equitable relief is sought. MCL 600.5815. More-
over, in election cases, MCL 691.1031 creates a rebut-
table presumption of laches:

In all civil actions brought in any circuit court of this
state affecting elections, dates of elections, candidates,
qualifications of candidates, ballots or questions on bal-
lots, there shall be a rebuttable presumption of laches if
the action is commenced less than 28 days prior to the
date of the election affected. This section shall not apply to
actions brought after the date of the affected election.

Plaintiff filed this action on June 29, 2020, more
than 28 days before the date of the August 4, 2020
primary election. Therefore, a rebuttable presumption
of laches does not apply in this case. But contrary to
plaintiff’s assertion, this does not mean that laches
does not apply as a matter of law. Although there is no
rebuttable presumption of laches in this case, the
doctrine may still apply.

In this case, Napoleon’s AOI was filed on April 15,
2020. Plaintiff filed objections to the AOI with the
Clerk on April 24, 2020, and with the Board on June 5,
2020, but no action was taken by the Wayne County
defendants. Plaintiff then waited another 24 days
before bringing suit in the circuit court. Plaintiff al-
leged that, during this time, he considered his options
and hired counsel, who investigated his claim, con-
ducted research, and drafted and filed his pleadings.
By this time, the printing of the ballots was completed
and the ballots had been delivered to the local clerks.

The circuit court did not err by finding unexcused or
unexplained delay, particularly in light of plaintiff’s
prior experience with elections. At the hearing on
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plaintiff’s motion, the circuit court questioned the
assertion made by plaintiff’s attorney that it took time
to research the issue, asking “what amount o[f] re-
search needed to be done in this particular matter
other than what the notary statute requires?” Al-
though the circuit court did not make any specific
findings regarding the reason for plaintiff’s delay, it is
apparent that the court did not find plaintiff's argu-
ment persuasive. We agree that the explanation for the
delay provided by plaintiff’s attorney was not particu-
larly compelling given the single issue in dispute and
its nature as an election matter. In addition, defen-
dants sufficiently established a corresponding change
in position that had resulted in prejudice in light of the
printing and delivery of ballots to local clerks. There-
fore, the circuit court did not err by ruling that the
doctrine of laches applied to bar plaintiff’'s “11th hour”
challenge.*

Affirmed. No costs, a significant question of public
interest being involved.

LETICA, PJ., and K. F. KELLY and REDFORD, JdJ.,
concurred.

4 We reject the Wayne County defendants’ argument that this appeal
is moot, as we believe that this issue is “publicly significant, likely to
recur, and yet likely to evade judicial review.” Barrow v Detroit Election
Comm, 305 Mich App 649, 659-660; 854 NW2d 489 (2014) (quotation
marks omitted) (reviewing a similar issue under this doctrine more than
six months after the winning candidates took office).
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BAYBERRY GROUP, INC v CRYSTAL BEACH CONDOMINIUM
ASSOCIATION

Docket No. 349378. Submitted October 7, 2020, at Grand Rapids.
Decided October 22, 2020, at 9:25 a.m.

Bayberry Group, Inc., a real estate developer and successor to the
developer of The Homestead, filed an action in the Leelanau
Circuit Court against Crystal Beach Condominium Association
and three other condominium associations, seeking damages for
maintenance costs and a court order requiring that defendants to
pay a proportionate share of ongoing costs to maintain the South
Homestead Road easement. Defendants were condominium proj-
ects located at The Homestead, a recreational resort located near
Lake Michigan. South Homestead Road connected defendants’
properties and other properties in The Homestead to M-22. In
2013, plaintiff sought an agreement with the other condominium
associations to share the costs of maintaining roadways and other
areas within The Homestead. The resulting “Common Area
Maintenance” agreement was signed by a majority of the condo-
minium associations that were serviced by South Homestead
Road and provided for the maintenance of all of the roadway
areas within The Homestead, including lawns and other land-
scaping. Defendants did not sign the agreement. Plaintiff filed
suit alleging that the South Homestead Road easement was a
general common element of each condominium project and that
defendants were responsible for its maintenance and upkeep
under their master deeds and bylaws. Plaintiff asked for damages
for the maintenance costs from 2011 through 2017, less the
amount incurred by the other associations. Following a bench
trial, the trial court, Kevin A. Elsenheimer, J., found that the
South Homestead Road easement was not a common element of
defendants’ master deeds and condominium documents and
therefore that defendants had no contractual obligation to pay for
costs associated with the easement. The court also concluded that
even if defendants had such a contractual obligation, plaintiff’s
claim for damages for previous maintenance costs would have
been waived and barred by the doctrine of laches. Nevertheless,
the court concluded that plaintiff was entitled under the common
law to future expenses for the maintenance of the South Home-
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stead Road easement that were necessary for safe ingress and
egress. The trial court created a formula to calculate each parties’
cost for maintaining the easement, according to their approxi-
mate use. Plaintiff appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Plaintiff argued that defendants and the other co-owners
were responsible for the maintenance, repair, upkeep, decoration,
and replacement of the South Homestead Road easement under
their master deeds and other condominium documents. MCL
559.135 of the Condominium Act, MCL 559.101 et seq., addresses
easements and provides that when easements are necessary
under the act, they are to be created in the condominium
documents or other appropriate instruments and must describe
the permitted use, the relevant restrictions on the use of the
easement, and the rights and financial obligations of those
entitled to use the easement. In this case, exhibit B of each of
defendants’ master deeds provided that access is provided to the
condominium project via a 66-foot wide easement for ingress and
egress, and there is no dispute that this referred to the South
Homestead Road easement. Article 10 of the master deeds also
referred to the South Homestead Road easement, but did not
provide that the easement is a common element of the condo-
minium project or set forth any maintenance, repair, decoration,
or replacement obligations. Plaintiff further argued that the
South Homestead Road easement was a common element under
Article 7(a)(7), which provided that “common elements” included
elements of the condominium project not categorized in the
master deed as common elements but that were intended for
common use or were necessary to the existence, upkeep, and
safety of the project. However, the examples of common elements
provided in Article 7(a)(7) included “stairways, laundry rooms
and storage areas.” A road is not in the same category as these
examples, so it reasonably followed that the South Homestead
Road easement is not included in the definition of common
elements in Article 7(a)(7). Article 7(a)(1) of the master deeds
specifically addressed roads that are “general common elements”
of the condominium projects, but it did not describe the South
Homestead Road easement either explicitly or by reference.
Therefore, the South Homestead Road easement did not fall
within the category of “general common elements” described in
Article 7(a)(1). Given that roads were specifically addressed in
Article 7(a)(1), it follows that the drafters would have included
the South Homestead Road easement in that provision if they had
intended for it to be a common element of the condominium
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project. The trial court did not clearly err when it concluded that
plaintiff did not establish that defendants had breached their
contracts, i.e., the master deeds and other condominium docu-
ments, by failing to pay for the maintenance, repair, decoration,
and upkeep of the South Homestead Road easement. Plaintiff
also failed to establish that the South Homestead Road easement
was a common element by operation of law.

2. The use of an easement must be strictly confined to the
purposes for which it was granted or reserved. Defendants were
granted a 66-foot wide easement for “ingress and egress.” An
“ingress-and-egress easement” is defined as an easement that
grants the right to use land to enter and leave another’s property;
thus, defendants had the right to enter and leave their properties
using the South Homestead Road easement. According to plain-
tiff, defendants were obligated under common law to pay not only
for costs related to the maintenance and repair of the paved
roadway, but for the cost of maintaining the full 66-foot wide
easement, including landscaping, lighting, and signage. It is well
settled that making repairs and improvements necessary to the
effective enjoyment of an easement is incidental to and part of the
easement. Therefore, defendants were only required to make
repairs to the easement that were necessary to their ability to
safely enter and leave their respective properties. By attempting
to impose obligations on defendants beyond maintenance of the
easement for ingress and egress, plaintiff essentially attempted
to unilaterally expand the scope of the easement, which was not
permissible.

3. When an easement is used jointly by both the dominant
and servient estate, the maintenance costs of the easement are to
be paid by the owners of the estates in proportion to each party’s
use. In this case, the trial court determined that maintenance
costs for the South Homestead Road easement should be paid by
plaintiff and defendants, and the court devised a formula based
on its findings regarding each party’s approximate use of the
easement. The court made findings as to the portion of the South
Homestead Road easement that defendants used, as well as
findings regarding the total number of users of the easement. In
formulating the number of users, the court took into account use
of the easement by plaintiff, defendants, and “other
guests/homeowners,” which the court attributed to plaintiff. Ac-
cording to the court, defendants had 84 total condominium units,
plaintiff had 127 rental units, and the court attributed to plaintiff
100 “other assumed units” for other condominium associations
and homeowners. The trial court did not make specific findings of
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fact concerning why it assigned 100 units to plaintiff, but instead
referred generally to testimony regarding the use of the easement
by plaintiff and its invitees and guests. Upon review of the record,
the court seemed to have improperly relied on speculation in
making this finding. Remand was therefore appropriate so that
the court could make specific findings of fact concerning the use of
the easement. Additionally, plaintiff argued that defendants were
obligated to pay for another easement, the National Lakeshore
Area, and that the trial court erred by failing to address this
issue. The evidence offered at trial did not support that defen-
dants had an easement to the National Lakeshore Area, so
plaintiffs did not show that defendants were financially obligated
to maintain it.

4. The trial court concluded that the doctrine of laches was
applicable to plaintiff’s breach-of-contract claim. Laches is an
affirmative defense based primarily on circumstances that render
it inequitable to grant relief to a dilatory plaintiff. But laches is
not triggered by the passage of time alone; rather, application of
the doctrine is justified by the prejudice to the defendant that
results from the delay. Defendants asserted laches as an affirma-
tive defense, arguing that plaintiff’s claims were barred because
plaintiff and its predecessors in interest had failed to request any
cost-sharing payments for more than 35 years following the
creation and recording of the condominium documents. Although
the trial court concluded that laches barred plaintiff’s claim based
on plaintiff's 30-plus year delay in bringing the litigation, the
court did not make findings of fact as to how defendants were
prejudiced by the delay. Because such a finding was necessary
before the court could conclude that laches applied, the trial court
erred by applying laches.

Decision affirmed in part, vacated in part, and case remanded
for further proceedings.

Varnum LLP (by Jon M. Bylsma) for Bayberry
Group, Inc.

Olson, Bzdok & Howard, PC (by Ross A. Hammersley)
for Crystal Beach Condominium Association and Gentle
Winds Condominium Association.

Alward Fisher Rice Rowe & Graf, PLC (by Nicole R.
Graf) for Tall Timber Condominium Association and
Great Lakes Condominium Association.
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Before: MURRAY, C.d., and CAVANAGH and CAMERON, JJ.

CAMERON, J. Plaintiff, Bayberry Group, Inc., a suc-
cessor to the developer of The Homestead, appeals a
May 24, 2019 opinion and order, which was entered
following a bench trial. We affirm in part, vacate in
part, and remand for further proceedings consistent
with this opinion.

I. BACKGROUND

This matter arises from a dispute involving the
interpretation of condominium documents and Michi-
gan common law as it relates to the obligations of
defendants, Crystal Beach Condominium Association,
Gentle Winds Condominium Association, Great Lakes
Condominium Association, and Tall Timber Condo-
minium Association, to pay for the maintenance, re-
pair, and upkeep of a roadway easement called the
South Homestead Road easement. South Homestead
Road connects defendants’ respective properties and
other properties in The Homestead to M-22. Portions of
South Homestead Road traverse Gentle Winds’ prop-
erty, Great Lakes’ property, and Tall Timber’s property.

The Homestead is a recreational resort located on
the shores of Lake Michigan. Defendants were four of
the five earliest condominium projects at The Home-
stead, and defendants’ master deeds were recorded in
the 1970s. Thereafter, the number of condominium
associations at The Homestead increased. In 2013,
Bayberry began engaging with representatives of the
various condominium associations. Bayberry sought
an agreement to share the costs of maintaining the
roadways and other areas within The Homestead. As a
result of these efforts, the Common Area Maintenance
Agreement (“CAM agreement”) was created. The CAM
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agreement provided for maintenance of all of the
“Roadway Areas” within The Homestead, which in-
cluded the South Homestead Road easement. “Road-
way Areas” included not only the paved or graveled
roadways, but also “lawns and the entirety of any
planting bed or any other landscaping lying wholly or
partially within the width of the roadway easement.” A
majority of the condominium associations serviced by
South Homestead Road executed the CAM agreement,
but defendants did not. The CAM agreement became
effective on January 1, 2015.

After defendants refused to pay a share of fees under
the CAM agreement, Bayberry filed suit against defen-
dants on July 13, 2017. In relevant part, Bayberry
alleged that the South Homestead Road easement is a
general common element of each condominium project
and that, under defendants’ master deeds and bylaws,
defendants were responsible for its maintenance, repair,
and upkeep. Bayberry requested that it be awarded
damages for maintenance costs from 2011 through 2017
and that the trial court order defendants to “pay an
amount equal to the total cost of maintenance, repair
and upkeep of the Easement less the usage costs in-
curred by all other associations and Co-owners....”
Defendants denied that the South Homestead Road
easement was listed as a common element in their
condominium documents. In their affirmative defenses,
defendants asserted that the doctrine of waiver and the
defense of laches barred Bayberry’s claims for damages
because Bayberry (and its predecessors in interest) had
failed to request any cost-sharing payments for more
than 35 years following the creation and recording of the
condominium documents.

Following a three-day bench trial, the trial court
found that “the ingress/egress Easement of South
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Homestead Road, from M-22 to the Condominium
Projects, is not a common element of” defendants’
master deeds and condominium documents. The trial
court held that because defendants had “no contractual
obligation” for the South Homestead Road easement’s
“maintenance, repair, decoration and replacement,”
Bayberry was “not entitled to any past damages.” The
trial court also concluded that even if defendants had
been contractually obligated under their condominium
documents to pay for costs associated with the ease-
ment, Bayberry’s claim for past damages would have
been waived and barred by the defense of laches. The
trial court held that Bayberry was entitled to “future
expenses” for the maintenance of the South Homestead
Road easement under common law. Specifically, the
trial court held as follows:

[Gloing forward, [d]efendants are obligated [under common
law] to contribute their proportionate share of the cost for
maintenance, repair and upkeep of the portion of South
Homestead Road necessary for their safe ingress and
egress, based on their use, and likewise, [Bayberry] is
obligated to contribute its proportionate share of the cost
for maintenance, repair and upkeep, based on use, for the
portion of South Homestead Road that crosses Defendants’
real property.

Defendants’ responsibility for repair, maintenance and
upkeep of the ingress/egress Easement shall be limited
to costs associated with salting and sanding, snow-
plowing, keeping the road clear of debris and
repair/replacement/repaving of the road and road drains.
Landscaping, mowing, irrigation, electrical/lighting and
signage [are] not essential to maintain safe ingress and
egress and thus, shall not be included costs associated with
“repair, maintenance and upkeep.”
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The trial court held that “the cost of future repair
and maintenance should be distributed among all
users in proportions that closely approximate the us-
age of the respective parties.” The trial court created a
formula in an attempt to accomplish this. This appeal
followed.

II. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

“This Court reviews a trial court’s findings of fact in
a bench trial for clear error and its conclusions of law
de novo. A finding is clearly erroneous where, after
reviewing the entire record, this Court is left with a
definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been
made.” Alan Custom Homes, Inc v Krol, 256 Mich App
505, 512; 667 NW2d 379 (2003) (citations omitted).
“The construction and interpretation of an unambigu-
ous contract is a question of law that we review de
novo.” See Rossow v Brentwood Farms Dev, Inc, 251
Mich App 652, 658; 651 NW2d 458 (2002). “The extent
of a party’s rights under an easement is a question of
fact, and a trial court’s determination of those facts is
reviewed for clear error. A trial court’s dispositional
ruling on equitable matters, however, is subject to
review de novo.” Blackhawk Dev Corp v Village of
Dexter, 473 Mich 33, 40; 700 NW2d 364 (2005).

III. ANALYSIS

A. BREACH OF CONTRACT

Bayberry first argues that the trial court erred by
holding that the “roadway easement was not a common
element” of each condominium project. According to
Bayberry, because the master deeds and bylaws pro-
vide that South Homestead Road is a common element,
defendants (along with the other co-owners) were
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solely responsible for the road’s maintenance, repair,
upkeep, decoration, and replacement. We disagree.

“A party asserting a breach of contract must establish
by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) there was a
contract (2) which the other party breached (3) thereby
resulting in damages to the party claiming breach.”
Miller-Davis Co v Ahrens Constr, Inc, 495 Mich 161, 178;
848 NW2d 95 (2014). In this case, defendants’ master
deeds and the relevant accompanying condominium
documents constitute the contracts. In interpreting
these documents, this Court applies the rules governing
construction of a contract. See Rossow, 251 Mich App at
658-659.

The goal of contract interpretation “is to determine
and enforce the parties’ intent on the basis of the plain
language of the contract itself.” AFSCME v Detroit,
267 Mich App 255, 261-262; 704 NW2d 712 (2005). The
words of a contract “are interpreted according to their
plain and ordinary meaning,” and this Court “gives
effect to every word, phrase, and clause” while avoiding
“interpretations that would render any part of the
document surplusage or nugatory.” Tuscany Grove
Ass’n v Peraino, 311 Mich App 389, 393; 875 NW2d 234
(2015). If a contract incorporates another document by
reference, the two writings should be read together.
Forge v Smith, 458 Mich 198, 207 & n 21; 580 NW2d
876 (1998). Ultimately, this Court enforces clear and
unambiguous language as written. Tuscany Grove
Ass’n, 311 Mich App at 393.

A “master deed” is “the condominium document
recording the condominium project to which are at-
tached as exhibits and incorporated by reference the
bylaws for the project and the condominium subdivi-
sion plan for the project.” MCL 559.108. A “condo-
minium project,” which is defined as “a plan or project



394 334 MICH APP 385 [Oct

consisting of not less than 2 condominium units estab-
lished in conformance with [the Condominium Act],”
MCL 559.104(1), is established upon the recording of a
master deed, MCL 559.172(1). Importantly, the master
deed must include an accurate legal description of the
land involved in the project. MCL 559.108(a). The
Condominium Act, MCL 559.101 et seq., specifically
addresses easements in MCL 559.135, which states the
following:

Where fulfillment of the purposes of sections 31, 32, 33
or any other sections of this act reasonably requires the
creation of easements, then the easements shall be cre-
ated in the condominium documents or in other appropri-
ate instruments and shall be reasonably described in the
condominium documents. The easements shall contain the
following:

(a) A description of the permitted use.

(b) If less than all co-owners are entitled to utilize the
easement, a statement of the relevant restrictions on the
utilization of the easement.

(c) If any persons other than those entitled to the use of
the condominium units may utilize an easement, a state-
ment of the rights of others to utilization of the same and
a statement of the obligations, if any, of all persons
required to contribute to the financial support of the
easement.

In this case, all of defendants’ master deeds were
recorded in the 1970s. As required by MCL 559.108(a),
Article 3 of each master deed identifies and includes a
legal description of the land involved in the condo-
minium project. Incorporated into each master deed by
reference, and attached thereto as Exhibit B, is a series
of drawings and survey maps known as the “Condo-
minium Subdivision Plan,” which depicted the pro-
posed project. The plan shows the dimensions and
locations of the condominium units and everything else
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within the boundaries of the condominium project,
including utility easements and common elements.
Exhibit B of each master deed provides that “[a]ccess is
provided by a 66 ft. wide easement for ingress and
egress.” There is no dispute that this easement is the
South Homestead Road easement.

The South Homestead Road easement is referred to
again in Article 10 of each master deed. Article 10 of
each master deed, entitled “Easements for Benefit of
the Condominium,” provides, in relevant part:

In addition to the easement for ingress and egress to
the Condominium from M-22, and the utility easements,
all as are described in the Condominium Subdivision Plan
which are granted for the benefit of the Condominium, the
Co-owners, their heirs, successors and assigns by the
incorporation by reference of the Condominium Subdivi-
sion Plan into this Master Deed, the following easements
are granted:

(a) Each Co-owner shall have the right, privilege and
power in common with the other Co-owners to use and
enjoy the Common Elements in accordance with this
Master Deed.

Thus, although Article 10 refers to the South Home-
stead Road easement, Article 10 does not indicate that
the easement is a common element of the condominium
project, and it does not include any reference to main-
tenance, repair, decoration, and/or replacement obliga-
tions. Article 10 then goes on to refer to additional
easements and provides that “[elach Co-owner shall
have the right, privilege and power in common with
the other Co-owners to use and enjoy the Common
Elements in accordance with this Master Deed.” Ar-
ticle 4(k) of defendants’ master deeds defines common
elements, “where used without modification, [to] mean
both the general and limited common elements de-
scribed in Article 7.”
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None of the subsections of Article 7 specifically refers
to the South Homestead Road easement for ingress and
egress. Nonetheless, Bayberry argues that the South
Homestead Road easement can be considered a common
element under Article 7(a)(7). Article 7(a)(7) provides
the following concerning common elements:

Such other elements of the project not here designated
as general or limited common elements which are not
enclosed within the boundaries of an apartment, and which
are intended for common use, or are necessary to the
existence, upkeep and safety of the project, including but
not limited to stairways, laundry rooms and storage areas.

Thus, under Article 7(a)(7), “common elements” in-
clude “other elements of the project . . . which are not
enclosed within the boundaries of an apartment” and
are either “intended for common use, or are necessary
to the existence, upkeep and safety of the project . ...”

Bayberry argues that the South Homestead Road
easement is necessary “to the existence, upkeep and
safety of the project” because without the easement,
defendants would not have access to their respective
properties. To determine the meaning of a word or
phrase, we must consider the context or setting in which
the term appears. Bloomfield Estates Improvement
Ass’n, Inc v Birmingham, 479 Mich 206, 215; 737 NW2d
670 (2007). Contracts must be read “as a whole, giving
harmonious effect, if possible, to each word and phrase.”
Wilkie v Auto-Owners Ins Co, 469 Mich 41, 50 n 11; 664
NW2d 776 (2003). “[W]hen several words are associated
in a context suggesting that the words have something
in common, they should be assigned a permissible
meaning that makes them similar.” Atlantic Casualty
Ins Co v Gustafson, 315 Mich App 533, 541; 891 NW2d
499 (2016) (quotation marks and citation omitted). Spe-
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cifically, “words grouped in a list should be given related
meanings.” Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted).

In this case, Article 7(a)(7) provides examples of
“common elements” that are intended to be included in
the provision. The examples include “stairways, laun-
dry rooms and storage areas.” Roads are not included
in the list, but the provision’s use of the phrase
“including but not limited to” establishes that the list
is not exhaustive. Nonetheless, we conclude that a road
is not in the same category as the examples provided in
Article 7(a)(7). The South Homestead Road easement
undoubtedly exists so that an individual can travel
(often by a motor vehicle) on a paved surface within
and outside of the condominium project. In contrast,
“stairways, laundry rooms and storage areas” are lo-
cated within the four walls of a building within the
condominium project. Therefore, we conclude that the
plain language establishes that the South Homestead
Road easement is not included in the definition of
common element provided in Article 7(a)(7).

Importantly, Article 7(a)(1) addresses roads. Specifi-
cally, Article 7(a)(1) includes “[t]he land described in
Article 3,” such as “driveways, roads, sidewalks and
parking spaces,” as “general common elements” of each
respective condominium project. The South Home-
stead Road easement is not described in Article 3 of the
master deeds of Gentle Winds, Great Lakes or Tall
Timber. Article 3 of Crystal Beach’s master deed states
that the property is “[s]ubject to and together with an
easement for ingress and egress over an existing road
which runs Northeasterly to a 66 ft. road and easement
which connects with State Highway M-22.” Thus, al-
though the Crystal Beach master deed refers to the
South Homestead Road easement, it does so only to
describe a different easement for ingress and egress,
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which “runs Northeasterly” to the South Homestead
Road easement. Nancy Keepelman, who owns a unit at
Crystal Beach, testified that the road described in
Article 3 of Crystal Beach’s master deed is River Edge
Road. According to Keepelman, River Edge Road is the
“segment between Homestead Road ... and [Crystal
Beach’s] parking lot.”

Consequently, because the South Homestead Road
easement is not described in Article 3 of any of defen-
dants’ master deeds, the easement does not fall within
the category of “general common elements” outlined in
Article 7(a)(1). Given that roads are specifically ad-
dressed in Article 7(a)(1), it reasonably follows that the
drafters would have included the South Homestead
Road easement in Article 7(a)(1) if they had intended
for the South Homestead Road easement to be a
common element of the condominium project. There-
fore, we conclude that the trial court did not clearly err
by concluding that Bayberry failed to establish that
defendants had breached their respective contracts by
failing to pay for the maintenance, repair, decoration,
and upkeep of the South Homestead Road easement.
Given that the language of the contracts is unambigu-
ous, we decline Bayberry’s invitation to consider the
conduct of the parties following the recording of the
master deeds.

Bayberry next argues that the roadway easement is
a common element by operation of law. Specifically,
Bayberry argues that condominium associations can
only hold property as a general common element or a
limited common element and that there are no other
types of ownership within a condominium project. To
support this argument, Bayberry cites Paris Meadows,
LLC v City of Kentwood, 287 Mich App 136, 146; 783
NW2d 133 (2010). However, Paris Meadows involved
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taxation issues, which are not at issue in this appeal.
Furthermore, Bayberry’s argument ignores the fact
that the South Homestead Road easement is not listed
as a common element in the master deeds and the
other relevant condominium documents. Conse-
quently, the trial court did not err by concluding that
the easement is not a common element of defendants’
condominium projects by operation of law.

B. COMMON-LAW OBLIGATION TO SHARE MAINTENANCE AND
COSTS OF EASEMENT

1. SCOPE OF EASEMENT

Bayberry argues that even if the trial court properly
determined that defendants were obligated under com-
mon law to pay for a portion of the South Homestead
Road easement’s repair, maintenance, and upkeep, the
trial court erred by limiting each defendant’s “obliga-
tion to costs related to only the actual paved roadway
and not the full 66-foot wide easement.” We disagree.

“An easement is the right to use the land of another
for a specified purpose,” Schadewald v Brulé, 225 Mich
App 26, 35; 570 NW2d 788 (1997), and an easement
may be created “by express grant, by reservation or
exception, or by covenant or agreement,” Rossow, 251
Mich App at 661 (quotation marks and citation omit-
ted). The “use of an easement must be confined strictly
to the purposes for which it was granted or reserved,”
Blackhawk Dev Corp, 473 Mich at 41 (quotation marks
and citation omitted), and “[tlhe owner of the fee
subject to an easement may rightfully use the land for
any purpose not inconsistent with the easement own-
er’s rights,” Morrow v Boldt, 203 Mich App 324, 329;
512 NW2d 83 (1994). The language of the instrument
that granted the easement determines the scope of the
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easement holder’s rights. Blackhawk Dev Corp, 473
Mich at 42. “Once granted, an easement cannot be
modified by either party unilaterally.” Schadewald,
225 Mich App at 36. When determining an easement’s
purpose,

[tThe language of an express easement is interpreted
according to rules similar to those used for the interpreta-
tion of contracts. Accordingly, in ascertaining the scope and
extent of an easement, it is necessary to determine the true
intent of the parties at the time the easement was created.
Courts should begin by examining the plain language of the
easement, itself. If the language of the easement is clear, it
is to be enforced as written and no further inquiry is
permitted. [Wiggins v City of Burton, 291 Mich App 532,
551; 805 NW2d 517 (2011) (citations omitted).]

In this case, defendants were granted a 66-foot-wide
easement for “ingress and egress.” The relevant docu-
ments do not define ingress and egress, so this Court
must consult a dictionary to determine what these
terms commonly mean. Griffith v State Farm Mut Auto
Ins Co, 472 Mich 521, 526; 697 NW2d 895 (2005).
“Ingress” is defined as “the power or liberty of entrance
or access,” and “egress” is defined as “the action or right
of going or coming out.” Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate
Dictionary (11th ed). An “ingress-and-egress easement”
is an easement that grants “[t]he right to use land to
enter and leave another’s property.” Black’s Law Dic-
tionary (10th ed). Thus, defendants were granted the
right to enter and leave their respective properties.
Because the language of the easement is clear, it must
be “enforced as written and no further inquiry is per-
mitted.” See Wiggins, 291 Mich App at 551 (quotation
marks and citation omitted).

With respect to the repairs and improvements that
defendants were required to make, it is well settled
that “[tlhe making of repairs and improvements nec-
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essary to the effective enjoyment of an easement . . . is
incidental to and part of the easement.” Mumrow v
Riddle, 67 Mich App 693, 700; 242 NW2d 489 (1976).
Therefore, defendants are only required to make re-
pairs and improvements to the easement that are
incidental to and part of their ability to safely enter
and leave their respective properties. See id.

Bayberry does not dispute the trial court’s conclusion
that defendants are required to pay for “salting and
sanding, snowplowing, keeping the road clear of debris
and repair/replacement/repaving of the road and road
drains.” Rather, Bayberry argues on appeal that the
trial court erred by limiting defendants’ duties to the
paved portion of South Homestead Road. According to
Bayberry, defendants have an obligation to maintain
the entire 66-foot-wide easement, including not only the
paved portion of the easement used for ingress and
egress, but also the portion outside the paved area that
includes “grass, irrigation, flowerbeds, bushes, trees,
lighting, street signs, traffic signs and curbs.” However,
we fail to see how maintaining grass, irrigation systems,
flowerbeds, bushes, and trees would assist defendants
with safely entering and leaving their respective prop-
erties. Furthermore, testimony at trial supported that
the expenses that Bayberry was trying to recover for the
area outside of the paved roadway were not necessary
for safe ingress and egress. The trial court clearly found
this testimony to be credible. By attempting to impose
obligations on defendants beyond the maintenance of
the easement for ingress and egress, Bayberry is essen-
tially unilaterally attempting to expand the scope of the
express easement. Because this is impermissible, we
conclude that Bayberry’s argument lacks merit. See
Schadewald, 225 Mich App at 36.
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2. ALLOCATION OF COSTS

Next, Bayberry argues that the trial court clearly
erred or made an error of law in fashioning the formula
for calculating maintenance costs in proportion to
Bayberry’s use and defendants’ use of the South Home-
stead Road easement and Bayberry’s easements over
defendants’ properties. According to Bayberry, the for-
mula used by the trial court to allocate costs is based
on speculation and does not allocate cost by use. We
agree.

“[I]t is the owner of an easement, rather than the
owner of the servient estate, who has the duty to
maintain the easement in a safe condition so as to
prevent injuries to third parties.” Morrow, 203 Mich
App at 329-330. However, “[t]he maintenance costs of
an easement used jointly by both the dominant and
servient owners are to be paid in proportion to each
party’s use.” Bowen v Buck & Fur Hunting Club, 217
Mich App 191, 194; 550 NW2d 850 (1996).

In relevant part, the trial court ruled that

because South Homestead Road is used in common by
both [Bayberryl], its guests and invitees, and the Defen-
dants, the cost of future repair and maintenance should be
distributed among all users in proportions that closely
approximate the usage of the respective parties. This
applies to both the ingress/egress Easement from M-22 to
the Defendants’ properties and the Developer-retained
easement across the Defendants’ properties.

The trial court found that Crystal Beach has 16
units, that Gentle Winds has 14 units, that Great
Lakes has 30 units, and that Tall Timbers has 24 units.
The trial court then found as follows:

The total length of South Homestead Road is 4,819 feet.
This length has been broken down into eight segments, A1
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through A8. The portion of the ingress/egress Easement
from M-22 to Defendants’ property, segments Al through
Ab, is approximately 3,840 feet. Segment A6 is 368 feet
and owned by Defendant Gentle Winds. Segment A7 is 392
feet and owned by Defendant Great Lakes. Segment A8 is
219 feet and owned by Defendant Tall Timber. Thus,
[Bayberry’s] 979 foot easement over Defendants’ property
consists of segments A6 through A8.

The trial court found that defendants have an ease-
ment over segments Al through A5 and further found
as follows:

The total repair, maintenance and upkeep costs . . . for
segments Al through A5, divided by 3,840 feet determines
the repair/maintenance/upkeep cost per foot.

Beach Club Membership, or “Units” that utilize the
entire length of South Homestead Road, has been approxi-
mated at 331 units. Therefore, in order to ascertain each
Defendants’ proportional amount, the formula shall be as
follows: the Units per association divided by 331 “Beach
Club” Units, multiplied by the repair/maintenance/upkeep
cost per foot, multiplied by 3,840 feet. Similarly, the
formula to ascertain [Bayberry’s] proportional amount to
Defendants’ [sic] is 247 divided by 331 “Beach Club” Units,
multiplied by the repair/maintenance/upkeep cost per
foot, multiplied by 368 feet (for Gentle Winds) or 392 feet
(for Great Lakes) or 219 feet (for Tall Timber).

On appeal, Bayberry argues that the trial court’s
allocation of costs is not founded in law because the
trial court failed to account for the other users of the
South Homestead Road easement. However, it is clear
that the trial court accounted for other users when
calculating the proportional use of the easement. Spe-
cifically, the trial court noted that, along with defen-
dants, “South Homestead Road is also used by other
condominium associations, home owners, visitors to
and employees and vendors of The Homestead resort.”
The trial court found that “Beach Club Membership, or



404 334 MICH APP 385 [Oct

‘Units’ that utilize the entire length of South Home-
stead Road, has been approximated at 331 units.” In a
footnote, the trial court clarified as follows:

This “Unit” number consists of Defendants’ 84 units,
plus [Bayberry’s] 127 rentals, plus 100 assumed units for
other condominium associations/homeowners. At trial,
there was testimony as to the various use of Defendants’
easement by [Bayberry] and [Bayberry’s] invitees and
guests, including construction vehicles, the resort shuttle,
BATA [Bay Area Transportation Authority], food delivery
and wedding vendors, American Waste trucks and laundry
services for the Homestead. Given this testimony, the
Court believes that 100 additional units is a fair approxi-
mation, if not an underestimation, of actual use by [Bay-
berry]. [Emphasis added.]

Thus, when fashioning a formula for allocation of
use, the trial court took into account Bayberry’s use of
the easement, defendants’ use of the easement, and
“other guests/homeowners[]” use of the easement. The
trial court then attributed the nonparties’ use of the
easement to Bayberry.

On appeal, Bayberry argues that the trial court’s
“assumption of 100 other guests/homeowners is a
guess not based in fact or testimony.” According to
Bayberry, “[t]here are over 350 other property owners
besides [Bayberry’s] guests and the Defendant Associa-
tions.” According to Bayberry, this is supported by facts
in evidence.

Testimony at trial supported that the CAM agree-

ment divided South Homestead Road into segments.
A1l through A5 totaled 3,840 feet, A6 totaled 368 feet,

! The parties note that the “331 units” referred to by the trial court
appear to be the result of a mathematical error in adding Bayberry’s 127
units, 100 “assumed” units for the other condominium associations, and
defendants’ 84 units; the sum of 127, 100, and 84 is 311.
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AT totaled 392 feet, and A8 totaled 219 feet. A1 through
A5 is the segment of South Homestead Road from M-22
through another condominium association, Sundance.?
A6 traverses Gentle Winds’ property, A7 traverses
Great Lakes’ property, and A8 traverses Tall Timber’s
property. It was undisputed at trial that Crystal Beach
has 16 units, that Gentle Winds has 14 units, that
Great Lakes has 30 units, and that Tall Timbers has 24
units.

Adriene Kokowicz, an employee of The Homestead
who handled accommodations and other matters, tes-
tified that there are 127 “hotel units” at The Home-
stead. Additionally, there was testimony at trial con-
cerning the number of condominiums and “single
units” within The Homestead and how many of those
units were available to be rented, either through The
Homestead’s rental program or through third parties,
such as Airbnb. James Musial, an owner in Gentle
Winds and the treasurer of the Gentle Winds Condo-
minium Association’s board, testified that there were a
total of 599 “units” that could potentially use South
Homestead Road from M-22 to the Beach Club. This
number included defendants’ 84 units, and Musial
agreed that the remaining 515 units were not all
owned by The Homestead. The parties all presented
evidence concerning the amount of traffic on the South
Homestead Road easement, and extensive testimony
was presented concerning how much of that traffic
could be attributed to the Beach Club, which was
characterized as the “premier attraction” for The
Homestead. However, none of the parties presented
specific numbers concerning the amount of traffic that
traversed the easement. Indeed, Robert Kuras, the

2 Sundance is a condominium association that is located between
Crystal Beach and Gentle Winds.
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manager and operator of The Homestead, acknowl-
edged that he had never hired someone to conduct a
“digital count of traffic” and had never hired a “traffic
engineer” to perform a “traffic count within the resort.”

When allocating use, the trial court found that 331
units used the entire length of South Homestead
Road. This number consisted of defendants’ 84 units,
Bayberry’s 127 “rentals,” and “100 assumed units for
other condominium associations/homeowners.” The
trial court did not make specific findings of fact
concerning why it assigned “100 assumed units” to
Bayberry. Rather, the trial court generally referred to
testimony concerning the use of defendants’ easement
by Bayberry and Bayberry’s “invitees and guests.”
The trial court provided examples of vehicles that
traversed the easement, and the trial court’s ex-
amples were supported by the testimony of several
witnesses at trial. On this basis, the trial court stated
that it “believe[d] that 100 additional units [was] a
fair approximation, if not an underestimation, of
actual use by [Bayberry].” Upon review of the record,
however, it appears that the trial court relied on
speculation when making this finding.

Specifically, Musial testified that he had created an
alternative way of allocating the costs of maintaining
the South Homestead Road easement. In explaining his
calculations, Musial testified that he had assigned 331
units to Beach Club members, which included an allo-
cation of 153 units “for the hotels and buildings owned
by the Homestead.” When asked why he did so, Musial
testified that testimony at trial established that Beach
Club members, “hotel units,” people who “rent[ed]
through the Homestead|,] and people who rent[ed] their
units through the Homestead” all had access to the
Beach Club. The following line of questioning then
occurred:
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[Counsel for Gentle Winds]: You made this additional
calculation based on what you heard at trial about the
importance of the beach club and whose [sic] limited to
actually access the beach club and that sort of thing, is
that correct?

[Mr. Musial]: Right. With the exception that, you know,
through the testimony I did [not] know how many Home-
stead or how many properties were rented through the
Homestead, I knew how many hotels because we dis-
cussed that. But, afterwards I went—I went to the resort
realties web page, the Homestead’s web page, and tallied
up that there were 127 rentals currently listed. What’s not
included in this note is there are 104 hotel units. And, then
I made an assumption that there are 100 other beach club
members because [Bayberry’s] witnesses were asked how
many there were, and, you know, wasn’t [sic] aware
because he said that he’s not part of the membership
committee for that, so I made an assumption of 100."! So,
I came up with 331 beach club members . . ..

During cross-examination, Musial again agreed that
his assessment that there were 100 “other beach club
members” was an “assumption.” Musial noted that
“the president of the group couldn’t tell me what that
number was” during his testimony so Musial “ust
assumed it based on what [he] thought might be
reasonable, a reasonable estimate, of how many people
might be down there.” When asked if Musial was able
to indicate whether the actual number of other beach
club members was “higher or lower,” he responded “I
really couldn’t.”

Because it appears that the trial court inappropri-
ately relied on speculation instead of evidence in de-
termining the allocation of use of the easement, we
must vacate that portion of the opinion and order and

3 Although Musial referenced Bayberry’s “witnesses,” it appears that
he was only referring to Kuras.
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remand the matter to the trial court. On remand, the
trial court must make specific findings of fact concern-
ing the use of the easement and must comply with
Bowen.

Bayberry also argues that the trial court erred by
failing to address “the [e]asement that is the National
Lakeshore Area.” According to Bayberry, “Bowen like-
wise requires payment” for maintenance, upkeep, and
repair in that area. Bayberry notes that “[t]he National
Lakeshore Area is th[e] area from M-22 almost to the
Welcome Center but outside the Roadway Easement
that is maintained by The Homestead. It is essentially
a large grass lawn with some trees, two flower beds, a
water feature, signs, and three flagpoles.”

In its discussion of the history of The Homestead,
the trial court noted that a portion of the property in
the immediate vicinity of the entrance to The Home-
stead from M-22 to South Homestead Road was the
subject of litigation in federal court. Specifically, the
United States acquired 32.4 acres of land from The
Homestead by utilizing its power of eminent domain
through a declaration of taking. The trial court sum-
marized the litigation as follows:

In 1978, a Judgment of Declaration of Taking and
Order for Possession was issued, which permitted the
United States of America to take, by eminent domain, a
portion of the Developer’s real property which included
Homestead Road. On February 16, 1984, an Amended
Judgment on Declaration of Taking and Order for Posses-
sion was executed. This Amended Judgment provided a
perpetual access easement for ingress and easement to
The Homestead property and a perpetual easement for a
Maintenance Area “to facilitate the visibility of the inter-
section of Homestead Road and State Highway M-22.” The
Maintenance Area easement (also referred to as the “Na-
tional Lakeshore Easement”) gave the Developer the
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rights and responsibilities for clearing, grading, seeding,
planting, installing signage, installing lighting, sprin-
kling, and improving, replacing, repairing and maintain-
ing the easement property. Moreover, while the Amended
Judgment gave the Developer the exclusive right and
responsibility to maintain the easements, it indicated that
apportioning the cost of such maintenance to the benefi-
ciaries of the easements was permissible.

At trial, it was acknowledged that defendants’ condo-
minium projects were established long before the fed-
eral court judgment was entered. Importantly, Kuras
testified that he held “[s]everal” easements to the Na-
tional Lakeshore Area. Kuras acknowledged that he
had “allowed everyone who owns property or is a guest
at The Homestead to use that easement to access thel]
property.” However, because Kuras was unaware of an
easement being granted to defendants, we fail to see
how Bowen would obligate defendants to pay for main-
tenance of the National Lakeshore Area. Indeed, Bowen
requires that “[tlhe maintenance costs of an easement
used jointly by both the dominant and servient owners
are to be paid in proportion to each party’s use.” Bowen,
217 Mich App at 194 (emphasis added). Because the
evidence establishes that only Kuras holds easements to
the National Lakeshore Area, we conclude that Bayber-
ry’s argument that defendants are obligated under
Bowen to pay for maintenance with respect to the
National Lakeshore Area is without merit.

3. DAMAGES AWARD

Finally, Bayberry argues that the trial court erred
by failing to award past damages based on its errone-
ous conclusion that the doctrine of waiver and defense
of laches applied. However, our review of the trial
court’s opinion and order supports that the trial court
only hypothetically applied the doctrine of waiver to
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Bayberry’s breach-of-contract claim and then con-
cluded that “the doctrine of laches is applicable in this
case based on the 30-plus year delay in bringing this
litigation.” Thereafter, the trial court concluded that
Bayberry was only entitled to “future expenses” for the
maintenance of the South Homestead Road easement.
Thus, the trial court applied the doctrine of laches to
Bayberry’s common-law claim.

“Laches is an affirmative defense based primarily on
circumstances that render it inequitable to grant relief
to a dilatory plaintiff.” Attorney General v PowerPick
Player’s Club of Mich, LLC, 287 Mich App 13, 51; 783
NW2d 515 (2010). The doctrine of laches arose from the
requirement that a complainant in equity must come
to the court with a clean conscience, in good faith, and
after acting with reasonable diligence. Knight v North-
pointe Bank, 300 Mich App 109, 114; 832 NW2d 439
(2013). “If a plaintiff has not exercised reasonable
diligence in vindicating his or her rights, a court sitting
in equity may withhold relief on the ground that the
plaintiff is chargeable with laches.” Id. Although tim-
ing is important, laches is not triggered by the passage
of time alone; rather, it is the prejudice occasioned by
the delay that justifies application of the doctrine to
bar a claim. Id. at 114-115. The defendant bears the
burden of proving that the plaintiff’s lack of diligence
prejudiced the defendant sufficiently to warrant appli-
cation of the doctrine of laches. See Yankee Springs
Twp v Fox, 264 Mich App 604, 612; 692 NW2d 728
(2004).

In their affirmative defenses, defendants asserted
that the doctrine of laches barred Bayberry’s claims
because Bayberry (and its predecessors in interest)
failed to request any cost-sharing payments for more
than 35 years following the creation and recording of
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the condominium documents. In its opinion and order,

the trial court concluded as follows:

The Court additionally finds that the doctrine of laches
is applicable in this case based on the 30-plus year delay
in bringing this litigation. The doctrine of laches is a tool
of equity that may remedy the general inconvenience
resulting from delay in the assertion of a legal right which
is practicable to assert. It is applicable in cases in which
there is an unexcused or unexplained delay in commenc-
ing an action and a corresponding change of material
condition that results in prejudice to a party. When laches
appears, the court merely leaves the parties where it finds
them because equity will not lend aid to those who are not
diligent in protecting their own rights. [Citations omitted.]

Thus, the trial court’s analysis, which is contained
in a footnote in its opinion and order, does not make
findings of fact as to how defendants were prejudiced
by “the 30-plus year delay in bringing th[e] litigation.”

We have explained:

The doctrine of laches is triggered by the plaintiff’s failure
to do something that should have been done under the
circumstances or failure to claim or enforce a right at the
proper time. . .. The defense, to be raised properly, must
be accompanied by a finding that the delay caused some
prejudice to the party asserting laches and that it would
be inequitable to ignore the prejudice so created. The
defendant bears the burden of proving this resultant
prejudice. [PowerPick Player’s Club, 287 Mich App at 51

(quotation marks and citations omitted).]

Because the trial court failed to make “a finding that
the delay caused some prejudice to [defendants] . . . and
that it would be inequitable to ignore the prejudice so
created” and because such a finding was necessary
before the trial court could conclude that the defense of
laches applied, the trial court erred by applying laches.
We therefore vacate the portion of the trial court’s
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opinion and order concerning its conclusion that the
defense of laches applies and remand to the trial court
so that it may make factual findings concerning preju-
dice.

Bayberry also argues that the trial court failed to
explain why “the remedy in this case is not effective as
of the date of the filing of this action.” Given that we
must vacate the trial court’s decision with respect to
allocations of costs and the defense of laches for the
reasons already discussed, the parties may address
this issue in the trial court on remand.

Affirmed in part, vacated in part, and remanded for
further proceedings consistent with this opinion. We do
not retain jurisdiction.

MURRAY, C.J., and CAVANAGH, dJ., concurred with
CAMERON, J.
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TT v KL

Docket No. 351531. Submitted October 13, 2020, at Detroit. Decided
October 29, 2020, at 9:00 a.m. Leave to appeal denied 508 Mich
952 (2021).

TT petitioned the St. Clair Circuit Court for an ex parte nondomestic
personal protection order (PPO) against respondent, KL, request-
ing that the court issue the PPO under MCL 600.2950a because
respondent had allegedly stalked her as defined in MCL 750.411h
and MCL 750.411i and had allegedly posted false statements about
her on social media in violation of MCL 750.411s. Respondent and
his former girlfriend were the parents of OLG; petitioner was the
child’s maternal great aunt. During a custody dispute with the
child’s mother, respondent posted information on the Internet
about the child’s mother and her family, asserting that they were
putting the child at risk by allowing her to be in the presence of, or
have contact with, LW, a convicted sex offender. After the child’s
mother obtained a PPO against him, respondent posted online
attacks on petitioner through social media, prompting petitioner to
also seek a PPO against respondent. Petitioner asserted that many
people had contacted her in response to respondent’s posts and
that she was worried that the posts would affect her employment
as a sign-language interpreter for school children. The court,
Cynthia A. Lane, J., granted an ex parte PPO, prohibiting, under
MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i, respondent from stalking peti-
tioner. The ex parte PPO also prohibited respondent from posting
comments about petitioner on social media. Respondent allegedly
violated the PPO over a span of a few months in 2019, resulting at
various times in respondent being arrested, jailed, arraigned on
the warrants, and then posting bond. In March 2019, respondent
moved to terminate the PPO, asserting that petitioner had made
false statements in her petition, that the information in his posts
was accurate, and that his actions were protected by the First
Amendment of the United States Constitution. The trial court held
an evidentiary hearing on the motion, which was adjourned during
respondent’s cross-examination of petitioner. The continuation of
the hearing was rescheduled many times because respondent’s
counsel was allowed to withdraw. In June 2019, respondent filed a
federal lawsuit against the trial court judge in her individual
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capacity, asserting that the nondomestic PPO statute violated the
First Amendment; respondent later amended that complaint to
add a due-process claim under the Fourteenth Amendment of the
United States Constitution. Thereafter, in September 2019, re-
spondent filed a notice of withdrawal of his motion to terminate the
PPO, purportedly reserving the right to refile the motion; the trial
court rejected defendant’s notice of withdrawal. Respondent filed
an objection to that decision and also moved for disclosure of
communications and/or to disqualify the trial court judge. Respon-
dent’s request for disclosure was based on the assumption that the
trial court judge had discussed the instant PPO litigation with her
trial counsel in the federal litigation. Respondent asserted that the
trial court had thus violated the Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon
3(A)(4), by having those assumed conversations and that the trial
court judge was required to recuse herself because of the conflict of
interest or bias given the federal action. According to respondent,
he requested to withdraw his motion to terminate the PPO because
of the conflict or bias. When the hearing on that motion was
continued, the trial court first denied respondent’s motion to
disqualify, determining that the motion was untimely and that the
federal action was effectively against the office of the circuit court,
not against her personally. With respect to the alleged ex parte
communications with trial counsel in the federal action, the trial
court stated than any communications were expressly authorized
by law and did not have to be disclosed in light of the disclosure
exception in Canon 3(A)(4)(e). After concluding the hearing on the
motion to terminate the PPO, the trial court denied respondent’s
attempt to withdraw the motion to terminate the PPO, reasoning
that the original PPO termination hearing had already started,
that the court had the right to control its own docket by deciding to
continue on the motion, that respondent had a right to hear his
constitutional claims resolved, and that there was no legal author-
ity granting respondent the absolute right to withdraw the motion.
The trial court took the motion to terminate the PPO under
advisement. Subsequently, respondent moved for the chief judge to
review the trial court’s denial of his motion to disqualify; the chief
judge affirmed that decision. After the chief judge affirmed that
decision, the trial court issued a written opinion and order with
respect to the motion to terminate the PPO. The court made
findings of fact and concluded that petitioner had failed to demon-
strate that respondent’s conduct constituted stalking behavior as
prohibited by MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i. With regard to
MCL 750.411s, the trial court found that respondent had know-
ingly made false statements about petitioner on social media and
that he had posted those false statements to harass her and to
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cause others to harass her. The court amended the original PPO by
removing the provisions based on MCL 750.411h and MCL
750.411i and by prohibiting respondent from posting defamatory
statements about petitioner on social media and/or from publish-
ing such statements elsewhere. Respondent appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution
requires that an unbiased and impartial decision-maker hear and
decide a case. A trial judge is presumed unbiased, and the party
asserting otherwise has the heavy burden of overcoming that
presumption. Under MCR 2.003(D)(1)(a), all motions for disquali-
fication must be filed within 14 days of the discovery of the
grounds for disqualification. A judge will not be disqualified solely
because a litigant in a case pending before the judge has filed a
lawsuit against that judge. Further, suing a judge does not create
legitimate grounds for disqualification when the judge has been
sued as a result of their rulings in the case. To hold otherwise
would allow any litigant an easy method of judge-shopping,
eliminating disfavored judges until the desired judge has been
obtained. A trial judge’s refusal to disqualify him or herself does
not violate a defendant’s due-process rights in the absence of any
evidence that the trial judge conducted the trial in a biased
manner or that the state proceedings were in any way affected by
the federal action brought by the defendant against the trial
judge. In this case, respondent was not entitled to relief from the
trial court order denying his motion for disqualification because
he did not address on appeal one of the trial court’s reasons for
denying the disqualification motion—i.e., that the motion was
untimely because it was filed more than three months after he
commenced the federal litigation. Regardless, there was no evi-
dence that the trial court acted in a biased or less than impartial
manner because the court had already started the motion-to-
terminate hearing, allowed a number of adjournments of that
hearing as requested by respondent, and ultimately terminated
portions of the PPO that were not supported by the evidence.
While the trial court did not allow respondent to withdraw his
motion, the court had inherent authority to exercise its discretion
in controlling its docket. Canon 3(A)(4) did not compel the trial
court to recuse itself or require a disclosure of communications.
Respondent’s argument was rejected because (1) he failed to
address the trial court’s ruling relying on Canon 3(A)(4)(e), which
allows ex parte communication that are expressly authorized by
law, and (2) there was no evidence that there were ex parte
communications between the trial court and the court’s counsel in
the federal action regarding the state PPO action, particularly
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given that the federal action concerned the constitutionality of
the PPO statute. Accordingly, the trial court and the chief judge
did not err by rejecting respondent’s motion seeking disclosure of
ex parte communications or to disqualify the court.

2. MCL 600.2950a(1) provides that in nondomestic matters,
an individual may petition for a PPO to enjoin a person from
posting a message contrary to MCL 750.411s and from stalking as
defined in MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i; a PPO must be
specifically limited to the adjudicated speech. A court may not
grant relief under MCL 750.411s(1) unless the petition alleges
facts that constitute stalking as defined in MCL 750.411h or MCL
750.411i, or conduct that is prohibited under MCL 750.411s.
Conduct implicated by MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i was not
at issue in this appeal because the trial court omitted the
provisions based on those statutes from the amended PPO. MCL
750.411s(1) provides that a person shall not post a message
through the use of any medium of communication, including the
Internet or a computer, computer program, computer system, or
computer network, or other electronic medium of communication,
without the victim’s consent, if all of the following apply (1) the
person knows or has reason to know that posting the message
could cause 2 or more separate noncontinuous acts of uncon-
sented contact with the victim; (2) posting the message is in-
tended to cause conduct that would make the victim feel terror-
ized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested;
(3) conduct arising from posting the message would cause a
reasonable person to suffer emotional distress and to feel terror-
ized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested;
and (4) conduct arising from posting the message causes the
victim to suffer emotional distress and to feel terrorized, fright-
ened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested. To prohibit
postings under MCL 750.411s, a court must determine that the
postings in question violate the elements in the statute. The
statute is designed to prohibit cyberstalking by proxy and cyber-
harassment by proxy, and the focus of the statute is on the
unconsented contacts that occur because of the posts—resulting
in the harassment of the victim—not the actual posts themselves;
a stalker uses other persons to harass the victim when the stalker
posts a message that leads to unconsented contact. Under MCL
750.411s(8)(1), the truthfulness of a posted message is not rel-
evant when determining whether the message was posted in
violation of MCL 750.411s(1).

3. MCL 750.411s(6) provides, however, that MCL 750.411s
does not prohibit constitutionally protected speech or activity.
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Defamation only serves as a possible argument by a PPO peti-
tioner when the respondent raises a claim that the requested
PPO would violate their First Amendment rights. In that regard,
the First Amendment states that Congress shall make no law
abridging the freedom of speech. The First Amendment protects
speech over the Internet to the same extent as speech over other
media, but the right to speak freely is not absolute. In particular,
the First Amendment does not protect defamatory words. Thus,
defamatory speech—communication that tends to harm the repu-
tation of a person so as to lower them in the estimation of the
community or deter others from associating or dealing with
them—is not constitutionally protected. Statements that are not
protected by the First Amendment include false statements of
fact, which are those that state actual facts but are objectively
provable as false, along with direct accusations or inferences of
criminal conduct. Although MCL 600.2911 provides a cause of
action for money damages for defamation, the statute does not
preclude enjoining defamatory communications that satisfy the
elements of MCL 750.411s. Further, under MCL 600.2950a, a
trial court may enjoin a defendant from making defamatory
statements after there has been a determination that the speech
was, in fact, false. Thus, if the elements of MCL 750.411s have
been satisfied for purposes of obtaining a PPO under MCL
600.2950a, and if the respondent has asserted that his or her
posted messages constituted constitutionally protected speech, a
petitioner does not have to prove economic injury when the
petitioner can otherwise establish that the posts were false and
defamatory. In other words, when a respondent challenges a
request for a PPO on the basis that the PPO would prohibit
constitutionally protected speech and the petitioner counters that
the posted messages are defamatory, the petitioner need not show
economic injury to enjoin that speech.

4. In this case, although the amended PPO expired during the
pendency of the appeal, the appeal was not moot because identi-
fying an improperly issued PPO is a live controversy. Respondent
did not dispute the trial court’s conclusion that petitioner had
demonstrated reasonable cause to continue the PPO because she
established the elements of MCL 750.411s; therefore, that conclu-
sion stood. Respondent’s posts on social media in effect asserted
that petitioner allowed a known sex offender to have ongoing
access to the child; the assertions, which respondent made either
negligently or intentionally, were proved false. Accordingly, the
trial court did not err by concluding that respondent made defama-
tory statements about petitioner on various Facebook pages. How-
ever, the PPO was too broad and not confined to the boundaries set
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forth in MCL 750.411s. Remand was necessary for the court to
amend the PPO to provide that, absent petitioner’s consent,
respondent was prohibited from posting online messages that
assert that petitioner is allowing LW to have access to, or contact
with, the child and that otherwise violate MCL 750.411s.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and case remanded for
modification of the amended PPO.

PERSONAL PROTECTION ORDERS — SOCIAL MEDIA P0STS — FALSE AND DEFAMA-
TORY POSTS — ASSERTION OF CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED SPEECH —
Proor or EcoNomiCc INJURIES NOT REQUIRED.

MCL 600.2950a(1) provides, in part, that in nondomestic matters,
an individual may petition for a personal protection order (PPO)
to enjoin a person from posting a message contrary to MCL
750.411s; although MCL 600.2911 provides a cause of action for
money damages for defamation, the statute does not preclude
enjoining defamatory communications that satisfy the elements
of MCL 750.411s; if the elements of MCL 750.411s have been
satisfied for purposes of obtaining a PPO under MCL 600.2950a
and the respondent has asserted that his or her posted messages
constituted constitutionally protected speech, a petitioner does
not have to prove economic injury when the petitioner can
otherwise establish that the posts were false and defamatory.

Outside Legal Counsel PLC (by Philip L. Ellison) for
respondent.

Before: BOONSTRA, P.J., and MARKEY and FORT HOOD, JJ.

MARKEY, J. Respondent, KL, appeals by right a
modified nondomestic personal protection order (PPO)
issued by the trial court under MCL 600.2950a follow-
ing an evidentiary hearing on KL’s motion to terminate
the PPO. The original PPO had been entered upon
request by petitioner, TT. The amended PPO prohibits
respondent “from posting defamatory statements
about Petitioner on social media and/or from publish-
ing such statements elsewhere.” Respondent also ap-
peals the trial court’s order denying his motion to
disqualify the trial court judge, along with the chief
judge’s order affirming the denial, after respondent
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filed suit against the trial court judge in a federal
action that challenged the constitutional validity of
MCL 600.2950a. We affirm the rejection of respon-
dent’s effort to disqualify the trial court judge, but we
reverse with respect to the modified PPO and remand
for further amendment of the PPO.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

OGL is the daughter of respondent-father KL. At the
time of the events giving rise to the PPO litigation, it
appears that OGL was around four years old. Respon-
dent was in a bitter custody dispute with OGL’s
mother, who was respondent’s former girlfriend. Peti-
tioner TT is OGL’s maternal great aunt. Respondent
believed that OGL was regularly taken to the maternal
grandparents’ farm for visits, that a man, LW, was
permitted by the grandparents to live in a shack on the
property, and that LW is a twice-convicted sex of-
fender.! Respondent went on a personal Internet cru-
sade against OGL’s mother and her family regarding
his view that they were placing OGL in harm’s way by
allowing her to be in the presence of, or have contact
with, LW. Respondent’s actions included the use of
social media to highlight the situation and, ostensibly,
to protect and obtain justice for OGL. Respondent also
complained that local governmental agencies and the
courts had been of little help to his cause and had
actually thwarted his efforts to safeguard his daughter.

It was within this context that petitioner filed a
petition for a nondomestic PPO against respondent on
March 4, 2019. In the petition, petitioner indicated

1 A document was submitted indicating that LW had a 1985 conviction
for assault with intent to commit second-degree criminal sexual con-
duct, MCL 750.520g, and a 2004 conviction for fourth-degree criminal
sexual conduct, MCL 750.520e.
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that OGL’s mother had a PPO against respondent,
that, apparently, OGL’s mother had inadvertently left
petitioner’s name on some paperwork submitted to
another court to show that respondent had violated
that particular PPO, and that respondent thereafter
began focusing his online attacks on petitioner. Peti-
tioner alleged that respondent sent her multiple mes-
sages through Facebook Messenger and began attack-
ing her on social media. She claimed that respondent
posted her picture on public Facebook pages with a
caption stating that she was helping a violent sexual
predator. Petitioner further asserted that respondent
accused her numerous times on social media of allow-
ing a pedophile, LW, to have access to OGL. Petitioner
attached the Facebook messages and posts to her
petition, including a post on a Facebook page for a
group started by respondent called “Justice for [OGL],”
which stated:

Pictured below is [petitioner]. As you can read, it seems
as if [OGL’s] maternal family is actively trying to protect
the twice convicted violent sexual predator while simulta-
neously allowing him ongoing access to [OGL].

[Petitioner] has also been putting in great efforts to
help the twice convicted violent sexual predator attempt
to have [respondent] thrown in jail again due to alleged
“violations” of the frivolous PPO the twice convicted vio-
lent sexual predator has against [respondent].?!

Petitioner contended that none of respondent’s claims
was true. She further maintained that she had never
even met or talked to LW.

In the myriad computer screen shots showing com-
munications between the parties and respondent’s

2 Aside from the PPO at issue in this case, it appears that respondent
has been the subject of several other PPOs and has been accused of
violating those PPOs.
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public posts, which were later admitted into evidence,
there were snippets of a transcript from a child custody
hearing regarding OGL. LW testified at the hearing,
stating that he could not remember ever having any
physical contact with OGL, that a couple of times he
went to the grandparents’ house to do some work and
OGL happened to be present, that he politely re-
sponded to her when she spoke to him, and that he was
told by a woman from Children’s Protective Services
not to be around OGL unsupervised. At one point in his
testimony, LW indicated that he “was informed by [T]
about what was being talked about.” “T” is petitioner’s
first name. LW also testified that his “nephew’s wife [T]
was on the Facebook and she seen ... a conversation
going on between this guy [respondent] and somebody
else.”® LW additionally noted that “T” was not in court
because she had just undergone surgery. It is evident
that LW was not referring to petitioner when mention-
ing the name “T” at the hearing. And petitioner sent a
message to respondent directly informing him that she
did not personally know LW, that she had never spoken
to him, and that she was not the person LW was
referring to at the hearing. The trial court was not
presented with any child custody transcript references
to petitioner’s full name. We also note that the tran-
script references to “I” do not say anything about “T”
engaging in acts or conduct that gave LW access to
OGL.

In the PPO petition, petitioner noted that many
people had messaged her about respondent’s posts and
asked her what was going on. She stated that she
worked as an interpreter in a school and that she was
very concerned that the false social-media posts would

3 LW spoke of a PPO that he had obtained against respondent.
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affect her employment.* Petitioner was worried that
parents and future prospective clients would not want
her to be their interpreter. She implored the trial court
to order the removal of the posts and to bar respondent
from continuing to lie about her on social media.

On March 5, 2019, the trial court entered an ex
parte PPO, which prohibited respondent from stalking
petitioner, as “stalking” is defined in MCL 750.411h
and MCL 750.411i. The PPO forbid respondent from
following petitioner, appearing at her residence or
workplace, approaching or confronting her, entering
onto her property, sending her mail, contacting her by
phone, placing an object on or delivering an object to
petitioner’s property, threatening to kill or injure peti-
tioner, and purchasing or possessing a firearm. Signifi-
cantly, the PPO also prohibited respondent from “post-
ing a message through the use of any medium of
communication, including the internet or a computer
or any electronic medium, pursuant to MCL 750.411s.”
More specifically, the ex parte PPO provided that
respondent was not permitted to “post[] comments
about Petitioner on social media.”

During March 2019, three orders to show cause for
violating the PPO were entered, along with three
accompanying bench warrants for respondent’s arrest.
Another alleged violation occurred in May 2019, re-
sulting in a show-cause order and a bench warrant.
The alleged violations concerned respondent’s contin-
ued computer usage and social-media posts touching
on prohibited subjects. At different times, respondent
was arrested, jailed, arraigned on the warrants, and
posted bond.

4 The record indicated that petitioner was employed as a sign-
language interpreter.



2020] TT v KL 423

On March 13, 2019, respondent moved to terminate
the PPO, claiming that petitioner made false state-
ments in the PPO application, that he was not posting
anything that was inaccurate, and that his actions were
protected by the First Amendment.®? On March 21,
2019, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on respon-
dent’s motion to terminate the PPO. The trial court
examined petitioner, who was unrepresented at the
time, and counsel retained by respondent began cross-
examination of petitioner before the hearing was ad-
journed and scheduled to continue at a later date.® On
June 20, 2019, an evidentiary hearing was conducted
on all four of the alleged PPO violations and that
hearing was also continued. There were several ad-
journments with respect to the continuation of the
hearing on the motion to terminate the PPO because
respondent’s attorney was allowed to withdraw. Re-
spondent obtained new counsel, and respondent was
sent to jail for 10 days for being held in contempt by a
different judge conducting a child custody hearing
regarding OGL.

On June 27, 2019, respondent, under 42 USC 1983,
filed a federal lawsuit against the trial court, naming
the judge in her official capacity as the defendant and
challenging the nondomestic PPO statute as violative
of the First Amendment. On August 16, 2019, respon-
dent amended the federal complaint, adding a due-
process claim under the Fourteenth Amendment, US
Const, Am XIV.” Before the hearing on the motion to

5 US Const, Am I.

6 We shall discuss the evidence presented at the hearing in the
analysis section of this opinion to the extent necessary to resolve the
appeal. The evidence did include materials that had been attached to
petitioner’s PPO application.

7 In the amended federal complaint, respondent alleged:
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terminate the PPO was continued, respondent filed a
notice of withdrawal of his motion to terminate the
PPO on September 13, 2019, reserving “the right to
refile said motion....” On September 16, 2019, the
trial court’s judicial secretary e-mailed respondent’s
attorney and informed him that the court “is not
granting your request to withdraw your [m]otion . ...”
On September 17, 2019, respondent filed an objection
to the court’s rejection of the notice of withdrawal; he
also moved for disclosure of communications and/or to
disqualify the trial court. On the basis of assumed
communications from the trial court’s counsel in the
federal lawsuit to the court that pertained to the
instant PPO litigation, respondent argued that the
court was in violation of Michigan’s Code of Judicial
Conduct, Canon 3(A)(4), for considering these so-called
ex parte communications outside the presence of the
parties in the case at bar.? Respondent contended that
Canon 3(A)(4) required the trial court to disclose to the
parties the substance of those assumed ex parte com-
munications between the court and the court’s attor-

[Respondent] is not attacking or challenging the Social Media
injunction [PPO] itself but instead seeks declaratory and/or
injunction relief by targeting as unconstitutional the Michigan
non-domestic PPO statute as it has been authoritatively con-
strued and may be attacked as explained and authorized by
Skinner v Switzer, 131 S. Ct. 1289 (2011).

I

[TThe procedural safeguards employed under the Michigan
non-domestic PPO statute are insufficient to pass constitutional
muster required by procedural due process under the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United States Constitution.

8 Canon 3(A)(4) provides, “A judge shall not initiate, permit, or
consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications
made to the judge outside the presence of the parties concerning a
pending or impending proceeding, except as follows . ...”
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ney. Respondent further maintained that the trial
court judge was required to recuse herself because of
the appearance of potential bias in light of the federal
lawsuit brought against her. Respondent explained
that this conflict or bias was why respondent had
sought to withdraw the motion to terminate the PPO,
which would have eliminated the problem. But be-
cause the trial court judge did not allow withdrawal of
the motion, respondent felt it necessary that she dis-
qualify or recuse herself.

On September 19, 2019, the hearing on the motion to
terminate the PPO was continued. At the start of the
hearing, the court and the parties discussed the issues
concerning respondent’s efforts to withdraw the motion
to terminate the PPO and the motion to disqualify the
trial court. The trial court judge denied the motion to
disqualify herself, again rejected respondent’s attempt
to withdraw the motion to terminate the PPO, and
resumed and concluded the hearing on respondent’s
motion to terminate the PPO. With respect to the
attempt to withdraw the motion to terminate the PPO,
the trial court observed that respondent’s requested
hearing on the motion was already in progress, that the
court had the right to control its docket and decide to
continue with the motion, that respondent deserved to
have his important constitutional claims resolved, and
that there was no legal authority that gave respondent
the absolute right to withdraw the motion.?

The trial court next ruled that recusal or disqualifi-
cation was unnecessary. The court first found that
respondent’s motion was untimely under MCR
2.003(D)(1)(a) because it was filed almost three months

9 The trial court entered an order denying withdrawal of the motion to
terminate the PPO. The court acknowledged that respondent filed a
notice of withdrawal and not a request or motion to withdraw, but the
court viewed the matter as one requiring judicial permission.
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after the federal lawsuit was commenced absent expla-
nation why the motion was not filed soon after the
federal case was initiated. The trial court also deter-
mined that the federal action was effectively against
the office of the circuit court and not the judge person-
ally, regardless of her being named as defendant in
that case. With respect to ex parte communications
and Canon 3(A)(4), the trial court opined that any
communications that may have occurred between the
court’s counsel in the federal case and the court were
expressly authorized by law and did not have to be
disclosed in light of the exception in Canon 3(A)(4)(e)
(“A judge may initiate or consider any ex parte com-
munications when expressly authorized by law to do
s0.”). Immediately after the ruling on disqualification,
respondent’s attorney asked the court, for purposes of
a planned appeal, to confirm whether there were any
communications between the court and the court’s
attorney in the federal lawsuit regarding respondent’s
PPO litigation with petitioner. The trial court declined
to answer the question, stating that it had no obliga-
tion to disclose that information.

The parties offered no further testimony or evidence
in regard to the motion to terminate the PPO, and the
court simply entertained the parties’ extensive argu-
ments. The trial court took the motion to terminate the
PPO under advisement.

Respondent moved for the chief judge to review the
trial judge’s decision not to recuse or disqualify herself.
On October 24, 2019, before the trial court issued its
ruling on the motion to terminate the PPO, the chief
judge issued a written opinion and order denying
respondent’s challenge. The chief judge indicated that
the federal lawsuit was clearly not grounds for dis-
qualification. The chief judge claimed that the premise
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of the federal action was that respondent disagreed
with the trial court’s rulings in the instant action, and
that is not a proper ground to disqualify a judge. The
chief judge further ruled that the trial court did not
have to recuse itself merely because respondent sued
the court. The chief judge explained, “If that were the
case, any party unhappy with the judge assigned to
their case could remove the judge by suing them ....”
With respect to the alleged ex parte communications
from the trial court’s federal counsel to the court in
supposed violation of Canon 3(A)(4), the chief judge
found that while respondent had indicated his belief
that these communications must have occurred, “there
[was] no evidence suggesting such communications
actually took place.” Finally, the chief judge noted that
contrary to respondent’s assertion, the trial court’s
refusal to comment on the alleged ex parte communi-
cations did not suggest or imply that respondent’s
beliefs were accurate.

On October 28, 2019, the trial court issued a written
opinion and order with respect to the motion to termi-
nate the PPO. The court first summarized the evidence
presented at the evidentiary hearing. The trial court
observed that the evidence showed that respondent
had contacted petitioner several times in January and
February 2019, that petitioner on occasion replied to
respondent’s messages, that respondent did not stop
contacting petitioner despite her requests for him to do
so, that petitioner blocked some of respondent’s mes-
sages, that respondent never threatened petitioner
with physical violence, and that the parties never met
face-to-face after the messages began. The court noted
the reference in the child custody transcript to a person
with the same first name as petitioner and who had
purportedly allowed contact between OGL and LW.
The court stated that respondent had information in
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his possession that it was not petitioner who was being
referred to in the transcript, yet he “apparently chose
to ignore it and chose instead to continue to publish
similar untrue allegations about the Petitioner.” The
trial court found that respondent posted false informa-
tion about petitioner on the “Justice for [OGL]” page,
on an “attorney review” Facebook page, on a Port
Huron Facebook page, and on a Facebook page created
by respondent using a false last name. The court
concluded that the evidence established that petitioner
did not personally know LW and had never made any
contact with him although she knew of him because his
name had been mentioned in the child custody litiga-
tion. The court further stated:

[Petitioner] described the effect Respondent’s postings
have had on her. Petitioner is a sign language interpreter
who works for an agency that contracts with various
school districts to provide services for their hearing im-
paired students. She works directly with children. Re-
spondent’s Facebook postings have caused her anxiety,
humiliation, and a fear of losing her job. Her employer has
counseled her about Respondent’s postings. She has had
discussions about the postings with her boss, with the
principal of the school where she primarily works, and
with the superintendent of that school system. Acquain-
tances have sent her private Facebook messages and text
messages asking her why she is exposing her niece to a
convicted sex offender. She is on constant alert, wondering
what Respondent will be posting about her next.

The trial court proceeded to review the relevant legal
authorities. The court next ruled that petitioner had not
demonstrated that respondent’s conduct amounted to
stalking behavior prohibited by MCL 750.411h and
MCL 750.411i.° With respect to MCL 750.411s, which

10" As indicated earlier and under the authority of MCL 750.411h and
MCL 750.411i, the PPO forbid respondent from following petitioner,
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prohibits posting certain messages on the Internet or a
computer without the victim’s consent, the court ac-
knowledged that it could not bar constitutionally pro-
tected speech or activity. See MCL 750.411s(6) (“This
section does not prohibit constitutionally protected
speech or activity.”). But the trial court also indicated
that defamatory statements are not constitutionally
protected. The court found that respondent knowingly
made false statements about petitioner on social me-
dia, which would have caused a reasonable person to
feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, or
harassed, and which did, in fact, cause petitioner to
experience those feelings. The trial court also con-
cluded that respondent made those false postings to
harass petitioner and to cause others to harass her.
The court therefore ruled that petitioner had demon-
strated reasonable cause to believe that respondent
committed acts prohibited by MCL 750.411s. The trial
court amended the original PPO, removing the provi-
sions based on MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i, and
prohibiting respondent “from posting defamatory
statements about Petitioner on social media and/or
from publishing such statements elsewhere.”"

Respondent now appeals by right. We note that the
amended PPO provided that it remained in effect until
March 4, 2020, which date has now passed. We do not
know whether the PPO was continued or expired
without renewal. Nevertheless, the appeal is not moot

appearing at her residence or workplace, approaching or confronting
her, entering onto her property, sending her mail, contacting her by
phone, placing an object on or delivering an object to petitioner’s
property, threatening to kill or injure petitioner, and purchasing or
possessing a firearm.

11 By order dated November 7, 2019, the trial court dismissed all four
of the alleged PPO violations. The record on appeal does not provide any
insight regarding why the court dismissed the charges.
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even if the modified PPO is no longer in effect. In TM
v MZ, 501 Mich 312, 319-320; 916 NW2d 473 (2018),
our Supreme Court held:

We conclude that identifying an improperly issued PPO
as rescinded is a live controversy and thus not moot. A
judgment here can have a “practical legal effect”. . . be-
cause if the Court concludes that the trial court should
never have issued the PPO, respondent would be entitled
to have LEIN [Law Enforcement Information Network]
reflect that fact. Thus, an appeal challenging a PPO, with
an eye toward determining whether a PPO should be
updated in LEIN as rescinded, need not fall within an
exception to the mootness doctrine to warrant appellate
review; instead, such a dispute is simply not moot. Con-
sequently, and contrary to the decision of the Court of
Appeals, the mere fact that the instant PPO expired
during the pendency of this appeal does not render this
appeal moot.

II. ANALYSIS

A. EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS AND DISQUALIFICATION OF THE
TRIAL COURT

1. RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTS

Respondent argues that the protection afforded by
the attorney-client privilege made it impossible for the
trial court to both comply with Canon 3(A)(4) “and be a
federal defendant with non-waived attorney-client
privilege.” Respondent asserts that the trial court
judge was required to recuse herself because of her
alleged inability to comply with Canon 3(A)(4). Respon-
dent essentially contends that the trial court judge
must have had communications with her attorney in
the federal action about the instant PPO case, “namely
in the form of discussions via attorney-client privilege
to defend the federal lawsuit.” Minimally, according to
respondent, the trial court had to give the parties and
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their counsel notice of the ex parte communications
and disclose to them the substance of the communica-
tions. Respondent then shifts gears, maintaining that
there was an appearance of impropriety because of the
federal lawsuit against the court. Respondent posits
that “[rleasonable minds would and could question
whether the judge’s ability to carry out judicial respon-
sibilities with integrity, impartiality, and competence
is impaired when adjudging the legal actions of a party
who has sued the judge in her official capacity in
another court.” And thus, there was an appearance of
impropriety in the form of a conflict of interest. Re-
spondent requests a decision reversing the denial of
disqualification, vacating the trial court’s ruling on the
PPO, and remanding the case to “a non-conflicted
judicial officer.”

2. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews for an abuse of discretion a trial
court’s factual findings regarding a motion for disquali-
fication while its application of the facts to the law is
reviewed de novo. In re MKK, 286 Mich App 546, 564;
781 NW2d 132 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs
when the trial court’s decision is outside the range of
reasonable and principled outcomes.” Id. (quotation
marks and citation omitted).

3. DISCUSSION

“Due process requires that an unbiased and impar-
tial decision-maker hear and decide a case.” Mitchell v
Mitchell, 296 Mich App 513, 523; 823 NW2d 153
(2012). But “[a] trial judge is presumed unbiased, and
the party asserting otherwise has the heavy burden of
overcoming the presumption.” Id.; see also Cain v Dep’t
of Corrections, 451 Mich 470, 497; 548 NW2d 210
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(1996). Various nonexclusive grounds for disqualifica-
tion are set forth in MCR 2.003(C), which provides, in
relevant part:

(1) Disqualification of a judge is warranted for reasons
that include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) The judge is biased or prejudiced for or against a
party or attorney.

(b) The judge, based on objective and reasonable per-
ceptions, has either (i) a serious risk of actual bias
impacting the due process rights of a party as enunciated
in Caperton v Massey, [556 US 868]; 129 S Ct 2252; 173
L Ed 2d 1208 (2009), or (ii) has failed to adhere to the
appearance of impropriety standard set forth in Canon 2
of the Michigan Code of Judicial Conduct. [Alteration in
original.'?]

Disqualification is also warranted when a judge has
more than a “de minimis interest that could be sub-
stantially affected by the proceeding[.]” MCR
2.003(C)(1)(g)(ii1). “[J]udicial rulings, in and of them-
selves, almost never constitute a valid basis for a
motion alleging bias, unless the judicial opinion dis-
plays a ‘deep-seated favoritism or antagonism that
would make fair judgment impossible and overcomes
a heavy presumption of judicial impartiality.””
Armstrong v Ypsilanti Charter Twp, 248 Mich App 573,
597; 640 NW2d 321 (2001), quoting Cain, 451 Mich at
496. In fact, “a trial judge’s remarks made during trial,
which are critical of or hostile to counsel, the parties, or
their cases, ordinarily do not establish disqualifying

12 Canon 2(A) provides:

Public confidence in the judiciary is eroded by irresponsible or
improper conduct by judges. A judge must avoid all impropriety
and appearance of impropriety. A judge must expect to be the
subject of constant public scrutiny. A judge must therefore accept
restrictions on conduct that might be viewed as burdensome by
the ordinary citizen and should do so freely and willingly.
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bias.” In re MKK, 286 Mich App at 567. An appearance
of impropriety may arise when the conduct of a judge
“would create in reasonable minds a perception that
the judge’s ability to carry out judicial responsibilities
with integrity, impartiality and competence is im-
paired.” Caperton, 556 US at 888 (quotation marks and
citation omitted)."

In this case, one of the reasons the trial court
gave for denying the motion for disqualification
was that respondent’s motion was untimely. MCR
2.003(D)(1)(a) provides, in part, that “[t]o avoid delay-
ing trial and inconveniencing the witnesses, all mo-
tions for disqualification must be filed within 14 days
of the discovery of the grounds for disqualification.”
(Emphasis added.) Indeed, respondent’s motion was
filed nearly three months after the federal litigation
was commenced. And at the latest, the grounds for
disqualification would have been discovered immedi-
ately upon filing the suit. On appeal, respondent fails
entirely to address this basis for the trial court’s
ruling. “When an appellant fails to dispute the basis
of a lower court’s ruling, we need not even consider
granting the relief being sought by the appellant.”
Denhof v Challa, 311 Mich App 499, 521; 876 NW2d
266 (2015). For this reason alone, respondent’s de-

13 The Caperton Court noted:

The Due Process Clause demarks only the outer boundaries of
judicial disqualifications. Congress and the states, of course,
remain free to impose more rigorous standards for judicial
disqualification than those we find mandated here today. Because
the codes of judicial conduct provide more protection than due
process requires, most disputes over disqualification will be
resolved without resort to the Constitution. [Caperton, 556 US at
889-890 (quotation marks and citation omitted).]

Due-process rights are implicated when the probability of actual bias by
the judge is too high to be constitutionally tolerable. Id. at 872.
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mand for disqualification fails. But we nonetheless
continue with the analysis.

The chief judge’s observations below were consistent
with the following remarks of our Supreme Court in
Grievance Administrator v Fieger, 476 Mich 231, 274,
719 NW2d 123 (2006) (separate opinion by TAYLOR,
C.J., and CORRIGAN, YOUNG, and MARKMAN, JdJ.):

Indeed, if anyone can force a judge’s disqualification
merely by suing that judge, then any litigant would have
an easy method of judge-shopping, eliminating disfavored
judges until the desired judge has been obtained. The
destructive effect of such a rule is too obvious to require
further elaboration.

The Supreme Court of our sister state Ohio likewise
stated as follows in In re Disqualification of Saffold,
155 Ohio St 3d 1272, 1272-1273; 2018-Ohio-5258; 121
NE3d 387 (2018):

It is well established that a judge will not be disquali-
fied solely because a litigant in a case pending before the
judge has filed a lawsuit against that judge. To hold
otherwise would invite parties to file lawsuits solely to
obtain a judge’s disqualification, which would severely
hamper the orderly administration of judicial proceed-
ings. . ..

... [Iln general, suing a judge does not create legiti-
mate grounds for disqualification when the judge has been
sued as a result of her rulings in the case. [Quotation
marks and citations omitted.]

And in Olsen v Wainwright, 565 F2d 906, 907 (CA 5,
1978), the Fifth Circuit for the United States Court of
Appeals ruled:

14 See also Tennant v Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc, 194 W Va
97, 109 n 10; 459 SE2d 374 (1995) (“If the disqualification of every judge
who is sued in his or her official capacity was required, it would have a
substantial impact on available judicial resources.”).
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Petitioner next alleges that where the trial judge had
been named as a defendant in a federal civil suit filed by
petitioner, the judge’s refusal to disqualify himself vio-
lated petitioner’s due process rights. No evidence is pre-
sented that the judge conducted the trial in a biased
manner, or that the proceedings were in any way affected
by the civil suit. The failure of the judge to disqualify
himself under these circumstances was not error.

In this case, there was no indication that the trial
court acted in a biased or less than impartial manner.
The court began the evidentiary hearing on respon-
dent’s motion to terminate the PPO, allowed respon-
dent a number of his requested adjournments, and
ultimately terminated those aspects of the PPO related
to stalking under MCL 750.411h and MCL 750.411i for
lack of evidence. The trial court did not prevent respon-
dent from presenting his side of the matter, and
respondent chose not to testify. It is true that the court
refused to allow respondent to withdraw his motion to
terminate the PPO. A trial court, however, has the
inherent authority to exercise its discretion in control-
ling its docket. Baynesan v Wayne State Univ, 316 Mich
App 643, 645; 894 NW2d 102 (2016). Respondent
couched the notice of withdrawal in terms that at-
tempted to reserve a right to refile the motion to
terminate the PPO in the future, which was not a
“right” that respondent could dictate to the court.’
Considering this problematic characteristic of the no-
tice of withdrawal, along with the facts that the hear-
ing was already underway and several adjournments
had been granted, we cannot conclude that the trial
court’s decision to disallow withdrawal of the motion
reflected actual bias against respondent. The trial

15 A motion to terminate a PPO must be filed within 14 days of service
of the PPO or upon a showing of good cause for a later filing. MCR
3.707(A)(1)(b).
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court’s ruling on the matter did not evidence deep-
seated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair
judgment impossible—it was simply a judicial ruling.
Armstrong, 248 Mich App at 597.

With respect to Canon 3(A)(4), which, again, provides
that “[a] judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex
parte communications, or consider other communica-
tions made to the judge outside the presence of the
parties concerning a pending or impending proceeding,
except as follows . . . ,” we note the canon did not compel
recusal or require a disclosure of communications in this
case.’ We initially note that respondent fails to ad-
dress the trial court’s ruling relying on the exception to
Canon 3(A)(4) found in Subpart (A)(4)(e) of Canon 3
regarding ex parte communications that are expressly
authorized by law. As stated earlier, that briefing
failure alone provides a reason to reject respondent’s
argument on appeal. Denhof, 311 Mich App at 521.
Furthermore, were we to accept respondent’s argu-
ment, it would effectively vitiate the principle that a
person cannot force a judge’s disqualification merely by
suing that judge.

Additionally, as the chief judge observed, there was
no evidence that there were ex parte communications
between the trial court and the court’s counsel in the
federal action concerning the pending PPO litigation
involving petitioner and respondent. The federal law-
suit regards the constitutionality of the PPO statute,

16 Respondent’s argument about the court’s having to give notice to
the parties and disclose ex parte communications is based on the
language in Canon 3(A)(4)(a)(ii). Although the language in this provision
does demand notification and disclosure of ex parte communications, it
is only implicated when a judge “allow|[s] ex parte communications for
scheduling, administrative purposes, or emergencies that do not deal
with substantive matters or issues on the merits[.]” Canon 3(A)(4)(a).
There is no evidence or claim of such communications. Accordingly, the
legal premise of respondent’s position completely evaporates.
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which would not necessarily require a discussion by
the court and its counsel about the particular aspects
of the instant PPO case."”

In sum, respondent fails to persuade us that the trial
court or the chief judge committed error requiring
reversal with respect to respondent’s motion seeking
disclosure of ex parte communications or to disqualify
the court.

B. PPO ENJOINING DEFAMATORY SPEECH ON SOCIAL MEDIA

1. RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTS

Respondent argues that the nondomestic PPO stat-
ute, MCL 600.2950a, does not bar or provide a remedy
for defamation. Respondent contends that he believed
that LW’s testimony in the child custody proceeding
referred to petitioner and not to another individual with
the same first name, that respondent did not direct
publication to third parties, and that he did not repub-
lish LW’s testimony on social media negligently. There-
fore, according to respondent, he did not commit a
written defamation through any of his posts and his
speech was thus constitutionally protected under the
First Amendment. Respondent further maintains that
the amended PPO constituted an unconstitutional prior
restraint. Additionally, respondent asserts that if he
defamed petitioner, MCL 600.2911 would be implicated,
giving petitioner a cause of action for money damages
but not the right to petition for a PPO.® Respondent

17 To the extent that respondent claims a conflict of interest indepen-
dent from his assertion of an appearance of impropriety, he has failed to
show an interest by the court in the petitioner and respondent’s PPO
litigation that would be substantially affected by the federal lawsuit.

18 MCL 600.2911 provides for money damages in a suit for libel or
slander and sets forth various parameters depending on the type of
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finally claims that equity will not enjoin a defamation
absent economic injury, which did not occur here.

2. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

We review for an abuse of discretion a trial court’s
decision regarding whether to issue a PPO. Hayford v
Hayford, 279 Mich App 324, 325; 760 NW2d 503 (2008).
A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision falls
outside the range of reasonable and principled out-
comes. Id. A court necessarily abuses its discretion when
it makes an error of law. TM v MZ (On Remand), 326
Mich App 227, 235-236; 926 NW2d 900 (2018). Factual
findings underlying a PPO ruling are reviewed for clear
error. Hayford, 279 Mich App at 325. This Court reviews
de novo constitutional issues. Winkler v Marist Fathers
of Detroit, Inc, 500 Mich 327, 333; 901 NW2d 566 (2017).
Matters of statutory construction are also subject to de
novo review. TM, 326 Mich App at 236.

3. RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

In Whitman v City of Burton, 493 Mich 303, 311-312;
831 NW2d 223 (2013), the Michigan Supreme Court
articulated the principles governing the interpretation
of a statute:

When interpreting a statute, we follow the established
rules of statutory construction, the foremost of which is to
discern and give effect to the intent of the Legislature. To
do so, we begin by examining the most reliable evidence of
that intent, the language of the statute itself. If the
language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the

defamation involved. MCL 600.2911(7) states, “An action for libel or
slander shall not be brought based upon a communication involving a
private individual unless the defamatory falsehood concerns the private
individual and was published negligently.”
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statute must be enforced as written and no further judicial
construction is permitted. Effect should be given to every
phrase, clause, and word in the statute and, whenever
possible, no word should be treated as surplusage or
rendered nugatory. Only when an ambiguity exists in the
language of the statute is it proper for a court to go beyond
the statutory text to ascertain legislative intent. [Cita-
tions omitted.]

4. DISCUSSION

MCL 600.2950 concerns PPOs involving current or
former spouses, individuals in dating relationships,
and housemates, while MCL 600.2950a, the nondomes-
tic PPO statute pertinent here, addresses stalking
behavior or conduct that is not limited to certain
existing relationships. Except as otherwise provided in
MCL 600.2950 and MCL 600.2950a, an action for a
PPO is governed by the Michigan Court Rules, with
MCR 3.701 et seq., applying to PPOs against adults.
MCR 3.701(A). “The petitioner bears the burden of
establishing reasonable cause for issuance of a
PPO ... .” Hayford, 279 Mich App at 326. A respondent
may file a motion to terminate or modify a PPO. MCR
3.707(A)(1)(b); MCL 600.2950a(13). The burden of
proof remains with a petitioner who seeks to establish
“a justification for the continuance of a PPO at a

hearing on the respondent’s motion to terminate the
PPO....” Hayford, 279 Mich App at 326.

MCL 600.2950a(1) provides:

[Aln individual may petition the family division of circuit
court to enter a personal protection order to restrain or
enjoin an individual from engaging in conduct that is
prohibited under section 411h, 411i, or 411s of the Michi-
gan penal code, 1931 PA 328, MCL 750.411h, 750.411i, and
750.411s. A court shall not grant relief under this subsec-
tion unless the petition alleges facts that constitute stalk-
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ing as defined in section 411h or 411i, or conduct that is
prohibited under section 411s. ... Relief may be sought
and granted under this subsection whether or not the
individual to be restrained or enjoined has been charged
or convicted under section 411h, 411i, or 411s of the
Michigan penal code.. . ..

MCL 750.411h concerns stalking and MCL 750.411i
pertains to aggravated stalking. MCL 750.411h and
MCL 750.411i are no longer pertinent in this case
because the trial court discarded the parts of the PPO
connected to those two statutory provisions. On the
other hand, MCL 750.411s is relevant and provides, in
pertinent part, as follows:

(1) A person shall not post a message through the use
of any medium of communication, including the internet
or a computer, computer program, computer system, or
computer network, or other electronic medium of commu-
nication, without the victim’s consent, if all of the follow-
ing apply:

(a) The person knows or has reason to know that
posting the message could cause 2 or more separate
noncontinuous acts of unconsented contact with the vic-
tim.

(b) Posting the message is intended to cause conduct
that would make the victim feel terrorized, frightened,
intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested.

(¢) Conduct arising from posting the message would
cause a reasonable person to suffer emotional distress and
to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened,
harassed, or molested.

(d) Conduct arising from posting the message causes
the victim to suffer emotional distress and to feel terror-
ized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or
molested.

As defined in MCL 750.411s(8)(i), to “post a mes-
sage” means “transferring, sending, posting, publish-
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ing, disseminating, or otherwise communicating or
attempting to transfer, send, post, publish, dissemi-
nate, or otherwise communicate information, whether
truthful or untruthful, about the victim.” (Emphasis
added.) And as indicated earlier, MCL 750.411s “does
not prohibit constitutionally protected speech or activ-
ity.” MCL 750.411s(6).

When MCL 600.2950a is considered in conjunction
with MCL 750.411s, it becomes clear that to be entitled
to a PPO, a petitioner must establish that the respon-
dent engaged in conduct that involved posting a mes-
sage on the Internet or a computer without the peti-
tioner’s consent and that the four elements found in
Subdivisions (a) through (d) of MCL 750.411s(1) are all
satisfied. “[T]o prohibit postings under MCL 750.411s,
there must be a determination that the postings in
questions violate the elements set forth in the statute.”
Buchanan v Crisler, 323 Mich App 163, 181; 922 NW2d
886 (2018). The Buchanan panel, discussing MCL
750.411s, explained:

[Ilt appears that the statute is designed to prohibit what
some legal scholars have referred to as “cyberstalking by
proxy” or “cyberharassing by proxy.” In other words, as
made plain by the statute, it is not the postings them-
selves that are harassing to the victim; rather, it is the
unconsented contacts arising from the postings that ha-
rass the victim. In particular, the statute envisions a
scenario in which a stalker posts a message about the
victim, without the victim’s consent, and as a result of the
posting, others initiate unconsented contacts with the
victim. These unconsented contacts, arising from the
stalker’s postings, result in the harassment of the victim.
In this manner, by posting a message that leads to
unconsented contact, the stalker is able to use other
persons to harass the victim.

For example, there have been cases of cyberstalking by
proxy in which a stalker posts messages with sexual
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content about the victim and suggests that the victim is
interested in sexual contact. In that situation, third parties
read the message and contact the victim, expecting sex. In
a somewhat more benign example, in a Massachusetts case,
harassers posted false advertisements online, suggesting
that the victims had something for sale or to give away for
free; as a result of these advertisements, the victims re-
ceived numerous phone calls and visits at their home about
the items. In each of these cases, the victim was harassed
by the unconsented contacts that arose from the online
postings. As written, MCL 750.411s is designed to address
situations in which the victim is harassed by conduct
arising from the posts. [Id. at 179-181 (citations omitted).]

Once the elements of MCL 750.411s are established,
the PPO issued by a trial court under MCL 600.2950a
must indicate that it restrains or enjoins the respon-
dent from engaging in further conduct prohibited by
MCL 750.411s. MCL 600.2950a(1).

With respect to the elements listed in MCL 750.411s,
the trial court ruled that petitioner had demonstrated
reasonable cause to continue the PPO because the
requirements of the statute had been satisfied. On
appeal, respondent does not challenge the court’s de-
termination that the elements in MCL 750.411s had
been established by petitioner. Again, taking MCL
750.411h and MCL 750.411i out of the equation, en-
gagement in conduct prohibited by MCL 750.411s had
to be shown to justify the issuance of a PPO under
MCL 600.2950a. Because respondent fails to take issue
with the trial court’s ruling on the elements of MCL
750.411s, we will not explore the issue, and the court’s
decision stands. Respondent’s position is that the
amended PPO violates the First Amendment and that
there was no defamation that would remove the case
from the protection of the First Amendment.

According to the language of MCL 750.411s(8)(i),
posted messages can be prohibited even if they are
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truthful, but by the same token MCL 750.411s cannot
be read to prohibit constitutionally protected speech,
MCL 750.411s(6). In TM, 326 Mich App at 237-238,
this Court addressed the constitutional implications of
a PPO issued under MCL 750.411s, stating:

The First Amendment, applicable to the States through
the Fourteenth Amendment, provides that Congress shall
make no law abridging the freedom of speech. The United
States Supreme Court has held that the federal constitu-
tion protects speech over the Internet to the same extent
as speech over other media. However, the right to speak
freely is not absolute. For example, libelous utterances are
not within the area of constitutionally protected speech,
and a state may therefore enact laws punishing them.

Prohibitions relating to content, however, are few, be-
cause of the First Amendment’s “bedrock principle” that an
idea cannot be prohibited simply because society finds the
idea itself offensive or disagreeable. The government may
not regulate speech based on hostility—or favoritism—
towards the underlying message expressed. The First
Amendment permits restrictions upon the content of
speech in a few limited areas, which are of such slight social
value as a step to truth that any benefit that may be
derived from them is clearly outweighed by the social
interest in order and morality. Thus, the First Amendment
does not protect obscenity or defamation, within certain
limits. A State may punish those words which by their very
utterance inflict injury or tend to incite an immediate
breach of the peace, including “fighting words,” “inciting or
producing imminent lawless action,” and “true threats.”
[Quotation marks, citations, brackets, and ellipsis omitted.]

Again, the United States Constitution does not pro-
tect defamatory speech. Id. at 240. A defamatory com-
munication is a communication that tends to harm a
person’s reputation, thereby lowering the person in the
estimation of the community or deterring others from
dealing or associating with them. Id. at 240-241. A
defamatory statement is a statement asserting facts
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that are and can be proven false. Id. at 241. State-
ments that are not protected by the First Amendment
include false statements of fact, which are those that
state actual facts but are objectively provable as false,
along with direct accusations or inferences of criminal
conduct. Buchanan, 323 Mich App at 182. Accusations
of criminal activity are considered defamation per se
under the law without the need to prove damages to a
plaintiff’s reputation. M, 326 Mich App at 241.

At the evidentiary hearing on the motion to termi-
nate the PPO, petitioner testified that respondent
posted—on multiple public Facebook pages—
petitioner’s photograph, her name, and factual asser-
tions that petitioner was helping a sexual predator,
LW, by allowing him to have contact with, and access
to, OGL. Petitioner stated that these assertions were
false and that she had never even met or communi-
cated with LW, let alone provide him assistance in any
form or fashion. Petitioner testified that the offending
Facebook pages included “Justice for [OGL],” which
was created by respondent and had over 1,000 mem-
bers, an attorney-review page, a Port Huron page, and
a Facebook page respondent created by using a false
name. Petitioner explained that LW had testified in a
child custody hearing and referred to a person with the
same first name as petitioner, that the transcript of the
hearing revealed that this person was the wife of LW’s
nephew and not petitioner, and that respondent knew
full well that in his testimony, LW was not referring to
petitioner. Petitioner testified that the social-media
postings placed her employment as a sign-language
interpreter in jeopardy.

The trial court did not err by concluding that respon-
dent made defamatory statements concerning peti-
tioner on the various Facebook pages. Respondent’s



2020] TT v KL 445

posts on social media effectively asserted that peti-
tioner was allowing LW, a convicted sex offender, to
have ongoing access to OGL. This statement consti-
tuted a factual assertion that could be and was proved
false. Respondent’s claim that he believed LW’s testi-
mony in the child custody proceeding concerned peti-
tioner is disingenuous. The transcript itself revealed
that “T” was the wife of LW’s nephew, petitioner
informed respondent multiple times that she had
never met or communicated with LW, and even the
transcript references to “I” did not show that “I” was
facilitating access to OGL by LW. There was simply no
truth whatsoever in respondent’s Facebook posts re-
garding the actions and conduct of petitioner. Further-
more, contrary to respondent’s arguments, the Face-
book posts were published to third parties because the
page “Justice for [OGL]” alone had over 1,000 mem-
bers. And the factually inaccurate Facebook posts
were, minimally, the result of respondent’s negligence,
if not his intentional misconduct, in light of the evi-
dence that the child custody transcripts did not refer to
petitioner and did not even indicate that “T” allowed
LW access to OGL.

Moreover, although MCL 600.2911 provides for
money damages for defamation, this does not mean, as
claimed by respondent, that it precludes enjoining
defamatory communications that satisfy the elements
of MCL 750.411s. Nothing in the plain and unambigu-
ous language of MCL 600.2911 allows for that con-
struction. With respect to respondent’s argument that
MCL 600.2950a does not bar or provide a remedy for
defamation, we conclude that it reflects a fundamental
misunderstanding of MCL 600.2950a and its incorpo-
ration of MCL 750.411s. As discussed earlier, under
MCL 600.2950a(1), a court may enjoin a person from
engaging in conduct that violates MCL 750.411s, but
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this relief can only be granted if it is alleged and shown
that the respondent violated MCL 750.411s. The issue
of defamation only serves as a possible argument by a
PPO petitioner when the respondent raises a claim
that the requested PPO would violate his or her First
Amendment rights.

We also note that truthful communications or posts
can rise to the level of a violation of MCL 750.411s, and
in turn be prohibited by a PPO under MCL 600.2950a,
without infringing a respondent’s constitutional
rights. In Buchanan, 323 Mich App at 183, this Court
explained:

Although statements that are defamatory are not pro-
tected under the First Amendment, it does not follow that
truth is a defense to a PPO prohibiting postings that
violate MCL 750.411s. Quite simply, [the respondent’s]
defamation arguments lack merit for the simple reason
that defamation is not the only type of speech exempted
from First Amendment protections. And in this case, the
trial court did not prohibit [the respondent’s] speech
because it had concluded that [he] defamed [the peti-
tioner]. Rather, the trial court entered a PPO to prevent
[the respondent] from posting a message in violation of
MCL 750.411s. Under MCL 750.411s(8)(i), the truthful-
ness of the messages is irrelevant to whether [the respon-
dent] violated the statute.

The Buchanan panel discussed the speech-integral-
to-criminal-conduct exception to the First Amendment,
which has been recognized in relation to criminal
stalking statutes. Id. at 185. The Court observed that it
is not deemed an abridgment of freedom of speech to
make a course of conduct unlawful merely because the
conduct entails the use of the written, printed, or
spoken word, as is involved in stalking provisions. Id.
This Court recognized the conundrum created by the
speech-integral-to-criminal-conduct exception, consid-
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ering that MCL 750.411s, a stalking statute, contains a
provision that it does not prohibit constitutionally
protected speech, MCL 750.411s(6), which would be
rendered meaningless if all violations of MCL 750.411s
triggered the speech-integral-to-criminal-conduct ex-
ception. Id. at 185-187. The Buchanan panel, after
reviewing decisions from various jurisdictions, came to
the following resolution:

When these various cases are read together, it becomes
clear that while messages posted to harass a private
individual may be enjoined, cyberstalking laws may not be
used to restrict speech that relates to a public figure or
matters of public concern. We find these cases persuasive,
and we hold that when the argument is raised that MCL
750.411s is being used to prohibit constitutionally protected
speech relating to a matter of public concern, it must be
determined whether the postings are intended solely to
cause conduct that will harass a private victim in connec-
tion with a private matter or whether the publication of the
information relates to a public figure and an important
public concern. [Id. at 188-189 (citations omitted).]

Here, petitioner is a private victim and, perhaps
arguably, respondent’s postings regarded a private mat-
ter and not a matter of public concern. Under these
circumstances, the speech-integral-to-criminal-conduct
exception to the First Amendment would apply, render-
ing the truthfulness of respondent’s posts irrelevant.
Nevertheless, unlike the circumstances in Buchanan,
petitioner raised defamation in response to respondent’s
assertion that his First Amendment rights were being
violated, not the speech-integral-to-criminal-conduct ex-
ception. Therefore, our ruling is restricted to defamation
and not to the speech-integral-to-criminal-conduct ex-
ception to the First Amendment, which was not ad-
dressed by the trial court. And, again, the trial court did
not err by ruling that petitioner established that respon-
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dent’s posts were defamatory. But we must still examine

respondent’s argument concerning prior restraints.

The TM panel addressed enjoining future defama-
tory statements and the doctrine of prior restraints,

stating:

The term “prior restraint” is used to describe administra-
tive and judicial orders forbidding certain communica-
tions when issued in advance of the time that such
communications are to occur. Temporary restraining or-
ders and permanent injunctions—i.e., court orders that
actually forbid speech activities—are classic examples of
prior restraints. Such restrictions are distinguishable
from punishment arising from past speech that has been
adjudicated as criminal. Because injunctions carry greater
risks of censorship and discriminatory application than do
general ordinances, they require a somewhat more strin-
gent application of general First Amendment principles.
Any prior restraint of expression bears a heavy presump-
tion against its constitutional validity.

... Whether and under what circumstances a court in
Michigan is permitted to enjoin defamation has not been
considered by this Court in a published decision since
1966, in McFadden v Detroit Bar Ass’n, 4 Mich App 554;
145 NW2d 285 (1966). In that case, a panel of this Court
held that “it is a familiar and well-settled rule of American
jurisprudence that equity will not enjoin a defamation,
absent a showing of economic injury . . ..” Id. at 558. The
McFadden Court stated that the primary reason for refus-
ing to do so was “an abhorrence of previous restraints on
freedom of speech,” but acknowledged other reasons, in-
cluding that there is “an adequate remedy at law, i.e., an
action for damages, and that the defendant in a defama-
tion action has the right to a jury trial which would be
precluded by granting of an injunction.” Id.

Contrary to McFadden, there is a modern trend toward
allowing injunctions of defamatory speech. That modern
trend, though, first requires a determination by a fact-
finder that the statements were definitively false and then
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specifically limits any injunction to the adjudicated
speech. As discussed, the trial court failed to make such a
determination in this case. Therefore, regardless of
whether the modern trend or the rule announced in
McFadden, 4 Mich App at 558, is adopted, the issuance of
the PPO here, because of the trial court’s failure to
determine that the speech actually was false, fails to
overcome the heavy presumption against its constitu-
tional validity. [TM, 326 Mich App at 244-246 (some
quotation marks and citations omitted).]

“Numerous courts, both federal and state, have held
that a trial court may enjoin a defendant from making
defamatory speech after there has been a determina-
tion that the speech was, in fact, false.” Id. at 246 n 6
(citing numerous supporting opinions from other juris-
dictions).

In this case, while petitioner was worried about the
possibility of economic injury, there was no evidence
that she actually suffered that injury. That said,
McFadden was issued in 1967 by this Court, and it is
not binding precedent. MCR 7.215(J)(1). Moreover,
McFadden concerned a straightforward equitable re-
quest for injunctive relief and was not couched within
the context of a stalking statute that required the
establishment of several culpability elements. If the
elements of MCL 750.411s have been satisfied for
purposes of obtaining a PPO under MCL 600.2950a,
and if the respondent has asserted that his or her
posted messages constituted constitutionally protected
speech, we see no valid reason for demanding proof of
economic injury when the petitioner can otherwise
establish that the posts were false and defamatory.
Ultimately, MCL 750.411s, as applied through MCL
600.2950a, concerns the enjoinment of cyberstalking,
not defamation. We thus choose to apply the modern
trend and conclude that when a respondent challenges
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a request for a PPO on the basis that the PPO would
prohibit constitutionally protected speech and the pe-
titioner counters that the posted messages are defama-
tory, the petitioner need not show economic injury.

Consistently with the modern trend, the trier of
fact must determine that the statements or posts
were definitively false. The trial court here did so, and
its ruling was supported by the evidence. But to also
be consistent with the modern trend, the PPO needs
to be specifically limited to the adjudicated speech. In
this case, the amended PPO prohibited respondent
“from posting defamatory statements about Peti-
tioner on social media and/or from publishing such
statements elsewhere.” This language is much too
broad and unconfined to the boundaries set in MCL
750.411s. The trial court should have amended the
PPO to provide that, absent petitioner’s consent,
respondent is prohibited from posting online mes-
sages that assert that petitioner is allowing LW to
have access to, or contact, with OGL and that other-
wise violate MCL 750.411s.

ITI. CONCLUSION

We hold that the trial court did not err by denying
respondent’s motion that sought disclosure of alleged
ex parte communications between the trial court and
the court’s counsel in the federal suit and that sought
recusal or disqualification of the trial court. We further
hold that the amended PPO was inconsistent with the
law and must be further modified as outlined above.

19 Of course, if no PPO is currently in place, a modified active or
operative PPO cannot be issued unless petitioner seeks to reestablish a
PPO. We are unsure whether further amendment of the PPO for
purposes of changing the prior LEIN entry is feasible, as compared to
the act of rescinding a PPO, and we shall leave it to the trial court on
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We affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand for
proceedings consistent with this opinion. We do not
retain jurisdiction. Neither party having fully pre-
vailed on appeal, we decline to tax costs under MCR
7.219.

BOONSTRA, P.J., and FORT HoOD, J., concurred with
MARKEY, J.

remand to explore that matter. If the amended PPO was continued or
remains in effect, it shall be modified consistent with our holding.
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CITY OF GRAND RAPIDS v BROOKSTONE CAPITAL LLC

Docket No. 350746. Submitted October 8, 2020, at Grand Rapids.
Decided October 29, 2020, at 9:05 a.m.

The city of Grand Rapids sued Brookstone Capital LLC and its
subsidiary affordable housing projects, 240 Ionia Avenue Limited
Dividend Housing Association Limited Partnership (240 Ionia)
and 345 State Street Limited Dividend Housing Association
Limited Partnership (345 State Street), in the Kent Circuit Court
for breach of agreement and unjust enrichment. Portions of 240
Tonia and 345 State Street were exempt from ad valorem property
taxation under MCL 125.1415a of the Michigan State Housing
Development Authority Act (the MSHDA Act), MCL 125.1401 et
seq., but both properties were obligated to pay plaintiff an annual
service charge for public services, or payment in lieu of taxes
(PILOT), under the statute; the relevant provisions of plaintiff’s
city code, Grand Rapids Code, §§ 1.410 to 1.413 (the PILOT
Ordinance); and plaintiff’'s resolutions approving the projects.
Plaintiff sued defendants for failing to pay the full amount of
PILOT charges billed by plaintiff during its 2015, 2016, and 2017
billing cycles. Brookstone filed a counterclaim seeking a declara-
tory judgment that plaintiff had to calculate PILOT amounts
based on 4% of annual shelter rents for all occupants of 240 Ionia
and 345 State Street and that plaintiff could not charge PILOT
amounts based on the ad valorem tax rate for market-rate units.
The parties filed opposing motions for summary disposition, and
the trial court, Christopher P. Yates, J., ruled in favor of plaintiff.
Defendants appealed.

The Court of Appeals held:

1. Under MCL 125.1415a(2), a municipality may determine
the amount of PILOT applicable to any class of housing project, so
long as the service charge does not exceed the amount of ad
valorem tax that would otherwise apply. Additionally, MCL
125.1415a(6) stipulates that the PILOT-calculation method must
differentiate between occupants who are lower-income persons or
families and those who are not. For the portion of the building
occupied by persons “other than low income persons or families,”
the annual PILOT amount must be equal to the full amount of the
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taxes that would have been paid on that portion of the develop-
ment if the project were not tax-exempt. MCL 125.1415a(7)
defines low-income persons and families for purposes of MCL
125.1415a as persons and families who are eligible to move into
tax-exempt housing projects. Defendants argued that the Legis-
lature intended for this definition to encompass all persons who
live in a low-income housing project, regardless of their income
level or the portion of the project they occupy. However, this
interpretation of Subsection (7) required an unnatural interpre-
tation of Subsection (6). The Legislature plainly required the
owners of low-income housing projects to be charged an amount
equal to the amount of the full ad valorem tax on the portion of
the project occupied by tenants “other than low income persons or
families,” as well as an annual PILOT charge for units occupied
by low-income persons or families, either pursuant to the default
amounts set by Subsection (2) or the amount a plaintiff estab-
lished by ordinance as permitted under Subsection (2). In this
case, the trial court correctly determined that the statute did not
permit the imposition of a uniform PILOT charge based on
annual shelter rent for the total number of units in the project.

2. Under Const 1963, art 7, § 22, a municipality’s power to
adopt an ordinance is subject to the state Constitution and state
law. State law may preempt a regulation by an inferior level of
government when the inferior level of government attempts to
regulate the same subject matter as a higher level of government.
The PILOT Ordinance failed to comply fully with the MSHDA Act
in that the ordinance did not incorporate the directive in MCL
125.1415a(6) to charge fees in lieu of taxes equal to the ad
valorem tax for any portion of the project occupied by “other than
low income persons or families.” Additionally, the statute does not
permit municipalities to impose uniform PILOT charges for
low-income housing projects irrespective of the financial statuses
of the occupants. To the extent that the PILOT Ordinance
conflicted with state law, it was preempted and that portion of it
was unenforceable. Therefore, enforcement of the ordinance in
the manner desired by defendants to evade plaintiff’s charges of
the equivalent of ad valorem tax for the portions of the housing
projects occupied by other than low-income persons or families
would violate state law. The Michigan State Housing Develop-
ment Authority (MSHDA) argued in its amicus brief that it had
always interpreted MCL 125.1415a in the manner urged by
defendants and that the PILOT Ordinance applied the statute
correctly, but MSHDA’s interpretation of the statute conflicted
with the Legislature’s intent as expressed in the plain language of
MCL 125.1415a and was not binding.
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3. Plaintiff had argued in the trial court that although the
language of the PILOT Ordinance is unambiguous, the trial court
should determine that the absent directive of MCL 125.1415a(6)
was either inherent in the ordinance or should be engrafted into
it through the doctrine of in pari materia. The trial court chose
the latter method and used the in pari materia statutory-
construction doctrine to justify its ruling and to harmonize MCL
125.1415a and the PILOT Ordinance. However, the in pari
materia doctrine was not applicable because the statute and the
ordinance were both clear and unambiguous, and the doctrine did
not permit a condition or restriction of a previously enacted
statute to be added to a later-enacted statute. Nevertheless, the
trial court’s decision did not need to be disturbed. The court did
not have to reconcile the statute with the defective ordinance
because MCL 125.1415a was not ambiguous, so Michigan law
required it to be enforced as written. Further, because the PILOT
Ordinance directly conflicted with MCL 125.1415a(6), the trial
court could not enforce the ordinance as written because it would
have required plaintiff to impose uniform PILOT charges in a
manner impermissible under the statute. Therefore, the trial
court properly declined to enforce the ordinance to the extent that
it conflicted with state law.

4. The parties’ contracts provided defendants with the ben-
efits of tax exemption under MCL 125.1415a in exchange for a
PILOT, pursuant to the statute, and 240 Ionia’s and 345 State
Street’s limited partnership agreements specifically acknowl-
edged that the “PILOT Agreement” was the resolution passed by
plaintiff's City Commission approving a PILOT for each low-
income housing project. The trial court appropriately noted that
defendants’ managing members were aware that, pursuant to the
resolutions, the PILOT charges to be imposed by plaintiff would
be compliant with MCL 125.1415a, including different charges for
rent-restricted units and market-rate units as directed by MCL
125.1415a(6). Further, the court appropriately determined that
the resolutions constituted the PILOT agreements and defined
the terms of the contracts, along with other evidence. Therefore,
the court properly concluded that defendants had breached the
parties’ agreements when they had refused to pay the contractu-
ally defined amounts billed by plaintiff and had instead paid an
amount pursuant to their incorrect PILOT calculations based on
the defective ordinance. Because the parties’ agreements com-
plied with MCL 125.1415a, they were valid and enforceable.

Affirmed.
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MICHIGAN STATE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY ACT — LOW-INCOME
HoUSING DEVELOPMENTS — PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES — MUNICIPAL
ORDINANCES.

MCL 125.1415a(2) of the Michigan State Housing Development
Authority Act, MCL 125.1401 et seq., directs owners of tax-
exempt low-income housing developments to pay an annual
service charge or payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) for public
services; MCL 125.1415a(2) authorizes a municipality to set the
amount of the PILOT for a housing project by enacting an
ordinance, and MCL 125.1415a(6) clarifies that the PILOT-
calculation method must differentiate between occupants who are
low-income persons or families and those who are not; under
MCL 125.1415a(6), the owners must pay the equivalent of ad
valorem property tax for the portion of the project not occupied by
low-income persons or families and must pay the PILOT estab-
lished by the municipal ordinance or MCL 125.1415a(2) for the
portion of the property occupied by low-income residents; the
PILOT amount required by the municipality must be consistent
with the requirements of the statute.

Elizabeth J. Fossel, Director of Civil Litigation, and
Toby Koenig, Assistant City Attorney, for the city of
Grand Rapids.

Loomis, Ewert, Parsley, Davis & Gotting, PC (by
Kevin J. Roragen) for Brookstone Capital LLC, 240
Ionia Avenue Limited Dividend Housing Association
Limited Partnership, and 345 State Street Limited
Dividend Housing Association Limited Partnership.

Amicus Curiae:
Dana Nessel, Attorney General, Fadwa A. Hammoud,
Solicitor General, and Lisa M. Barwick and Samantha

L. Reasner, Assistant Attorneys General, for the Michi-
gan State Housing Development Authority.

Before: LETICA, P.J., and K. F. KELLY and REDFORD, JdJ.

REDFORD, J. Defendants, Brookstone Capital LLC
(Brookstone), 240 Ionia Avenue Limited Dividend Hous-
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ing Association Limited Partnership (240 Ionia), and
345 State Street Limited Dividend Housing Association
Limited Partnership (345 State Street), appeal as of
right the trial court’s order granting plaintiff, the city of
Grand Rapids, summary disposition under MCR
2.116(C)(10) and denying defendants’ competing motion
for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(I)(2). We
affirm.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Brookstone developed 240 Ionia and 345 State
Street as affordable low-income housing projects pur-
suant to the Michigan State Housing Development
Authority Act (the MSHDA Act), MCL 125.1401 et seq.,
following approval by the Grand Rapids City Commis-
sioners via adopted resolutions and approval by
MSHDA. Some portions of 240 Ionia and 345 State
Street are exempt from ad valorem property taxation
under MCL 125.1415a, but both must pay plaintiff an
annual service charge for public services in lieu of
taxes. Plaintiff sued defendants for breaches of agree-
ments for payments in lieu of taxes (PILOT) and unjust
enrichment for their failure to pay the amount of
charges billed by plaintiff for its 2015, 2016, and 2017
billing cycles as required under Grand Rapids Code,
§§ 1.410 to 1.413 (the PILOT Ordinance) and plaintiff’s
resolutions approving the 240 Ionia and 345 State
Street projects. Brookstone counterclaimed against
plaintiff for a declaratory judgment that plaintiff had
to calculate the PILOT payments for 240 Ionia and 345
State Street based on 4% of annual shelter rents of all
occupants of the subject housing projects. Brookstone
also asked the court to declare that plaintiff could not
charge PILOT amounts based on the ad valorem tax
rate for the units that were not rent or income re-
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stricted. The parties disputed the interpretation and
application of the MSHDA Act, particularly MCL
125.1415a, and the PILOT Ordinance. The parties filed
opposing motions for summary disposition, and the
trial court ruled in favor of plaintiff, giving rise to this
appeal.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review de novo a trial court’s decision on a
motion for summary disposition. Sau-Tuk Indus, Inc v
Allegan Co, 316 Mich App 122, 135; 892 NW2d 33
(2016). We also review de novo a trial court’s interpre-
tation and application of a statute. Id. at 136. “Munici-
pal ordinances are interpreted and reviewed in the
same manner as statutes.” Id. (citation omitted).
Therefore, we review de novo a trial court’s ordinance
interpretation and apply the rules governing statutory
interpretation to a municipal ordinance. Id.

III. ANALYSIS

A. OVERVIEW

Defendants argue that the trial court erred by ruling
in favor of plaintiff because plaintiff calculated and
charged ad valorem taxes for the market-rate units
contrary to plaintiffs PILOT Ordinance. Defendants
contend that the PILOT Ordinance bound plaintiff to
charge 4% of the annual shelter rents for all occupied
units in the subject housing projects, whether the
tenants were low-income persons or families paying
reduced housing charges or were persons or families
paying the full market rate. Defendants further assert
that the PILOT Ordinance complied with MCL
125.1415a. We disagree.



458 334 MICH APP 452 [Oct

The issues presented in this appeal concern the
interpretation of both a state statute and a municipal
ordinance. We review de novo the trial court’s interpre-
tation of both the MSHDA Act and plaintiff's PILOT
Ordinance. Sau-Tuk, 316 Mich App at 136. As ex-
plained in Sau-Tuk:

When interpreting a statute, our primary goal is to
give effect to the intent of the Legislature. If the
language of a statute is unambiguous, we presume
the Legislature intended the meaning expressed in
the statute. A statutory provision is ambiguous only
if it conflicts irreconcilably with another provision or
it is equally susceptible to more than one mean-
ing. . .. When construing a statute, we must assign
every word or phrase its plain and ordinary meaning
unless the Legislature has provided specific defini-
tions or has used technical terms that have acquired
a peculiar and appropriate meaning in the law.

Similarly, the goal of construction and interpretation of
an ordinance is to discern and give effect to the intent of
the legislative body. The most reliable evidence of that
intent is the language of the ordinance itself, which must
be given its plain and ordinary meaning. When the words
used in a statute or an ordinance are clear and unambigu-
ous, they express the intent of the legislative body and
must be enforced as written. [Id. at 136-137 (quotation
marks and citations omitted).]

Courts “may not pick and choose what parts of a
statute to enforce” but “must give effect to every word
of a statute if at all possible so as not to render any part
of the statute surplusage or nugatory.” Id. at 143.
Courts “may not speculate regarding legislative intent
beyond the words expressed in [the] statute.” Id. at 145
(quotation marks and citation omitted). “This Court
reads the provisions of statutes reasonably and in
context, and reads subsections of cohesive statutory
provisions together.” Detroit Pub Sch v Conn, 308
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Mich App 234, 248; 863 NW2d 373 (2014) (quotation
marks and citation omitted).

When courts interpret statutes, they must first look
to the specific statutory language to determine the
intent of the Legislature, and if the language is clear
and unambiguous, the plain meaning of the statute
reflects the legislative intent and judicial construction
is not permitted. Universal Underwriters Ins Group v
Auto Club Ins Ass’n, 256 Mich App 541, 544; 666 NW2d
294 (2003). “Judicial construction of a statute is only
permitted when statutory language is ambiguous,” and
ambiguity exists “only if it creates an irreconcilable
conflict with another provision or it is equally suscep-
tible to more than one meaning.” Noll v Ritzer, 317
Mich App 506, 511; 895 NW2d 192 (2016). Courts may
not infer legislative intent from the absence of action
by the Legislature. McCahan v Brennan, 492 Mich 730,
749; 822 NW2d 747 (2012). “[A] legislature legislates
by legislating, not by doing nothing, not by keeping
silent.” Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted).
This Court defers “to a deliberate act of a legislative
body, and does not inquire into the wisdom of its
legislation.” Bonner v City of Brighton, 495 Mich 209,
221; 848 NW2d 380 (2014) (citation omitted).

In In re Implementing Section 6w of 2016 PA 341 for
Cloverland Electric Coop, 329 Mich App 163, 178; 942
NW2d 38 (2019), this Court explained the application
of the in pari materia doctrine of statutory construc-
tion:

Statutes that relate to the same subject matter or share a
common purpose are in pari materia and must be read
together as one law to effectuate the legislative purpose as
found in harmonious statutes. If two statutes lend them-
selves to a construction that avoids conflict, that construc-
tion should control. When two statutes are in pari materia
but conflict with one another on a particular issue, the
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more specific statute must control over the more general
statute. . . . [Quotation marks and citation omitted.]

In Summer v Southfield Bd of Ed, 324 Mich App 81,
93; 919 NW2d 641 (2018), this Court explained, how-
ever, that the in pari materia doctrine is a rule of
statutory construction that is not implicated if the
language of the statute is unambiguous and the legis-
lative intent is clearly expressed. In such circum-
stances, judicial construction is prohibited, and this
Court must enforce the statute as written. Id. “Once
the intention of the Legislature is discovered, this
intent prevails regardless of any conflicting rule of
statutory construction.” Id. (quotation marks and cita-
tion omitted). In Voorhies v Judge of Recorder’s Court,
220 Mich 155, 157-158; 189 NW 1006 (1922), our
Supreme Court explained:

The rule, in pari materia, cannot be invoked here for the
reason that the language of the statute is clear and
unambiguous. . . .

The rule, in pari materia, does not permit the use of a
previous statute to control by way of former policy the
plain language of a subsequent statute; much less to add
a condition or restriction thereto found in the earlier
statute and left out of the later one. The contention made,
if allowed, would go beyond the construction of the statute,
and engraft upon its provisions a restriction which the
legislature might have added but left out. . . .

“Statutes should be construed so as to prevent
absurd results, injustice, or prejudice to the public
interest.” McAuley v Gen Motors Corp, 457 Mich 513,
518; 578 NW2d 282 (1998). In In re Complaint of Rovas
Against SBC Mich, 482 Mich 90, 103; 754 NW2d 259
(2008), our Supreme Court directed that
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the construction given to a statute by those charged with
the duty of executing it is always entitled to the most
respectful consideration and ought not to be overruled
without cogent reasons. However, these are not binding on
the courts, and while not controlling, the practical con-
struction given to doubtful or obscure laws in their admin-
istration by public officers and departments with a duty to
perform under them is taken note of by the courts as an
aiding element to be given weight in construing such laws
and is sometimes deferred to when not in conflict with the
indicated spirit and purpose of the legislature. [Quotation
marks, citation, and brackets omitted.]

B. MCL 125.1415a

For resolution of the issues raised in this appeal,
this Court must first consider and interpret MCL
125.1415a of the MSHDA Act, which provides in rel-
evant part:

(1) If a housing project owned by a nonprofit housing
corporation, consumer housing cooperative, limited divi-
dend housing corporation, mobile home park corporation,
or mobile home park association is financed with a
federally-aided or authority-aided mortgage or advance or
grant from the authority, then, except as provided in this
section, the housing project is exempt from all ad valorem
property taxes imposed by this state or by any political
subdivision, public body, or taxing district in which the
project is located. The owner of a housing project eligible
for the exemption shall file with the local assessing officer
a notification of the exemption, which shall be in an
affidavit form as provided by the authority. The completed
affidavit form first shall be submitted to the authority for
certification by the authority that the project is eligible for
the exemption. The owner then shall file the certified
notification of the exemption with the local assessing
officer before November 1 of the year preceding the tax
year in which the exemption is to begin.
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(2) The owner of a housing project exempt from taxa-
tion under this section shall pay to the municipality in
which the project is located an annual service charge for
public services in lieu of all taxes. Subject to subsection
(6), the amount to be paid as a service charge in lieu of
taxes shall be for new construction projects the greater of,
and for rehabilitation projects the lesser of, the tax on the
property on which the project is located for the tax year
before the date when construction or rehabilitation of the
project was commenced or 10% of the annual shelter rents
obtained from the project. A municipality, by ordinance,
may establish or change, by any amount it chooses, the
service charge to be paid in lieu of taxes by all or any class
of housing projects exempt from taxation under this act.
However, the service charge shall not exceed the taxes
that would be paid but for this act.

k0 ok ok

(6) Notwithstanding subsection (2), the service charge to
be paid each year in lieu of taxes for that part of a housing
project that is tax exempt under subsection (1) and that is
occupied by other than low income persons or families shall
be equal to the full amount of the taxes that would be paid
on that portion of the project if the project were not tax
exempt. The benefits of any tax exemption granted under
this section shall be allocated by the owner of the housing
project exclusively to low income persons or families in the
form of reduced housing charges.

(7) For purposes of this section only, “low income
persons and families” means, with respect to any housing
project that is tax exempt, persons and families eligible to
move into that project. For purposes of this subsection, the
authority may promulgate rules to redefine low income
persons or families for each municipality on the basis of
conditions existing in that municipality.

The provisions of MCL 125.1415a lack ambiguity.
Subsection (1) grants ad valorem property-tax exemp-
tion to housing projects developed with federal- or
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state-aided financing, grants, or advances. It also
specifies the process required for the owner of the
housing project to establish eligibility for favorable tax
treatment.

Subsection (2) orders tax-exempt housing project
owners to pay an annual service charge for public
services in lieu of all taxes, i.e., PILOT. Subject to the
provisions of Subsection (6), Subsection (2) establishes
a default service charge in the amount of the greater of
either the property tax amount for the preceding year
or 10% of the annual shelter rents obtained from the
project.! Subsection (2) provides further that a munici-
pality may set the amount of PILOT applicable to all or
any class of housing project by enacting an ordinance
for this purpose, so long as the service charge it
imposes does not exceed the ad valorem tax amount
that would otherwise apply but for the exemption
granted under the MSHDA Act.

While the general provisions of PILOT are set forth
in MCL 125.1415a(2), Subsection (6) clarifies that the
service charges to be paid in lieu of taxes by a housing
project owner require two calculations. Subsection (6)
plainly indicates that the PILOT-calculation method
must differentiate between the occupants who are
low-income persons or families and those who are not.
Subsection (6) specifies that the amount to be paid
each year for the portion of the property occupied by
persons “other than low income persons or families
shall be equal to the full amount of the taxes that
would be paid on that portion of the project if the
project were not tax exempt.” Subsection (6), therefore,

1 MCL 125.1451(2)(e) defines “shelter rent” as “the rental or carrying
charges established for occupancy in housing projects, exclusive of
payments for taxes and charges for heat, light, water, cooking fuel, and
other necessary utilities.”
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plainly commands that owners shall pay the equiva-
lent of the amount of ad valorem property tax for the
portions of a project not occupied by low-income per-
sons or families. For the portions of the project occu-
pied by low-income persons or families, the owner must
pay the PILOT, either as established under Subsection
(2), or the amount defined by the municipality’s PILOT
Ordinance. Subsection (6) lacks ambiguity. Accord-
ingly, a municipality must adhere to and enforce these
statutory requirements.

Subsection (7) defines the terms “low income per-
sons and families” for purposes of MCL 125.1415a only.
The Legislature, therefore, determined that the other
sections of the MSHDA Act that define and differenti-
ate between categories of persons, families, and house-
holds of low and moderate income, such as MCL
125.1411(g); MCL  125.1451(2)(f); and MCL
125.1458(2)(e), (g), and (1), do not apply for purposes of
calculating and charging the applicable PILOT
amounts. The first sentence of Subsection (7) specifies
that “low income persons and families” “means, with
respect to any housing project that is tax exempt,
persons and families eligible to move into that project.”
Discerning the Legislature’s intent requires an under-
standing of the word “eligible.” The MSHDA Act does
not define the term “eligible.” “Terms that are not
defined in a statute must be given their plain and
ordinary meanings, and it is appropriate to consult a
dictionary for definitions.” Anzaldua v Neogen Corp,
292 Mich App 626, 632; 808 NW2d 804 (2011) (citation
omitted).

Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (11th ed)
defines the term “eligible,” in relevant part, as “quali-
fied to participate or be chosen” or “worthy of being
chosen.” Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed) similarly
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defines the term as, “Fit and proper to be selected or to
receive a benefit; legally qualified for an office, privi-
lege, or status.” To be eligible, therefore, means to be
qualified, worthy, or fit to participate or receive a
benefit. In the context of low-income housing, such
housing is available to persons who are eligible, i.e.,
qualified, worthy, and fit to receive a benefit by virtue
of their income level. The benefit conferred in the
context of low-income housing is paying reduced rent
to occupy a unit because of one’s low-income status.
Persons of financial means do not qualify for rent-
restricted housing because they lack eligibility to re-
ceive the benefit conferred by virtue of their income
level. This interpretation of the term “eligible” com-
ports with the overall public purpose of the MSHDA
Act as set forth in MCL 125.1401, i.e., to provide safe
and sanitary dwelling accommodations within the fi-
nancial means of low-income persons and families.
This interpretation of the term also enables a harmo-
nious interpretation of the plain language of MCL
125.1415a, particularly Subsections (6) and (7).

The second sentence of Subsection (7) grants
MSHDA discretion to promulgate rules to redefine who
“low income persons or families” are for a given mu-
nicipality depending on the conditions existing in that
municipality. This sentence makes clear that the defi-
nition of “low income persons or families” specifically
pertains to eligible persons’ financial means as com-
pared with the financial wherewithal of the general
community.

Defendants argue that the Legislature meant that
the term “low income persons and families” for pur-
poses of MCL 125.1415a encompasses all persons so
long as they are “eligible to move into the housing
project,” irrespective of the occupant’s income level or
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the portion of the project occupied. In other words, they
argue that the Legislature intended that no distinction
be made for purposes of calculating the PILOT be-
tween the income levels of occupants or the type of unit
a person occupies. The term “low income persons and
families,” they contend, is all-encompassing because
eligibility means merely being able to move into the
project. This interpretation of Subsection (7) is flawed
because it forces an unnatural, illogical interpretation
of Subsection (6). Defendants’ interpretation requires
disregarding the specific directive in Subsection (6) to
distinguish between occupants of low-income units and
occupants of all other portions of a low-income housing
project. Defendants’ interpretation reads into Subsec-
tion (6) an unstated distinction between residential
and nonresidential tenants. In Subsection (6), how-
ever, the Legislature drew a distinct line between “low
income persons and families” and tenants “other than
low income persons or families.” The operative distin-
guishing feature focuses on income status and com-
mands municipalities to charge owners differently for
the two types of occupants. The Legislature plainly
required that owners shall be charged equal to the full
ad valorem tax amount on the portion of the project
that tenants “other than low income persons or fami-
lies” occupy.

Occupants of market-rate units fall within the por-
tions of a low-income housing project occupi